# Molecular Mechanisms of Monocyte Depletion and CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cell Persistence during Human T-cell Leukemia Virus Infection

By

# Alexandre Sze

Division of Experimental Medicine Faculty of Medicine McGill University Montréal, Québec, Canada December 2017

A thesis presented to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfilment of the requirements of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

© 2017 Alexandre Sze

# **Table of Contents**

Acknowledgements	iv
Abstract	v
Résumé	vii
Preface and Contributions	ix
List of Abbreviations	xii
List of Tables and Figures	xix
Chapter 1: Literature Review	1
<ul> <li>1.1. HTLV-1</li> <li>1.1.1. Epidemiology of HTLV</li> <li>1.1.2. Virion Structure</li> <li>1.1.3. Genomic Organization</li> <li>1.1.4. Life Cycle of HTLV-1</li> <li>1.1.5. Transmission</li> <li>1.1.6. Regulatory and Accessory Protein Functions</li> <li>1.1.7. HTLV-1 Diseases</li> <li>1.2. Innate Immune Signaling and Detection</li> <li>1.3. The NF-κB Pathway</li> </ul>	1 4 6 9 32 41 63 67 74
Retrovirus Infection	142
1. Abstract	142
1. Introduction	145
2. SAMHD1 Structure and Function	148
3. Regulation of SAMHD1	153
4. The Role of SAMHD1 in the Autoimmune Disorder Aicardi–Goutières Syndrome	157
5. SAMHD1 and Innate Immune Sensing of Retroviral Infection	158
6. Missing Pieces in the SAMHD1 Puzzle	162
7. Broad Range Activity of SAMHD1	165
8. Perspectives	165
Rationale and Objectives	182
Chapter 3: Host Restriction Factor SAMHD1 Limits Human T Cell Leukemia Virus Typ Infection of Monocytes via Sting-Mediated Apoptosis	ve 1 183

1. SUMMARY	183
2. INTRODUCTION	185
3. RESULTS	188
i. Abortive infection of primary monocytes by HTLV-1 activates type I IFN response.	188
ii. HTLV-1-infected monocytes undergo apoptosis.	193
iii. A requirement for SAMHD1 in HTLV-1-driven apoptosis in infected monocytes.	198
iv. HTLV-1-induced apoptosis correlates with the generation of cytosolic RTI.	201
v. HTLV-1 RTI signals via STING to induce apoptosis and the IFN response.	206
vi. HTLV-1 RTI triggers mitochondrial apoptosis through IRF3-Bax signalling.	210
vii. HIV-1 DNA recognition by STING induces a pro-apoptotic response.	214
4. DISCUSSION	217
Chapter 4: HTLV-1 Tax-Mediated Inhibition of FOXO3a Activity is Critical for the	
Persistence of Terminally Differentiated CD4 <sup>+</sup> T Cells	233
1. Abstract	233
2. Introduction	235
3. Results	237
i. Productive HTLV-1 infection is associated with phosphorylation of FOXO3a and persistence of	•
infectious CD4 <sup>+</sup> CD27 <sup>+</sup> CCR7 <sup>+</sup> T cells	237
ii. Tax expression inhibits FOXO3a activity via activation of AKT	244
iii. Tax-mediated FOXO3a inactivation is responsible for CD4 <sup>+</sup> T cell persistence	250
iv. Specific inhibition of FOXO3a activity mimics Tax expression	251
4. Discussion	257
Chapter 5: Discussion	275
1. The Detection of Reverse Transcribed Intermediaries by STING	275
2. The Interactions between Innate Immune Signaling and SAMHD1	278
3. The Involvement of SAMHD1 in Cancer and NRTI Drugs	279
4. RNAse Functions of SAMHD1	281
5. Senescence Mediated Infection	284
6. Concluding Remarks	284

## Acknowledgements

This work could never have been accomplished without the support and guidance of my supervisor Dr. Lin. Of course special thanks must be given to Dr. Olière, Dr. Douville, and Dr. Hiscott who all played vital roles in getting my started and understanding how to perform and complete great research. I must give special consideration to Dr. van Grevenynghe who helped supervise my projects presented here in my thesis. Dr. Olagnier and Dr. Belgnaoui also deserve special recognition in helping me understand key experiments, and helping me organize figures and text.

I would like the thank all the past and present members of the lab, especially Samar who has put in so much extra effort giving me a hand when she did not have to. The entire staff at the Lady Davis Institute has been great, and always willing to help. My supervisory committee has been incredibly supportive and encouraging of my theories. Special thanks must be given to Dr. Barbeau who organized the 16<sup>th</sup> international HTLV-1 conference here in Montreal in 2013, where I gave my first international presentation.

To my friends, you guys were great. Thank you so much for listening when I started rambling off about my work, and being supportive when things were not going great. I have met a lot of you here while working on my degree and wish you all the luck on your own projects. Special thanks to my D&D group for giving me the chance to create and explore completely ridiculous scenarios while having a blast.

My family has always been incredibly supportive, thanks so much Mom and Dad for encouraging and counseling me whenever I had doubts, and trusting me when I had made a decision. Gin, Mark, Niko and Kian, I love you guys and your growing family!

To Marinée, the love of my life, thank you so much for being part of my life and for being you, the most compassionate and loving person I have ever known.

# Abstract

Human T-cell Leukemia Virus type 1 (HTLV-1) was the first human retrovirus discovered in 1980. It is the causal agent of two well characterized human diseases, Adult T-cell Leukemia (ATL) and HTLV-1-Associated Myelopathy/Tropical Spastic Paraparesis (HAM/TSP). Few treatment options have been developed for ATL and HAM/TSP; the median survival times for ATL remains under a year, and treatment options of HAM/TSP remain palliative in nature. Thankfully the incidence of disease in HTLV-1 infected patients is relatively low, with only approximately 5% of individuals developing ATL and 2% HAM/TSP.

One major obstacle in the development of effective therapies is a lack of understanding regarding the factors that determine HTLV-1 associated pathology. The route of transmission, contaminated breast milk and blood, almost exclusively lead to ATL or HAM/TSP development respectively, but it is unclear as to why. This suggests that the early events of HTLV-1 infection may be key in discerning pathological outcomes. Unfortunately this time point is understudied, in part due to the fact that *de novo* infection is asymptomatic. The activity of cytotoxic T-cell lymphocytes seems to be vital in controlling viral replication, and is likely a key determinant in disease progression. We thus set out to study the early events of HTLV-1 infection in two important immunologically relevant peripheral blood mononuclear cell populations, monocytes and CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells.

HTLV-1 infection of primary human monocytes resulted in the depletion of this cell type. This was not mediated by viral accessory proteins, as host restriction factor SAMHD1 prevented the completion of reverse transcription. The DNA by-products of this inhibition induced a potent STING-mediated immunological response, that triggered Bax and IRF3 activation and complex formation that led to apoptosis.

Infection of activated CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells on the other hand, resulted in persistent cellular survival. This was mediated by the viral accessory protein Tax, known to have oncogenic properties. Tax expression activated the AKT pathway, which resulted in the inactivation of the pro-apoptotic FOXO3a transcription factor. This led to the long-term survival of an activated CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cell population that was capable of viral transmission.

Overall this work has demonstrated the molecular consequences of HTLV-1 infection in two important cell types, monocytes and CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells. These events likely shape the subsequent immunological events that control viral replication and likely influence HTLV-1 disease pathology.

### Résumé

Le virus T-lymphotropique humain de type 1 (HTLV-1) a été le premier rétrovirus humain à avoir été découvert en 1980. Il est l'agent causal de deux maladies humaines bien caractérisées, la leucémie lymphocytaire de l'adulte (ATL) et la myélopathie associée au HTLV-1/Paraparésie spastique tropicale (HAM / TSP). Peu d'options de traitement ont été développées pour l'ATL et la HAM/TSP; les temps de survie médians pour l'ATL restent inférieurs à un an, et les options thérapeutiques de la HAM/TSP sont de nature palliative. Cependant, l'incidence de la maladie chez les patients infectés par le HTLV-1 est relativement faible, avec seulement environ 5% des individus développant l'ATL et 2% la HAM/TSP.

L'obstacle majeur au développement de thérapies efficaces est le manque de compréhension des facteurs qui déterminent la pathologie associée au HTLV-1. Les voies de transmission, le lait maternel contaminé et le sang, entraînent presque exclusivement le développement de l'ATL ou de la HAM/TSP, mais la cause de ceci n'est pas connue. Cela suggère que les premiers événements de l'infection par le HTLV-1 peuvent être la clé pour révéler les conséquences pathologiques de la maladie. Malheureusement, les étapes précoces de l'infection sont peu étudiées, dû au fait que l'infection de novo est asymptomatique. L'activité des lymphocytes T cytotoxiques semble être essentielle pour contrôler la réplication virale et est probablement un facteur clé dans la progression de la maladie. Nous avons donc entrepris d'étudier les premiers événements de l'infection par le HTLV-1 dans deux populations cellulaires mononuclées importantes et immunologiquement pertinentes du sang périphérique, les monocytes et les lymphocytes T CD4<sup>+</sup>.

L'infection des monocytes primaires humains par le HTLV-1 a entraîné la déplétion de ce type cellulaire. Cela n'est pas médiée par les protéines accessoires virales, car le facteur de restriction SAMHD1 a empêché l'achèvement de la transcription inverse. Les sous-produits de l'ADN produits lors de cette inhibition ont induit une réponse immunologique puissante médiée par STING. Ceci a déclenché l'activation des protéines Bax et IRF3 et la formation de complexes qui ont conduit à l'apoptose des cellules.

D'autre part, l'infection par le virus des cellules T CD4<sup>+</sup> activées, les a fait entrer dans un état de survie cellulaire persistante. Le transactivateur viral Tax en est responsable car il est connu pour ses propriétés oncogéniques. La seule expression de Tax a activé la voie AKT, entraînant l'inactivation du facteur de transcription pro-apoptotique FOXO3a. Cela a conduit à la survie à long terme d'une population de lymphocytes T CD4<sup>+</sup> activés capables de transmettre le virus.

Ce travail de doctorat a permis de démontrer les conséquences moléculaires de l'infection par HTLV-1 dans deux types cellulaires importants, les monocytes et les cellules T CD4<sup>+</sup>. Ces événements ont une conséquence sur les évènements immunologiques qui en découlent et qui contrôlent la réplication virale et influencent probablement la pathologie de la maladie dû au HTLV-1.

# **Preface and Contributions**

In accordance with departmental guidelines, I have chosen to present the results of my work in a manuscript format. Chapter 1 is a general literature review on HTLV-1 that also briefly touches upon innate immune signaling. Chapter 2 is a published review and an original scholarship paper, which should be considered as an extension of the literature review. It covers a significant amount of knowledge regarding SAMHD1 and retroviral infection, and can be found in its published form here:

 Sze, A.; Olagnier, D.; Lin, R.; van Grevenynghe, J.; Hiscott, J. Samhd1 host restriction factor: A link with innate immune sensing of retrovirus infection. *Journal of molecular biology* 2013, *425*, 4981-4994.

Author contributions: Sze wrote the manuscript. Olagnier produced the figures. Lin, and van Grevenynghe reviewed the manuscript. Hiscott helped write and reviewed the manuscript.

My results are presented in Chapter 3 and 4, and each constitute as a significant contribution to original scientific research. They are each published peer reviewed articles that can be found in the following journals:

 Sze, A.; Belgnaoui, S.; Olagnier, D.; Lin, R.; Hiscott, J.; van Grevenynghe, J. Host restriction factor SAMHD1 limits Human T-Cell Leukemia Virus Type 1 infection of monocytes via sting-mediated apoptosis. *Cell host & microbe* 2013, *14*.

Author contributions: Sze conceived the project, performed experiments and wrote the manuscript. Belgnaoui provided technical assistance. Olagnier helped produce the figures. Lin supervised the project and provided technical assistance. Hiscott helped concieve the study and helped write the paper. van Grevenynghe designed and performed experiments, supervised and conceived of the project, and helped to write the manuscript.

 Olagnier, D.; Sze, A.; Bel Hadj, S.; Chiang, C.; Steel, C.; Han, X.; Routy, J.P.; Lin, R.; Hiscott, J.; van Grevenynghe, J. Htlv-1 tax-mediated inhibition of foxo3a activity is critical for the persistence of terminally differentiated cd4+ t cells. *PLoS pathogens* 2014, *10*, e1004575.

Author contributions of this co-first author study: Olagnier performed experiments. Sze performed experiments and wrote the paper. Bel Hadj, Chiang, Steel, and Han provided technical assisstance. Routy provided materials. Lin supervised the project. Hiscott helped write the manuscript. van Grevenynghe conceived, designed and performed experiments.

I have also been invovled with other research not presented in this thesis. The work has been published in the following:

- Oliere, S.; Douville, R.; Sze, A.; Belgnaoui, S.M.; Hiscott, J. Modulation of innate immune responses during Human T-Cell Leukemia Virus (HTLV-1) pathogenesis. *Cytokine & growth factor reviews* 2011, 22, 197-210.
- Liu, Y.; Goulet, M.L.; Sze, A.; Hadj, S.B.; Belgnaoui, S.M.; Lababidi, R.R.; Zheng, C.; Fritz, J.H.; Olagnier, D.; Lin, R. RIG-I-mediated sting upregulation restricts herpes simplex virus 1 infection. *Journal of virology* 2016, *90*, 9406-9419.
- Olagnier, D.; Lababidi, R.R.; Hadj, S.B.; Sze, A.; Liu, Y.; Naidu, S.D.; Ferrari, M.; Jiang, Y.; Chiang, C.; Beljanski, V., *et al.* Activation of nrf2 signaling augments vesicular stomatitis virus oncolysis via autophagy-driven suppression of antiviral immunity. *Molecular therapy : the journal of the American Society of Gene Therapy* 2017, 25, 1900-1916.
- Sze, A.; Olagnier, D.; Hadj, S.B.; Han, X.; Tian, X.H.; Xu, H.T.; Yang, L.; Shi, Q.; Wang, P.; Wainberg, M.A., *et al.* Sophoraflavenone G restricts dengue and zika virus infection via rna polymerase interference. *Viruses* 2017, *9*.

I have helped edit other studies and I have been included in the acknoledgments in the following published work:

- Liu, Z.; Pan, Q.; Liang, Z.; Qiao, W.; Cen, S.; Liang, C. The highly polymorphic cyclophilin a-binding loop in HIV-1 capsid modulates viral resistance to MXB. *Retrovirology* 2015, 12, 1.
- Aubouy, A.; Olagnier, D.; Bertin, G.; Ezinmegnon, S.; Majorel, C.; Mimar, S.; Massougbodji, A.; Deloron, P.; Pipy, B.; Coste, A. Nrf2-driven CD36 and HO-1 gene expression in circulating monocytes correlates with favourable clinical outcome in pregnancy-associated malaria. *Malaria journal* 2015, *14*, 358.
- Liu, Y.; Olagnier, D.; Lin, R. Host and viral modulation of RIG-I-mediated antiviral immunity. *Frontiers in immunology* 2016, 7, 662.

# **List of Abbreviations**

- 3' (3 prime end)
- 5' (5 prime end)
- ABC (abacavir)
- AGS (Aicardi-Goutières syndrome)
- AID (activation-induced cytidine deaminase)
- AIM2 (absent in melanoma)
- AP-1 (activator protein 1)
- APC/C (Anaphase-promoting complex/cyclosome)
- APOBEC-A3 (apolipoprotein B mRNA editing enzyme catalytic polypeptide-like 3)
- ATL (adult T-cell leukemia)
- ATM (ataxia telangiectasia mutated)
- AZT (azidothymidine)
- BER (base excision repair)
- C/EBPα (CCAAT-enhancer-binding proteins)
- CADM1 (cell adhesion molecule 1)
- CARD (caspase activation and recruitment domain)
- Cdc25 (cell division cycle protein 25)
- CDK (cyclin-dependent kinases)
- c-FLIP (Cellular FLICE-inhibitory protein)
- cGAMP (dinucleotide cyclic GMP-AMP)
- cGAS (cGAMP synthetase)
- Chk1 (check point kinase 1)
- Chk2 (check point kinase 2)
- cIAP-2 (cellular inhibitor of apoptosis 2)

cPPT (central PPT) CRE (cAMP response) CREB-regulated transcription coactivator (CRTC) CTL (cytotoxic T lymphocytes) DC (dendritic cell) dN (deoxynucleosides) dNTP (deoxynucleoside triphosphates) ds (double stranded) ERK (extracellular signal-regulated kinases) FADD (FAS-associated death domain protein) FLICE (FADD-like IL-1β-converting enzyme) Foxp3 (forkhead box P3) FSCN-1 (Fascin) GAS (gamma activation sequences) GLUT1 (glucose transporter-1) gp21 (TM) gp46 (SU) gRNA (genomic RNA) HAM/TSP (HTLV-1-associated myelopathy/tropical spastic paraparesis) HBZ (HTLV-1 basic leucine zipper factor) HIV-1 (human immunodeficiency virus type 1) HSPG (heparin sulfate proteoglycans) HTLV-1 (Human T-cell Leukemia virus type-1)

CKI (cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors)

ICAM-1 (intercellular adhesion molecule 1)

IFI16 (IFN-inducible protein 16)

IFN (interferon)

IFNAR (IFNα/β receptor)

IKK (IkB kinases)

IL (interleukin)

IN (integrase)

IRAK (IL-1R1-associated protein kinases)

IRF (IFN regulatory factor)

ISGF3 (IFN-stimulated gene factor 3)

ITIM (immunoreceptor tyrosine-based inhibition motif)

 $iT_{reg}$  (induced  $T_{reg}$ )

LFA-1 (leukocyte function antigen 1)

LPS (lipopolysaccharide)

LTR (long terminal repeat)

MAPK (mitogen-activated protein kinase)

MAVS (mitochondrial antiviral-signaling protein)

MDDC (monocyte-derived DC)

MDM (monocyte-derived macrophage)

MEKK1 (MAPK/ERK kinase kinase 1)

MHC-1 (major histocompatibility complex class I)

MLV (Murine Leukemia Virus)

MMR (mismatch repair)

MOMP (mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization)

MTOC (microtubule organizing center)

MyD88 (myeloid differentiation factor 88)

NB (nuclear bodies)

NEMO (NF-κB essential modulator)

NER (nucleotide excision repair)

NF-κB (nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells)

NHEJ (non-homologous end joining)

NIK (NF-κB-inducing kinase)

NK (natural killer)

NLR (NOD-like receptors)

NPC (nuclear pore complexes)

NRP (NEMO-related protein)

NRP-1 (neuropilin-1)

NRTI (Nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors)

NTP (nucleotide triphosphates)

NUPs (nucleoporins)

P/CAF (p300/CBP-associated factor)

p15 (NC)

p19 (MA)

p24 (CA)

p300/CRB (CREB binding protein)

p30RE (p30 response element)

PAMPS (pathogen-associated molecular patterns)

PAS (primer activation sequence)

PBS (primer binding site)

PD-1 (programmed cell death 1)

pDC (plasmacytoid dendritic cells)

PI3K (Phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate 3-kinase)

PIC (preintegration complex)

PPT (polypurine tract)

PRR (pathogen recognition receptors)

PRR (proline rich region)

Rb (retinoblastoma susceptibility protein)

RBD (receptor binding domain)

RIG (retinoic acid-inducible gene)

RLR (RIG-like receptors)

RNF4 (Really Interesting New Gene Finger Protein 4)

rNTP (ribonucleoside triphosphates)

ROS (reactive oxygen species)

RT (reverse transcriptase)

RTC (reverse transcription complex)

RTI (reverse-transcribed intermediaries)

RxRE (Rex responsive element)

SAMHD1 (sterile alpha motif and histidine-aspartic domain containing protein 1)

sHBZ (spliced HBZ)

SL (stem loop)

smHBZ (silent mutation HBZ)

SOCS (suppressor of cytokine signaling)

SRE (serum response element)

SRF (serum response factor)

ss (single stranded)

STAT (signal transducer and activator of transcription)

STING (stimulator of IFN genes)

TAB1 (TAK1-binding protein 1)

TAB2 (TAK1-binding protein 2)

TAF4 (TBP-associated factor 4)

TAK1/MAP3K7 (TGF-β activating kinases 1)/(mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase kinase 7)

TANK (TRAF family member-associated NF-KB activator)

Tax1BP1 (Tax1 binding protein 1)

TBK1 (TANK-binding kinase 1)

TCR (T-cell receptor)

TF (transcription factor)

TFIID (general transcription factor II D)

TGF- $\beta$  (transforming growth factor- $\beta$ )

TIGIT (T cell immunoglobulin and ITIM domain)

TIR (toll IL-1 receptor)

TLR (toll-like receptors)

TNF (tumor necrosis factor)

TNFR (TNF-α receptor)

TRAF (TNF receptor associated factor)

TRAILR (TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand receptor)

TRE-1 (Tax-response element-1)

Treg (regulatory T-cells)

TRIF (TIR domain–containing adaptor–inducing IFN-β)

TRIM (tripartite motif protein)

TSS (Tax speckled structures)

TYK2 (tyrosine kinase 2)

usHBZ (unspliced HBZ)

VEGF (vascular endothelial growth factor)

wtHBZ (wild type HBZ)

wtT<sub>reg</sub> (wild type T<sub>reg</sub>)

XIAP (X-chromosome-linked inhibitor of apoptosis)

# List of Tables and Figures

#### **Chapter 1**

- Figure 1. Worldwide geographical distribution of various HTLV-1 genotypes
- Figure 2: Components and assembly of the HTLV-1 virion
- Figure 3: Genomic structure and mRNA from the HTLV-1 genome
- Figure 4: The cell receptors involved in HTLV-1 binding
- Figure 5: Steps involved in the formation of a fusion pore
- Figure 6: The basics of reverse transcription
- Figure 7: Strand recombination during reverse transcription
- Figure 8: The enzymatic reaction carried out by integrase
- Figure 9: Possible fates of retroviral DNA
- Figure 10: The role of Rex in HTLV-1 mRNA stability and transport
- Figure 11: HTLV-1 infection across the mucosa
- Figure 12: HTLV-1 cell-to-cell transmission
- Figure 13: Regulation of HTLV-1 transcription and expression in vivo conditions
- Figure 14: The HTLV-1 virological synapse
- Figure 15: The HTLV-1 Tax protein
- Figure 16: Tax-mediated activation of viral transcription
- Figure 17: Tax-mediated activation of the NF-κB pathway
- Figure 18: Interplay between Tax and HBZ expression during senescence
- Figure 19: Proviral load and ATL development
- Figure 20: DNA signaling
- Figure 21: RNA signaling
- Figure 22: IFN signaling

#### Chapter 2

Graphical Abstract

Table 1. Functions associated with HIV-1 host restriction factors.

Figure 1. Structure and anti-retroviral activity of SAMHD1.

Figure 2. Abortive HIV-1 infection prevents activation of the innate immune response.

Figure 3: Levels of SAMHD1 expression and activation status during the cell-cycle.

Figure 4. HIV Infection activates the innate immune response through RTI production.

Figure 5: Additional Mechanism of SAMHD1 Mediated Restriction.

#### Chapter 3

Figure S6. Schematic of SAMHD1-mediated inhibition of HTLV-1 infection in monocytes.

Figure 1. Early type I IFN response in monocytes following abortive HTLV-1 infection.

Figure S1. Abortive infection of primary monocytes by HTLV-1.

Table S1. Primer sequences for HTLV-1 RNA and DNA detection and internal controls

Figure 2. HTLV-1-infected monocytes undergo mitochondrial-dependent apoptosis.

Figure S2. HTLV-1 infection induces apoptosis in infected monocytes.

Figure 3. SAMHD1 drives apoptosis in HTLV-1-infected monocytes.

Figure 4. Cytosolic RTI induces monocyte apoptosis following HTLV-1 infection.

Figure S3. Quantification of total versus nuclear integrated vDNA after SAMHD1 silencing.

Figure 5. STING complex formation with HTLV-1 DNA induces apoptosis in monocytes.

Figure S4. RIG-I silencing does not influence apoptosis in HTLV-1-infected monocytes.

Figure 6. STING activation leads to the formation of the IRF3-Bax complex.

Figure S5. STING silencing decreases Bax expression in infected monocytes.

Figure 7. STING recognition of HIV-1 RTI leads to IRF3-Bax interaction and mitochondrialdependent apoptosis.

#### Chapter 4

Figure 1. Productive HTLV-1 infection is associated persistence of infectious CD4<sup>+</sup>CD27<sup>neg</sup>CCR7<sup>neg</sup> T cells.

Figure S1. *In vitro* assay of primary T cells (trans-infection with  $MT-2_i$  cells and transduction with  $LVP_{Tax}$ ).

Figure 2. Tax<sup>+</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup>T cells display higher phospho-FOXO3a phenotype than the Tax<sup>neg</sup> subset.

Figure 3. Tax expression inhibits FOXO3a activity via activation of AKT.

Figure 4. Tax-mediated FOXO3a inactivation is responsible for CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell persistence.

Figure S2. Inhibition of IKK does not impact the phosphorylation of FOXO3a.

Figure S3. Tax expression does not alter the expression of total FOXO3a, but results in increased nuclear localization of inactive phosphorylated forms.

Figure 5. Specific inhibition of FOXO3a activity mimics Tax expression.

Figure S4. Silencing FOXO3a expression using small interfering RNA (siRNA) increased the number of  $CD4^+$  T cells (n=3).

Figure S5. HTLV-1 Tax interacts with PI3K but not FOXO3a (n=4).

Table S1: List of primers used for the Biomark analyses.

Figure S6. Transcriptome analysis of HTLV-1 Tax expressing CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells.

# Chapter 5

Figure 1: Structures of various amino acids mutated at side 137 in SAMHD1.

Figure 2: Schematic representation of the Allo-site 1 of SAMHD1

#### **Chapter 1: Literature Review**

#### 1.1. HTLV-1

HTLV-1 (Human T-cell Leukemia virus type-1) was identified in 1980, and was the first human retrovirus discovered. This was done by Dr. Robert Gallo, who isolated it from a patient diagnosed with cutaneous T-cell lymphoma[1]. This patient had no family history of lymphoma, leukemia or immune deficiency, and had not been exposed to any known carcinogens. Several cell lines were established from samples the patient provided, and the first human retroviral particles were isolated soon after. HTLV-1 viral products were found in many T-cell malignancies, but not in healthy human tissues, suggesting that HTLV-1 was not an endogenous virus[2]. Eventually a link was made between the presence of HTLV-1 and a distinct form of T-cell leukemia called ATL (adult T-cell leukemia) that was characterized by Dr. Kiyoshi Takatsuki[3]. ATL samples were infected with HTLV-1, and the oncogenic ability of HTLV-1 was demonstrated when healthy cells from an uninfected donor were transformed *in vitro* following exposure to the virus[4, 5]. HTLV-1 infection is also associated with an autoimmune-like disorder called HAM/TSP (HTLV-1-associated myelopathy/tropical spastic paraparesis).

#### 1.1.1. Epidemiology of HTLV

HTLV-1 is thought to infect between 15 and 20 million people throughout the world and is endemic only in certain areas such as Japan, the African continent and the Caribbean basin[6, 7]. This information however, was difficult to estimate as HTLV-1 distribution is not homogenous; one region may have very high prevalence of HTLV-1, but a neighboring one will not. Furthermore, the spread of the virus is mainly monitored by serological assays of blood donations, which may not accurately represent human demographics depending on the region. During the 1980s and 1990s, those tests lacked specificity and likely overestimated the rate of HTLV-1[8, 9]. Current diagnostics usually confirm infection with a different assay.

Africa contains several regions with endemic HTLV-1, including; Morocco, Cameroon, Gabon and South Africa[8, 10-12]. However, there is no information available for several African countries, making accurate estimates of African HTLV-1 difficult. Certain islands in the Caribbean contain large populations of infected individuals, such as Jamaica, Haiti, Martinique,

Trinidad and Tobago and Barbados[13-17]. Japan likely has the largest number of HTLV-1 infected individuals in the world[18], and is the most important center for studying the virus and its associated diseases. Even here however, there are large discrepancies; some regions report 40% of individuals over the age of 50 are infected, while other regions are mostly clear[19]. Other regions in Asia, such as Korea and China do not seem to have high levels of seropositivity[20, 21]. In the Middle-East, certain regions of Iran are endemic[22], although many other countries in the area have not been studied. The majority of cases of HTLV-1 infection in Europe are from individuals who are native from endemic regions such as the African continent or the Caribbean basin. The one exception to this is Romania[23], where the prevalence is significantly higher than the rest of Europe. HTLV-1 is found in the Americas in certain populations such as immigrants from endemic regions, and some native American populations[24, 25]. Overall, newer estimates of HTLV-1 prevalence are between 5 and 10 million people, but this is based on known endemic regions which only represent about a quarter of the total world population[10]. It is likely that the true levels of HTLV-1 are higher.

An interesting feature of HTLV-1 spread, is that it possesses remarkable genetic stability[10, 26]. The few nucleotide differences observed between strains does not seem to lead to any differences in terms of disease type or progression[27], and is a mark of geography and source of infection rather than pathogenesis[28]. Even the pressure from the immune system does not lead to viral mutations[29]. There still exist numerous genotypes of HTLV-1; subtype A is the most prevalent and is further divided into other geographical subtypes. Ultimately, the stability of the HTLV-1 genome is largely attributed to the fact that it replicates primarily through mitosis, whereby infected cells replicate and copy its genome[30]. This allows HTLV-1 to employ host polymerases that have high fidelity and proofreading capabilities.



Figure 1. Worldwide geographical distribution of various HTLV-1 genotypes. The most common subtype throughout the world is subtype A. The majority of these classifications are based on geographical localization rather than divergent retroviral DNA sequences due to the stability of the HTLV-1 genome. Adapted from[10].

#### 1.1.2. Virion Structure

HTLV-1 is a human retrovirus belonging to the deltaretrovirus genus, which also contains HTLV-2, 3, 4, Simian-T-Lymphotrophic Virus 1, 2, 3, 4 and Bovine Leukemia Virus. The HTLV-1 virion is generally polyhedral in shape[31], and display a wide range of sizes; between 85 to over 145 nm[32]. The outer layer of the virus is composed of a lipid bilayer from the host cells and contains trimers the viral glycoprotein surface gp46 (SU) and transmembrane gp21 (TM), in which the former is attached to the membrane via the latter. The viral matrix protein p19 (MA) interacts with the inner layer of the bilayer at raft microdomains[33], and helps form the inner capsid made of p24 (CA). This icosahedral capsid houses the two positive ssRNA of HTLV-1 gRNA (genomic RNA) that are bound non-covalently and coated with p15 (NC) nucleocapsid proteins. Host tRNA<sup>pro</sup> that initiates reverse transcription is also found within this structure[34], along with reverse transcriptase, and integrase.



Figure 2: Components and assembly of the HTLV-1 virion. Gag and Gag-Pol precursor proteins are assembled along with two copies of gRNA into nascent viral particles. PR cleavage will mature the particle after release. HTLV-1 does not package any of its accessory proteins. Adapted from[35].

#### 1.1.3. Genomic Organization

The packaged RNA genome of HTLV-1 contains a 5' cap and a poly(A) tail. The genome itself is approximately 9kb in length, and is flanked by a 5' and 3' LTR (long terminal repeat). As an integrated DNA sequence, called a provirus, the 5' and 3' LTR are identical, and each is comprised of U3, R and U5 regions, which are required for retroviral reverse transcription, integration, and transcription. However, as an RNA molecule, the 5' LTR only contains the R and U5 region, while the 3' contains a R and U3 region. The genome contains other typical retroviral components such as the *gag*, *pro*, *pol*, and *env* genes, in addition to a deltaretroviral-unique region known as pX near the 3' end, which encodes many regulatory proteins. The *gag* gene is translated into the polyprotein p55, and is subsequently cleaved by the viral protease to form p19, p24 and p15 (MA, CA and NC). *Pol* and *Env* are similarly processed to produce reverse transcriptase (RT) and integrase (IN), and SU and TM respectively. SU contains three domains; N-terminal RBD (receptor binding domain), a Proline rich region (PRR), and a C-terminal domain[36]. *Pro* overlaps *gag* and *pol*, but is produced via frameshifting[37, 38].

Between the 5' LTR and *gag*, is the primer binding site (PBS) that interacts with the packaged cellular tRNA<sup>pro</sup>. The sequence of the PBS is UGGGGGGCUCGUCCGGGAU[39]. Functionally associated with the PBS, is the primer activation sequence (PAS) whose sequence is AAUUU and is located just a few bases upstream of the PBS[40]. The PAS helps initiate reverse transcription, although the HTLV-1 PAS has not been functionally characterized like HIV-1 (human immunodeficiency virus type 1)[41].

Another important motif is the Psi or packaging element[42], which includes numerous stem loops. One structure is the dimerization initiation site, also located just upstream of the primer binding site. It forms a 14 nucleotide stem loop whose sequence is CUCUCCAGGAGAG[43-45]. This stem loop forms non-covalent bonds with a different strand of genomic RNA, and forms the genomic dimer that is found in viral particles. This stem loop seems to be dispensable for HTLV-1 replication *in vitro*, but leads to reduced infectivity[46]. The Psi element also contains other stem loops that are responsible for interacting with Gag proteins during gRNA packaging. It is currently unclear for HTLV-1 what those sequences are, but it likely contains stem loop structures that span the 5' LTR and the beginning of the *gag* gene[47, 48]. Lastly, near

the 3' U3 region lays the polypurine tract (PPT); a region that contains many purine bases, that is required for reverse transcription.



Figure 3: Genomic structure and mRNA produced from the integrated HTLV-1 genome. The gRNA of HTLV-1 follows a relatively standard format, but its accessory proteins are all encoded in the pX region. It can produce several different forms of mRNA, including one produced from its 3' LTR. Adapted from[49].

#### 1.1.4. Life Cycle of HTLV-1

Integrated HTLV-1 DNA is primarily found in CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells *in vivo*[50], although many other cells types have been shown to be infected *in vivo* and *in vitro*. Other cells types include: CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells, regulatory T-cells (Tregs), B-cells, plasmacytoid dendritic cells, myeloid cells, fibroblasts, endothelial cells, etc., but it is not always clear how or if they contribute to HTLV-1 associated diseases[51-57]. It is hypothesized that the large diversity of potential targets is due to the ubiquity of the host molecules that interact with TM and SU. Following this interaction, the viral and host membranes fuse and allow the virus entry into the cytoplasm. Here, reverse transcription occurs and converts the viral ssRNA genome into a dsDNA molecule. This process is associated with many proteins that also give the viral DNA access to the nucleus, where it is integrated into the host DNA. Once integrated, the HTLV-1 DNA is referred to as a provirus, and can be transcribed to generate mRNA to produce viral proteins, or gRNA to be packaged into new viruses and restart the viral lifecycle.

#### 1.1.4.1. Attachment

Viral attachment begins with the interaction between the C-terminal domain of SU and heparin sulfate chains of HSPG (heparin sulfate proteoglycans) on the cell surface[58, 59]. Higher numbers of HSPG syndecan core proteins and a shorter heparin sulfate chain length is associated with increased infection, possibly due to reducing the distance between the virion and the cell, and increasing the likelihood of interaction with the other HTLV-1 receptors[60, 61]. The RBD of SU[62] then interacts with neuropilin-1 (NRP-1)[63] via its KPxR motif[64]. These two receptors, HSPG and NRP-1, normally function as co-receptors for VEGF (vascular endothelial growth factor) 165, and initiate binding to the growth factor prior to its interaction with its receptor VEGF-R[65]. VEGF-165 interacts with NRP-1 via the same KPxR motif, suggesting that HTLV-1 employs molecular mimicry to bind to its target cells[64]. The interactions with HSPG and NRP-1 likely lead to conformational changes in SU and expose its glucose transporter-1 (GLUT1) binding sites[66-68]. The binding of GLUT1 with SU disrupts the disulfide bonds between SU and TM, and causes TM refolding[69]. These conformational changes lead to the exposure of the fusogenic peptide on the N-terminal domain of TM which mediates membrane fusion and allows the viral capsid entry into the cell cytoplasm[66, 70].



Figure 4: Schematic representation of the cellular receptors involved in the binding to HTLV-1 SU. Initially SU and HSPG will interact via the CTD of SU. HSPG will then bring the virus in close contact with NRP-1, which will interact with SU via its RBD. These interactions will expose the GLUT1 binding site on SU and lead to their interaction and viral entry. Adapted from[66].

Other molecules have also been reported to facilitate viral infection, such as DC-SIGN which also interacts with SU to greatly enhance cell-free HTLV-1 infection of myeloid cells[71, 72]. It has also been shown that hDlg, a common scaffold protein involved with cell adhesion, can interact with TM and SU/TM complexes, and enhances cell-to-cell infection[73]. It was further shown that hDlg can also induce GLUT1 clustering, suggesting an important role in infection[74].

A careful balance between the surface expression of GLUT1 and SU must be achieved in infected cells in order for them to produce infectious viral particles. If this does not occur, it may lead to a phenomenon known as superinfection[75], where an infected cell is infected again with another viral particle. This seemingly occurs very rarely if ever *in vivo* in infected patients[76]. Overexpression of GLUT1 prevents proper maturation of HTLV-1 Env, and greatly reduces the infectivity of viral particles[77]. Under normal circumstances, the Env polyprotein is kept in a separate cellular compartment than GLUT1, as HTLV-1 does not seem to encode a protein that alters the expression of its receptor, unlike HIV-1[78, 79]. Interestingly, CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells express relatively low levels of GLUT1 compared to CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells and other cell types[61, 80, 81], but express higher levels of HSPG[61]. In the end, this may be an unexpected benefit to the virus, as CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells could be more likely to produce functional viral particles once infected, due to low GLUT1 expression. It has also been reported that GLUT1 does not play an important role in viral attachment, which is mostly mediated by HSPG and NRP-1, and therefore HTLV-1 would not require high surface levels of GLUT1 to infect cells[60, 72, 80].

An interesting aspect regarding cell-free viral attachment was demonstrated when several viruses including HIV-1, but not HTLV-1 that was not used in the experiment, can interact with filopodia in a receptor-dependent manner, and "surf" down the filopodia towards the cell body[82]. Data showed that viral surfing was based on myosin and the actin cytoskeleton. Of particular note was that polarized epithelial cells, used here as a model of the mucosal epithelium, were particularly susceptible to infection via viral surfing on their microvilli-rich apical side, but not their basolateral side. Intriguingly, infection via the basolateral side could be enhanced via myosin or actin inhibitors. Viral surfing has currently not been observed during HTLV-1 infection[83], but in this case infection was mediated in a cell-to-cell manner, and the filopodia was the source of infection rather than the receiver.

#### 1.1.4.2. Entry

The current model[84, 85] of membrane fusion supports the notion that the fusogenic peptide imbeds itself into the target cell membrane, while the C-terminal of TM is anchored in the virion[86, 87]. Overall a trimer of TM forms a rod-like structure[88-90], also called the pre-hairpin intermediate, that is stabilized by a coiled-coil formed from other residues on the N-terminal of TM. The rod-like structure then folds itself into a trimer-of-hairpins, or six-helix bundle structure, which brings the viral and cellular envelopes together to induce the formation of a fusion pore through which the viral capsid enters[91, 92].

The formation of the fusion pore during infection is not an immediate or low-energy process, and begins with the joining of the outer layers of the lipid membranes that form a stalk structure. Expanding the initial point of contact brings the inner layers of the lipid membranes together and forms a very stable intermediate hemifusion diaphragm, which can lead to fusion pores[93-95]. The energy required to deform the lipid membrane and cause hemifusion formation could be derived from as little as a single transmembrane fusogenic peptide[96], but likely requires three transmembrane trimers[97]. Small reversible pores may form before the complete folding of TM, but large and stable pores require complete trimer-of-hairpins formation[92]. The speed of this process depends on the virus, but in the context of HIV-1 takes approximately 15 minutes[98]. Much of the knowledge regarding viral-mediated membrane fusion comes from studies with Influenza and HIV-1 viruses.



Figure 5: Representation of formation of a fusion pore that occurs during infection. A fusion pore is a complex and energy dependent structure that is formed through various stable intermediaries. Adapted from[99].

A possible physical barrier to viral entry is the host actin cortex that lies just underneath the cell membrane that could prevent the viral core from entering the cytoplasm[100-102]. Little is known regarding the modulation of the actin network by HTLV-1 to facilitate entry, but HIV-1 can interact with actin binding proteins to promote receptor clustering in order to facilitate entry[103-105]. The HIV-1 accessory protein Nef is also known to cause actin depolarization[106, 107] and increase viral replication[100, 108]. Indeed, virions that entered the cell via endocytosis, which bypasses the actin cytoskeleton, are not affected by a lack of Nef, which suggest that its activity is required to overcome the actin cortex[100, 109, 110]. It is also possible that the matrix protein of HIV also mediates entry through its modulation of the actin cytoskeleton. Phosphorylated HIV p17 interacts with actin and is critical for the early stages of infection[107, 111].

HTLV-1 does not package its regulatory proteins, such as Tax that has known actin-modulating properties[112-116], but interaction with its receptors may alter the actin network. NRP-1 and GLUT1 interact with GLUT1CBP which associates with cytoskeletal proteins[117-119]. This interaction is mediated through the PDZ domain on GLUT1 and NRP-1, which is also found on HSPG syndecan core proteins[120]. Alternatively, if HTLV-1 does make use of viral surfing, it may target itself to sections of the cell body that are undergoing actin remodeling to avoid actin-rich areas[82].

Whether or not the actin cortex is a barrier or useful tool to be exploited[82] by HTLV-1 may ultimately depend on a multitude of factors, including the specific mechanism of entry; multiple categories of endocytosis, direct fusion at the outer cell membrane, etc. A recent study has shed light on this issue: during cell-to-cell infection of dendritic cells (DC) actin polymerization was required for HTLV-1 entry into cytoplasmic vesicular compartments[121]. Pharmacological acidification of these vesicles greatly reduced infection, suggesting that productive entry was mostly mediated via endocytosis and not fusion at the plasma membrane. While the details of these vesicles have not been elucidated, they are CD82<sup>+</sup>, which is expressed on the cell surface and is already known to interact with SU[122]. Indeed, the overexpression of CD82 leads to reduced viral infectivity, and is reminiscent of GLUT1 overexpression. CD82 therefore, may be vital for endocytosis-mediated entry of HTLV-1 particles. Another study comparing the transmission of cell-to-cell HTLV-1 with HIV-1, found that HTLV-1 infection was significantly
susceptible to chemical agents that interfered with cytoskeletal remodeling[123]. A functional actin cytoskeleton therefore, seems to be vital for HTLV-1 infection, which has evolved methods to co-opt its functions.

# 1.1.4.3. Reverse Transcription

Following entry of the viral capsid into the cell cytoplasm, a reverse transcription complex (RTC) is formed around the gRNA to enhance infection. Many features of HTLV-1 reverse transcription and the formation of the RTC are not known, and currently rely on studies on HIV-1 to fill certain gaps in knowledge. It is known that the RTC contains multiple proteins, including Gag proteins, RT and IN, which remain assembled during the uncoating process. In the context of HIV-1, the RTC contains MA which may play a role in the nuclear import step[124], and CA which targets the RTC to the nucleus[125-127] and maintains the shell structure of RTC and allows for nucleotides to enter the core[128, 129]. The CA structure seems to be required for RTC stability to ensure infection, but may leave the RTC as reverse transcription is completed and uncoating progresses[130-132]. IN also plays an interesting role, as its direct interaction with RT may be required for reverse transcription[133, 134].

There is also evidence that the actin cytoskeleton is crucial for uncoating and RTC formation as well as entry. Actin may interact with several important members of the RTC, including RT[135], IN[136] and Gag[137, 138]. Inhibitors of actin polymerization are also associated with reduced early retroviral DNA products[101, 107, 139]. It has been suggested that the interactions between the retroviral core and the actin cortex affects uncoating and therefore RTC formation and reverse transcription[140].

The process of reverse transcription converts the ssRNA genome into a dsDNA molecule. It begins with priming: when the packaged host tRNA binds to the PBS on the 5' end of the gRNA. It is possible to prime the reaction *in vitro* with tRNA fragments instead of tRNA, both of which are found in HTLV-1 virions[39]. Following tRNA/PBS interaction, the antiPAS sequence on the tRNA is exposed leading to further interaction between the tRNA and gRNA[141]. It is believed that these two RNA/RNA interactions at the PBS and PAS with tRNA stimulate reverse transcription[40, 142].

Reverse transcription initiation is linked to uncoating, as delays in the former result in delays in the later[143, 144]. It was recently shown that uncoating was mechanically linked to reverse transcription, as the stress inside the viral core increased due to the conversion of a flexible ssRNA molecule into a dsDNA one[145]. The entire process is also strongly influenced by NC; virions made with mutated NC are more likely to contain viral DNA[146-148]. In those cases, reverse transcription likely began in virus producing cells[149]. Overall, it is thought that tRNA/PBS interaction may occur early in the virus producing cell[150], but that the tRNA/PAS interaction is more tightly controlled by NC[141, 151]. These proteins likely repress tRNA/PAS interaction, and therefore reverse transcription, until the virus infects a new cell[152]. While the exact mechanisms are not clear, NC has the ability to destabilize double stranded nucleic acid structures in gRNA, induce tRNA unwinding, and enhance tRNA binding to gRNA[153].



Figure 6: Representation of the key steps that occur during reverse transcription. These steps including primer binding and elongation, completion of the negative strand, strand transfer, cleavage of the gRNA, second strand transfer and completion.

Once initiated, the packaged viral reverse transcriptase catalyzes the production of viral DNA in a 5' to 3' manner, and quickly finishes transcribing the U5 and R regions. The dNTP required to build the DNA are provided by the newly infected cell. To copy the rest of the gRNA, the nascent viral DNA and reverse transcriptase complex must transfer itself over to the 3' end of the gRNA, using the complementary sequence on the R region it produced and the R region on the 3' end of the gRNA as a guide. This negative strand transfer is significantly enhanced by the presence of NC, which aggregates the nucleic acids involved to facilitate the transfer[153]. This event is also highly associated with capsid maturation, as delays in negative strand transfer are associated with deferred uncoating[154].

Retroviral NC has several RNA chaperon activities that enhance reverse transcription: nucleic acid duplex destabilization and aggregation. However the NC of different retroviruses exhibit these functions at varying strengths. HTLV-1 NC was shown to display stronger duplex destabilization than HIV-1, but significantly weaker RNA binding and aggregation due to an overall neutral charge and slow dissociation kinetics[155-159]. Weak nucleic acid binding suggests that HTLV-1 NC does not strongly promote the strand transfer step during reverse transcription. It is currently unclear if this has any effect on HTLV-1 reverse transcription, or if other viral proteins, such as MA, alleviate this potential defect. It has been shown that other deltaretroviruses use MA to facilitate gRNA binding to compensate for the weak NC/gRNA interactions[160]. Additionally, the R region of the HTLV-1 LTR is particularly long, over twice as long as in HIV-1, and may be another mechanism employed by HTLV-1 to mediate strand transfer. There is a correlation between the length of a retroviral R region and duplex destabilizing strength of its NC protein[155].

As the rest of the gRNA is reverse transcribed to produce the negative DNA strand, the RNase H domain of the reverse transcriptase enzyme degrades any gRNA in a gRNA/DNA hybrid via its endonuclease activity in a sequence independent manner. This occurs during pauses in DNA synthesis[161], but it is unclear which reverse transcriptase enzyme performs this function. Multiple RT enzymes are packaged into a virion, and studies have shown that the DNA producing RT need not be the one that degrades the gRNA[162, 163]. The PPT of the gRNA is resistant to RNase H activity and is left intact, and it serves as an RNA primer to begin the synthesis of the positive DNA strand. Positive strand synthesis begins with the 3' LTR in

addition to the PBS of the tRNA. In the context of HIV-1, whose primer is tRNA<sup>lys</sup>, reverse transcription stops at the first modified nucleotide present in the tRNA, which lies just after the PBS sequence[164, 165]. The pausing and subsequent interruption of RT here is likely due to the stability provided by the unconventional nucleotide. Once the PBS region has been reverse transcribed, the tRNA is removed via RNase H which allows for a second strand transfer to occur, also known as the positive strand transfer. This second transfer occurs more slowly than the first, likely due to the requirement of RNase H activity[166]. During positive strand transfer, the complementary PBS sequence is used as a guide, and the transfer is again mediated by NC[167]. Reverse transcription can continue, using both strands as templates to complete the dsDNA retroviral genome.

HIV-1 contains two identical PPT; a central PPT (cPPT) and one near the 3' end. The PPT of HTLV-1 has not been functionally characterized, but a 3' PPT is required for reverse transcription to occur. The cPPT of HIV-1 is vital for the subsequent step of nuclear entry[168], but it is not known if HTLV-1 employs similar mechanisms or uses multiple PPT. There is evidence that suggests that positive strand synthesis occurs at multiple sites including the cPPT, and not just at 3' PPT[166, 169, 170]. This causes the positive strand to be completed faster than the negative strand. The nature of the priming at these multiple sites remains unclear; if these are specific sequences that are resistant to RNase H activity or random gRNA fragments that have bound to the negative strand.

Reverse transcriptase often pauses and even dissociates from the nucleic acid chain it produces and reads. This is due to secondary structures in the RNA template[171, 172]. Interruptions can also occur due to gRNA fragmentation or damage, and during strand transfer events. These events, as well as others, may lead to retroviral recombination, resulting in a DNA product that contains sequences from both packaged gRNA strands[173]. In the context of superinfection, this can lead to rapid changes in the viral genome if the two packaged gRNA come from two different strains. While superinfection has not been reported with HTLV-1[76], there is evidence that this has occurred in the past[174]; a recombination between a Senegal and West African strain of HTLV-1 occurred approximately 4000 years ago, and is presently active in North Africa. The data strongly suggested a recombination event between the U3 and R regions of the LTR, suggesting that a negative strand transfer induced recombination event took place during reverse transcription. To put this in perspective, the main HTLV-1 genotype most prevalent around the world (cosmopolitan a subtype) arose over 12,000 years ago, and the earliest human strain of HTLV-1 could have arisen as late as 60,000 years ago[175].



Figure 7: Representation of the two known methods of strand recombination that can occur during reverse transcription. Adapted from[164].

For HIV-1, error-prone RT is an important source of viral mutations, as well as host RNA pol II that produces the gRNA to be packaged[164]. In both cases neither enzyme has proofreading capabilities. While the genetic stability of HTLV-1 is largely attributed to host DNA polymerase II, its RT enzyme also produces significantly less errors than HIV-1 RT[176, 177]. HTLV-1 RT is produced from an mRNA that contains both *gag* and *pro*. Two frameshifts are required to produce RT; one following *gag* and another following *pro*, resulting in a Gag-Pro-Pol polyprotein that requires PR mediated cleavage. Overall this results in a very small amount of RT being present in virions. There is a small peptide that separates uncleaved Pro and Pol, p1, which must be removed from the N-terminus of RT for it to function[178]. Pol is also processed by PR to produce IN and RT. The latter can be further cleaved to p49 that only contains the polymerase domain, while RT, also called p62, contains both the polymerase and RNase H domains[179]. p62 and p49 can form a heterodimer *in vitro*, and is reminiscent of HIV-1 RT that forms a similar p66/p51 heterodimer.

# 1.1.4.4. Nuclear Transport

Following the formation of the RTC, active transport is required to bring it towards the nucleus. Many details of this step remain elusive, even in the context of HIV-1 infection. The mechanisms involved are further obscured by the type of cell targeted and the mode of entry. It is believed that actin and/or microtubule dependent movement is required for the retroviral core to reach the nucleus[101, 128, 139, 180], an interaction that likely begins during RTC formation. Ultimately, dissecting the differences between transport through the actin cortex and the cytoplasm are difficult to discover, as any modulation to the former would likely have impacted the latter.

Several retroviral proteins included in the RTC such as MA[124], IN[181] and Vpr[182] in the case of HIV-1, contain NLS or have been reported to localize cytoplasmic proteins to the nucleus when bound. It has also been reported that IN can interact with nucleoporins (NUPs) found in nuclear pore complexes (NPC) that regulate traffic through the nuclear envelope[183]. The presence of the cPPT during reverse transcription also influences nuclear entry through the formation of a triple stranded DNA flap which serves as an import signal at the NPC[168, 184].

However, the requirements of these features has been challenged multiple times, as many mutations in MA, IN, Vpr and cPPT do not necessarily inhibit infection[185-187].

Studies using MLV (Murine Leukemia Virus), a retrovirus that cannot infect resting cells due to its inability to get past the nuclear envelope, have indicated that CA may be primarily responsible for the nuclear localization of the RTC[125-127]. Specific mutations in HIV-1 CA have shown no defects in reverse transcription but defects in DNA nuclear translocation[188]. Ultimately it appears that CA in the viral core plays an important role at multiple steps of the retroviral lifecycle. Uncoating is a carefully regulated process important for reverse transcription and transportation of the viral dsDNA into the nucleus[189].

Several proteins have been identified for the transport of the HIV-1 retroviral core into the nucleus. Such proteins include importin proteins such as TNPO3, and several NUP proteins such as NUP358 and NUP 153[189, 190] that interact with IN[191] and CA[192, 193]. It is unclear if HTLV-1 uses similar proteins for entry, as its CA functions much differently than the HIV-1 CA. The HTLV-1 capsid core forms a spherical shape[31], while in HIV-1 it forms a conical structure[194]. Furthermore, HTLV-1 CA does not interact with cyclophilin A[195, 196], which in the case of HIV-1 plays an important role in uncoating[197] and nuclear transport via NUP358[192]. However, considering how HTLV-1 is also able to infect non-dividing cells like HIV-1, it is likely that it could employ similar mechanisms for entry through NUP interactions.

## 1.1.4.5. Integration

As reverse transcription is completed, uncoating progresses and the RTC transforms into the preintegration complex (PIC). During this time, IN performs a number of important steps in the cytoplasm[198] to prepare the dsDNA for integration. Multiple IN will interact with the ends of the completed retroviral dsDNA and nick their 3' ends, removing two to three nucleotides[199]. This 3'-end processing will lead to the formation of CA dinucleotide OH-3'-hyroxyl reactive ends. This reactive complex is likely stabilized by host proteins, as the 3' ends may aberrantly integrate themselves internally within the same dsDNA molecule, leading to the formation of circular rearranged, or truncated, retroviral DNA, which is not infectious[200, 201]. Several

retroviruses have evolved different mechanisms to prevent this, such as BAF for MLV[202] or the SET complex for HIV-1[203].



Figure 8: Schematic representation of all the enzymatic reactions carried out by the viral enzyme integrase, depending on its subcellular localization. In the cytoplasm, integrase removes two bases to form 5' overhangs. In the nucleus, integrase cleaves the host DNA, creating a 6 base overhang in the context of HTLV-1. Integrase of HIV-1 represented here. Adapted from[204].

Once inside the nucleus, several broad mechanisms are proposed to target the retroviral dsDNA to the host DNA. The first is the tethering of specific chromatin proteins to IN. In the context of HIV-1, LEDGF binds to IN[205] and mediates the interaction between chromatin and IN[206]. HIV-1 integration will then occur in and around genes bound with LEDGF[207].

While HTLV-1 does not seem to integrate near any specific genes it does prefer open chromatin and prefers integration near transcription start and active sites[208-211]. However, it was reported that PP2A can bind to the IN of deltaretroviruses, including HTLV-1, and stimulate IN enzymatic activity[212]. PP2A does not directly bind to chromatin, but interacts with several DNA binding proteins such as p53, STAT1 and HDACs[213, 214]. Intriguingly, newer methods of integration site analysis have identified enriched sites of HTLV-1 integration which include p53 and STAT1 binding sites[211].

Another method of targeting was thought to be mediated by palindromic sequences in the host DNA that are targeted by IN[209]. Recent work has demonstrated that this is not the case for HIV-1 and HTLV-1, but a non-palindromic DNA motif is recognized that is present on both DNA strands[215]. However it is thought that the DNA specificity of IN is quite weak and it can bind multiple sequences.

The next catalytic step performed by IN is called strand transfer, whereby the retroviral DNA is inserted into the host DNA. IN catalyzes a break in the host DNA, creating a six base pair overhang in the context of HTLV-1[216], and joins the 3' processed ends of the retroviral DNA to the overhang. This causes a gap on both sides on the 5' end of the retroviral LTR, that once repaired generates a six base pair repeat that flanks the integrated provirus. In addition to this gap, unligated DNA segments on the positive strand and the DNA flap, are repaired by host DNA repair machinery including FEN1 [217-219]. Prior to integration, the host repair machinery may interact with the retroviral genome and cause the formation of 1 or 2-LTR circles in the nucleus via homologous recombination and non-homologous end joining respectively[220].



Figure 9: A diagram that demonstrates the various possible states that retroviral DNA can find itself in. During normal pauses in the retroviral lifecycle, integrase may accidentally mediate autointegration. On the other hand, the primed ends may also be detected by cellular enzymes that catalyze the formation of LTR circles. Adapted from[220].

As HTLV-1 replicates primarily through mitosis, beneficial integration sites will accumulate *in vivo*, and provide new insight into disease progression. Individuals suffering from HAM/TSP are more likely to display increased HTLV-1 integration into transcriptionally active regions compared to asymptomatic carriers[208]. In the context of ATL, a large number of unique clones increases the risk of disease, but not integration near oncogenes or oligoclonal expansion[221]. Studies of *in vivo* HTLV-1 integration sites suggest that the long arm of acrocentric chromosomes, 13, 14, 15 and 21, are more likely to harbor a provirus, but it remains unclear why this occurs[221].

## 1.1.4.6. Viral Transcription

Following integration and DNA repair, the integrated HTLV-1 DNA, now referred to as a provirus, may being producing viral mRNA via RNA pol II. The initial round of transcription is dependent on cellular proteins. The U3 region of the viral 5' LTR contains several important transcriptional activation sites, such as a TATA box and a Tax-response element-1 (TRE-1). The TATA box is a general transcription factor binding site that contains the TATA nucleotide sequence, while the TRE-1 is made up of three imperfect 21bp repeats. Tax augments CREB binding to the TRE[222-224], while also enhancing TBP-mediated transcription from the TATA box[225, 226]. Overall Tax and CREB function together to enhance retroviral transcription[227-229]. Further details on Tax-mediated transcription of the viral and cellular genes will be included in the later section on Tax.

The U3 region of the 3' LTR contains the polyadenylation signal that is required for proper mRNA processing[230, 231]. The RxRE (Rex responsive element) can be found in the U3 and R regions of the LTR, and is found in HTLV-1 mRNA[232]. It influences viral mRNA splicing and nuclear export.

The HTLV-1 provirus can produce differently spliced mRNA that encode several different proteins from its 5' LTR. Unspliced mRNA can produce a large Gag-Pol polyprotein; it requires ribosomal frameshifts for Gag, PR and RT-IN expression, and requires PR to cleave the proteins. A single spliced mRNA encodes for Env proteins, and PR similarly separates SU from TM. The pX region of HTLV-1 encodes numerous regulatory proteins produced via several different

mRNA. Tax and Rex proteins are produced by a doubly spliced dicistronic mRNA. p8/p12 is produced as p12 from a singly spliced mRNA, which can be cleaved to p8. p30 is produced by its own doubly spliced mRNA, but p13, which is identical to 87 amino acids of the C-terminal of p30, is produced from its own singly spliced mRNA. The HTLV-1 genome may also produce other mRNA, such as one coding for  $p21^{Rex}$ , but these truncated proteins have unknown or unconfirmed biological significance[233, 234].

The HTLV-1 genome also utilizes its 3' LTR for transcription; it encodes HBZ in an anti-sense orientation[235-237]. It was recently shown that Tax mediated sense transcription had no effect and was not affected by strong antisense Tax independent transcription from the 3' LTR[238].

The site of retroviral integration can also modulate viral gene expression. It was shown that same sense integration 1kb upstream of a transcription start site was associated with spontaneous viral gene expression, whereas integration downstream led to silencing likely due to transcriptional interference[211]. There were however, significant differences on retroviral gene expression based on the transcription factor investigated.

# 1.1.4.7. Viral Translation and Rex

The first mRNA produced by the HTLV-1 provirus is the doubly spliced *tax/rex* dicistronic mRNA. Tax is more readily produced from this, and activates further retroviral transcription to produce more Tax and Rex. Eventually, enough Rex is produced to bind and stabilize HTLV-1 mRNA[239-241] through the RxRE that forms secondary structures[230]. This results in the cytoplasmic export of singly spliced and unspliced HTLV-1 mRNA through Rex and is associated with a decrease, but not a shutdown, in the export of *tax/rex* mRNA[233, 239]. Recent work has demonstrated that retroviral mRNA exported this way contains a 75 nucleotide long hairpin intronic sequence[242].

p30 mRNA, which is doubly spliced but expressed at low levels, produces a protein that binds to *tax/rex* mRNA and keeps it in the nucleus through its NLS[243-245]. This further suppresses Tax and Rex expression, and together generates an overall switch towards the expression of other genes required for virion production such as *gag*, *pol* and *env*[246, 247].



Figure 10: Overall representation of the HTLV-1 retroviral lifecycle. Rex expression following Tax trans-activation leads to the stability of HTLV-1 mRNA that code for non-Tax/Rex mRNA. Adapted from[247].

Rex performs its functions through several important domains, and is positively regulated via phosphorylation[248]. Its N-terminal contains RNA binding domain and NLS which allows Rex to enter the nucleus. Rex interacts with CRM1 through its NES for nuclear export[249]. CRM1 binding also promotes oligomerization of Rex, which is required for mRNA binding and is mediated through two multimerization domains.

Once in the cytoplasm, most HTLV-1 mRNA is translated by free ribosomes, with the exception of the singly spliced *env* mRNA that is translated by membrane-bound ribosomes[30]. In order to induce translation from host machinery, it is believed that HTLV-1 employs an IRES element in its 5' LTR[250, 251], but there is evidence that other mechanisms, such as DHX9 cap-mediated translation, may be involved[252].

Unspliced retroviral RNA that contains a Psi element diffuses through the cytoplasm towards the plasma membrane for dimerization and incorporation into new virions[253]. There the gRNA dimer likely interacts with both MA and NC of Gag for particle assembly[160]. This is in contrast to HIV-1, whose NC can interact with RNA much more easily[158]. MA also guides new particle formation at lipid rafts at the plasma membrane[254, 255]. Assembled particles then bud from the host membrane as immature virions. PR will then process the Gag and Gag-Pol polyproteins for virus maturation and infectivity.

#### 1.1.5. Transmission

HTLV-1 is mainly transmitted vertically; from mother to child via breastmilk, but can also be contracted through contaminated blood or sexual contact[256]. It usually causes diseases in less than 10% of infected individuals[257, 258], and is the causal agent of ATL and HAM/TSP, as well as other associated diseases that will be discussed in a later section. Intriguingly, it appears that the route of infection is a key determinant for disease progression[259]. An infection that begins during breastfeeding may develop into ATL[260], while one acquired due to contaminated blood could result in HAM/TSP[261]. The molecular reasons for this are still being investigated, but early infection is asymptomatic making it difficult to study *de novo* transmission.

HTLV-1 is not a very infectious virus compared to HIV-1. Transmission of whole blood or cellular blood products will lead to infection in about 10%[262, 263] and 50%[264] of cases respectively, but the transfer of plasma[264], non-cellular blood products[265], or refrigerated blood will not[266]. The rates of sexual transmission are skewed towards male-to-female transmission[267]; approximately 60% of women in serodiscordant couples will become infected over a 10 year period versus only 0.4% of men[268]. The rates of mother-to-child vary on the viral load of the mother and the duration of the breastfeeding, but are between 5% and 25%[260, 269-271]. The source of the virus appears to be infected lymphocytes in the blood, semen or breastmilk[272, 273], which are not present in the plasma or non-cellular blood products, and will not survive refrigeration. However, in the context of semen and breastmilk, it is not clear how the virus actually spreads to the uninfected individual *in vivo*.



Figure 11: Schematic representing the various possible methods of HTLV-1 infection across the mucosa. In A, via damage to the epithelial barrier. In B, cell-to-cell infection to the cells of the epithelial barrier could then lead to transmission of the virus on the other side of the mucosa. In C, the virus is transported via transcytosis across the mucosa. In any event, cell-free or cell-associated HTLV-1 can then infect cells in the body and begin establishing a reservoir. Adapted from[274].

One historical observation regarding HTLV-1, is that its cell-free virions are poorly infectious of their main target, CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells, especially compared to other retroviruses[275, 276]. It has been known for quite some time that cell-to-cell contact between infected and uninfected cells is required for efficient viral spread[277]. Myeloid cells on the other hand, are significantly easier to infect with cell-free HTLV-1, and are even more susceptible than CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells to cell-to-cell infection[278].

DC that have been exposed to HTLV-1 can spread the infection to T-cell in cis or trans[56], but a more recent study has shown that productive infection of DC significantly enhances transmission[121]. Rizkallah *et al.* also demonstrated a difference in HTLV-1 infection based on the maturation status of the DC; immature DC were productively infected at a higher rate than mature DC. There was also an inverse correlation between productive infection and virus capture; immature DC captured less HTLV-1, but were more likely to become infected. Ultimately, productive infection was linked to the route of entry and the subsequent pH of the receiving vesicle; macropinocytosis in immature DC and via clathrin-mediated endocytosis in mature DC. This data was partially corroborated by a study using HIV-1[279], and may help future research in determining which modes of entry restrict retroviral replication.

One *in vitro* study demonstrated that cell-free HTLV-1 can cross an epithelial barrier through transcytosis, to then infect dendritic cells[280]. Another study on HIV-1 demonstrated similar results, but that cell-associated transcytosis was significantly more efficient than cell-free transcytosis[281]. Taken together, this seems to suggest that infected lymphocytes interact with epithelial cells to efficiently transfer HTLV-1 across the membrane. At this point, cell-free HTLV-1 can then infect dendritic cells which will transfer them to CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells. It is also possible that HTLV-1 infected cells cross the epithelial barrier altogether, allowing for direct infection of the new hosts CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells. A number of different molecular mechanisms of HTLV-1 transmission, other than cell-free infection, have been described and are outlined below in the following subsections. The consequences of these cell-to-cell mechanisms are likely that the virus is hidden from detection and inactivation by the immune system. They include virological synapses, conduits and biofilms, and are not mutually exclusive.



Figure 12: Representation of the various models of HTLV-1 cell-to-cell transmission. In A, the cells form a virological synapse to transmit HTLV-1. In B, the infected cell forms a viral conduit that can infect cell via a mini-virological synapse. In C, the infected cell accumulates HTLV-1 on its cell surface in the form of biofilms that can be easily transmitted via cell-to-cell contacts. In D, cell-free infection of DC is possible, which can then transmit HTLV-1 in a cell-to-cell manner in trans. Adapted from[274].

Transmission of HTLV-1 virions to uninfected cells seemed to play a rather small contribution to the proviral load. While many CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells in infected individuals harbor a single provirus[76, 221], there are usually only a few hundred unique integration sites[282], suggesting that most of the infected cells and pathology of HTLV-1 are the result of clonal expansion rather than *de novo* infection. To support this is the fact that the HTLV-1 provirus displays remarkable genetic stability[27, 29], which cannot only be due to the relative fidelity of the HTLV-1 reverse transcriptase[176, 177], but likely to the stability of host DNA polymerases II. Furthermore, the addition of reverse transcriptase inhibitors, even early after infection, does not reduce the proviral load[283-285], suggesting that retroviral replication is not an important factor in HTLV-1 infected cells via methylation, 5' LTR deletion or nonsense mutations[286-288], indicating that retroviral gene expression was not required for HTLV-1 pathology. Overall it was hypothesized that HTLV-1 replicated primarily through oligoclonal replication and that disease progress was tied to this[289].

However this theory has been recently challenged. New techniques have identified 10 to 100 thousand unique integration sites[221, 290], and a high number of individual clones is associated with disease progression[208]. The number of unique clones is also associated with proviral load, and not mitotic replication of HTLV-1[290]. This would suggest that HTLV-1 maintains low level replication within an infected individual, and that clonal diversity drives disease progression[291]. Additionally, the silencing of transcription from the 5' LTR is mostly associated with high clonal abundance. In other words, the clones found at the highest frequency, which are not likely related to disease progression, do not express viral transcripts, but rare clones still expressed viral proteins such as Tax[211]. The Tax silencing is thought to confer a replicative advantage in vivo, as the CTL (cytotoxic T lymphocytes) response can strongly target Tax[292-295]. Thus silencing Tax would allow a specific clone to replicate quickly without affecting disease, while the Tax positive clones that are spreading infection and contributing to pathology are kept at in low numbers. This theory is further supported by the fact that the anti-Tax CTL response is chronically active[296], which supports the notion of continuous Tax expression[297].



Figure 13: Current model for the regulation of HTLV-1 transcription and expression of viral proteins *in vivo* conditions. Various stimulants can lead to a small initial wave of Tax transcription that can then lead to a large burst of it. This will lead to virion production, but also HBZ and the eventual shutdown of any viral transmission. Adapted from[297].

# 1.1.5.1. Virological Synapse

The virological synapse, so called due to its similarities with immunological synapses, is an area of cell-to-cell contact initiated by the virus to transmit infection. An infected cell, upon engagement of its ICAM-1 (intercellular adhesion molecule 1) by LFA-1 (leukocyte function antigen 1) on an uninfected cell, will polarize its microtubule organizing center (MTOC) towards an uninfected cell in a Tax dependent manner[113, 298, 299]. Here, gRNA, MA, NC, Env and host proteins that stimulate cell adhesion will accumulate and then bud and transfer to the uninfected cell through small clefts between the cell membranes[112, 300]. It was recently shown that FSCN-1 (Fascin), that stabilizes actin and microtubules, and is present in cellular protrusions[301, 302], plays an important role in the release of HTLV-1 virions[115].



Figure 14: Representative model of the HTLV-1 virological synapse between an infected and uninfected cell. Several known factors are represented here, including important cell-to-cell contact mediators like LFA-1 and ICAM-1. Following stimulation, Tax will induce MTOC activation to cause the accumulation of viral products near the virological synapse Adapted from[303].

#### 1.1.5.2. Viral Biofilms

Similarly to the naming convention of virological synapses, viral biofilms are so called due to their similarity with biofilms formed by bacteria. In the context of HTLV-1 however, the virus induces the accumulation of many cellular proteins on the cell surface, such as collagen, agrin, lectins, galactin-3, CD4, CD25, CD43, CD45, etc., to form large extracellular bodies on the cell surface[304, 305]. These bodies contain many HTLV-1 virions, and large parts of these biofilms can be transmitted to uninfected cells during cell-to-cell interaction mediated by a virological synapse[306]. Interestingly, the viral biofilms also contain tetherin, which normally acts as a viral restriction factor against HIV-1 by preventing its proper budding[307]. These biofilms may also disassociate from the cell surface of the producing cell, and are highly infectious of myeloid cells, and can infect CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells more efficiently than cell-free HTLV-1[278].

## 1.1.5.3. Viral Conduits

Unlike the preceding two mechanisms of viral spread, HTLV-1 can also induce the formation of relatively long-ranged cellular conduits between uninfected and infected cells. These temporary conduits are mediated by the HTLV-1 accessory protein p8, which also induced T-cell conjugation via LFA-1 clustering. HTLV-1 virions were detected in the conduits, and could be transmitted to another cell via interaction with another conduit or the cell surface. It is assumed that HTLV-1 virions can bud from the tip of the conduit, and form a virological synapse-like structure at the point of contact. No viral surfing was observed on the outside of the cell along the conduits[83].

#### 1.1.6. Regulatory and Accessory Protein Functions

HTLV-1 encodes numerous regulatory proteins that are vital for viral replication *in vivo*, and the induction of HTLV-1 associated diseases. The Tax protein is known to alter the host cell in a plethora of ways, including; cell-cycle regulation, apoptosis, proliferation, immunity, etc. Unlike Tax, HBZ is found in chronically HTLV-1 infected cells, and plays a vital role in disease progression. HTLV-1 also encodes numerous less well known proteins such as p30 and p12. The following sections briefly introduce the signaling pathways affected, and then detail the functions of the viral proteins.

## 1.1.6.1. Tax

HTLV-1 Tax modulates a multitude of viral and cellular processes due it its ability to interact with a very wide range of proteins due to its many important domains. While primarily found in the nucleus, it also localizes in the cytoplasm and can be excreted outside the cell. It is post-translationally modified to be sumoylated, ubiquitinated, phosphorylated and acetylated. Its role in the induction of ATL and HAM/TSP has been well documented, and it is the most well studied HTLV-1 protein. Its expression alone can immortalize cells and lead to cancers in animal models[308-311].



Figure 15: Schematic representing the HTLV-1 accessory protein Tax along with its functional, interaction, and domains. Adapted from[312].

## 1.1.6.1.1. Viral Transcription Induced by Tax

One of the most important functions of Tax is its activation of viral transcription[313]. Tax mediates this activity by the interaction of various cellular transcription factors (TF) such as CREB, and by enhancing their interaction with the viral analogues of the cAMP response element (CRE) found in the TRE-1 repeats. The vCRE found in the TRE-1 repeats are flanked by G/C rich regions. Mutations in the middle repeat reduced viral transcription to the greatest extent, suggesting that it is the most vital region[314]. Tax itself does not directly interact with host or integrated viral DNA[313], but stabilizes large TF complexes when dimerized[223, 315]. Tax does however, interact with DNA at the minor groove during CREB-mediated activation of transcription, at the G/C rich regions of the TRE-1 repeats[316-319].

Tax can directly interact with many TF of the CREB/ATF family, including; CREB, CREB2, CREM, ATF1, ATF2, ATF3, etc.[320-325]. These interactions enhance TF activation and leads to the stable formation of TRE-CREB/ATF-Tax complexes[326-328]. This ternary complex acts as a binding site for further recruitment of co-activators such as p300/CRB (CREB binding protein), and P/CAF (p300/CBP-associated factor) in a Tax dependent manner[228, 229, 329, 330] which further stabilizes the complex via histone modification and chromatin remodeling that will be explored in another section. Considering how Tax also interacts with the TRE-1, it is not surprising that transcriptional activation occurs at the viral LTR[223, 326, 327, 331-333].

All three of the CREB-regulated transcription coactivator (CRTC) proteins have also been implicated in LTR activation through Tax interaction[334, 335]. Indeed CRTC2 cytoplasmic translocation may be an important method of reducing HTLV-1 transcription in vivo[336]. CRTC normally augment CREB and TAF4 (TBP-associated factor 4), of the TFIID (general transcription factor II D) complex, interaction to induce RNA pol II transcription. Tax can also interact with other TFIID members like TAF11[337] and TBP[225], as well as TFIIA[338].

It was previously reported that the transcriptional complexes formed at each TRE-1 repeat were not identical[314]. The 5' and middle repeat bind CREB through their CRE sequences, while the 3' repeat bound the transcription factor Sp1 in a CRE independent manner to induce transcription. CREB and Sp1 LTR interaction were mutually exclusive.

HTLV-1 also contains a second Tax-response element; TRE-2, located between the middle and 3' TRE-1[339]. TRE-2 contains a CArG box, which is an important part of the serum response element (SRE)[340]. Similar to CRE and CREB/ATF, SRE attracts SRF (serum response factor) and Ets proteins[341], and subsequently CBP/p300 and P/CAF[342]. Tax furthermore interacts with both SRF[343-346] and Ets proteins such as Elk-1 and SAP-1[347, 348]. It follows then that SRF leads to LTR transcription in a TRE-2 dependent manner[340, 343].

Tax can also interact with ATFx, which represses LTR transcription[349]. ATFx is cell-cycle dependent, and is expressed during the  $G_1/S$  but not  $G_2/M$  phases of the cell cycle[350]. Tax induces  $G_2/M$  phase accumulation[351, 352], suggesting it can avoid ATFx mediated suppression, and adds another layer of complexity in terms of viral transcriptional control.



Figure 16: Detailed representation of the viral genome with special focus on its 5' LTR. Tax forms a complex with CBP/p300 and CREB, which interacts with viral TRE sequences. This causes significant transactivation of viral transcription, eventually leading to viral gene expression. Adapted from[389].

### 1.1.6.1.2. Cellular Transcription Mediated by Tax

Tax also activates genes such as IL-17 (interleukin-17)[353, 354] via CREB/ATF stimulation, similar to that of its own LTR. Furthermore, many CREB/ATF controlled genes are dysregulated during Tax-mediated immortalization and transformation[347, 354-357]. Many CREB/ATF genes have been implicated in cell growth, survival and apoptosis and likely play an important role in HTLV-1 associated diseases such as ATL[358].

SRF-mediated activation by Tax also induces cellular genes in addition to the viral LTR. Tax activates the transcription of several genes that contain SRE without directly interacting with DNA[359-361]. As with CREB/ATF, Tax interaction stabilizes the complex and alters the DNA selection of the complex[343]. SRF activation is further demonstrated by several of its downstream target genes such as *FOS* and *JUN*, whose gene products make up the AP-1 (activator protein 1) transcription factor, displaying increased expression in Tax positive cells[360, 362]. Both *FOS* and *JUN* are proto-oncogenes, whose dysregulation also likely plays an important role in HTLV-1 associated pathology.

Tax deactivates genes such as cyclin A and p53[363-365] through CREB/ATF. It is thought that Tax can inhibit the transcription of certain cellular genes by outcompeting cellular TF for important co-activators such as p300 and P/CAF[366, 367]. This is likely the case for p53 to which Tax has poor binding affinity, but is nonetheless inactivated during infection[368-370].

## 1.1.6.1.3. Chromatin Remodeling via Tax

In general terms, host DNA is often organized into chromatin, and forms dense structures called nucleosomes whose formation is mediated by histone and DNA interactions. Histones can be post-translationally modified by a number of different factors that either increase or decrease their association with DNA, and therefore silence or enhance transcription respectively. One modification is acetylation, which opens histone complexes and increases transcription. There are several important regulators of chromatin including the SWI/SNF complex. HTLV-1 infection is associated with reduced histone levels[371], and Tax expression by itself leads to histone depletion[372].

Tax can interact with many of the players in the SWI/SNF complex which lead to LTR activation and transcription[373], it can also induce the expression of some of the components, such as Baf170[374]. The mechanism is not clear, but it likely involves nucleosome remodeling to enhance transcription[329], which leads to decreased histone density at the provirus[375]. In addition, one of the main functions of the CBP/p300 complex that is recruited by Tax, is to modulate nucleosomes by acetylating histones. This complex is known to promote chromatin remodeling at the site of HTLV-1 integration[371]. Tax also accelerates DNA replication in the S phase of the cell cycle by p300 recruitment and histone acetylation, which generates genomic lesions[376].

## 1.1.6.1.4. Tax Mediated Interference of the Cell Cycle and DNA Repair

The cell cycle is a tightly controlled process divided into several phases. Cells in the  $G_0$  phase are quiescent and have stopped replicating. The  $G_1$  phase occurs after cell division or quiescence, and is a period of cellular growth. The S phase is where DNA replication occurs.  $G_2$  is another period of cellular growth and stability. Cell division, whereby the cytoplasm and chromosomes are divided into daughter cells forms the M phase. The M phase is further divided into several other important steps, as the separation of chromosomes is not a simple process. Entry into each of the various stages is controlled by the expression of cyclins and CDK (cyclin-dependent kinase) proteins. In general, once the cyclin and CDK are activated, they promote the expression of genes, activate enzymes and/or degrade inhibitors required for the completion of that phase. One important example is the CyclinD/CDK4 complex in  $G_1$  that phosphorylates Rb (retinoblastoma susceptibility protein). This causes the dissociation of the complex that inhibits E2F, which allows it to activate the transcription of various  $G_1$  to S phase genes. The APC/C (Anaphase-promoting complex/cyclosome) is another example of a set of proteins. These control several key steps during the M phase, degrading key proteins once certain checkpoints are met allowing the process to continue.

Tax can induce the expression of several Cyclins and CDK proteins[351, 377], as well as directly interacting with them to modify their activity. It binds with CDK4 and CDK6, and enhances their interaction with Cyclin D[378-381]. Tax can also interfere with p15 and p16 mediated cell-cycle arrest by preventing their interaction with CDK4[382-384]. Tax directly binds to Rb to target it

for degradation[385]. These actions lead to an increased transition of infected cells towards the S phase. Tax also inactivates Chk1 and 2 (check point kinase 1/2) which activates Cdc25 (cell division cycle protein 25) and the CyclinB/CDK1 complex. This complex normally drives the cells through the  $G_2/M$  checkpoint towards mitosis, and is inhibited by Tax, resulting in an accumulation of  $G_2/M$  cells[351, 352, 386]. However, when Tax positive cells are treated with gamma radiation, Tax interaction with Chk1 and Chk2 prevents cell cycle arrest at the  $G_2/M$  phase[387, 388]. Overall Tax dysregulates the cell cycle, increasing the likelihood of replication errors such as aneuploidy and multinucleation[389].

The host DNA repair pathways are vital to ensure productive replication, and have intertwined signaling pathways with the cell cycle. It follows then, that HTLV-1 and Tax especially, can interfere with a myriad of DNA repair pathways such as; BER (base excision repair)[391], NER (nucleotide excision repair)[392], and MMR (mismatch repair)[393]. NHEJ (non-homologous end joining) is also prevented via KU80 downregulation, but Tax also directly interacts with the KU70. This leads to constitutive activation that oversaturates the machinery, disabling its ability to detect new DNA damage[394]. KU70 saturation also leads to Chk2 activation[351]. ATM (ataxia telangiectasia mutated) is an important DNA damage sensor that is inhibited by Tax[395]. Normally ATM binds to dsDNA breaks and becomes phosphorylated, a step that Tax inhibits, and thus prevents the downstream activation of this pathway.

Tax can also cause direct damage to the host DNA through a variety of mechanisms. One mechanism involves the upregulation of ROS (reactive oxygen species) in Tax positive cells that can directly damage DNA[396, 397]. Another involves dysregulation of centrosomes and the mitotic spindle assembly during replication, that causes aneuploidy[398] often found in ATL cells[399, 400]. AID (activation-induced cytidine deaminase) is a host protein that induces mutations in DNA during recombination of immunoglobulin genes in B-cell development. AID is highly expressed in ATL cells, and can be induced by Tax expression[401]. Aberrant AID expression due to Tax could induce mutations observed in HTLV-1 infected cells.

# 1.1.6.1.5. Downregulation of the Innate Immune Response by Tax

For an overview on innate immune signaling and detection, please refer to section 1.2.

HTLV-1 infection is associated with several diseases, most of which involve a dysregulation of the immune response[402]. At a molecular level, HTLV-1 Tax expression antagonizes normal innate immune signaling at multiple levels. Tax inhibits IRF7 activation by interacting with TRIF, while simultaneously increasing NF-κB activation[403]. Tax can also interfere with IRF3 by directly interacting with STING[404] and TBK1[405]. This binding inhibited STING and TBK1 complex formation, and led to a decrease in IFN production. Downstream IFN signaling is also downregulated during infection[406]. This is likely due to the ability of Tax to induce and stabilize SOCS1 expression[407]. The role of SOCS1 is further exemplified by its upregulation in HTLV-1 patient samples, where it was shown to have a positive effect on viral replication[408]. Here a novel method of SOCS1 immunosuppression was shown by targeting IRF3 for proteasomal degradation, in addition to interfering with JAK phosphorylation. Lastly, Tax also competes with the ISGF3 complex for co-activating molecules like p300 and CPB, which results in a poor response to IFN[368]. Overall, Tax seems to specifically target IFN signaling and IRF activation for downregulation while increasing NF-κB activity.

# 1.1.6.1.6. Activation of the NF- $\kappa$ B Pathway by Tax

## For an overview on the NF- $\kappa$ B Pathway, please refer to section 1.3.

The NF- $\kappa$ B pathway if often deregulated in HTLV-1 infected cell lines and primary ATL cells, and exhibits a constitutively active state. This activation is not solely due to extracellular signals, but can be driven by intracellular molecules like Tax that stimulate both the canonical and non-canonical pathways[409-412].

The canonical NF- $\kappa$ B pathway is activated when Tax directly binds to IKK $\gamma$  which results in the phosphorylation and degradation of IkB and the nuclear translocation of RelA[413-418]. Tax/IKKy interaction alone is insufficient to phosphorylate the downstream inhibitory units of NF-kB[419]. Shibata et al. demonstrated that K63-linked ubiquitination was essential to Taxmediated IKK $\gamma$  activation, suggesting that ubiquitination plays an important role in Taxmediated NF-kB activation. This is supported by other groups that showed that ubiquitination of TRAF6 and Tax[420] and K63-linked ubiquitination is vital for Tax-mediated NF-κB activity[421, 422]. Tax also seems to be able to mediate phosphorylation of other IKK subunits; IKK $\alpha$  and IKK $\beta$ [423-425]. Overall however, the precise mechanisms of Tax mediated IKK activation is unclear, and other mechanisms are possible [389, 426]. For example, Tax expression may also lead to the activation of upstream factors such as; MEKK1 (MAPK[mitogen-activated protein kinase]/ERK[extracellular signal-regulated kinases] kinase kinase 1), TAK1 or TRAF6 which can all stimulate the IKK complex [427-431], although silencing these factors does not reduce Tax-mediated NF-kB activation[432-434]. Tax may also directly target the inhibitory IkB subunits for degradation to bypass IKK activation altogether [435, 436]. Tax activation of the non-canonical pathway is mediated by directly activating IKKa to induce p100 processing to p52[437, 438].

Tax can directly interact with several NF-κB TF, such as RelA, p50 and p52 which leads their activation and transcription[346, 439-441]. It has also been reported that Tax can recruit RelA from the nucleus following cytoplasmic translocation[442, 443].

Several cytokines can induce NF- $\kappa$ B activation, and many are upregulated during HTLV-1 infection in a Tax-dependent manner. Specifically, IL-2 and its receptor IL-2R $\alpha$ , important
regulators of T-cell proliferation, are highly expressed in Tax positive cells, and was one of the first markers of NF- $\kappa$ B deregulation noticed during HTLV-1 infection[444-448]. Other important NF- $\kappa$ B-regulated molecules that are upregulated by HTLV-1 and Tax are; IL-21[449], IL-13[450], IL-17[353, 451], FSCN-1[452], IL-6[453], IL-6R[454], and TNF- $\alpha$  [455].

# 1.1.6.1.7. Tax and Apoptosis

Apoptosis is a well-regulated pathway that involves specific controls over the process and products of cell death. Unregulated cell death is called necrosis, and releases inflammatory factors. Apoptosis is divided into two broad categories, intrinsic and extrinsic. In the latter case, death is activated by extracellular signals that bind to death receptors like FAS or TRAILR (TNF[tumor necrosis factor]-related apoptosis-inducing ligand receptor), that activate caspase 8. Intrinsic cell death is mediated by intracellular signals, such as DNA damage, which activate Bax and Bak, or deactivate their repressors; the anti-apoptotic BCL-2 proteins. Bax and Bak will induce MOMP (mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization), an event that causes cytochrome C release from the mitochondria. This leads to apoptosome formation and caspase 9 activation. In both cases, the end stage is caspase 3 activation[456].

In one study, the primary ATL cells tested contained a mutated form of caspase 8 that contained a 136bp insert that contained a premature stop codon[457]. When Fas was triggered in these cells, they failed to undergo apoptosis. While this study was not indicative of direct Tax activity, the source of apoptosis resistance was genetic damage that is linked to Tax. Tax does increase the expression of c-FLIP (Cellular FLICE [FADD(FAS-associated death domain protein)-like IL-1 $\beta$ -converting enzyme]-inhibitory protein) via NF- $\kappa$ B activation in CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells, which inhibits Fas-mediated cell death[458] by inhibiting downstream activation of caspase 8[459]. Also mediated through NF- $\kappa$ B activation is the expression of XIAP (X-chromosome-linked inhibitor of apoptosis)[460], which binds to and inhibits numerous caspases including 3, 7 and 9[461]. Interestingly, Tax-mediated resistance to Fas in CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells seems to be due to cIAP-2 (cellular inhibitor of apoptosis 2) and not c-FLIP[462].

A20 is a protein that interferes with NF- $\kappa$ B signaling, that can be indirectly inhibited by Tax. Tax disrupts the complex of co-activating molecules required for A20 activation, including Tax1BP1

(Tax1 binding protein 1)[463]. Interestingly, it was recently shown that A20 is highly expressed in HTLV-1 infected cells, and protected them from apoptosis[464]. This was mediated by interactions between caspase 8 with A20, which prevented the activation of the former by preventing its interacting with FADD. Overall, Saitoh *et al.* hypothesized that A20 is unable to repress NF- $\kappa$ B signaling in HTLV-1 infected cells, as its silencing did not increase NF- $\kappa$ B activity in those cells.

Tax can also directly interfere with the intrinsic pathway by upregulating the expression of antiapoptotic BCL-2 proteins like Bcl-xL, through NF-κB activation[465, 466]. MCL-1, another member of the BCL-2 family, is stabilized by Tax expression, in a IKK and TRAF6 dependent manner[427]. In brief, Tax activated TRAF6 through IKK, which then translocated to the mitochondria to ubiquitinate MCL-1, which stabilizes and protects it from proteasomal degradation during DNA damage. Bax, the pro-apoptotic molecule that is repressed by BCL-2, is downregulated by Tax[467].

## 1.1.6.1.8. Regulation and Subcellular Localization of Tax

There are multiple types of post translational modifications that alter the functions of proteins. They include: ubiquitination, SUMOylation, phosphorylation, acetylation, etc. Tax is no exception, and these potential modifications alter not only its function, but also its subcellular localization. Indeed Tax is predominantly found in the nucleus[468] in structures called TSS (Tax speckled structures)[469] or Tax NB (nuclear bodies)[470]. Tax dimerization is required for nuclear localization[471].

Tax can be ubiquitinated at a number of sites by multiple proteins. RNF4 (Really Interesting New Gene Finger Protein 4) interacts with SUMOylated Tax when it is present in the nucleus, ubiquitinates it, and causes it to relocate to the cytoplasm[472, 473]. This translocation was associated with a decrease in CREB-mediated, and an increase in NF-κB-mediated Tax activity. SUMOylated Tax is primarily found in NB, and it is believed that this post-translational modification retains it in the nucleus[442]. Ubiquitination and SUMOylation sites in Tax often overlap since they determine localization. Tax nuclear/cytoplasmic shuttling seemingly occurs very easily via p62, a NUP, without the need for energy or carrier proteins[474]. K48-linked

polyubiquitination of Tax by PDLIM2 targets it for proteasomal degradation[475]. Ubc13 is also capable of mediating ubiquitination of Tax, and seems to be required for Tax:IKKγ interaction and activation[428, 476].

Tax interacts with IKK and translocates it to the Golgi, a process that requires Tax ubiquitination[418, 477]. Both Tax and IKK were required for this translocation. Journo *et al.* also demonstrated that NRP (NEMO-related protein) interacted with Tax1BP1 to modulate Tax ubiquitination and activation of NF- $\kappa$ B. It was recently shown that CADM1 (cell adhesion molecule 1), which is upregulated by Tax, recruits Tax and Ubc13 together[478]. This interaction led to Tax K63-linked ubiquitination and IKK recruitment and activation. CADM1 was also required for Tax and Tax1BP1 interaction and inhibition of the A20 complex. Intriguingly, CADM1 was found at the plasma membrane and the Golgi.



Figure 17: Schematic representation of Tax subcellular localizations and interactions with various NF- $\kappa$ B proteins depending on the post-translational modifications on Tax. Ubiquitinated Tax in the cytoplasm can interact with several proteins involved in NF- $\kappa$ B signaling, including the IKK complex. Adapted from[479].

Tax can be acetylated in the nucleus by p300, which enhances NF- $\kappa$ B signaling[480] and Rb phosphorylation[481]. Phosphorylation of Tax at Thr-215 is associated with inhibition of CREB and NF- $\kappa$ B promoter activity, while Thr-48 phosphorylation is only associated with NF- $\kappa$ B inhibition. Phospho-protein analysis revealed that these sites were phosphorylated in the majority of Tax proteins expressed[482]. Ser-300/301 phosphorylation is associated with nuclear body association and activation of CREB and NF- $\kappa$ B[483].

### 1.1.6.1.9. Tax downregulation

Tax expression is usually somewhat inhibited in patient samples, especially ATL ones, where Tax is only transcribed in a third of infected cells[286]. This is likely a strong method of immune evasion, as Tax is highly immunogenic and is aggressively targeted by the CTL response[292-295]. The mechanism by which Tax is silenced can occur by methylating or deleting the 5' LTR, or mutating the provirus in such a way that prevents Tax expression, like nonsense mutations[286-288, 484-486]. It is thought that prevalent Tax expression occurs early during the lifecycle of the virus, but is later silenced and intermittently expressed during the chronic phase of infection. This is not to say that Tax is not vital for disease progression. At the individual cell level, there is a positive correlation between spontaneous *ex vivo* Tax expression and *in vivo* cell division[487].

### 1.1.6.2. HBZ

In 2002 a group discovered that the 3' LTR of the HTLV-1 provirus functions as a promoter for another HTLV-1 accessory protein located on the negative strand[235]. The protein is called HBZ (HTLV-1 basic leucine zipper factor) and serves a vital role in the HTLV-1 lifecycle and disease progression.

## 1.1.6.2.1. HBZ Regulation and Activity

The 3' LTR promoter is usually intact and unmethylated[287], and while Tax and 5' LTR transcription is inactivated, most patient samples express HBZ[488]. In accordance with this, HBZ is poorly immunogenic[489-491]. In several animal models of HTLV-1 in addition to patient samples, a virus without HBZ or a knockdown of the protein, led to reduced viral load

and improved disease outcomes compared to wild type HTLV-1, suggesting an important role in disease progression[492-494]. Indeed, while it is poorly immunogenic, the CTL response to HBZ strongly correlates with disease progression[495, 496].

HBZ can be produced from two different types of mRNA, one spliced (sHBZ) and one unspliced (usHBZ)[236, 237], although sHBZ has the stronger promoter[497] and its mRNA, protein and stability are more prevalent and superior[497, 498]. Transcriptional activation from the 3' LTR is somewhat different than from the 5' LTR. Here Sp1 plays a vital role in the induction of sHBZ transcription, while Tax greatly enhances usHBZ[497]. The presence of Tax will lead to HBZ expression[499], however HBZ downregulates Tax mediated transcriptional activation[235, 497]. HBZ heterodimerizes with several CREB/ATF proteins and inhibits their ability to bind DNA[235, 500], in addition to interfering with the interaction between Tax and p300/CBP[501, 502]. Another method that HBZ employs to inhibit viral replication, is by countering Rexmediated export of HTLV-1 structural mRNA[503]. Overall Tax and HBZ seem to have opposite functions in many of the cellular pathways they interfere with.

## 1.1.6.2.2. The Role of HBZ Protein and mRNA

The functions of HBZ seem to be split between its mRNA and protein. It was reported that the HBZ protein represses Tax-mediated transcription, while the mRNA can induce proliferation via TF E2F1 upregulation[494]. This was demonstrated by mutating all coding regions of HBZ with silent mutations(smHBZ), drastically altering the secondary structure of the mRNA without changing the translated protein. smHBZ or usHBZ cannot induce proliferation[497], but smHBZ can still repress Tax transactivation[494].

HBZ mRNA induces the promoter of survivin[504], despite it being a Tax/NF-κB target gene[505], which is an anti-apoptotic protein that inhibits caspase activation, and dysregulated in HTLV-1 infected cells[506]. It was demonstrated that survivin was important to prevent growth inhibition in HTLV-1 infected cells[504]. Mitobe *et al.* also demonstrated that both the mRNA and protein of HBZ could induce cell cycle entry into the S-phase, but that smHBZ induced cell death. Taken together with the pro-survival function of HBZ mRNA, wtHBZ (wild type HBZ) did not greatly alter cell survival. A recent publication has revealed the mechanism of smHBZ

induced apoptosis through the activation of the Rb/E2F complex[507]. HBZ interacts with Rb, which leads to the transcription of E2F-controlled genes and drives the cells towards the  $G_1/S$  phase. Apoptosis was likely due to E2F-induced expression of pro-apoptotic genes such as p53.

### 1.1.6.2.3. HBZ, Tax-Induced Senescence, and the NF-κB Pathway

Tax was previously shown to highly stimulate the SRF and NF- $\kappa$ B pathway, but it seems that HBZ targets NF- $\kappa$ B for downregulation[508]. Specifically, sHBZ protein downregulated p65mediated, but not p52/p50-mediated, transcription by two methods; preventing the interaction between p65 and DNA, and by targeting p65 for proteasomal degradation via PDLIM2, an HBZinducible gene. usHBZ behaved similarly, but to a weaker extent, and HBZ mRNA had no effect. Conversely, another paper demonstrated that HBZ may also interfere with non-classical NF- $\kappa$ B activation, and did not degrade p65, suggesting the DNA binding interference may be the more important mechanism of NF- $\kappa$ B inactivation[509].

The physiological significance of HBZ downregulation of NF- $\kappa$ B was made clear when it was contextualized with Tax expression. As previously discussed, Tax deregulates the cell cycle, and one viral mechanism is through direct interaction and activation of APC/C during the S phase, before normal activation[510, 511]. This premature activation leads to an increase in CKI (cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors), p21 and p27, during G<sub>2</sub>/M leading to G<sub>1</sub> arrest or senescence[512, 513]. It was believed that escaping this outcome would be essential for cell transformation during HTLV-1 infection.

It was subsequently shown that HBZ possessed functions that could counter senescence [509]. Zhi *et al.* demonstrated that p21/p27 induction was mediated by Tax, via constitutive activation of the NF- $\kappa$ B pathway. The addition of HBZ protein inhibited NF- $\kappa$ B activation, and delayed Tax induced senescence. This was confirmed in a model of *de novo* infection, whereby most of the newly infected cells underwent NF- $\kappa$ B/Tax-mediated senescence, but produced viral particles. Cells that highly expressed HBZ on the other hand, had low NF- $\kappa$ B activation and proliferated[503]. Overall for Tax to promote cell growth via NF- $\kappa$ B, a process that occurs in many cancers, the induction of senescence must be disabled. Indeed, p21/p27 are impaired in HTLV-1 transformed cells[512, 514].



Figure 18: A model that characterizes Tax-induced senescence during NF- $\kappa$ B activation. HBZ can inhibit Tax-mediated senescence following overactivation of the NF- $\kappa$ B pathway. Ultimately however, Tax activation will occur cyclically, allowing for brief periods of viral gene expression and vulnerability to the host CTL response. Adapted from[503].

### 1.1.6.2.4. HBZ and Immune Dysregulation

HBZ expression in T-cells led to the expression of several inhibitory receptors on the cell surface such as TIGIT (T cell immunoglobulin and ITIM [immunoreceptor tyrosine-based inhibition motif] domain), PD-1 (programmed cell death 1) in addition to the T<sub>reg</sub> TF Foxp3 (forkhead box P3)[515, 516]. TIGIT is not affected by Foxp3 expression, but is related to IL-10 production, an anti-inflammatory pro-survival cytokine. Additionally, HBZ downregulates the TIGIT competitive receptor CD226. Importantly, TIGIT induction seemed to reduce anti-Tax CTL activity, and could protect HTLV-1 infected cells *in vivo*. Indeed, TIGIT, as well as PD-1, was found upregulated in samples from ATL and HAM/TSP patients[517]. Yet TIGIT and PD-1 are inhibitory receptors that should reduce HTLV-1 infected cell proliferation following TCR (T-cell receptor) engagement, but this is not observed[518]. An escape is mediated by HBZ, which interferes with downstream activation of TIGIT/PD-1 inhibitory signals, preventing them from deactivating the TCR complex. While not completely elucidated, it appears that HBZ enhances TIGIT/PD-1 in terms of receptor-mediated cytokine production[517] while simultaneously shutting down TIGIT/PD-1-mediated inhibition of TCR signaling[518].

The HTLV-1 provirus is mainly detected in CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> cells in ATL and HAM/TSP patients[519-521], however the expression of the TF Foxp3 has recently expanded our understanding of the *in vivo* reservoir. Foxp3 is a vital factor in the development of  $T_{reg}$  cells, a subset of T-cells that is generally inhibitory of the immune system, and serves as an important brake or control[522-524]. Foxp3 requires cytokine signaling for its expression: a TGF- $\beta$  trigger for downstream activation of Smad proteins[525].  $T_{reg}$  cells are not terminally differentiated, and depending on the cellular environment can become iT<sub>reg</sub> (induced T<sub>reg</sub>) that do not express Foxp3 and are pro-inflammatory[526, 527].

HAM/TSP patients demonstrated reduced Foxp3 expression and activity, likely mediated by Tax[528-530], and displayed overactive pro-inflammatory cytokine production[531]. On the other hand, more than two out of three ATL cells express Foxp3[532, 533], although it remains unclear if HTLV-1 specifically infects and induces the replication of  $T_{reg}$  cells, as HBZ can induce Foxp3 expression[534] through Smad3 and TGF- $\beta$  signaling[535]. Intriguingly,  $T_{reg}$  cells express Nrp-1, suggesting that HTLV-1 could preferentially infect this cell population[536].

Regardless, these HBZ<sup>+</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup>Foxp3<sup>+</sup> cells are functionally weak and do not suppress Tcell proliferation as wtT<sub>reg</sub> (wild type T<sub>reg</sub>) cells could, likely due to transcriptional inhibition mediated by HBZ/Foxp3 interaction[534]. Indeed HBZ expression in mice leads to the production of pro-inflammatory invasive T-cells[537]. These cells lost or diminished their Foxp3 expression, and displayed markers of iT<sub>reg</sub> cells. *In vivo* data has shown that the HTLV-1 provirus is located in activated Foxp3<sup>low</sup> cells that have poor suppressive ability[538]. However another group recently demonstrated that a certain population of Foxp3<sup>high</sup> ATL cells displayed suppressive function, while Foxp3<sup>low</sup> ATL cells did not[539]. This suggests the existence of multiple HTLV-1 infected Foxp3<sup>+</sup> cell subtypes that may have different functions in terms of disease development. This may explain why some groups have reported that ATL cells have suppressive activity[540, 541] while others have not[542].

HTLV-1 infected cells produce CCL22 in a Tax-mediated manner, that attracts and enhances the survival of functional  $T_{reg}$  cells[543, 544], which could simultaneously lead to their infection and suppress local anti-HTLV-1 responses when Tax expression is high. Then once infected, HBZ can deregulate Foxp3 function and its anti-proliferative capacity. Indeed there is a positive correlation between Tax<sup>-</sup>Foxp3<sup>+</sup> cells and both proviral load, and Tax expression[545]. Similarly, there is a negative correlation between CTL activity and Tax<sup>-</sup>Foxp3<sup>+</sup> cells.

## 1.1.6.2.5. Future Studies and Tax/HBZ Interplay

Ultimately, HBZ interacts with many cellular processes, including enhancing the Wnt pathway, telomerase activity and cellular migration, modulating IRF activity, and deactivating p53[546-550]. Additionally, HBZ can indirectly or directly interact with numerous cellular TF, such as members of the CREB/ATF, C/EBP $\alpha$  (CCAAT-enhancer-binding proteins) and Jun families[551], indicating that it may alter numerous cellular pathways to benefit the virus[500, 552-557].

A recent manuscript has shed light on the Tax and HBZ interplay, and has proposed the following concept[297]. Tax and HBZ transcription varies greatly, even among the same clones. Cells that are not actively expressing HTLV-1 genes are more likely to have a sudden burst of massive Tax transcription (and general positive strand transcription as well), than if they express

low levels of HBZ. Following this surge, a smaller burst of HBZ (negative strand transcription) is very likely to follow, which then suppresses Tax/positive-strand mediated transcription. Eventually, all HTLV-1 transcription is slowly silenced. A burst of HBZ/negative-strand transcription is not likely in Tax deficient cells. Overall these data are in accordance with most of the current theories of Tax and HBZ interaction, but suggest that this occurs cyclically. Intriguingly, positive strand mRNA is more likely to be exported into the nucleus versus HBZ transcripts, suggesting the HBZ mRNA has a more physiologically relevant role in disease progression than its protein.

## 1.1.6.3. Other regulatory and accessory proteins

The roles of Rex and p8 have been described in viral RNA export and viral transmission, respectively. Other HTLV-1 regulatory proteins include p30, p13, and p12, and are understudied. Many studies have indicated that they were disposable for cellular immortalization[558-560], are difficult to detect *in vivo*, and are encoded in the least conserved region of HTLV-1[561]. However one group did show that, individually, these proteins conferred significant replicative advantage to HTLV-1 replication, over viruses that did not contain them[562-566].

A recent study of p12 and p8 demonstrated that HTLV-1 required both in order to productively infect macaques[567] while the same group previously demonstrated this was not the case in rabbits[568]. Expressing p12 alone resulted in neither infection nor seroconversion, while p8 alone weakly stimulated antigen reactivity and infection. Co-expression of both proteins was associated with evasion of CTL-mediated lysis[567]. This could be due to a p12-mediated decrease in MHC-1 (major histocompatibility complex class I)[569], which are normally used for targeting by CTL. A decrease in MHC-1 could however, cause NK (natural killer) cell mediated cytotoxicity. However, this does not seem to occur, due to p12 which downregulates adhesion molecules such as ICAM-1 and 2, along with a general decrease in NK activating receptors on the infected cells[570]. Taken together, this suggests that p12 and p8 have important roles in immune evasion.

p13, when co-expressed with Tax, seems to interact with Tax in the nucleus, and interferes with its ability to interact with CBP/p300, and reduces Tax-mediated transcription[571].

Overexpression models have also shown that p13 interacts with the mitochondria, but the physiological relevance of this is not known[572]

p30 inhibits Tax and p300 interaction, preventing 5' LTR transcription[573, 574]. It also binds to the retroviral mRNA that encodes Tax and Rex and keeps it sequestered in the nucleus[244]. This seems to be mediated by a p30RE (p30 response element) present in mRNA that has spliced out the *env* region, including *tax/rex*, but not *env* or *gag/pol* mRNA. Additionally, p30 can interact with Rex, which likely modulates their activity[245]. Overall these papers suggest that p30 is an inhibitor of HTLV-1 expression. p30 appears to have other functions as well, such as deregulating the cell cycle[575-577], and interfering with TRL4 signaling and enhancing IL10 production[578].

#### 1.1.7. HTLV-1 Diseases

In addition to ATL and HAM/TSP, HTLV-1 is the causal agent or associated with several diseases. HTLV-1 can cause inflammatory diseases in many different organs, including; the central nervous system, skin, muscles, and lungs[579-583]. Over 90% of individuals infected with HTLV-1 will remain asymptomatic throughout their lives. In contrast, only 0.3% of HIV-1 infected individuals can naturally control its replication continuously[584]. Around 5% of HTLV-1 positive individuals will develop ATL[291], while 2% will develop HAM/TSP[585]. Infection is also associated with a general weakening of the immune system, which causes a severe increase in opportunistic infection of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* and *Staphylococcus aureus*[586, 587]. The diseases caused by HTLV-1, ATL and HAM/TSP, do not seem to be the result of genetic differences of the virus in those patients, which has led to the hypothesis that the disease state is mostly mediated by the host and his/her interactions with the virus. Indeed the efficiency of the CTL response seems to account for a significant portion of the control of proviral load[588, 589]. Currently, the best indicator of disease risk for both ATL and HAM/TSP is the proviral load, in terms of number of unique clones[290, 590]

## 1.1.7.1. Adult T-cell Leukemia

The molecular mechanisms by which HTLV-1 regulatory proteins cause immortalization and malignancy have been established, but it remains unclear how the progression actually occurs *in vivo*. Tax and HBZ can cooperate to promote the proliferation and immune evasion of a single clone for over 50 years, the average age of ATL onset, all the while accumulating various mutations. These may eventually result in permanent defects in tumor suppressor expression and/or function, cellular activation, proliferation, etc.[589]. Another non-exclusive possibility is that through integration, HTLV-1 could activate or deactivate a key malignancy-related gene, known as insertional mutagenesis. This is not a highly supported theory, as few ATL cases display insertion near genes that could be implicated in cancer development[221]. Another possibility is that the provirus can form long range chromatin loops that bring important genes much closer to the viral promoter than the integration site[591].

Many symptoms of ATL are vague and similar to other cancers such as non-Hodgkin's lymphoma; malaise, fever, drowsiness, weight loss, etc.[592], and so misdiagnosis is problematic in regions where the virus is not endemic[593]. ATL is divided into 4 subtypes, depending on the features of the disease: smoldering, chronic, lymphoma, and acute[592]. The delineation between an asymptomatic carrier and ATL is not clear, but a border state exists called pre-ATL, where the presence of cells with ATL morphology appear and disappear spontaneously[594].

Smoldering and chronic ATL are characterized by few serious clinical features, such as skin infiltration or high leukocyte numbers, but only have a median survival time of about 55 and 31.5 months respectively, with treatment. The other two forms of ATL, lymphoma and acute, are more aggressive and have a 10.6 and 8.3 month survival respectively, also with treatment. The aggressive forms of ATL, lymphoma and acute, account for 20% and 60% of all ATL cases respectively. The aggressive stages of ATL have severe symptoms including lymphadenopathy, lytic bone lesions, lung infiltrations, hypercalcemia, immune deficiency, etc.[595, 596]. Overall, ATL is a rapidly progressing disease with a low survival time following its onset.

Few reliable treatment options have been successfully developed in the last 35 years of ATL and HTLV-1 research[592, 596]. Chemotherapy is often used but largely ineffective at prolonging overall survival. Allogenic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation has demonstrated that it can lead to complete remission in some cases, however there are significant risks in undergoing this procedure[597-599]. AZT (azidothymidine) and IFN $\alpha$  is a promising co-treatment for non-lymphoma type ATL. It is unclear what the mechanism of action is for this co-treatment, as it does not appear to be related to inhibiting reverse transcriptase[600]. Encouraging results with the addition of Arsenic to AZT/IFN $\alpha$  have also been reported[601, 602].



Figure 19: A model of the establishment of the proviral load. Many high number clones exist, but it is unlikely that ATL will develop from those. Instead, new clones that are constantly being produced in the background in an infected individual will likely be the cause of ATL. Adapted from[291].

### 1.1.7.2. HTLV-1-Associated Myelopathy or Tropical Spastic Paraparesis

HAM/TSP is characterized by inflammation whereby lesion-causing lymphocytes invade the central nervous system, especially in the upper thoracic spinal cord[603]. The infiltrating cells are predominantly composed of CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells, although the proportion of CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells rises as the number of lesions increases[604, 605]. In addition, resident astrocytes can also contribute to CNS damage, by further recruiting cells for infiltration[606]. It is unclear what the initial trigger of infiltration is, but it is thought that Tax-induced activation is a likely cause[607]. CTL activity against infiltrated HTLV-1 infected CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells is one possible method of damage[608]. In addition, several groups have shown that ATL cells have T<sub>reg</sub> immunosuppressive functions[539-541], while others have shown HTLV-1 infection may also lead to the development of iT<sub>reg</sub> cells with inflammatory properties[534, 537, 538]. Indeed this pro-inflammatory phenotype was seen in HAM/TSP cells[609], and may be a driving mechanism of inflammatory disease during HTLV-1 infection. Overall, the prevalent theory is that bystander damage due to the infiltrating cells is the primary driver of spinal cord neurodegeneration and atrophy[589, 610-612].

The symptoms of HAM/TSP usually increase in severity over time, beginning with pain, and spastic weakness of the lower body and urinary problems. These can manifest at a variety of ages, but usually occur at a much earlier age than ATL. The median time before requiring aid to walk was 6 years, and wheelchair use was 21 years[613]. The development risk of the disease increases with age, and seems to vary by region and ethnicity[258, 614, 615]. HAM/TSP itself is not lethal, however it is associated with a reduction in life expectancy[613]. The pathology is divided into two phases; an inflammatory period characterized by lymphocyte infiltration, followed by spinal cord damage and neurodegeneration[610].

Here as well it can be misdiagnosed as an autoimmunity disorder, such as multiple sclerosis in non-endemic regions. Currently the treatment options for HAM/TSP are severely limited, and focus on management of the clinical symptoms, such as pain and muscle spasms. Clinical trials have been performed that use immunosuppressive drugs, but no large scale conclusive study has yet been performed[616].

## 1.2. Innate Immune Signaling and Detection

There exists many receptors expressed in different cell types and positioned throughout various subcellular locations that can detect foreign compounds to initiate an immune response. In the case of viruses, they do not possess many unique PAMPS (pathogen-associated molecular patterns) like bacterial cell walls, so the PRR (pathogen recognition receptors) most relevant to their detection sense intracellular nucleic acids. These receptors can be categorized as RNA or DNA specific, and broadly activate numerous cellular defenses through the NF- $\kappa$ B (nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells) and IRF (IFN [interferon] regulatory factor) transcription factors 3, 5 and 7[617]. The NF- $\kappa$ B pathway will be explored in the subsequent section, while IRF3 activation will be introduced here.

The detection of DNA or 5'ppp dsRNA (double stranded) RNA with a triphosphate motif on its 5'-end) in the cytoplasm are clear signs for the cell that a virus is present. DNA is usually sequestered to the nucleus or mitochondria, and 5'ppp dsRNA is not produced by human cells. DNA detected here is usually via cGAS or IF116, the former produces cGAMP (dinucleotide cyclic GMP–AMP) as a secondary messenger that activates STING (stimulator of IFN genes), while the latter can directly bind to STING. STING activation involves K63-linked ubiquitination by TRIM32 and TRIM56 (tripartite motif protein), which recruits and activates TBK1 (TANK [TRAF (TNF [tumor necrosis factor] receptor associated factor) family member-associated NF- $\kappa$ B activator]-binding kinase 1). TBK1 has been shown to activate the NF- $\kappa$ B pathway through the IKK (I $\kappa$ B kinases) complex and TRAF6[618], and phosphorylates IRF3 which induces its dimerization[619-621].



Figure 20: Schematic representative of the DNA detection pathway during the induction of the immune response. Following DNA detection, DNA PRR will activate STING to initiate TBK1/IRF3 and NF- $\kappa$ B activation. These transcription factors control the expression of many genes that will generate a defensive response. Adapted from[622].

The RIG (retinoic acid-inducible gene) family of RNA receptors is referred to as RLR (RIG-like receptors) that contains three members with very similar signaling pathways. These receptors interact with RNA via their DExD/H-box helicase domains. RIG-I detects relatively short uncapped 5'ppp dsRNA, while MDA-5, another RLR, detects longer dsRNA that does not possess 2'-O-methylation in the 5'-cap structure[623]. The RLR LGP2 does not contain a CARD (caspase activation and recruitment domain) domain, and inhibits RIG-I while enhancing MDA-5 signaling. Interaction with RNA stimulates the phosphorylated CARD domains of RIG-I and MDA-5, which recruits the phosphatase PP1 to de-phosphorylate them. TRIM25 is then recruited to ubiquitinate the CARD domains in a K63-linked manner, inducing tetramerization of the receptor and interaction with MAVS (mitochondrial antiviral-signaling protein) at the mitochondria. Activated MAVS forms a large structure that includes many other MAVS and TRAF proteins. It activates the NF- $\kappa$ B pathway through the IKK (I $\kappa$ B kinases) complex, and IRF3 through TBK1 and IKK $\epsilon$ [622].



Figure 21: Schematic representative of the RNA detection pathway for the induction of the immune response. RIG receptor activation via 5' ppp RNA interaction will lead to oligomerization along with MAVS. This will activate the IKK complex and NF- $\kappa$ B activation along with the TBK1/IRF3 signaling pathway. Adapted from[622].

TLR (toll-like receptor) are another family of immune receptors that can recognize a variety of PAMPS like LPS (lipopolysaccharide) on bacterial cell walls via TLR4 or flagellin via TLR5. The ones that detect RNA are TLR3, 7, and 8, while TLR9 responds to DNA in humans. Interestingly, structural HIV-1 proteins like Env and Gag can be detected by TLR1, 2 and 4[624-626]. Apart from TLR3, these receptors signal through MyD88 (myeloid differentiation factor 88), which recruits several different IRAK (IL-1R1-associated protein kinases) proteins and trigger TRAF6. This leads to TAK1 (TGF- $\beta$  [transforming growth factor- $\beta$ ] activating kinases 1 or MAP3K7[mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase kinase 7]) activation, which includes TAB (TAK1-binding protein) 1 and 2, that stimulate IKK. Several IRF TF can directly bind to MyD88, but the main induction of IFN stimulation in pDC (plasmacytoid dendritic cells) is done through a complex that includes MyD88, IRAK proteins, and TRAF proteins. TLR3 signaling is very similar, except that it utilizes TRIF (TIR [toll IL-1 receptor] domain–containing adaptor–inducing IFN- $\beta$ ) instead of MyD88[627, 628].

Although human cells express and use different PRR to bind to various PAMP, the downstream molecules are often shared among different immunological cascades, such as RNA versus DNA sensing pathways. STING and MAVS for instance, interact and support the activation of one another[629]. Similarly, the IRF and NF- $\kappa$ B proteins cooperate to induce the expression of many genes, including the production of type-1 IFN $\alpha/\beta$ [630], often considered to be the "first wave" of an immune response. Exposure to this type of IFN alone can induce a potent immune state, as it activates the transcription of the "second wave" inflammatory and anti-pathogen genes that induce signaling cascades and interfere with pathogen replication.

Type-1 IFN is detected by heterodimer IFNAR (IFN $\alpha/\beta$  receptor) 1 and 2. In the cytoplasm, two members of the Janus kinase protein family, JAK1 and TYK2 (tyrosine kinase 2) bound to the IFNAR complex become activated and phosphorylate each other following IFN stimulation. This recruits STAT (signal transducer and activator of transcription) 1 and 2, which are also phosphorylated here. This STAT dimer also binds to IRF9 to form the ISGF3 (IFN-stimulated gene factor 3) TF complex, which translocates into the nucleus to activate genes that have an ISRE (IFN-stimulated response element). STAT1 homodimers are also produced, and similarly interact with GAS (gamma activation sequence) elements[631, 632].



Figure 22: Model that represents the canonical type 1 IFN signaling pathway. SIN3A is a specific inhibitor of the negative feedback loop initiated by STAT3 dimerization during IFN signaling. Under most circumstances, type 1 IFN will interact with IFNAR to initiate STAT1 dimerization and activation. This transcription factor can then induce many anti-viral genes with ISRE promoters. Adapted from[632].

There are several different combinations of STAT dimers induced by type-1 IFN treatment, including the immunosuppressive STAT3 homodimer. IFN-induced STAT3 activation inhibits STAT1 homodimer interaction with DNA and thus reduces GAS-mediated gene activation[633], and ISRE activity [634]. Overall however, the details on the role STAT3 plays and its mechanisms remain unclear[635]. Another inhibitory protein family, SOCS (suppressor of cytokine signaling) 1 and 3, provide a negative feedback loop during type-1 IFN signaling[636]. SOCS1 interacts with the IFNAR1 and JAK complex, and prevents its interaction with STAT proteins[637, 638] as well as inducing its degradation[639].

### 1.3. The NF-κB Pathway

The NF- $\kappa$ B pathway affects several cellular pathways including inflammation, cytokine production, cell survival, etc. It can be activated by a number of stimuli such as cytokines, or intracellular signals to name a few. Following stimulation, the IKK complex that is composed of the catalytic subunits IKK $\alpha$  and IKK $\beta$ , and the regulatory subunit IKK $\gamma$  (also called NEMO), phosphorylates I $\kappa$ B. This latter unit is a repressor, and can be one of many different proteins such as I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$ , I $\kappa$ B $\beta$ , I $\kappa$ B $\epsilon$ , p150, p100, etc. Normally these inhibitors trap NF- $\kappa$ B proteins in the cytoplasm, and mask their NLS. Once phosphorylated, the I $\kappa$ B is ubiquitinated and targeted for proteasomal degradation. This releases NF- $\kappa$ B transcription factor homo or heterodimers from repression in the cytoplasm, where they then translocate into the nucleus to activate a variety of genes. The NF- $\kappa$ B proteins form a family of five different TF; ReIA, ReIB, c-ReI, p50 and p52[640, 641]. Different NF- $\kappa$ B heterodimers have distinct gene activation profiles, which is influenced by NF- $\kappa$ B binding partners and post-translational modifications[426, 642, 643].

Two distinct methods of NF- $\kappa$ B activation exist, the canonical pathway which regulates inflammation and apoptosis is stimulated by TNFR (TNF- $\alpha$  receptor), TCR (T-cell receptor), and PRR activity for example. Downstream of many of these receptors is a TRAF (TNF receptor associated factor) protein that becomes activated. TRAF6, for example, is an E3 ubiquitin ligase and auto-polyubiquitinates itself to form K63 chains. Activated TRAF6 ubiquitinates TAK1 and IKK $\gamma$  with K63 chains, which leads to their activation. This complex then phosphorylates the IKK $\beta$  subunit that will remove the inhibitory I $\kappa$ B, activating the NF- $\kappa$ B heterodimer, predominantly RelA/p50[644].

The non-canonical pathway is involved in cellular maturation and differentiation, and is activated by CD40 among others. Following non-canonical stimulation, NIK (NF- $\kappa$ B-inducing kinase) is stabilized, and oligomerizes to auto-phosphorylate. This specifically activates IKK $\alpha$  and does not require IKK $\gamma$  or IKK $\beta$ . The inhibitory subunit found here is p100, which is actually the unprocessed form of p52, and is already bound to RelB. This pathway primarily leads to the activation of a p52/RelB complex[438, 645].

# References

- Poiesz, B.J., et al., Detection and isolation of type C retrovirus particles from fresh and cultured lymphocytes of a patient with cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1980. 77(12): p. 7415-9.
- 2. Robert-Guroff, M., et al., *Detection of the human T cell lymphoma virus p19 in cells of some patients with cutaneous T cell lymphoma and leukemia using a monoclonal antibody*. J Exp Med, 1981. **154**(6): p. 1957-64.
- Uchiyama, T., et al., *Adult T-cell leukemia: clinical and hematologic features of 16 cases*. Blood, 1977. 50(3): p. 481-92.
- Miyoshi, I., et al., *Type C virus particles in a cord T-cell line derived by co-cultivating normal human cord leukocytes and human leukaemic T cells*. Nature, 1981. 294(5843): p. 770-1.
- 5. Popovic, M., et al., *Isolation and transmission of human retrovirus (human t-cell leukemia virus)*. Science, 1983. **219**(4586): p. 856-9.
- Proietti, F.A., et al., *Global epidemiology of HTLV-I infection and associated diseases*. Oncogene, 2005. 24(39): p. 6058-68.
- 7. de The, G. and R. Bomford, *An HTLV-I vaccine: why, how, for whom?* AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses, 1993. **9**(5): p. 381-6.
- 8. Filippone, C., et al., A new and frequent human T-cell leukemia virus indeterminate Western blot pattern: epidemiological determinants and PCR results in central African inhabitants. J Clin Microbiol, 2012. **50**(5): p. 1663-72.
- 9. Mahieux, R. and A. Gessain, *The human HTLV-3 and HTLV-4 retroviruses: new members of the HTLV family.* Pathol Biol (Paris), 2009. **57**(2): p. 161-6.

- Gessain, A. and O. Cassar, *Epidemiological Aspects and World Distribution of HTLV-1* Infection. Front Microbiol, 2012. 3.
- Delaporte, E., et al., *Epidemiology of HTLV-I in Gabon (Western Equatorial Africa)*. Int J Cancer, 1988. 42(5): p. 687-9.
- Bhigjee, A.I., et al., Myelopathy associated with human T cell lymphotropic virus type I (HTLV-I) in natal, South Africa. A clinical and investigative study in 24 patients. Brain, 1990. 113 (Pt 5): p. 1307-20.
- Mansuy, J.M., et al., Seroprevalence of retroviral infections among pregnant women in Martinique (French West Indies). Am J Trop Med Hyg, 1999. 61(4): p. 598-9.
- 14. Murphy, E.L., et al., *Human T-lymphotropic virus type I (HTLV-I) seroprevalence in Jamaica. I. Demographic determinants.* Am J Epidemiol, 1991. **133**(11): p. 1114-24.
- 15. Grant, W., et al., Comparison of enzyme-linked immunosorbent and indirect immunofluorescence assays for the detection of human T-cell lymphotropic virus type-I antibodies in sera from rural Haiti. Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis, 1992. **15**(2): p. 121-4.
- 16. Riedel, D.A., et al., *A historical study of human T lymphotropic virus type I transmission in Barbados*. J Infect Dis, 1989. **159**(4): p. 603-9.
- Blattner, W.A., et al., A study of HTLV-I and its associated risk factors in Trinidad and Tobago. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr, 1990. 3(11): p. 1102-8.
- Satake, M., K. Yamaguchi, and K. Tadokoro, *Current prevalence of HTLV-1 in Japan as determined by screening of blood donors*. J Med Virol, 2012. 84(2): p. 327-35.
- 19. Kohakura, M., et al., Seroepidemiology of the human retrovirus (HTLV/ATLV) in Okinawa where adult T-cell leukemia is highly endemic. Jpn J Cancer Res, 1986. 77(1): p. 21-3.

- 20. Kwon, S.Y., et al., Seroprevalence of human T-lymphotropic virus type 1 and 2 in Korean blood donors. J Med Virol, 2008. **80**(10): p. 1864-7.
- 21. Wang, Y., et al., *Prevalence and partial sequence analysis of human T cell lymphotropic virus type I in China.* J Med Virol, 2005. **76**(4): p. 613-8.
- 22. Rafatpanah, H., et al., *High prevalence of HTLV-I infection in Mashhad, Northeast Iran: a population-based seroepidemiology survey.* J Clin Virol, 2011. **52**(3): p. 172-6.
- 23. Laperche, S., B. Worms, and J. Pillonel, *Blood safety strategies for human T-cell lymphotropic virus in Europe*. Vox Sang, 2009. **96**(2): p. 104-10.
- Dekaban, G.A., et al., *HTLV-I infection associated with disease in aboriginal Indians from British Columbia: a serological and PCR analysis.* Clin Diagn Virol, 1994. 2(2): p. 67-78.
- Einsiedel, L.J., K. Verdonck, and E. Gotuzzo, *Human T-Lymphotropic Virus 1: Clinical Aspects of a Neglected Infection among Indigenous Populations*, in *Emerging Infections* 9. 2010, American Society of Microbiology.
- Ratner, L., T. Philpott, and D.B. Trowbridge, Nucleotide sequence analysis of isolates of human T-lymphotropic virus type 1 of diverse geographical origins. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses, 1991. 7(11): p. 923-41.
- Gessain, A., R.C. Gallo, and G. Franchini, Low degree of human T-cell leukemia/lymphoma virus type I genetic drift in vivo as a means of monitoring viral transmission and movement of ancient human populations. J Virol, 1992. 66(4): p. 2288-95.
- 28. Schulz, T.F., et al., *HTLV-1 envelope sequences from Brazil, the Caribbean, and Romania: clustering of sequences according to geographic origin and variability in an antibody epitope.* Virology, 1991. **184**(2): p. 483-91.

- 29. Kubota, R., et al., *Genetic stability of human T lymphotropic virus type I despite antiviral pressures by CTLs.* J Immunol, 2007. **178**(9): p. 5966-72.
- Martin, J.L., et al., *Molecular Studies of HTLV-1 Replication: An Update*. Viruses, 2016.
   8(2).
- 31. Cao, S., et al., *Analysis of human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 particles by using cryoelectron tomography.* J Virol, 2015. **89**(4): p. 2430-5.
- 32. Ohtsuki, Y., et al., Ultrastructural study on type C virus particles in a human cord T-cell line established by co-cultivation with adult T-cell leukemia cells. Arch Virol, 1982.
  73(1): p. 69-73.
- 33. Feng, X., N.V. Heyden, and L. Ratner, *Alpha interferon inhibits human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 assembly by preventing Gag interaction with rafts.* J Virol, 2003. **77**(24): p. 13389-95.
- Seiki, M., S. Hattori, and M. Yoshida, *Human adult T-cell leukemia virus: molecular cloning of the provirus DNA and the unique terminal structure*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1982. 79(22): p. 6899-902.
- 35. Lairmore, M.D., et al., *Molecular Determinants of Human T-lymphotropic Virus Type 1 Transmission and Spread.* Viruses, 2011. **3**(7): p. 1131-65.
- 36. Pique, C., et al., *Human T-cell leukemia virus type I envelope protein maturation process: requirements for syncytium formation.* J Virol, 1992. **66**(2): p. 906-13.
- 37. Oliere, S., et al., *Modulation of innate immune responses during human T-cell leukemia virus (HTLV-1) pathogenesis.* Cytokine Growth Factor Rev, 2011. **22**(4): p. 197-210.
- 38. Nam, S.H., et al., *Characterization of ribosomal frameshifting for expression of pol gene products of human T-cell leukemia virus type I.* J Virol, 1993. **67**(1): p. 196-203.

- 39. Ruggero, K., et al., Small Noncoding RNAs in Cells Transformed by Human T-Cell Leukemia Virus Type 1: a Role for a tRNA Fragment as a Primer for Reverse Transcriptase. J Virol, 2014. **88**(7): p. 3612-22.
- 40. Beerens, N. and B. Berkhout, *Switching the in vitro tRNA usage of HIV-1 by simultaneous adaptation of the PBS and PAS.* Rna, 2002. **8**(3): p. 357-69.
- 41. Huthoff, H., et al., On the importance of the primer activation signal for initiation of tRNA(lys3)-primed reverse transcription of the HIV-1 RNA genome. Nucleic Acids Res, 2003. 31(17): p. 5186-94.
- 42. Johnson, S.F. and A. Telesnitsky, *Retroviral RNA dimerization and packaging: the what, how, when, where, and why.* PLoS Pathog, 2010. **6**(10): p. e1001007.
- 43. Greatorex, J.S., et al., *Sequences involved in the dimerisation of human T cell leukaemia virus type-1 RNA*. Nucleic Acids Res, 1996. **24**(15): p. 2919-23.
- 44. Monie, T., J. Greatorex, and A.M. Lever, *Oligonucleotide mapping of the core genomic RNA dimer linkage in human T-cell leukaemia virus type-1*. Virus Res, 2001. 78(1-2): p. 45-56.
- 45. Monie, T.P., et al., *The human T-cell lymphotropic virus type-I dimerization initiation site forms a hairpin loop, unlike previously characterized retroviral dimerization motifs.* Biochemistry, 2004. 43(20): p. 6085-90.
- 46. Le Blanc, I., et al., A 37 base sequence in the leader region of human T-cell leukaemia virus type I is a high affinity dimerization site but is not essential for virus replication. J Gen Virol, 2000. 81(Pt 1): p. 105-8.
- Mansky, L.M. and L.C. Gajary, *The primary nucleotide sequence of the bovine leukemia* virus RNA packaging signal can influence efficient RNA packaging and virus replication. Virology, 2002. 301(2): p. 272-80.

- 48. Ali, L.M., T.A. Rizvi, and F. Mustafa, *Cross- and Co-Packaging of Retroviral RNAs and Their Consequences*. Viruses, 2016. **8**(10).
- 49. Bangham, C.R.M. and L. Ratner, *How does HTLV-1 cause adult T-cell leukaemia/lymphoma (ATL)*? Curr Opin Virol, 2015. **14**: p. 93-100.
- 50. Richardson, J.H., et al., *In vivo cellular tropism of human T-cell leukemia virus type 1*. J Virol, 1990. **64**(11): p. 5682-7.
- 51. Ho, D.D., T.R. Rota, and M.S. Hirsch, *Infection of human endothelial cells by human T-lymphotropic virus type I.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1984. **81**(23): p. 7588-90.
- 52. Longo, D.L., et al., *Isolation of HTLV-transformed B-lymphocyte clone from a patient with HTLV-associated adult T-cell leukaemia.* Nature, 1984. **310**(5977): p. 505-6.
- 53. Yoshikura, H., et al., Isolation of HTLV derived from Japanese adult T-cell leukemia patients in human diploid fibroblast strain IMR90 and the biological characters of the infected cells. Int J Cancer, 1984. **33**(6): p. 745-9.
- 54. Koyanagi, Y., et al., *In vivo infection of human T-cell leukemia virus type I in non-T cells*. Virology, 1993. **196**(1): p. 25-33.
- 55. Nagai, M., et al., *CD8(+) T* cells are an in vivo reservoir for human *T*-cell lymphotropic virus type I. Blood, 2001. **98**(6): p. 1858-61.
- 56. Jones, K.S., et al., *Cell-free HTLV-1 infects dendritic cells leading to transmission and transformation of CD4(+) T cells.* Nat Med, 2008. **14**(4): p. 429-36.
- 57. Araya, N., et al., *Human T-lymphotropic virus type 1 (HTLV-1) and regulatory T cells in HTLV-1-associated neuroinflammatory disease.* Viruses, 2011. **3**(9): p. 1532-48.
- Jones, K.S., et al., Heparan sulfate proteoglycans mediate attachment and entry of human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 virions into CD4+ T cells. J Virol, 2005. 79(20): p. 12692-702.

- 59. Pinon, J.D., et al., Human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 envelope glycoprotein gp46 interacts with cell surface heparan sulfate proteoglycans. J Virol, 2003. 77(18): p. 9922-30.
- Tanaka, A., et al., Entry of Human T-Cell Leukemia Virus Type 1 Is Augmented by Heparin Sulfate Proteoglycans Bearing Short Heparin-Like Structures. J Virol, 2012.
   86(6): p. 2959-69.
- 61. Jones, K.S., et al., *Human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 (HTLV-1) and HTLV-2 use different receptor complexes to enter T cells*. J Virol, 2006. **80**(17): p. 8291-302.
- 62. Kim, F.J., et al., *HTLV-1 and -2 envelope SU subdomains and critical determinants in receptor binding*. Retrovirology, 2004. 1: p. 41.
- 63. Ghez, D., et al., *Neuropilin-1 is involved in human T-cell lymphotropic virus type 1 entry*. J Virol, 2006. 80(14): p. 6844-54.
- 64. Lambert, S., et al., *HTLV-1 uses HSPG and neuropilin-1 for entry by molecular mimicry of VEGF165*. Blood, 2009. **113**(21): p. 5176-85.
- 65. Soker, S., et al., *Neuropilin-1 is expressed by endothelial and tumor cells as an isoform-specific receptor for vascular endothelial growth factor*. Cell, 1998. **92**(6): p. 735-45.
- General Jones, K.S., et al., Molecular Aspects of HTLV-1 Entry: Functional Domains of the HTLV-1 Surface Subunit (SU) and Their Relationships to the Entry Receptors. Viruses, 2011. 3(6): p. 794-810.
- 67. Manel, N., et al., *The ubiquitous glucose transporter GLUT-1 is a receptor for HTLV*. Cell, 2003. **115**(4): p. 449-59.
- 68. Jin, Q., et al., Infection of CD4+ T lymphocytes by the human T cell leukemia virus type 1 is mediated by the glucose transporter GLUT-1: evidence using antibodies specific to the receptor's large extracellular domain. Virology, 2006. **349**(1): p. 184-96.

- 69. Li, K., et al., Intersubunit Disulfide Isomerization Controls Membrane Fusion of Human T-Cell Leukemia Virus Env. J Virol, 2008. **82**(14): p. 7135-43.
- Manel, N., J.L. Battini, and M. Sitbon, *Human T cell leukemia virus envelope binding* and virus entry are mediated by distinct domains of the glucose transporter GLUT1. J Biol Chem, 2005. 280(32): p. 29025-9.
- 71. Ceccaldi, P.E., et al., *DC-SIGN facilitates fusion of dendritic cells with human T-cell leukemia virus type 1-infected cells*. J Virol, 2006. **80**(10): p. 4771-80.
- 72. Jain, P., et al., *DC-SIGN mediates cell-free infection and transmission of human T-cell lymphotropic virus type 1 by dendritic cells.* J Virol, 2009. **83**(21): p. 10908-21.
- Blot, V., et al., Human Dlg protein binds to the envelope glycoproteins of human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 and regulates envelope mediated cell-cell fusion in T lymphocytes. J Cell Sci, 2004. 117(Pt 17): p. 3983-93.
- Yoshida, S., et al., *Knockdown of synapse-associated protein Dlg1 reduces syncytium formation induced by human T-cell leukemia virus type 1*. Virus Genes, 2008. 37(1): p. 9-15.
- 75. Nethe, M., B. Berkhout, and A.C. van der Kuyl, *Retroviral superinfection resistance*. Retrovirology, 2005. **2**: p. 52.
- 76. Cook, L.B., et al., *HTLV-1-infected T cells contain a single integrated provirus in natural infection*. Blood, 2012. **120**(17): p. 3488-90.
- 77. Maeda, Y., et al., Separate cellular localizations of human T-lymphotropic virus 1 (HTLV-1) Env and glucose transporter type 1 (GLUT1) are required for HTLV-1 Envmediated fusion and infection. J Virol, 2015. **89**(1): p. 502-11.
- 78. Aiken, C., et al., *Nef induces CD4 endocytosis: requirement for a critical dileucine motif in the membrane-proximal CD4 cytoplasmic domain.* Cell, 1994. **76**(5): p. 853-64.

- Margottin, F., et al., A novel human WD protein, h-beta TrCp, that interacts with HIV-1 Vpu connects CD4 to the ER degradation pathway through an F-box motif. Mol Cell, 1998. 1(4): p. 565-74.
- 80. Takenouchi, N., et al., *GLUT1 is not the primary binding receptor but is associated with cell-to-cell transmission of human T-cell leukemia virus type 1.* J Virol, 2007. **81**(3): p. 1506-10.
- 81. Macintyre, A.N., et al., *The glucose transporter Glut1 is selectively essential for CD4 T cell activation and effector function*. Cell Metab, 2014. **20**(1): p. 61-72.
- 82. Lehmann, M.J., et al., *Actin- and myosin-driven movement of viruses along filopodia precedes their entry into cells.* J Cell Biol, 2005. **170**(2): p. 317-25.
- 83. Van Prooyen, N., et al., *Human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 p8 protein increases cellular conduits and virus transmission*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2010. **107**(48): p. 20738-43.
- 84. Mirsaliotis, A., et al., Conformation-Specific Antibodies Targeting the Trimer-of-Hairpins Motif of the Human T-Cell Leukemia Virus Type 1 Transmembrane Glycoprotein Recognize the Viral Envelope but Fail To Neutralize Viral Entry. J Virol, 2007. 81(11): p. 6019-31.
- 85. Lamb, D., et al., *Basic residues are critical to the activity of peptide inhibitors of human T cell leukemia virus type 1 entry.* J Biol Chem, 2009. **284**(10): p. 6575-84.
- 86. Kobe, B., et al., *Crystal structure of human T cell leukemia virus type 1 gp21 ectodomain crystallized as a maltose-binding protein chimera reveals structural evolution of retroviral transmembrane proteins.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1999. **96**(8): p. 4319-24.
- 87. Maerz, A.L., et al., *Functional implications of the human T-lymphotropic virus type 1 transmembrane glycoprotein helical hairpin structure.* J Virol, 2000. **74**(14): p. 6614-21.
- Eckert, D.M. and P.S. Kim, *Mechanisms of viral membrane fusion and its inhibition*. Annu Rev Biochem, 2001. **70**: p. 777-810.

- 89. Furuta, R.A., et al., *Capture of an early fusion-active conformation of HIV-1 gp41*. Nat Struct Mol Biol, 1998. **5**(4): p. 276-279.
- 90. Weissenhorn, W., et al., *Atomic structure of the ectodomain from HIV-1 gp41*. Nature, 1997. **387**(6631): p. 426-430.
- 91. Melikyan, G.B., et al., Evidence That the Transition of HIV-1 Gp41 into a Six-Helix Bundle, Not the Bundle Configuration, Induces Membrane Fusion. The Journal of Cell Biology, 2000. **151**(2): p. 413-424.
- 92. Markosyan, R.M., F.S. Cohen, and G.B. Melikyan, *HIV-1 envelope proteins complete their folding into six-helix bundles immediately after fusion pore formation*. Mol Biol Cell, 2003. **14**(3): p. 926-38.
- 93. Melikyan, G.B., *Common principles and intermediates of viral protein-mediated fusion: the HIV-1 paradigm.* Retrovirology, 2008. **5**: p. 111.
- 94. Chernomordik, L.V., G.B. Melikyan, and Y.A. Chizmadzhev, *Biomembrane fusion: a new concept derived from model studies using two interacting planar lipid bilayers*. Biochim Biophys Acta, 1987. 906(3): p. 309-52.
- 95. Floyd, D.L., et al., Single-particle kinetics of influenza virus membrane fusion. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2008. 105(40): p. 15382-7.
- 96. Yang, X., et al., Subunit stoichiometry of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycoprotein trimers during virus entry into host cells. J Virol, 2006. **80**(9): p. 4388-95.
- 97. Ivanovic, T., et al., *Influenza-virus membrane fusion by cooperative fold-back of stochastically induced hemagglutinin intermediates.* Elife, 2013. **2**: p. e00333.
- 98. Munoz-Barroso, I., et al., Dilation of the human immunodeficiency virus-1 envelope glycoprotein fusion pore revealed by the inhibitory action of a synthetic peptide from gp41. J Cell Biol, 1998. **140**(2): p. 315-23.

- 99. Harrison, S.C., Viral membrane fusion. Virology, 2015. 0: p. 498-507.
- 100. Campbell, E.M., R. Nunez, and T.J. Hope, Disruption of the actin cytoskeleton can complement the ability of Nef to enhance human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infectivity. J Virol, 2004. 78(11): p. 5745-55.
- 101. Yoder, A., et al., *HIV envelope-CXCR4 signaling activates cofilin to overcome cortical actin restriction in resting CD4 T cells.* Cell, 2008. **134**(5): p. 782-92.
- 102. Naghavi, M.H., et al., *Moesin regulates stable microtubule formation and limits retroviral infection in cultured cells*. Embo j, 2007. **26**(1): p. 41-52.
- Iyengar, S., J.E. Hildreth, and D.H. Schwartz, *Actin-dependent receptor colocalization required for human immunodeficiency virus entry into host cells*. J Virol, 1998. 72(6): p. 5251-5.
- 104. Viard, M., et al., *Role of cholesterol in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope protein-mediated fusion with host cells.* J Virol, 2002. **76**(22): p. 11584-95.
- 105. Jimenez-Baranda, S., et al., Filamin-A regulates actin-dependent clustering of HIV receptors. Nat Cell Biol, 2007. 9(7): p. 838-46.
- 106. Fackler, O.T., et al., *Activation of Vav by Nef induces cytoskeletal rearrangements and downstream effector functions.* Mol Cell, 1999. **3**(6): p. 729-39.
- 107. Bukrinskaya, A., et al., Establishment of a functional human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) reverse transcription complex involves the cytoskeleton. J Exp Med, 1998.
  188(11): p. 2113-25.
- 108. Miller, M.D., et al., The human immunodeficiency virus-1 nef gene product: a positive factor for viral infection and replication in primary lymphocytes and macrophages. J Exp Med, 1994. 179(1): p. 101-13.

- 109. Aiken, C., Pseudotyping human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) by the glycoprotein of vesicular stomatitis virus targets HIV-1 entry to an endocytic pathway and suppresses both the requirement for Nef and the sensitivity to cyclosporin A. J Virol, 1997. **71**(8): p. 5871-7.
- 110. Chazal, N., et al., Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 particles pseudotyped with envelope proteins that fuse at low pH no longer require Nef for optimal infectivity. J Virol, 2001. **75**(8): p. 4014-8.
- 111. Kaushik, R. and L. Ratner, Role of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 matrix phosphorylation in an early postentry step of virus replication. J Virol, 2004. 78(5): p. 2319-26.
- 112. Igakura, T., et al., Spread of HTLV-I between lymphocytes by virus-induced polarization of the cytoskeleton. Science, 2003. **299**(5613): p. 1713-6.
- 113. Nejmeddine, M., et al., *Human T-lymphotropic virus, type 1, tax protein triggers microtubule reorientation in the virological synapse.* J Biol Chem, 2005. **280**(33): p. 29653-60.
- 114. Jenkins, M.R., et al., *The strength of T cell receptor signal controls the polarization of cytotoxic machinery to the immunological synapse*. Immunity, 2009. **31**(4): p. 621-31.
- 115. Gross, C., et al., The Tax-Inducible Actin-Bundling Protein Fascin Is Crucial for Release and Cell-to-Cell Transmission of Human T-Cell Leukemia Virus Type 1 (HTLV-1). PLoS Pathog, 2016. 12(10): p. e1005916.
- 116. Chevalier, S.A., et al., *Gem-induced cytoskeleton remodeling increases cellular migration of HTLV-1-infected cells, formation of infected-to-target T-cell conjugates and viral transmission.* PLoS Pathog, 2014. **10**(2): p. e1003917.
- 117. Bunn, R.C., M.A. Jensen, and B.C. Reed, *Protein interactions with the glucose transporter binding protein GLUT1CBP that provide a link between GLUT1 and the cytoskeleton*. Mol Biol Cell, 1999. **10**(4): p. 819-32.
- 118. Cai, H. and R.R. Reed, Cloning and characterization of neuropilin-1-interacting protein: a PSD-95/Dlg/ZO-1 domain-containing protein that interacts with the cytoplasmic domain of neuropilin-1. J Neurosci, 1999. 19(15): p. 6519-27.
- 119. Reed, B.C., et al., *GLUT1CBP(TIP2/GIPC1) interactions with GLUT1 and myosin VI: evidence supporting an adapter function for GLUT1CBP*. Mol Biol Cell, 2005. 16(9): p. 4183-201.
- 120. Grootjans, J.J., et al., Syntenin, a PDZ protein that binds syndecan cytoplasmic domains.
  Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1997. 94(25): p. 13683-8.
- 121. Rizkallah, G., et al., Dendritic cell maturation, but not type I interferon exposure, restricts infection by HTLV-1, and viral transmission to T-cells. PLoS Pathog, 2017.
  13(4): p. e1006353.
- 122. Pique, C., et al., Interaction of CD82 tetraspanin proteins with HTLV-1 envelope glycoproteins inhibits cell-to-cell fusion and virus transmission. Virology, 2000. 276(2): p. 455-65.
- 123. Mazurov, D., et al., *Quantitative comparison of HTLV-1 and HIV-1 cell-to-cell infection* with new replication dependent vectors. PLoS Pathog, 2010. **6**(2): p. e1000788.
- Haffar, O.K., et al., *Two nuclear localization signals in the HIV-1 matrix protein regulate nuclear import of the HIV-1 pre-integration complex.* J Mol Biol, 2000. 299(2): p. 359-68.
- 125. Lee, K.E., et al., *Flexible Use of Nuclear Import Pathways by HIV-1*. Cell Host Microbe, 2010. 7(3): p. 221-33.
- 126. Qi, M., R. Yang, and C. Aiken, Cyclophilin A-dependent restriction of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 capsid mutants for infection of nondividing cells. J Virol, 2008. 82(24): p. 12001-8.

- 127. Yamashita, M. and M. Emerman, *Capsid is a dominant determinant of retrovirus infectivity in nondividing cells.* J Virol, 2004. **78**(11): p. 5670-8.
- McDonald, D., et al., Visualization of the intracellular behavior of HIV in living cells. J Cell Biol, 2002. 159(3): p. 441-52.
- 129. Li, S., et al., Image reconstructions of helical assemblies of the HIV-1 CA protein. Nature, 2000. 407(6802): p. 409-13.
- 130. Stremlau, M., et al., Specific recognition and accelerated uncoating of retroviral capsids by the TRIM5alpha restriction factor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2006. 103(14): p. 5514-9.
- 131. Lahaye, X., et al., *The capsids of HIV-1 and HIV-2 determine immune detection of the viral cDNA by the innate sensor cGAS in dendritic cells*. Immunity, 2013. **39**(6): p. 1132-42.
- 132. Iordanskiy, S., et al., *Intracytoplasmic maturation of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 reverse transcription complexes determines their capacity to integrate into chromatin.* Retrovirology, 2006. **3**: p. 4.
- 133. Dobard, C.W., M.S. Briones, and S.A. Chow, Molecular mechanisms by which human immunodeficiency virus type 1 integrase stimulates the early steps of reverse transcription. J Virol, 2007. 81(18): p. 10037-46.
- Tekeste, S.S., et al., Interaction between Reverse Transcriptase and Integrase Is Required for Reverse Transcription during HIV-1 Replication. J Virol, 2015. 89(23): p. 12058-69.
- 135. Hottiger, M., et al., *The large subunit of HIV-1 reverse transcriptase interacts with betaactin.* Nucleic Acids Res, 1995. **23**(5): p. 736-41.
- 136. Turlure, F., et al., *Human cell proteins and human immunodeficiency virus DNA integration.* Front Biosci, 2004. **9**: p. 3187-208.

- Rey, O., J. Canon, and P. Krogstad, *HIV-1 Gag protein associates with F-actin present in microfilaments*. Virology, 1996. 220(2): p. 530-4.
- Ibarrondo, F.J., et al., *HIV type 1 Gag and nucleocapsid proteins: cytoskeletal localization and effects on cell motility.* AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses, 2001. 17(16): p. 1489-500.
- 139. Guo, J., et al., Spinoculation triggers dynamic actin and cofilin activity that facilitates HIV-1 infection of transformed and resting CD4 T cells. J Virol, 2011. 85(19): p. 9824-33.
- 140. Vorster, P.J., et al., *LIM kinase 1 modulates cortical actin and CXCR4 cycling and is activated by HIV-1 to initiate viral infection.* J Biol Chem, 2011. **286**(14): p. 12554-64.
- 141. Sleiman, D., et al., *The Interaction between tRNA(Lys)(3) and the Primer Activation Signal Deciphered by NMR Spectroscopy.* PLoS One, 2013. **8**(6).
- 142. Abbink, T.E. and B. Berkhout, *HIV-1 reverse transcription initiation: a potential target for novel antivirals?* Virus Res, 2008. **134**(1-2): p. 4-18.
- Hulme, A.E., O. Perez, and T.J. Hope, *Complementary assays reveal a relationship between HIV-1 uncoating and reverse transcription*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2011.
  108(24): p. 9975-80.
- Mamede, J.I., et al., *Early cytoplasmic uncoating is associated with infectivity of HIV-1*.
  Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2017. **114**(34): p. E7169-78.
- 145. Rankovic, S., et al., *Reverse Transcription Mechanically Initiates HIV-1 Capsid Disassembly.* J Virol, 2017. **91**(12).
- 146. Thomas, J.A., et al., Mutations in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 nucleocapsid protein zinc fingers cause premature reverse transcription. J Virol, 2008. 82(19): p. 9318-28.

- Houzet, L., et al., Nucleocapsid mutations turn HIV-1 into a DNA-containing virus.
   Nucleic Acids Res, 2008. 36(7): p. 2311-9.
- 148. Didierlaurent, L., et al., *The conserved N-terminal basic residues and zinc-finger motifs* of HIV-1 nucleocapsid restrict the viral cDNA synthesis during virus formation and maturation. Nucleic Acids Res, 2008. **36**(14): p. 4745-53.
- 149. Zhang, H., et al., *Kinetic analysis of intravirion reverse transcription in the blood plasma of human immunodeficiency virus type 1-infected individuals: direct assessment of resistance to reverse transcriptase inhibitors in vivo.* J Virol, 1996. **70**(1): p. 628-34.
- 150. Cen, S., et al., Roles of Pr55(gag) and NCp7 in tRNA(3)(Lys) genomic placement and the initiation step of reverse transcription in human immunodeficiency virus type 1. J Virol, 2000. 74(22): p. 10796-800.
- 151. Beerens, N., et al., *Role of the primer activation signal in tRNA annealing onto the HIV-1 genome studied by single-molecule FRET microscopy*. RNA, 2013. **19**(4): p. 517-526.
- 152. Mougel, M., L. Houzet, and J.L. Darlix, *When is it time for reverse transcription to start and go?* Retrovirology, 2009. **6**: p. 24.
- Levin, J.G., et al., Nucleic acid chaperone activity of HIV-1 nucleocapsid protein: critical role in reverse transcription and molecular mechanism. Prog Nucleic Acid Res Mol Biol, 2005. 80: p. 217-86.
- 154. Cosnefroy, O., P.J. Murray, and K.N. Bishop, *HIV-1 capsid uncoating initiates after the first strand transfer of reverse transcription*. Retrovirology, 2016. **13**(1): p. 58.
- 155. Stewart-Maynard, K.M., et al., *Retroviral Nucleocapsid Proteins Display Nonequivalent Levels of Nucleic Acid Chaperone Activity.* J Virol, 2008. **82**(20): p. 10129-42.
- 156. Cruceanu, M., et al., Rapid kinetics of protein-nucleic acid interaction is a major component of HIV-1 nucleocapsid protein's nucleic acid chaperone function. J Mol Biol, 2006. 363(5): p. 867-77.

- 157. Darugar, Q., et al., Human T-Cell Lymphotropic Virus Type 1 Nucleocapsid Protein-Induced Structural Changes in Transactivation Response DNA Hairpin Measured by Single-Molecule Fluorescence Resonance Energy Transfer. J Virol, 2008. 82(24): p. 12164-71.
- 158. Qualley, D.F., et al., C-terminal Domain Modulates the Nucleic Acid Chaperone Activity of Human T-cell Leukemia Virus Type 1 Nucleocapsid Protein via an Electrostatic Mechanism. J Biol Chem, 2010. 285(1): p. 295-307.
- Qualley, D.F., V.L. Sokolove, and J.L. Ross, *Bovine leukemia virus nucleocapsid protein is an efficient nucleic acid chaperone*. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 2015. 458(3): p. 687-92.
- Sun, M., et al., Retrovirus-Specific Differences in Matrix and Nucleocapsid Protein-Nucleic Acid Interactions: Implications for Genomic RNA Packaging. J Virol, 2014.
   88(2): p. 1271-80.
- 161. Purohit, V., et al., *Mechanisms that prevent template inactivation by HIV-1 reverse transcriptase RNase H cleavages*. J Biol Chem, 2007. **282**(17): p. 12598-609.
- 162. Julias, J.G., et al., *Replication of phenotypically mixed human immunodeficiency virus type 1 virions containing catalytically active and catalytically inactive reverse transcriptase.* J Virol, 2001. **75**(14): p. 6537-46.
- 163. Telesnitsky, A. and S.P. Goff, *Two defective forms of reverse transcriptase can complement to restore retroviral infectivity*. Embo j, 1993. **12**(11): p. 4433-8.
- Hu, W.S. and S.H. Hughes, *HIV-1 Reverse Transcription*. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med, 2012. 2(10).
- 165. Auxilien, S., et al., Role of post-transcriptional modifications of primer tRNALys,3 in the fidelity and efficacy of plus strand DNA transfer during HIV-1 reverse transcription. J Biol Chem, 1999. 274(7): p. 4412-20.

- 166. Thomas, D.C., et al., Determination of the Ex Vivo Rates of Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 Reverse Transcription by Using Novel Strand-Specific Amplification Analysis. J Virol, 2007. 81(9): p. 4798-807.
- 167. Ramalanjaona, N., et al., Investigating the mechanism of the nucleocapsid protein chaperoning of the second strand transfer during HIV-1 DNA synthesis. J Mol Biol, 2007. 374(4): p. 1041-53.
- 168. Zennou, V., et al., *HIV-1 genome nuclear import is mediated by a central DNA flap.* Cell, 2000. 101(2): p. 173-85.
- 169. Klarmann, G.J., et al., Discontinuous plus-strand DNA synthesis in human immunodeficiency virus type 1-infected cells and in a partially reconstituted cell-free system. J Virol, 1997. **71**(12): p. 9259-69.
- 170. Miller, M.D., B. Wang, and F.D. Bushman, *Human immunodeficiency virus type 1* preintegration complexes containing discontinuous plus strands are competent to integrate in vitro. J Virol, 1995. **69**(6): p. 3938-44.
- 171. Harrison, G.P., et al., Pausing of reverse transcriptase on retroviral RNA templates is influenced by secondary structures both 5' and 3' of the catalytic site. Nucleic Acids Res, 1998. 26(14): p. 3433-42.
- 172. Suo, Z. and K.A. Johnson, Effect of RNA secondary structure on the kinetics of DNA synthesis catalyzed by HIV-1 reverse transcriptase. Biochemistry, 1997. 36(41): p. 12459-67.
- 173. Negroni, M. and H. Buc, *Mechanisms of retroviral recombination*. Annu Rev Genet, 2001. 35: p. 275-302.
- 174. Desrames, A., et al., Northern African strains of human T-lymphotropic virus type 1 arose from a recombination event. J Virol, 2014. **88**(17): p. 9782-8.

- 175. Salemi, M., J. Desmyter, and A.M. Vandamme, *Tempo and mode of human and simian T-lymphotropic virus (HTLV/STLV) evolution revealed by analyses of full-genome sequences*. Mol Biol Evol, 2000. **17**(3): p. 374-86.
- 176. Mansky, L.M., In Vivo Analysis of Human T-Cell Leukemia Virus Type 1 Reverse Transcription Accuracy. J Virol, 2000. 74(20): p. 9525-31.
- 177. Mansky, L.M. and H.M. Temin, *Lower in vivo mutation rate of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 than that predicted from the fidelity of purified reverse transcriptase*. J Virol, 1995. 69(8): p. 5087-94.
- Heidecker, G., et al., A novel protease processing site in the transframe protein of human *T-cell leukemia virus type 1 PR76(gag-pro) defines the N terminus of RT.* J Virol, 2002.
  76(24): p. 13101-5.
- 179. Mitchell, M.S., et al., *Synthesis, processing, and composition of the virion-associated HTLV-1 reverse transcriptase.* J Biol Chem, 2006. **281**(7): p. 3964-71.
- Stolp, B. and O.T. Fackler, *How HIV Takes Advantage of the Cytoskeleton in Entry and Replication*. Viruses, 2011. 3(4): p. 293-311.
- Bouyac-Bertoia, M., et al., *HIV-1 infection requires a functional integrase NLS*. Mol Cell, 2001. 7(5): p. 1025-35.
- 182. Popov, S., et al., Viral protein R regulates nuclear import of the HIV-1 pre-integration complex. Embo j, 1998. 17(4): p. 909-17.
- 183. Woodward, C.L., et al., Integrase interacts with nucleoporin NUP153 to mediate the nuclear import of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. J Virol, 2009. 83(13): p. 6522-33.
- 184. Arhel, N.J., et al., *HIV-1 DNA Flap formation promotes uncoating of the pre-integration complex at the nuclear pore*. Embo j, 2007. **26**(12): p. 3025-37.

- 185. Rivière, L., J.L. Darlix, and A. Cimarelli, *Analysis of the Viral Elements Required in the Nuclear Import of HIV-1 DNA*. J Virol, 2010. **84**(2): p. 729-39.
- 186. Fouchier, R.A., et al., HIV-1 infection of non-dividing cells: evidence that the aminoterminal basic region of the viral matrix protein is important for Gag processing but not for post-entry nuclear import. Embo j, 1997. 16(15): p. 4531-9.
- 187. Dvorin, J.D., et al., *Reassessment of the roles of integrase and the central DNA flap in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 nuclear import.* J Virol, 2002. **76**(23): p. 12087-96.
- 188. Dismuke, D.J. and C. Aiken, *Evidence for a functional link between uncoating of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 core and nuclear import of the viral preintegration complex.* J Virol, 2006. **80**(8): p. 3712-20.
- Matreyek, K.A. and A. Engelman, Viral and Cellular Requirements for the Nuclear Entry of Retroviral Preintegration Nucleoprotein Complexes. Viruses, 2013. 5(10): p. 2483-511.
- Craigie, R. and F.D. Bushman, *HIV DNA Integration*. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med, 2012. 2(7).
- 191. Christ, F., et al., *Transportin-SR2 imports HIV into the nucleus*. Curr Biol, 2008. 18(16): p. 1192-202.
- 192. Schaller, T., et al., *HIV-1 capsid-cyclophilin interactions determine nuclear import pathway, integration targeting and replication efficiency.* PLoS Pathog, 2011. **7**(12): p. e1002439.
- 193. Matreyek, K.A. and A. Engelman, *The requirement for nucleoporin NUP153 during human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection is determined by the viral capsid.* J Virol, 2011. 85(15): p. 7818-27.
- 194. Ganser, B.K., et al., Assembly and analysis of conical models for the HIV-1 core. Science, 1999. 283(5398): p. 80-3.

- 195. Khorasanizadeh, S., R. Campos-Olivas, and M.F. Summers, Solution structure of the capsid protein from the human T-cell leukemia virus type-I. J Mol Biol, 1999. 291(2): p. 491-505.
- 196. Cornilescu, C.C., et al., *Structural analysis of the N-terminal domain of the human T-cell leukemia virus capsid protein.* J Mol Biol, 2001. **306**(4): p. 783-97.
- 197. Shah, V.B., et al., *The host proteins transportin SR2/TNPO3 and cyclophilin A exert opposing effects on HIV-1 uncoating.* J Virol, 2013. **87**(1): p. 422-32.
- 198. Miller, M.D., C.M. Farnet, and F.D. Bushman, *Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 preintegration complexes: studies of organization and composition*. J Virol, 1997. **71**(7): p. 5382-90.
- 199. Roth, M.J., P.L. Schwartzberg, and S.P. Goff, *Structure of the termini of DNA intermediates in the integration of retroviral DNA: dependence on IN function and terminal DNA sequence.* Cell, 1989. **58**(1): p. 47-54.
- 200. Shoemaker, C., et al., *Intramolecular integration within Moloney murine leukemia virus DNA*. J Virol, 1981. **40**(1): p. 164-72.
- 201. Lee, Y.M. and J.M. Coffin, *Efficient autointegration of avian retrovirus DNA in vitro*. J Virol, 1990. **64**(12): p. 5958-65.
- 202. Lee, M.S. and R. Craigie, *A previously unidentified host protein protects retroviral DNA from autointegration*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1998. **95**(4): p. 1528-33.
- 203. Yan, N., et al., *The SET complex acts as a barrier to autointegration of HIV-1*. PLoS Pathog, 2009. **5**(3): p. e1000327.
- 204. Andrake, M.D. and A.M. Skalka, *RETROVIRAL INTEGRASE: THEN AND NOW*. Annu Rev Virol, 2015. **2**(1): p. 241-64.

- 205. Cherepanov, P., et al., *HIV-1 integrase forms stable tetramers and associates with LEDGF/p75 protein in human cells.* J Biol Chem, 2003. **278**(1): p. 372-81.
- 206. Maertens, G., et al., *LEDGF/p75 is essential for nuclear and chromosomal targeting of HIV-1 integrase in human cells.* J Biol Chem, 2003. **278**(35): p. 33528-39.
- Ciuffi, A., et al., A role for LEDGF/p75 in targeting HIV DNA integration. Nat Med, 2005. 11(12): p. 1287-9.
- Meekings, K.N., et al., *HTLV-1 integration into transcriptionally active genomic regions is associated with proviral expression and with HAM/TSP.* PLoS Pathog, 2008. 4(3): p. e1000027.
- 209. Derse, D., et al., Human T-Cell Leukemia Virus Type 1 Integration Target Sites in the Human Genome: Comparison with Those of Other Retroviruses. J Virol, 2007. 81(12): p. 6731-41.
- Ozawa, T., et al., Rapid isolation of viral integration site reveals frequent integration of HTLV-1 into expressed loci. J Hum Genet, 2004. 49(3): p. 154-65.
- 211. Melamed, A., et al., *Genome-wide determinants of proviral targeting, clonal abundance and expression in natural HTLV-1 infection.* PLoS Pathog, 2013. **9**(3): p. e1003271.
- 212. Maertens, G.N., *B'-protein phosphatase 2A is a functional binding partner of deltaretroviral integrase*. Nucleic Acids Res, 2016. **44**(1): p. 364-76.
- 213. Shanker, V., et al., Protein phosphatase 2A impairs IFNalpha-induced antiviral activity against the hepatitis C virus through the inhibition of STAT1 tyrosine phosphorylation. J Viral Hepat, 2013. 20(9): p. 612-21.
- 214. Eichhorn, P.J., M.P. Creyghton, and R. Bernards, *Protein phosphatase 2A regulatory subunits and cancer*. Biochim Biophys Acta, 2009. **1795**(1): p. 1-15.

- 215. Kirk, P.D.W., et al., *Retroviruses integrate into a shared, non-palindromic DNA motif.* Nature Microbiology, 2016. **2**: p. 16212.
- 216. Chou, K.S., et al., Nucleotide sequence analysis of a full-length human T-cell leukemia virus type I from adult T-cell leukemia cells: a prematurely terminated PX open reading frame II. Int J Cancer, 1995. **60**(5): p. 701-6.
- 217. Rumbaugh, J.A., G.M. Fuentes, and R.A. Bambara, *Processing of an HIV replication intermediate by the human DNA replication enzyme FEN1*. J Biol Chem, 1998. 273(44): p. 28740-5.
- 218. Skalka, A.M. and R.A. Katz, *Retroviral DNA integration and the DNA damage response*. Cell Death Differ, 2005. 12 Suppl 1: p. 971-8.
- 219. Sakurai, Y., et al., *DNA double strand break repair enzymes function at multiple steps in retroviral infection*. Retrovirology, 2009. **6**: p. 114.
- 220. Sloan, R.D. and M.A. Wainberg, *The role of unintegrated DNA in HIV infection*. Retrovirology, 2011. 8: p. 52.
- 221. Cook, L.B., et al., *The role of HTLV-1 clonality, proviral structure, and genomic integration site in adult T-cell leukemia/lymphoma.* Blood, 2014. **123**(25): p. 3925-31.
- 222. Baranger, A.M., et al., *Mechanism of DNA-binding enhancement by the human T-cell leukaemia virus transactivator Tax.* Nature, 1995. **376**(6541): p. 606-8.
- 223. Tie, F., et al., Interaction of the human T-lymphotropic virus type 1 Tax dimer with CREB and the viral 21-base-pair repeat. J Virol, 1996. **70**(12): p. 8368-74.
- 224. Jeang, K.T., et al., Characterization of cellular factors that interact with the human T-cell leukemia virus type I p40x-responsive 21-base-pair sequence. J Virol, 1988. 62(12): p. 4499-509.

- 225. Caron, C., et al., *Functional and biochemical interaction of the HTLV-I Tax1 transactivator with TBP*. Embo j, 1993. **12**(11): p. 4269-78.
- 226. Ching, Y.P., et al., Specific TATAA and bZIP requirements suggest that HTLV-I Tax has transcriptional activity subsequent to the assembly of an initiation complex. Retrovirology, 2004. 1: p. 18.
- 227. Giebler, H.A., et al., Anchoring of CREB binding protein to the human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 promoter: a molecular mechanism of Tax transactivation. Mol Cell Biol, 1997. 17(9): p. 5156-64.
- 228. Kwok, R.P., et al., *Control of cAMP-regulated enhancers by the viral transactivator Tax through CREB and the co-activator CBP.* Nature, 1996. **380**(6575): p. 642-6.
- 229. Harrod, R., et al., p300 and p300/cAMP-responsive element-binding protein associated factor interact with human T-cell lymphotropic virus type-1 Tax in a multi-histone acetyltransferase/activator-enhancer complex. J Biol Chem, 2000. 275(16): p. 11852-7.
- 230. Ahmed, Y.F., et al., *The HTLV-I Rex response element mediates a novel form of mRNA polyadenylation*. Cell, 1991. **64**(4): p. 727-37.
- 231. Bar-Shira, A., A. Panet, and A. Honigman, An RNA secondary structure juxtaposes two remote genetic signals for human T-cell leukemia virus type I RNA 3'-end processing. J Virol, 1991. 65(10): p. 5165-73.
- 232. Nakano, K. and T. Watanabe, *HTLV-1 Rex: the courier of viral messages making use of the host vehicle.* Front Microbiol, 2012. **3**: p. 330.
- 233. Bai, X.T., et al., Nuclear export and expression of human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 tax/rex mRNA are RxRE/Rex dependent. J Virol, 2012. **86**(8): p. 4559-65.
- 234. Rende, F., et al., *Identification of novel monocistronic HTLV-1 mRNAs encoding functional Rex isoforms*. Retrovirology, 2015. **12**.

- 235. Gaudray, G., et al., *The complementary strand of the human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 RNA genome encodes a bZIP transcription factor that down-regulates viral transcription*. J Virol, 2002. **76**(24): p. 12813-22.
- 236. Murata, K., et al., A novel alternative splicing isoform of human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 bZIP factor (HBZ-SI) targets distinct subnuclear localization. J Virol, 2006. 80(5): p. 2495-505.
- 237. Cavanagh, M.H., et al., *HTLV-I antisense transcripts initiating in the 3'LTR are alternatively spliced and polyadenylated*. Retrovirology, 2006. **3**: p. 15.
- 238. Laverdure, S., et al., Permissive Sense and Antisense Transcription from the 5' and 3' Long Terminal Repeats of Human T-Cell Leukemia Virus Type 1. J Virol, 2016. 90(7): p. 3600-10.
- 239. Hidaka, M., et al., Post-transcriptional regulator (rex) of HTLV-1 initiates expression of viral structural proteins but suppresses expression of regulatory proteins. Embo j, 1988.
  7(2): p. 519-23.
- 240. Kashanchi, F. and J.N. Brady, *Transcriptional and post-transcriptional gene regulation* of *HTLV-1*. Oncogene, 2005. **24**(39): p. 5938-51.
- 241. Grone, M., C. Koch, and R. Grassmann, The HTLV-1 Rex protein induces nuclear accumulation of unspliced viral RNA by avoiding intron excision and degradation. Virology, 1996. 218(2): p. 316-25.
- 242. Cavallari, I., et al., Expression of Alternatively Spliced Human T-Cell Leukemia Virus Type 1 mRNAs Is Influenced by Mitosis and by a Novel cis-Acting Regulatory Sequence. J Virol, 2015. 90(3): p. 1486-98.
- 243. Ghorbel, S., et al., Human T-cell leukemia virus type I p30 nuclear/nucleolar retention is mediated through interactions with RNA and a constituent of the 60 S ribosomal subunit. J Biol Chem, 2006. 281(48): p. 37150-8.

- 244. Nicot, C., et al., *HTLV-1-encoded p30II is a post-transcriptional negative regulator of viral replication*. Nat Med, 2004. **10**(2): p. 197-201.
- 245. Sinha-Datta, U., et al., Human T-cell lymphotrophic virus type I rex and p30 interactions govern the switch between virus latency and replication. J Biol Chem, 2007. 282(19): p. 14608-15.
- 246. Rende, F., et al., *Kinetics and intracellular compartmentalization of HTLV-1 gene expression: nuclear retention of HBZ mRNAs.* Blood, 2011. **117**(18): p. 4855-9.
- 247. Nakano, K. and T. Watanabe, *HTLV-1 Rex Tunes the Cellular Environment Favorable for Viral Replication*. Viruses, 2016. **8**(3).
- 248. Kesic, M., et al., *Phosphorylation regulates human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 Rex function*. Retrovirology, 2009. **6**: p. 105.
- 249. Hakata, Y., et al., Involvement of human CRM1 (exportin 1) in the export and multimerization of the Rex protein of human T-cell leukemia virus type 1. J Virol, 1998.
  72(8): p. 6602-7.
- 250. Attal, J., et al., *The RU5 ('R') region from human leukaemia viruses (HTLV-1) contains an internal ribosome entry site (IRES)-like sequence*. FEBS Lett, 1996. **392**(3): p. 220-4.
- 251. Olivares, E., et al., The 5' untranslated region of the human T-cell lymphotropic virus type 1 mRNA enables cap-independent translation initiation. J Virol, 2014. **88**(11): p. 5936-55.
- 252. Bolinger, C., et al., *RNA helicase A interacts with divergent lymphotropic retroviruses and promotes translation of human T-cell leukemia virus type 1*. Nucleic Acids Res, 2007. **35**(8): p. 2629-42.
- 253. Chen, J., et al., Cytoplasmic HIV-1 RNA is mainly transported by diffusion in the presence or absence of Gag protein. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2014. 111(48): p. E5205-13.

- 254. Inlora, J., et al., Membrane binding and subcellular localization of retroviral Gag proteins are differentially regulated by MA interactions with phosphatidylinositol-(4,5)-bisphosphate and RNA. MBio, 2014. **5**(6): p. e02202.
- 255. Ono, A., *HIV-1 Assembly at the Plasma Membrane: Gag Trafficking and Localization.* Future Virol, 2009. **4**(3): p. 241-257.
- 256. Wiktor, S.Z., et al., Mother-to-child transmission of human T-cell lymphotropic virus type I (HTLV-I) in Jamaica: association with antibodies to envelope glycoprotein (gp46) epitopes. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr, 1993. 6(10): p. 1162-7.
- 257. Murphy, E.L., et al., *Modelling the risk of adult T-cell leukemia/lymphoma in persons infected with human T-lymphotropic virus type I*. Int J Cancer, 1989. **43**(2): p. 250-3.
- 258. Kaplan, J.E., et al., The risk of development of HTLV-I-associated myelopathy/tropical spastic paraparesis among persons infected with HTLV-I. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr, 1990. 3(11): p. 1096-101.
- 259. Goncalves, D.U., et al., *Epidemiology, treatment, and prevention of human T-cell leukemia virus type 1-associated diseases.* Clin Microbiol Rev, 2010. **23**(3): p. 577-89.
- Fujino, T. and Y. Nagata, *HTLV-I transmission from mother to child*. J Reprod Immunol, 2000. 47(2): p. 197-206.
- 261. Osame, M., et al., *Nationwide survey of HTLV-I-associated myelopathy in Japan: association with blood transfusion*. Ann Neurol, 1990. **28**(1): p. 50-6.
- 262. Jason, J.M., et al., *Human T-cell leukemia virus (HTLV-I) p24 antibody in New York City blood product recipients*. Am J Hematol, 1985. **20**(2): p. 129-37.
- 263. Sato, H. and K. Okochi, Transmission of human T-cell leukemia virus (HTLV-I) by blood transfusion: demonstration of proviral DNA in recipients' blood lymphocytes. Int J Cancer, 1986. 37(3): p. 395-400.

- 264. Manns, A., et al., *A prospective study of transmission by transfusion of HTLV-I and risk factors associated with seroconversion*. Int J Cancer, 1992. **51**(6): p. 886-91.
- Donegan, E., et al., Transfusion transmission of retroviruses: human T-lymphotropic virus types I and II compared with human immunodeficiency virus type 1. Transfusion, 1994. 34(6): p. 478-83.
- 266. Donegan, E., et al., Transfusion of blood components from a donor with human Tlymphotropic virus type II (HTLV-II) infection. The Transfusion Safety Study Group. Ann Intern Med, 1990. 113(7): p. 555-6.
- 267. Larsen, O., et al., Prevalences of HTLV-1 infection and associated risk determinants in an urban population in Guinea-Bissau, West Africa. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr, 2000.
  25(2): p. 157-63.
- 268. Kajiyama, W., et al., *Intrafamilial transmission of adult T cell leukemia virus*. J Infect Dis, 1986. **154**(5): p. 851-7.
- 269. Wiktor, S.Z., et al., *Mother-to-child transmission of human T-cell lymphotropic virus type I associated with prolonged breast-feeding*. J Hum Virol, 1997. **1**(1): p. 37-44.
- 270. Tsuji, Y., et al., Prevention of mother-to-child transmission of human T-lymphotropic virus type-I. Pediatrics, 1990. **86**(1): p. 11-7.
- 271. Takezaki, T., et al., Short-term breast-feeding may reduce the risk of vertical transmission of HTLV-I. The Tsushima ATL Study Group. Leukemia, 1997. 11 Suppl 3: p. 60-2.
- 272. Li, H.C., et al., *Provirus load in breast milk and risk of mother-to-child transmission of human T lymphotropic virus type I*. J Infect Dis, 2004. **190**(7): p. 1275-8.
- 273. Paiva, A. and J. Casseb, Sexual transmission of human T-cell lymphotropic virus type 1. Rev Soc Bras Med Trop, 2014. 47(3): p. 265-74.

- 274. Pique, C. and K.S. Jones, *Pathways of cell-cell transmission of HTLV-1*. Front Microbiol, 2012. 3: p. 378.
- 275. Derse, D., et al., *Infectious transmission and replication of human T-cell leukemia virus type 1*. Front Biosci, 2004. **9**: p. 2495-9.
- 276. Derse, D., et al., *Examining human T-lymphotropic virus type 1 infection and replication by cell-free infection with recombinant virus vectors.* J Virol, 2001. **75**(18): p. 8461-8.
- 277. Fan, N., et al., *Infection of peripheral blood mononuclear cells and cell lines by cell-free human T-cell lymphoma/leukemia virus type I.* J Clin Microbiol, 1992. **30**(4): p. 905-10.
- 278. Alais, S., R. Mahieux, and H. Dutartre, Viral Source-Independent High Susceptibility of Dendritic Cells to Human T-Cell Leukemia Virus Type 1 Infection Compared to That of T Lymphocytes. J Virol, 2015. 89(20): p. 10580-90.
- 279. Yu, H.J., M.A. Reuter, and D. McDonald, *HIV traffics through a specialized, surface*accessible intracellular compartment during trans-infection of T cells by mature dendritic cells. PLoS Pathog, 2008. **4**(8): p. e1000134.
- 280. Martin-Latil, S., et al., *Transcytosis of HTLV-1 across a tight human epithelial barrier and infection of subepithelial dendritic cells*. Blood, 2012. **120**(3): p. 572-80.
- 281. Alfsen, A., et al., HIV-1-infected Blood Mononuclear Cells Form an Integrin- and Agrindependent Viral Synapse to Induce Efficient HIV-1 Transcytosis across Epithelial Cell Monolayer. Mol Biol Cell, 2005. 16(9): p. 4267-79.
- 282. Wattel, E., et al., Clonal expansion of infected cells: a way of life for HTLV-I. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr Hum Retrovirol, 1996. 13 Suppl 1: p. S92-9.
- 283. Miyazato, P., et al., De novo human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 infection of human lymphocytes in NOD-SCID, common gamma-chain knockout mice. J Virol, 2006. 80(21): p. 10683-91.

- 284. Taylor, G.P., et al., Zidovudine plus lamivudine in Human T-Lymphotropic Virus type-Iassociated myelopathy: a randomised trial. Retrovirology, 2006. **3**: p. 63.
- 285. Cook, L.B., et al., *Rapid dissemination of human T-lymphotropic virus type 1 during primary infection in transplant recipients*. Retrovirology, 2016. **13**: p. 3.
- 286. Takeda, S., et al., Genetic and epigenetic inactivation of tax gene in adult T-cell leukemia cells. Int J Cancer, 2004. 109(4): p. 559-67.
- 287. Taniguchi, Y., et al., *Silencing of human T-cell leukemia virus type I gene transcription by epigenetic mechanisms*. Retrovirology, 2005. **2**: p. 64.
- 288. Koiwa, T., et al., 5'-long terminal repeat-selective CpG methylation of latent human Tcell leukemia virus type 1 provirus in vitro and in vivo. J Virol, 2002. **76**(18): p. 9389-97.
- 289. Okayama, A., et al., *Role of HTLV-1 proviral DNA load and clonality in the development of adult T-cell leukemia/lymphoma in asymptomatic carriers*. Int J Cancer, 2004. 110(4): p. 621-5.
- 290. Gillet, N.A., et al., *The host genomic environment of the provirus determines the abundance of HTLV-1-infected T-cell clones.* Blood, 2011. **117**(11): p. 3113-22.
- 291. Bangham, C.R.M. and M. Matsuoka, *Human T-cell leukaemia virus type 1: parasitism and pathogenesis*. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci, 2017. **372**(1732).
- 292. Goon, P.K., et al., *Human T cell lymphotropic virus (HTLV) type-1-specific CD8+ T cells: frequency and immunodominance hierarchy.* J Infect Dis, 2004. **189**(12): p. 2294-8.
- 293. Hanon, E., et al., Abundant tax protein expression in CD4+ T cells infected with human T-cell lymphotropic virus type I (HTLV-I) is prevented by cytotoxic T lymphocytes. Blood, 2000. 95(4): p. 1386-92.
- 294. Kattan, T., et al., *The avidity and lytic efficiency of the CTL response to HTLV-1*. J Immunol, 2009. **182**(9): p. 5723-9.

- 295. Kannagi, M., et al., *Target epitope in the Tax protein of human T-cell leukemia virus type I recognized by class I major histocompatibility complex-restricted cytotoxic T cells.* J Virol, 1992. **66**(5): p. 2928-33.
- 296. Asquith, B., et al., *Is human T-cell lymphotropic virus type I really silent?* Philos Trans R
  Soc Lond B Biol Sci, 2000. 355(1400): p. 1013-9.
- 297. Billman, M.R., D. Rueda, and C.R.M. Bangham, *Single-cell heterogeneity and cell-cyclerelated viral gene bursts in the human leukaemia virus HTLV-1*. Wellcome Open Research, 2017. **2**: p. 87.
- 298. Nejmeddine, M., et al., *HTLV-1-Tax and ICAM-1 act on T-cell signal pathways to polarize the microtubule-organizing center at the virological synapse*. Blood, 2009. 114(5): p. 1016-25.
- 299. Barnard, A.L., et al., Engagement of specific T-cell surface molecules regulates cytoskeletal polarization in HTLV-1-infected lymphocytes. Blood, 2005. 106(3): p. 988-95.
- 300. Majorovits, E., et al., *Human T-lymphotropic virus-1 visualized at the virological synapse by electron tomography.* PLoS One, 2008. **3**(5): p. e2251.
- 301. Villari, G., et al., *A direct interaction between fascin and microtubules contributes to adhesion dynamics and cell migration.* J Cell Sci, 2015. **128**(24): p. 4601-14.
- 302. Hashimoto, Y., M. Skacel, and J.C. Adams, *Roles of fascin in human carcinoma motility and signaling: prospects for a novel biomarker?* Int J Biochem Cell Biol, 2005. **37**(9): p. 1787-804.
- 303. Gross, C. and A.K. Thoma-Kress, *Molecular Mechanisms of HTLV-1 Cell-to-Cell Transmission*. Viruses, 2016. **8**(3).
- 304. Tarasevich, A., et al., *Monoclonal antibody profiling of cell surface proteins associated with the viral biofilms on HTLV-1 transformed cells*. Acta Virol, 2015. **59**(3): p. 247-56.

- 305. Mazurov, D., et al., Role of O-glycosylation and expression of CD43 and CD45 on the surfaces of effector T cells in human T cell leukemia virus type 1 cell-to-cell infection. J Virol, 2012. 86(5): p. 2447-58.
- 306. Pais-Correia, A.M., et al., *Biofilm-like extracellular viral assemblies mediate HTLV-1 cell-to-cell transmission at virological synapses.* Nat Med, 2010. **16**(1): p. 83-9.
- 307. Ilinskaya, A., et al., *Cell-cell transmission allows human T-lymphotropic virus 1 to circumvent tetherin restriction*. Virology, 2013. **436**(1): p. 201-9.
- 308. Grassmann, R., et al., *Transformation to continuous growth of primary human T lymphocytes by human T-cell leukemia virus type I X-region genes transduced by a Herpesvirus saimiri vector*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1989. **86**(9): p. 3351-5.
- 309. Akagi, T., H. Ono, and K. Shimotohno, *Characterization of T cells immortalized by Tax1 of human T-cell leukemia virus type 1*. Blood, 1995. **86**(11): p. 4243-9.
- 310. Grossman, W.J., et al., *Development of leukemia in mice transgenic for the tax gene of human T-cell leukemia virus type I.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1995. **92**(4): p. 1057-61.
- 311. Shikishima, H., et al., HTLV-I pX transgenic rats: development of cytokine-producing mammary carcinomas and establishment of the pX mammary carcinoma cell lines. Leukemia, 1997. 11 Suppl 3: p. 70-2.
- 312. Romanelli, M.G., et al., *Highlights on distinctive structural and functional properties of HTLV Tax proteins*. Front Microbiol, 2013. **4**: p. 271.
- 313. Giam, C.Z. and Y.L. Xu, *HTLV-I tax gene product activates transcription via preexisting cellular factors and cAMP responsive element.* J Biol Chem, 1989. **264**(26): p. 15236-41.
- 314. Barnhart, M.K., L.M. Connor, and S.J. Marriott, *Function of the human T-cell leukemia* virus type 1 21-base-pair repeats in basal transcription. J Virol, 1997. **71**(1): p. 337-44.

- 315. Jin, D.Y. and K.T. Jeang, *HTLV-I Tax self-association in optimal trans-activation function*. Nucleic Acids Res, 1997. **25**(2): p. 379-87.
- 316. Lenzmeier, B.A., H.A. Giebler, and J.K. Nyborg, *Human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 Tax requires direct access to DNA for recruitment of CREB binding protein to the viral promoter.* Mol Cell Biol, 1998. **18**(2): p. 721-31.
- 317. Lenzmeier, B.A., et al., *The tax protein-DNA interaction is essential for HTLV-I transactivation in vitro*. J Mol Biol, 1999. **291**(4): p. 731-44.
- 318. Kimzey, A.L. and W.S. Dynan, Specific regions of contact between human T-cell leukemia virus type I Tax protein and DNA identified by photocross-linking. J Biol Chem, 1998. 273(22): p. 13768-75.
- 319. Lundblad, J.R., et al., *The human T-cell leukemia virus-1 transcriptional activator Tax* enhances cAMP-responsive element-binding protein (CREB) binding activity through interactions with the DNA minor groove. J Biol Chem, 1998. **273**(30): p. 19251-9.
- 320. Zhao, L.J. and C.Z. Giam, *Human T-cell lymphotropic virus type I (HTLV-I) transcriptional activator, Tax, enhances CREB binding to HTLV-I 21-base-pair repeats by protein-protein interaction.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1992. **89**(15): p. 7070-4.
- 321. Low, K.G., et al., Novel interactions between human T-cell leukemia virus type I Tax and activating transcription factor 3 at a cyclic AMP-responsive element. Mol Cell Biol, 1994. 14(7): p. 4958-74.
- Bantignies, F., et al., Genetic characterization of transactivation of the human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 promoter: Binding of Tax to Tax-responsive element 1 is mediated by the cyclic AMP-responsive members of the CREB/ATF family of transcription factors. Mol Cell Biol, 1996. 16(5): p. 2174-82.
- 323. Reddy, T.R., et al., Functional interaction of the HTLV-1 transactivator Tax with activating transcription factor-4 (ATF4). Oncogene, 1997. 14(23): p. 2785-92.

- 324. Franklin, A.A., et al., *Transactivation by the human T-cell leukemia virus Tax protein is mediated through enhanced binding of activating transcription factor-2 (ATF-2) ATF-2 response and cAMP element-binding protein (CREB).* J Biol Chem, 1993. **268**(28): p. 21225-31.
- 325. Ku, S.C., et al., XBP-1, a novel human T-lymphotropic virus type 1 (HTLV-1) tax binding protein, activates HTLV-1 basal and tax-activated transcription. J Virol, 2008. 82(9): p. 4343-53.
- 326. Perini, G., S. Wagner, and M.R. Green, *Recognition of bZIP proteins by the human T-cell leukaemia virus transactivator Tax.* Nature, 1995. **376**(6541): p. 602-5.
- 327. Yin, M.J. and R.B. Gaynor, *HTLV-1 21 bp repeat sequences facilitate stable association between Tax and CREB to increase CREB binding affinity*. J Mol Biol, 1996. 264(1): p. 20-31.
- 328. Lemasson, I., et al., *Transcription factor binding and histone modifications on the integrated proviral promoter in human T-cell leukemia virus-I-infected T-cells.* J Biol Chem, 2002. **277**(51): p. 49459-65.
- 329. Lemasson, I., et al., *Tax-dependent displacement of nucleosomes during transcriptional activation of human T-cell leukemia virus type 1*. J Biol Chem, 2006. 281(19): p. 13075-82.
- 330. Geiger, T.R., et al., The human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 tax protein confers CBP/p300 recruitment and transcriptional activation properties to phosphorylated CREB. Mol Cell Biol, 2008. 28(4): p. 1383-92.
- 331. Wagner, S. and M.R. Green, *HTLV-I Tax protein stimulation of DNA binding of bZIP proteins by enhancing dimerization*. Science, 1993. **262**(5132): p. 395-9.
- 332. Anderson, M.G. and W.S. Dynan, *Quantitative studies of the effect of HTLV-I Tax protein on CREB protein--DNA binding*. Nucleic Acids Res, 1994. **22**(15): p. 3194-201.

- 333. Paca-Uccaralertkun, S., et al., In vitro selection of DNA elements highly responsive to the human T-cell lymphotropic virus type I transcriptional activator, Tax. Mol Cell Biol, 1994. 14(1): p. 456-62.
- 334. Koga, H., T. Ohshima, and K. Shimotohno, *Enhanced activation of tax-dependent transcription of human T-cell leukemia virus type I (HTLV-I) long terminal repeat by TORC3*. J Biol Chem, 2004. **279**(51): p. 52978-83.
- 335. Siu, Y.T., et al., *TORC1 and TORC2 coactivators are required for tax activation of the human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 long terminal repeats.* J Virol, 2006. 80(14): p. 7052-9.
- 336. Jiang, S., et al., *Involvement of TORC2, a CREB co-activator, in the in vivo-specific transcriptional control of HTLV-1*. Retrovirology, 2009. **6**: p. 73.
- 337. Caron, C., et al., Human TAF(II)28 interacts with the human T cell leukemia virus type I Tax transactivator and promotes its transcriptional activity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1997. 94(8): p. 3662-7.
- 338. Clemens, K.E., et al., *Interaction of the human T-cell lymphotropic virus type 1 tax transactivator with transcription factor IIA*. Mol Cell Biol, 1996. **16**(9): p. 4656-64.
- Brady, J., et al., Identification of p40x-responsive regulatory sequences within the human
   *T-cell leukemia virus type I long terminal repeat.* J Virol, 1987. 61(7): p. 2175-81.
- 340. Wycuff, D.R., H.L. Yanites, and S.J. Marriott, *Identification of a functional serum response element in the HTLV-I LTR*. Virology, 2004. **324**(2): p. 540-53.
- 341. Shore, P. and A.D. Sharrocks, *The transcription factors Elk-1 and serum response factor interact by direct protein-protein contacts mediated by a short region of Elk-1*. Mol Cell Biol, 1994. 14(5): p. 3283-91.

- 342. Shuh, M. and D. Derse, *Ternary complex factors and cofactors are essential for human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 tax transactivation of the serum response element.* J Virol, 2000. 74(23): p. 11394-7.
- 343. Winter, H.Y. and S.J. Marriott, Human T-Cell Leukemia Virus Type 1 Tax Enhances Serum Response Factor DNA Binding and Alters Site Selection. J Virol, 2007. 81(11): p. 6089-98.
- Fujii, M., et al., Interaction of HTLV-1 Tax1 with p67SRF causes the aberrant induction of cellular immediate early genes through CArG boxes. Genes Dev, 1992. 6(11): p. 2066-76.
- 345. Fujii, M., et al., Identification of the Tax interaction region of serum response factor that mediates the aberrant induction of immediate early genes through CArG boxes by HTLV-I Tax. Oncogene, 1995. 11(1): p. 7-14.
- 346. Suzuki, T., et al., *A trans-activator Tax of human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 binds to NF-kappa B p50 and serum response factor (SRF) and associates with enhancer DNAs of the NF-kappa B site and CArG box.* Oncogene, 1993. **8**(9): p. 2391-7.
- 347. Matsumoto, K., et al., *Human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 Tax protein transforms rat fibroblasts via two distinct pathways.* J Virol, 1997. **71**(6): p. 4445-51.
- 348. Dittmer, J., et al., Interaction of human T-cell lymphotropic virus type I Tax, Ets1, and Sp1 in transactivation of the PTHrP P2 promoter. J Biol Chem, 1997. 272(8): p. 4953-8.
- 349. Forgacs, E., et al., *The bZIP Transcription Factor ATFx Binds Human T-Cell Leukemia* Virus Type 1 (HTLV-1) Tax and Represses HTLV-1 Long Terminal Repeat-Mediated Transcription. J Virol, 2005. **79**(11): p. 6932-9.
- 350. Persengiev, S.P., L.R. Devireddy, and M.R. Green, *Inhibition of apoptosis by ATFx: a novel role for a member of the ATF/CREB family of mammalian bZIP transcription factors*. Genes Dev, 2002. **16**(14): p. 1806-14.

- 351. Haoudi, A., et al., Human T-cell leukemia virus-I tax oncoprotein functionally targets a subnuclear complex involved in cellular DNA damage-response. J Biol Chem, 2003. 278(39): p. 37736-44.
- 352. Liang, M.H., et al., *Human T-lymphotropic virus type 1 oncoprotein tax promotes S-phase entry but blocks mitosis.* J Virol, 2002. **76**(8): p. 4022-33.
- 353. Dodon, M.D., et al., *Tax protein of human T-cell leukaemia virus type 1 induces interleukin 17 gene expression in T cells.* J Gen Virol, 2004. **85**(Pt 7): p. 1921-32.
- 354. de la Fuente, C., et al., *Involvement of HTLV-I Tax and CREB in aneuploidy: a bioinformatics approach*. Retrovirology, 2006. **3**: p. 43.
- 355. Akagi, T., et al., Characterization of peripheral blood T-lymphocytes transduced with HTLV-I Tax mutants with different trans-activating phenotypes. Oncogene, 1997. 14(17): p. 2071-8.
- 356. Robek, M.D. and L. Ratner, *Immortalization of CD4(+) and CD8(+) T lymphocytes by* human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 Tax mutants expressed in a functional molecular clone. J Virol, 1999. **73**(6): p. 4856-65.
- 357. Rosin, O., et al., *A human T-cell leukemia virus Tax variant incapable of activating NF-kappaB retains its immortalizing potential for primary T-lymphocytes.* J Biol Chem, 1998. **273**(12): p. 6698-703.
- 358. Persengiev, S.P. and M.R. Green, *The role of ATF/CREB family members in cell growth, survival and apoptosis*. Apoptosis, 2003. **8**(3): p. 225-8.
- 359. Alexandre, C., P. Charnay, and B. Verrier, *Transactivation of Krox-20 and Krox-24 promoters by the HTLV-1 Tax protein through common regulatory elements*. Oncogene, 1991. **6**(10): p. 1851-7.
- 360. Fujii, M., et al., *HTLV-1 Tax induces expression of various immediate early serum responsive genes.* Oncogene, 1991. **6**(6): p. 1023-9.

- 361. Alexandre, C. and B. Verrier, *Four regulatory elements in the human c-fos promoter mediate transactivation by HTLV-1 Tax protein.* Oncogene, 1991. **6**(4): p. 543-51.
- 362. Fujii, M., et al., Activation of oncogenic transcription factor AP-1 in T cells infected with human T cell leukemia virus type 1. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses, 2000. 16(16): p. 1603-6.
- 363. Kibler, K.V. and K.T. Jeang, *CREB/ATF-dependent repression of cyclin a by human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 Tax protein.* J Virol, 2001. **75**(5): p. 2161-73.
- 364. Mulloy, J.C., et al., Human T-cell lymphotropic/leukemia virus type 1 Tax abrogates p53induced cell cycle arrest and apoptosis through its CREB/ATF functional domain. J Virol, 1998. 72(11): p. 8852-60.
- 365. Nicot, C., et al., *Tax oncoprotein trans-represses endogenous B-myb promoter activity in human T cells*. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses, 2000. **16**(16): p. 1629-32.
- 366. Tabakin-Fix, Y., et al., Functional inactivation of p53 by human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 Tax protein: mechanisms and clinical implications. Carcinogenesis, 2006. 27(4): p. 673-81.
- 367. Ariumi, Y., et al., *HTLV-1 tax oncoprotein represses the p53-mediated trans-activation function through coactivator CBP sequestration*. Oncogene, 2000. **19**(12): p. 1491-9.
- 368. Zhang, J., et al., Human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 Tax modulates interferon-alpha signal transduction through competitive usage of the coactivator CBP/p300. Virology, 2008. 379(2): p. 306-13.
- 369. Riou, P., F. Bex, and L. Gazzolo, *The human T cell leukemia/lymphotropic virus type 1 Tax protein represses MyoD-dependent transcription by inhibiting MyoD-binding to the KIX domain of p300. A potential mechanism for Tax-mediated repression of the transcriptional activity of basic helix-loop-helix factors.* J Biol Chem, 2000. **275**(14): p. 10551-60.

- 370. Livengood, J.A., et al., *p53 Transcriptional activity is mediated through the SRC1interacting domain of CBP/p300.* J Biol Chem, 2002. **277**(11): p. 9054-61.
- 371. Sharma, N. and J.K. Nyborg, *The coactivators CBP/p300 and the histone chaperone* NAP1 promote transcription-independent nucleosome eviction at the HTLV-1 promoter. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2008. 105(23): p. 7959-63.
- 372. Bogenberger, J.M. and P.J. Laybourn, *Human T Lymphotropic Virus Type 1 protein Tax reduces histone levels*. Retrovirology, 2008. **5**: p. 9.
- Wu, K., et al., Protein profile of tax-associated complexes. J Biol Chem, 2004. 279(1): p. 495-508.
- 374. Van Duyne, R., et al., *Varying modulation of HIV-1 LTR activity by Baf complexes*. J Mol Biol, 2011. 411(3): p. 581-96.
- 375. Easley, R., et al., *Human T-lymphotropic virus type 1 transcription and chromatin*remodeling complexes. J Virol, 2010. **84**(9): p. 4755-68.
- 376. Boxus, M., et al., *Interaction of HTLV-1 Tax with minichromosome maintenance proteins accelerates the replication timing program.* Blood, 2012. **119**(1): p. 151-60.
- 377. Iwanaga, R., et al., Activation of the cyclin D2 and cdk6 genes through NF-kappaB is critical for cell-cycle progression induced by HTLV-I Tax. Oncogene, 2008. 27(42): p. 5635-42.
- 378. Neuveut, C., et al., *Human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 Tax and cell cycle progression: role of cyclin D-cdk and p110Rb.* Mol Cell Biol, 1998. **18**(6): p. 3620-32.
- 379. Schmitt, I., et al., *Stimulation of cyclin-dependent kinase activity and G1- to S-phase transition in human lymphocytes by the human T-cell leukemia/lymphotropic virus type 1 Tax protein.* J Virol, 1998. **72**(1): p. 633-40.

- 380. Haller, K., et al., Physical interaction of human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 Tax with cyclin-dependent kinase 4 stimulates the phosphorylation of retinoblastoma protein. Mol Cell Biol, 2002. 22(10): p. 3327-38.
- 381. Fraedrich, K., B. Muller, and R. Grassmann, *The HTLV-1 Tax protein binding domain of cyclin-dependent kinase 4 (CDK4) includes the regulatory PSTAIRE helix.* Retrovirology, 2005. 2: p. 54.
- 382. Suzuki, T., et al., HTLV-1 Tax protein interacts with cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p16INK4A and counteracts its inhibitory activity towards CDK4. Embo j, 1996. 15(7): p. 1607-14.
- 383. Suzuki, T. and M. Yoshida, HTLV-1 Tax protein interacts with cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p16Ink4a and counteracts its inhibitory activity to CDK4. Leukemia, 1997. 11 Suppl 3: p. 14-6.
- 384. Low, K.G., et al., *Human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 Tax releases cell cycle arrest induced by p16INK4a*. J Virol, 1997. **71**(3): p. 1956-62.
- 385. Kehn, K., et al., *The HTLV-I Tax oncoprotein targets the retinoblastoma protein for proteasomal degradation*. Oncogene, 2005. **24**(4): p. 525-40.
- 386. Bellon, M., et al., *HTLV-I Tax-dependent and -independent events associated with immortalization of human primary T lymphocytes.* Blood, 2010. **115**(12): p. 2441-8.
- 387. Park, H.U., et al., Human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 Tax interacts with Chk1 and attenuates DNA-damage induced G2 arrest mediated by Chk1. Oncogene, 2004. 23(29): p. 4966-74.
- 388. Park, H.U., et al., Human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 Tax attenuates gamma-irradiationinduced apoptosis through physical interaction with Chk2. Oncogene, 2006. 25(3): p. 438-47.

- 389. Currer, R., et al., *HTLV Tax: A Fascinating Multifunctional Co-Regulator of Viral and Cellular Pathways.* Front Microbiol, 2012. **3**.
- 390. Boxus, M., et al., The HTLV-1 Tax interactome. Retrovirology, 2008. 5: p. 76.
- 391. Jeang, K.T., et al., *HTLV-I trans-activator protein, tax, is a trans-repressor of the human beta-polymerase gene.* Science, 1990. **247**(4946): p. 1082-4.
- 392. Schavinsky-Khrapunsky, Y., E. Priel, and M. Aboud, Dose-dependent dual effect of HTLV-1 tax oncoprotein on p53-dependent nucleotide excision repair in human T-cells. Int J Cancer, 2008. 122(2): p. 305-16.
- Morimoto, H., et al., *Reduced expression of human mismatch repair genes in adult T-cell leukemia*. Am J Hematol, 2005. 78(2): p. 100-7.
- 394. Durkin, S.S., et al., *HTLV-1 Tax oncoprotein subverts the cellular DNA damage response via binding to DNA-dependent protein kinase.* J Biol Chem, 2008. **283**(52): p. 36311-20.
- 395. Chandhasin, C., et al., *Human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 tax attenuates the ATMmediated cellular DNA damage response.* J Virol, 2008. **82**(14): p. 6952-61.
- 396. Takahashi, M., et al., *HTLV-1 Tax oncoprotein stimulates ROS production and apoptosis in T cells by interacting with USP10.* Blood, 2013. **122**(5): p. 715-25.
- 397. Kinjo, T., et al., Induction of reactive oxygen species by human T-cell leukemia virus type I tax correlates with DNA damage and expression of cellular senescence marker. J Virol, 2010. 84(10): p. 5431-7.
- 398. Jin, D.Y., F. Spencer, and K.T. Jeang, *Human T cell leukemia virus type 1 oncoprotein Tax targets the human mitotic checkpoint protein MAD1*. Cell, 1998. **93**(1): p. 81-91.
- 399. Ching, Y.P., et al., *The retroviral oncoprotein Tax targets the coiled-coil centrosomal* protein *TAX1BP2 to induce centrosome overduplication*. Nat Cell Biol, 2006. **8**(7): p. 717-24.

- 400. Kasai, T., et al., *Prevalent loss of mitotic spindle checkpoint in adult T-cell leukemia confers resistance to microtubule inhibitors.* J Biol Chem, 2002. **277**(7): p. 5187-93.
- 401. Ishikawa, C., et al., Activation of AID by human T-cell leukemia virus Tax oncoprotein and the possible role of its constitutive expression in ATL genesis. Carcinogenesis, 2011.
  32(1): p. 110-9.
- 402. Miyazato, P. and M. Matsuoka, *Human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 and Foxp3 expression: viral strategy in vivo.* Int Immunol, 2014. **26**(8): p. 419-25.
- 403. Hyun, J., et al., Oncogenic human T-cell lymphotropic virus type 1 tax suppression of primary innate immune signaling pathways. J Virol, 2015. **89**(9): p. 4880-93.
- 404. Wang, J., et al., *HTLV-1 Tax impairs K63-linked ubiquitination of STING to evade host innate immunity*. Virus Res, 2017. **232**: p. 13-21.
- 405. Yuen, C.K., et al., Suppression of Type I Interferon Production by Human T-Cell Leukemia Virus Type 1 Oncoprotein Tax through Inhibition of IRF3 Phosphorylation. J Virol, 2016. 90(8): p. 3902-12.
- 406. Feng, X. and L. Ratner, *Human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 blunts signaling by interferon alpha.* Virology, 2008. **374**(1): p. 210-6.
- 407. Charoenthongtrakul, S., et al., Human T cell leukemia virus type 1 Tax inhibits innate antiviral signaling via NF-kappaB-dependent induction of SOCS1. J Virol, 2011. 85(14): p. 6955-62.
- 408. Oliere, S., et al., *HTLV-1 evades type I interferon antiviral signaling by inducing the suppressor of cytokine signaling 1 (SOCS1)*. PLoS Pathog, 2010. **6**(11): p. e1001177.
- 409. Petropoulos, L., R. Lin, and J. Hiscott, *Human T cell leukemia virus type 1 tax protein increases NF-kappa B dimer formation and antagonizes the inhibitory activity of the I kappa B alpha regulatory protein.* Virology, 1996. **225**(1): p. 52-64.

- 410. Beraud, C., et al., Human T-cell leukemia virus type I Tax associates with and is negatively regulated by the NF-kappa B2 p100 gene product: implications for viral latency. Mol Cell Biol, 1994. 14(2): p. 1374-82.
- 411. Lanoix, J., et al., Overproduction of NFKB2 (lyt-10) and c-Rel: a mechanism for HTLV-I Tax-mediated trans-activation via the NF-kappa B signalling pathway. Oncogene, 1994.
  9(3): p. 841-52.
- 412. Watanabe, M., et al., *Dual targeting of transformed and untransformed HTLV-1-infected T cells by DHMEQ, a potent and selective inhibitor of NF-kappaB, as a strategy for chemoprevention and therapy of adult T-cell leukemia.* Blood, 2005. **106**(7): p. 2462-71.
- 413. Shimizu, A., et al., Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus vFLIP and human T cell lymphotropic virus type 1 Tax oncogenic proteins activate IkappaB kinase subunit gamma by different mechanisms independent of the physiological cytokine-induced pathways. J Virol, 2011. **85**(14): p. 7444-8.
- 414. Harhaj, E.W. and S.C. Sun, *IKKgamma serves as a docking subunit of the IkappaB kinase (IKK) and mediates interaction of IKK with the human T-cell leukemia virus Tax protein.* J Biol Chem, 1999. **274**(33): p. 22911-4.
- 415. Jin, D.Y., et al., Role of adapter function in oncoprotein-mediated activation of NFkappaB. Human T-cell leukemia virus type I Tax interacts directly with IkappaB kinase gamma. J Biol Chem, 1999. **274**(25): p. 17402-5.
- 416. Chu, Z.L., et al., *IKKgamma mediates the interaction of cellular IkappaB kinases with the tax transforming protein of human T cell leukemia virus type 1*. J Biol Chem, 1999.
  274(22): p. 15297-300.
- 417. Xiao, G., E.W. Harhaj, and S.C. Sun, *Domain-specific interaction with the I kappa B kinase (IKK)regulatory subunit IKK gamma is an essential step in tax-mediated activation of IKK*. J Biol Chem, 2000. **275**(44): p. 34060-7.

- 418. Harhaj, N.S., S.C. Sun, and E.W. Harhaj, *Activation of NF-kappa B by the human T cell leukemia virus type I Tax oncoprotein is associated with ubiquitin-dependent relocalization of I kappa B kinase.* J Biol Chem, 2007. **282**(6): p. 4185-92.
- 419. Shibata, Y., et al., Activation of the IkappaB kinase complex by HTLV-1 Tax requires cytosolic factors involved in Tax-induced polyubiquitination. J Biochem, 2011. 150(6): p. 679-86.
- 420. Yasunaga, J., et al., Ubiquitin-specific peptidase 20 targets TRAF6 and human T cell leukemia virus type 1 tax to negatively regulate NF-kappaB signaling. J Virol, 2011.
  85(13): p. 6212-9.
- 421. Shibata, Y., et al., *HTLV-1 Tax Induces Formation of the Active Macromolecular IKK Complex by Generating Lys63- and Met1-Linked Hybrid Polyubiquitin Chains.* PLoS Pathog, 2017. **13**(1): p. e1006162.
- 422. Wang, C., et al., *HTLV-1 Tax Functions as a Ubiquitin E3 Ligase for Direct IKK Activation via Synthesis of Mixed-Linkage Polyubiquitin Chains*. PLoS Pathog, 2016.
  12(4): p. e1005584.
- 423. O'Mahony, A.M., et al., Human T-cell lymphotropic virus type 1 tax induction of biologically Active NF-kappaB requires IkappaB kinase-1-mediated phosphorylation of RelA/p65. J Biol Chem, 2004. 279(18): p. 18137-45.
- 424. Xiao, G. and S.C. Sun, Activation of IKKalpha and IKKbeta through their fusion with HTLV-I tax protein. Oncogene, 2000. **19**(45): p. 5198-203.
- 425. Chu, Z.L., et al., *The tax oncoprotein of human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 associates with and persistently activates IkappaB kinases containing IKKalpha and IKKbeta*. J Biol Chem, 1998. **273**(26): p. 15891-4.
- 426. Qu, Z. and G. Xiao, *Human T-Cell Lymphotropic Virus: A Model of NF-κB-Associated Tumorigenesis.* Viruses, 2011. **3**(6): p. 714-49.

- 427. Choi, Y.B. and E.W. Harhaj, *HTLV-1 tax stabilizes MCL-1 via TRAF6-dependent K63-linked polyubiquitination to promote cell survival and transformation*. PLoS Pathog, 2014. 10(10): p. e1004458.
- 428. Ho, Y.K., et al., *HTLV-1 Tax Stimulates Ubiquitin E3 Ligase, Ring Finger Protein 8, to Assemble Lysine 63-Linked Polyubiquitin Chains for TAK1 and IKK Activation.* PLoS Pathog, 2015. **11**(8): p. e1005102.
- 429. Yu, Q., et al., *HTLV-1 Tax-mediated TAK1 activation involves TAB2 adapter protein*.
  Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 2008. 365(1): p. 189-94.
- 430. Yin, M.J., et al., *HTLV-I Tax protein binds to MEKK1 to stimulate IkappaB kinase activity and NF-kappaB activation*. Cell, 1998. **93**(5): p. 875-84.
- 431. Wu, X. and S.C. Sun, *Retroviral oncoprotein Tax deregulates NF-kappaB by activating Tak1 and mediating the physical association of Tak1-IKK*. EMBO Rep, 2007. **8**(5): p. 510-5.
- 432. Gohda, J., et al., *HTLV-1 Tax-induced NFkappaB activation is independent of Lys-63linked-type polyubiquitination.* Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 2007. **357**(1): p. 225-30.
- 433. Suzuki, S., et al., Constitutive activation of TAK1 by HTLV-1 tax-dependent overexpression of TAB2 induces activation of JNK-ATF2 but not IKK-NF-kappaB. J Biol Chem, 2007. 282(35): p. 25177-81.
- 434. Suzuki, S., et al., *Human T cell lymphotropic virus 1 manipulates interferon regulatory signals by controlling the TAK1-IRF3 and IRF4 pathways.* J Biol Chem, 2010. **285**(7): p. 4441-6.
- 435. Suzuki, T., et al., *Tax protein of HTLV-1 destabilizes the complexes of NF-kappa B and I kappa B-alpha and induces nuclear translocation of NF-kappa B for transcriptional activation*. Oncogene, 1995. **10**(6): p. 1199-207.

- 436. Hirai, H., et al., Tax protein of human T-cell leukemia virus type I binds to the ankyrin motifs of inhibitory factor kappa B and induces nuclear translocation of transcription factor NF-kappa B proteins for transcriptional activation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1994. 91(9): p. 3584-8.
- 437. Higuchi, M., et al., Cooperation of NF-kappaB2/p100 activation and the PDZ domain binding motif signal in human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 (HTLV-1) Tax1 but not HTLV-2 Tax2 is crucial for interleukin-2-independent growth transformation of a T-cell line. J Virol, 2007. 81(21): p. 11900-7.
- 438. Xiao, G., et al., *Retroviral oncoprotein Tax induces processing of NF-kappaB2/p100 in T cells: evidence for the involvement of IKKalpha*. Embo j, 2001. **20**(23): p. 6805-15.
- 439. Murakami, T., et al., *HTLV-1 Tax enhances NF-kappa B2 expression and binds to the products p52 and p100, but does not suppress the inhibitory function of p100.* Virology, 1995. 206(2): p. 1066-74.
- 440. Suzuki, T., H. Hirai, and M. Yoshida, *Tax protein of HTLV-1 interacts with the Rel homology domain of NF-kappa B p65 and c-Rel proteins bound to the NF-kappa B binding site and activates transcription.* Oncogene, 1994. **9**(11): p. 3099-105.
- 441. Hirai, H., et al., *Transcriptional activator Tax of HTLV-1 binds to the NF-kappa B precursor p105.* Oncogene, 1992. **7**(9): p. 1737-42.
- 442. Lamsoul, I., et al., *Exclusive ubiquitination and sumoylation on overlapping lysine residues mediate NF-kappaB activation by the human T-cell leukemia virus tax oncoprotein.* Mol Cell Biol, 2005. **25**(23): p. 10391-406.
- 443. Azran, I., K.T. Jeang, and M. Aboud, *High levels of cytoplasmic HTLV-1 Tax mutant proteins retain a Tax-NF-kappaB-CBP ternary complex in the cytoplasm.* Oncogene, 2005. 24(28): p. 4521-30.
- 444. Ballard, D.W., et al., *HTLV-I tax induces cellular proteins that activate the kappa B element in the IL-2 receptor alpha gene*. Science, 1988. **241**(4873): p. 1652-5.

- 445. Ruben, S., et al., Cellular transcription factors and regulation of IL-2 receptor gene expression by HTLV-I tax gene product. Science, 1988. **241**(4861): p. 89-92.
- 446. McGuire, K.L., et al., Influence of human T-cell leukemia virus type I tax and rex on interleukin-2 gene expression. J Virol, 1993. 67(3): p. 1590-9.
- 447. Good, L., S.B. Maggirwar, and S.C. Sun, *Activation of the IL-2 gene promoter by HTLV-I tax involves induction of NF-AT complexes bound to the CD28-responsive element*. Embo j, 1996. 15(14): p. 3744-50.
- 448. Leung, K. and G.J. Nabel, *HTLV-1 transactivator induces interleukin-2 receptor expression through an NF-kappa B-like factor*. Nature, 1988. **333**(6175): p. 776-8.
- 449. Mizuguchi, M., et al., *Transcriptional activation of the interleukin-21 gene and its receptor gene by human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 Tax in human T-cells*. J Biol Chem, 2009. **284**(38): p. 25501-11.
- 450. Silbermann, K., G. Schneider, and R. Grassmann, *Stimulation of interleukin-13* expression by human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 oncoprotein Tax via a dually active promoter element responsive to NF-kappaB and NFAT. J Gen Virol, 2008. **89**(Pt 11): p. 2788-98.
- 451. Lavorgna, A., M. Matsuoka, and E.W. Harhaj, A critical role for IL-17RB signaling in HTLV-1 tax-induced NF-kappaB activation and T-cell transformation. PLoS Pathog, 2014. 10(10): p. e1004418.
- 452. Kress, A.K., et al., *The tumor marker Fascin is strongly induced by the Tax oncoprotein of HTLV-1 through NF-kappaB signals*. Blood, 2011. **117**(13): p. 3609-12.
- 453. Arainga, M., H. Murakami, and Y. Aida, Visualizing spatiotemporal dynamics of apoptosis after G1 arrest by human T cell leukemia virus type 1 Tax and insights into gene expression changes using microarray-based gene expression analysis. BMC Genomics, 2012. **13**: p. 275.

- 454. Horiuchi, S., et al., *Human T-cell leukemia virus type-I Tax induces expression of interleukin-6 receptor (IL-6R): Shedding of soluble IL-6R and activation of STAT3 signaling.* Int J Cancer, 2006. **119**(4): p. 823-30.
- 455. Fuggetta, M.P., et al., *Downregulation of proinflammatory cytokines in HTLV-1-infected T cells by Resveratrol.* J Exp Clin Cancer Res, 2016. **35**.
- 456. Ichim, G. and S.W. Tait, *A fate worse than death: apoptosis as an oncogenic process.* Nat Rev Cancer, 2016. **16**(8): p. 539-48.
- 457. Sugahara, K., et al., *Possible attenuation of fas-mediated signaling by dominant expression of caspase-8 aberrant isoform in adult T-cell leukemia cells*. Int J Hematol, 2002. **76**(1): p. 50-4.
- 458. Okamoto, K., et al., *Human T-cell leukemia virus type-I oncoprotein Tax inhibits Fasmediated apoptosis by inducing cellular FLIP through activation of NF-kappaB*. Genes Cells, 2006. **11**(2): p. 177-91.
- 459. Krueger, A., et al., *HTLV-1 Tax protects against CD95-mediated apoptosis by induction of the cellular FLICE-inhibitory protein (c-FLIP).* Blood, 2006. **107**(10): p. 3933-9.
- 460. Kawakami, A., et al., *Inhibition of caspase cascade by HTLV-I tax through induction of NF-kappaB nuclear translocation*. Blood, 1999. **94**(11): p. 3847-54.
- 461. Deveraux, Q.L., et al., *Cleavage of human inhibitor of apoptosis protein XIAP results in fragments with distinct specificities for caspases.* Embo j, 1999. **18**(19): p. 5242-51.
- 462. Zane, L., et al., *Clonal expansion of HTLV-1 positive CD8+ cells relies on cIAP-2 but not on c-FLIP expression*. Virology, 2010. **407**(2): p. 341-51.
- 463. Shembade, N., et al., *The E3 ligase Itch negatively regulates inflammatory signaling pathways by controlling the function of the ubiquitin-editing enzyme A20.* Nat Immunol, 2008. 9(3): p. 254-62.
- 464. Saitoh, Y., et al., A20 targets caspase-8 and FADD to protect HTLV-I-infected cells. Leukemia, 2016. **30**(3): p. 716-27.
- 465. Tsukahara, T., et al., Induction of Bcl-x(L) expression by human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 Tax through NF-kappaB in apoptosis-resistant T-cell transfectants with Tax. J Virol, 1999. **73**(10): p. 7981-7.
- 466. Macaire, H., et al., Tax protein-induced expression of antiapoptotic Bfl-1 protein contributes to survival of human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 (HTLV-1)-infected T-cells. J Biol Chem, 2012. 287(25): p. 21357-70.
- 467. Brauweiler, A., et al., *Repression of bax gene expression by the HTLV-1 Tax protein: implications for suppression of apoptosis in virally infected cells*. Virology, 1997. 231(1): p. 135-40.
- 468. Smith, M.R. and W.C. Greene, *Characterization of a novel nuclear localization signal in the HTLV-I tax transactivator protein.* Virology, 1992. **187**(1): p. 316-20.
- 469. Semmes, O.J. and K.T. Jeang, *Localization of human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 tax to subnuclear compartments that overlap with interchromatin speckles.* J Virol, 1996. 70(9): p. 6347-57.
- 470. Bex, F., et al., The human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 transactivator protein Tax colocalizes in unique nuclear structures with NF-kappaB proteins. J Virol, 1997. 71(5): p. 3484-97.
- 471. Fryrear, K.A., et al., *Dimerization and a novel Tax speckled structure localization signal are required for Tax nuclear localization*. J Virol, 2009. **83**(11): p. 5339-52.
- 472. Gatza, M.L., T. Dayaram, and S.J. Marriott, Ubiquitination of HTLV-I Tax in response to DNA damage regulates nuclear complex formation and nuclear export. Retrovirology, 2007. 4: p. 95.

- 473. Fryrear, K.A., et al., *The Sumo-targeted ubiquitin ligase RNF4 regulates the localization and function of the HTLV-1 oncoprotein Tax.* Blood, 2012. **119**(5): p. 1173-81.
- 474. Tsuji, T., et al., *The nuclear import of the human T lymphotropic virus type I (HTLV-1)* tax protein is carrier- and energy-independent. J Biol Chem, 2007. **282**(18): p. 13875-83.
- 475. Yan, P., et al., *PDLIM2 suppresses human T-cell leukemia virus type I Tax-mediated tumorigenesis by targeting Tax into the nuclear matrix for proteasomal degradation.* Blood, 2009. **113**(18): p. 4370-80.
- 476. Shembade, N., et al., *The human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 Tax oncoprotein requires the ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme Ubc13 for NF-kappaB activation*. J Virol, 2007.
  81(24): p. 13735-42.
- 477. Journo, C., et al., NRP/Optineurin Cooperates with TAX1BP1 to potentiate the activation of NF-kappaB by human T-lymphotropic virus type 1 tax protein. PLoS Pathog, 2009. 5(7): p. e1000521.
- 478. Pujari, R., et al., Human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 (HTLV-1) tax requires CADM1/TSLC1 for inactivation of the NF-kappaB inhibitor A20 and constitutive NF-kappaB signaling. PLoS Pathog, 2015. **11**(3): p. e1004721.
- 479. Lavorgna, A. and E.W. Harhaj, Regulation of HTLV-1 Tax Stability, Cellular Trafficking and NF-κB Activation by the Ubiquitin-Proteasome Pathway. Viruses, 2014. 6(10): p. 3925-43.
- 480. Lodewick, J., et al., Acetylation of the human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 Tax oncoprotein by p300 promotes activation of the NF-kappaB pathway. Virology, 2009.
  386(1): p. 68-78.
- 481. Lodewick, J., et al., Acetylation at lysine 346 controls the transforming activity of the HTLV-1 Tax oncoprotein in the Rat-1 fibroblast model. Retrovirology, 2013. 10: p. 75.

- 482. Durkin, S.S., et al., Site-specific phosphorylation differentiates active from inactive forms of the human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 Tax oncoprotein. J Biol Chem, 2006. 281(42): p. 31705-12.
- 483. Bex, F., et al., *Phosphorylation of the human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 transactivator tax on adjacent serine residues is critical for tax activation*. J Virol, 1999. **73**(1): p. 738-45.
- 484. Miyazaki, M., et al., *Preferential selection of human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 provirus lacking the 5' long terminal repeat during oncogenesis.* J Virol, 2007. **81**(11): p. 5714-23.
- 485. Furukawa, Y., et al., *Existence of escape mutant in HTLV-I tax during the development of adult T-cell leukemia*. Blood, 2001. **97**(4): p. 987-93.
- 486. Tamiya, S., et al., *Two types of defective human T-lymphotropic virus type I provirus in adult T-cell leukemia.* Blood, 1996. **88**(8): p. 3065-73.
- 487. Asquith, B., et al., *In vivo T lymphocyte dynamics in humans and the impact of human T-lymphotropic virus 1 infection.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2007. **104**(19): p. 8035-40.
- 488. Saito, M., et al., *In vivo expression of the HBZ gene of HTLV-1 correlates with proviral load, inflammatory markers and disease severity in HTLV-1 associated myelopathy/tropical spastic paraparesis (HAM/TSP).* Retrovirology, 2009. **6**: p. 19.
- 489. Suemori, K., et al., *HBZ is an immunogenic protein, but not a target antigen for human T-cell leukemia virus type 1-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes.* J Gen Virol, 2009. 90(Pt 8): p. 1806-11.
- 490. Rowan, A.G., et al., Cytotoxic T lymphocyte lysis of HTLV-1 infected cells is limited by weak HBZ protein expression, but non-specifically enhanced on induction of Tax expression. Retrovirology, 2014. **11**: p. 116.
- 491. Sugata, K., et al., *Protective effect of cytotoxic T lymphocytes targeting HTLV-1 bZIP factor*. Blood, 2015. **126**(9): p. 1095-105.

- 492. Arnold, J., et al., Enhancement of infectivity and persistence in vivo by HBZ, a natural antisense coded protein of HTLV-1. Blood, 2006. **107**(10): p. 3976-82.
- 493. Arnold, J., et al., *Human T-cell leukemia virus type-1 antisense-encoded gene, Hbz, promotes T-lymphocyte proliferation.* Blood, 2008. **112**(9): p. 3788-97.
- 494. Satou, Y., et al., *HTLV-I basic leucine zipper factor gene mRNA supports proliferation of adult T cell leukemia cells.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2006. **103**(3): p. 720-5.
- 495. Macnamara, A., et al., *HLA class I binding of HBZ determines outcome in HTLV-1 infection.* PLoS Pathog, 2010. **6**(9): p. e1001117.
- 496. Hilburn, S., et al., *In vivo expression of human T-lymphotropic virus type 1 basic leucinezipper protein generates specific CD8+ and CD4+ T-lymphocyte responses that correlate with clinical outcome.* J Infect Dis, 2011. **203**(4): p. 529-36.
- 497. Yoshida, M., et al., *Transcriptional control of spliced and unspliced human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 bZIP factor (HBZ) gene.* J Virol, 2008. **82**(19): p. 9359-68.
- 498. Usui, T., et al., Characteristic expression of HTLV-1 basic zipper factor (HBZ) transcripts in HTLV-1 provirus-positive cells. Retrovirology, 2008. 5: p. 34.
- 499. Landry, S., et al., Upregulation of human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 antisense transcription by the viral tax protein. J Virol, 2009. **83**(4): p. 2048-54.
- 500. Lemasson, I., et al., *Human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 (HTLV-1) bZIP protein interacts with the cellular transcription factor CREB to inhibit HTLV-1 transcription.* J Virol, 2007. **81**(4): p. 1543-53.
- 501. Clerc, I., et al., An interaction between the human T cell leukemia virus type 1 basic leucine zipper factor (HBZ) and the KIX domain of p300/CBP contributes to the downregulation of tax-dependent viral transcription by HBZ. J Biol Chem, 2008. 283(35): p. 23903-13.

- 502. Cook, P.R., N. Polakowski, and I. Lemasson, *HTLV-1 HBZ protein deregulates interactions between cellular factors and the KIX domain of p300/CBP*. J Mol Biol, 2011.
  409(3): p. 384-98.
- 503. Philip, S., et al., *Regulation of human T-lymphotropic virus type I latency and reactivation by HBZ and Rex.* PLoS Pathog, 2014. **10**(4): p. e1004040.
- 504. Mitobe, Y., et al., *HTLV-1 bZIP Factor RNA and Protein Impart Distinct Functions on T-cell Proliferation and Survival.* Cancer Res, 2015. **75**(19): p. 4143-52.
- 505. Kawakami, H., et al., *Transcriptional activation of survivin through the NF-kappaB* pathway by human T-cell leukemia virus type I tax. Int J Cancer, 2005. **115**(6): p. 967-74.
- 506. Mori, N., et al., *Expression of survivin in HTLV-I-infected T-cell lines and primary ATL cells*. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 2001. **282**(5): p. 1110-3.
- 507. Kawatsuki, A., et al., *HTLV-1 bZIP factor protein targets the Rb/E2F-1 pathway to promote proliferation and apoptosis of primary CD4(+) T cells*. Oncogene, 2016. 35(34): p. 4509-17.
- 508. Zhao, T., et al., *Human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 bZIP factor selectively suppresses the classical pathway of NF-kappaB.* Blood, 2009. **113**(12): p. 2755-64.
- 509. Zhi, H., et al., *NF-kappaB hyper-activation by HTLV-1 tax induces cellular senescence, but can be alleviated by the viral anti-sense protein HBZ.* PLoS Pathog, 2011. 7(4): p. e1002025.
- 510. Liu, B., et al., Human T-lymphotropic virus type 1 oncoprotein tax promotes unscheduled degradation of Pds1p/securin and Clb2p/cyclin B1 and causes chromosomal instability. Mol Cell Biol, 2003. 23(15): p. 5269-81.
- 511. Liu, B., et al., *HTLV-I Tax directly binds the Cdc20-associated anaphase-promoting complex and activates it ahead of schedule*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2005. 102(1): p. 63-8.

- 512. Kuo, Y.L. and C.Z. Giam, *Activation of the anaphase promoting complex by HTLV-1 tax leads to senescence*. Embo j, 2006. **25**(8): p. 1741-52.
- 513. Zhang, L., et al., Induction of p21(CIP1/WAF1) expression by human T-lymphotropic virus type 1 Tax requires transcriptional activation and mRNA stabilization. Retrovirology, 2009. 6: p. 35.
- 514. Cereseto, A., et al., *Limiting amounts of p27Kip1 correlates with constitutive activation of cyclin E-CDK2 complex in HTLV-I-transformed T-cells*. Oncogene, 1999. 18(15): p. 2441-50.
- 515. Shimauchi, T., et al., Augmented expression of programmed death-1 in both neoplastic and non-neoplastic CD4+ T-cells in adult T-cell leukemia/lymphoma. Int J Cancer, 2007. 121(12): p. 2585-90.
- 516. Kozako, T., et al., *PD-1/PD-L1 expression in human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 carriers and adult T-cell leukemia/lymphoma patients*. Leukemia, 2009. **23**(2): p. 375-82.
- 517. Yasuma, K., et al., HTLV-1 bZIP Factor Impairs Anti-viral Immunity by Inducing Coinhibitory Molecule, T Cell Immunoglobulin and ITIM Domain (TIGIT). PLoS Pathogens, 2016. 12(1): p. e1005372.
- 518. Kinosada, H., et al., *HTLV-1 bZIP Factor Enhances T-Cell Proliferation by Impeding the Suppressive Signaling of Co-inhibitory Receptors*. PLoS Pathog, 2017. 13(1): p. e1006120.
- 519. Yamano, Y., et al., Increased expression of human T lymphocyte virus type I (HTLV-I) Tax11-19 peptide-human histocompatibility leukocyte antigen A\*201 complexes on CD4+ CD25+ T Cells detected by peptide-specific, major histocompatibility complexrestricted antibodies in patients with HTLV-I-associated neurologic disease. J Exp Med, 2004. 199(10): p. 1367-77.
- 520. Hattori, T., et al., Surface phenotype of Japanese adult T-cell leukemia cells characterized by monoclonal antibodies. Blood, 1981. **58**(3): p. 645-7.

- 521. Uchiyama, T., et al., Interleukin-2 receptor (Tac antigen) expressed on adult T cell leukemia cells. J Clin Invest, 1985. **76**(2): p. 446-53.
- 522. Khattri, R., et al., *An essential role for Scurfin in CD4+CD25+ T regulatory cells*. Nat Immunol, 2003. **4**(4): p. 337-42.
- 523. Fontenot, J.D., M.A. Gavin, and A.Y. Rudensky, *Foxp3 programs the development and function of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells*. Nat Immunol, 2003. **4**(4): p. 330-6.
- 524. Hori, S., T. Nomura, and S. Sakaguchi, *Control of regulatory T cell development by the transcription factor Foxp3*. Science, 2003. **299**(5609): p. 1057-61.
- 525. Massague, J., S.W. Blain, and R.S. Lo, *TGFbeta signaling in growth control, cancer, and heritable disorders*. Cell, 2000. **103**(2): p. 295-309.
- 526. Zhou, X., et al., *Instability of the transcription factor Foxp3 leads to the generation of pathogenic memory T cells in vivo*. Nat Immunol, 2009. **10**(9): p. 1000-7.
- 527. Curotto de Lafaille, M.A. and J.J. Lafaille, *Natural and adaptive foxp3+ regulatory T cells: more of the same or a division of labor?* Immunity, 2009. **30**(5): p. 626-35.
- 528. Grant, C., et al., *Dysregulation of TGF-beta signaling and regulatory and effector T-cell function in virus-induced neuroinflammatory disease*. Blood, 2008. **111**(12): p. 5601-9.
- 529. Lee, D.K., et al., Human T-cell lymphotropic virus type 1 tax inhibits transforming growth factor-beta signaling by blocking the association of Smad proteins with Smadbinding element. J Biol Chem, 2002. 277(37): p. 33766-75.
- 530. Arnulf, B., et al., Human T-cell lymphotropic virus oncoprotein Tax represses TGF-beta I signaling in human T cells via c-Jun activation: a potential mechanism of HTLV-I leukemogenesis. Blood, 2002. **100**(12): p. 4129-38.
- 531. Yamano, Y., et al., *Virus-induced dysfunction of CD4(+)CD25(+) T cells in patients with HTLV-I–associated neuroimmunological disease*. J Clin Invest, 2005. **115**(5): p. 1361-8.

- 532. Karube, K., et al., *Expression of FoxP3, a key molecule in CD4CD25 regulatory T cells, in adult T-cell leukaemia/lymphoma cells.* Br J Haematol, 2004. **126**(1): p. 81-4.
- 533. Toulza, F., et al., *FoxP3+ regulatory T cells are distinct from leukemia cells in HTLV-1associated adult T-cell leukemia.* Int J Cancer, 2009. **125**(10): p. 2375-82.
- 534. Satou, Y., et al., *HTLV-1 bZIP factor induces T-cell lymphoma and systemic inflammation in vivo.* PLoS Pathog, 2011. 7(2): p. e1001274.
- 535. Zhao, T., et al., *HTLV-1 bZIP factor enhances TGF-beta signaling through p300 coactivator*. Blood, 2011. **118**(7): p. 1865-76.
- 536. Bruder, D., et al., *Neuropilin-1: a surface marker of regulatory T cells*. Eur J Immunol, 2004. **34**(3): p. 623-630.
- 537. Yamamoto-Taguchi, N., et al., *HTLV-1 bZIP factor induces inflammation through labile Foxp3 expression*. PLoS Pathog, 2013. **9**(9): p. e1003630.
- 538. Satou, Y., et al., *HTLV-1 modulates the frequency and phenotype of FoxP3+CD4+ T cells in virus-infected individuals.* Retrovirology, 2012. **9**: p. 46.
- 539. Shimazu, Y., et al., *Hypomethylation of the Treg-Specific Demethylated Region in FOXP3 Is a Hallmark of the Regulatory T-cell Subtype in Adult T-cell Leukemia.* Cancer Immunol Res, 2016. **4**(2): p. 136-45.
- 540. Chen, S., et al., *Regulatory T cell-like activity of Foxp3+ adult T cell leukemia cells*. Int Immunol, 2006. **18**(2): p. 269-77.
- 541. Matsubar, Y., et al., *Delineation of immunoregulatory properties of adult T-cell leukemia cells*. Int J Hematol, 2006. **84**(1): p. 63-9.
- 542. Shimauchi, T., K. Kabashima, and Y. Tokura, *Adult T-cell leukemia/lymphoma cells from blood and skin tumors express cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen-4 and Foxp3*

*but lack suppressor activity toward autologous CD8+ T cells*. Cancer Sci, 2008. **99**(1): p. 98-106.

- 543. Toulza, F., et al., Human T-lymphotropic virus type 1-induced CC chemokine ligand 22 maintains a high frequency of functional FoxP3+ regulatory T cells. J Immunol, 2010. 185(1): p. 183-9.
- 544. Hieshima, K., et al., *Tax-inducible production of CC chemokine ligand 22 by human T cell leukemia virus type 1 (HTLV-1)-infected T cells promotes preferential transmission of HTLV-1 to CCR4-expressing CD4+ T cells.* J Immunol, 2008. **180**(2): p. 931-9.
- 545. Toulza, F., et al., *High frequency of CD4+FoxP3+ cells in HTLV-1 infection: inverse correlation with HTLV-1-specific CTL response.* Blood, 2008. **111**(10): p. 5047-53.
- 546. Ma, G., et al., *HTLV-1 bZIP factor dysregulates the Wnt pathways to support proliferation and migration of adult T-cell leukemia cells.* Oncogene, 2013. **32**(36): p. 4222-30.
- 547. Sugata, K., et al., *HTLV-1 Viral Factor HBZ Induces CCR4 to Promote T-cell Migration and Proliferation.* Cancer Res, 2016. **76**(17): p. 5068-79.
- 548. Narulla, M.S., et al., *Positive and Negative Regulation of Type I Interferons by the Human T Cell Leukemia Virus Antisense Protein HBZ*. Journal of Virology, 2017. **91**(20).
- 549. Kuhlmann, A.S., et al., *HTLV-1 HBZ cooperates with JunD to enhance transcription of the human telomerase reverse transcriptase gene (hTERT)*. Retrovirology, 2007. **4**: p. 92.
- 550. Wright, D.G., et al., Human T-cell leukemia virus type-1-encoded protein HBZ represses p53 function by inhibiting the acetyltransferase activity of p300/CBP and HBO1. Oncotarget, 2016. 7(2): p. 1687-706.
- 551. Terol, M., et al., *HBZ-mediated shift of JunD from growth suppressor to tumor promoter in leukemic cells by inhibition of ribosomal protein S25 expression*. Leukemia, 2017. 31: p. 2235.

- 552. Hagiya, K., et al., *ATF3, an HTLV-1 bZip factor binding protein, promotes proliferation of adult T-cell leukemia cells.* Retrovirology, 2011. **8**: p. 19.
- 553. Ma, Y., et al., *The HTLV-1 HBZ protein inhibits cyclin D1 expression through interacting* with the cellular transcription factor CREB. Mol Biol Rep, 2013. **40**(10): p. 5967-75.
- 554. Wurm, T., et al., *The HTLV-1-encoded protein HBZ directly inhibits the acetyl transferase activity of p300/CBP*. Nucleic Acids Res, 2012. **40**(13): p. 5910-25.
- 555. Borowiak, M., et al., HTLV-1 bZIP factor impedes the menin tumor suppressor and upregulates JunD-mediated transcription of the hTERT gene. Carcinogenesis, 2013.
  34(11): p. 2664-72.
- 556. Hivin, P., et al., *The HBZ-SP1 isoform of human T-cell leukemia virus type I represses JunB activity by sequestration into nuclear bodies*. Retrovirology, 2007. **4**: p. 14.
- 557. Thebault, S., et al., *HBZ interacts with JunD and stimulates its transcriptional activity*. FEBS Lett, 2004. **562**(1-3): p. 165-70.
- 558. White, K.N., et al., *The nucleolar localisation signal of the HTLV-I protein p27rex is important for stabilisation of IL-2 receptor alpha subunit mRNA by p27rex.* Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 1991. **175**(1): p. 98-103.
- 559. Derse, D., J. Mikovits, and F. Ruscetti, *X-I and X-II open reading frames of HTLV-I are not required for virus replication or for immortalization of primary T-cells in vitro*. Virology, 1997. **237**(1): p. 123-8.
- 560. Robek, M.D., F.H. Wong, and L. Ratner, *Human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 pX-I and pX-II open reading frames are dispensable for the immortalization of primary lymphocytes.* J Virol, 1998. **72**(5): p. 4458-62.
- 561. Baydoun, H.H., M. Bellon, and C. Nicot, *HTLV-1 Yin and Yang: Rex and p30 Master Regulators of Viral mRNA Trafficking*. AIDS Rev, 2008. **10**(4): p. 195-204.

- 562. Collins, N.D., et al., *Selective ablation of human T-cell lymphotropic virus type 1 p121 reduces viral infectivity in vivo.* Blood, 1998. **91**(12): p. 4701-7.
- 563. Bartoe, J.T., et al., *Functional role of pX open reading frame II of human T-lymphotropic virus type 1 in maintenance of viral loads in vivo.* J Virol, 2000. **74**(3): p. 1094-100.
- 564. Lairmore, M.D., et al., In vitro and in vivo functional analysis of human T cell lymphotropic virus type 1 pX open reading frames I and II. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses, 2000. 16(16): p. 1757-64.
- 565. Silverman, L.R., et al., Human T-cell lymphotropic virus type 1 open reading frame IIencoded p30II is required for in vivo replication: evidence of in vivo reversion. J Virol, 2004. 78(8): p. 3837-45.
- 566. Hiraragi, H., et al., *Human T-lymphotropic virus type 1 mitochondrion-localizing protein p13(II) is required for viral infectivity in vivo.* J Virol, 2006. **80**(7): p. 3469-76.
- 567. Pise-Masison, C.A., et al., *Co-dependence of HTLV-1 p12 and p8 functions in virus persistence*. PLoS Pathog, 2014. **10**(11): p. e1004454.
- 568. Valeri, V.W., et al., Requirement of the human T-cell leukemia virus p12 and p30 products for infectivity of human dendritic cells and macaques but not rabbits. Blood, 2010. 116(19): p. 3809-17.
- 569. Johnson, J.M., et al., *Free major histocompatibility complex class I heavy chain is preferentially targeted for degradation by human T-cell leukemia/lymphotropic virus type l p12(I) protein.* J Virol, 2001. **75**(13): p. 6086-94.
- 570. Banerjee, P., G. Feuer, and E. Barker, *Human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 (HTLV-1) p121 down-modulates ICAM-1 and -2 and reduces adherence of natural killer cells, thereby protecting HTLV-1-infected primary CD4+ T cells from autologous natural killer cell-mediated cytotoxicity despite the reduction of major histocompatibility complex class I molecules on infected cells.* J Virol, 2007. **81**(18): p. 9707-17.

- 571. Andresen, V., et al., *Suppression of HTLV-1 replication by Tax-mediated rerouting of the p13 viral protein to nuclear speckles.* Blood, 2011. **118**(6): p. 1549-59.
- 572. Silic-Benussi, M., et al., *HTLV-1 p13, a small protein with a busy agenda*. Mol Aspects Med, 2010. **31**(5): p. 350-8.
- 573. Zhang, W., et al., Human T-lymphotropic virus type 1 p30(II) functions as a transcription factor and differentially modulates CREB-responsive promoters. J Virol, 2000. 74(23): p. 11270-7.
- 574. Zhang, W., et al., *Human T-lymphotropic virus type 1 p30(II) regulates gene transcription by binding CREB binding protein/p300.* J Virol, 2001. **75**(20): p. 9885-95.
- 575. Datta, A., et al., *Human T-lymphotropic virus type-1 p30 alters cell cycle G2 regulation of T lymphocytes to enhance cell survival.* Retrovirology, 2007. **4**: p. 49.
- 576. Baydoun, H.H., et al., *HTLV-I p30 inhibits multiple S phase entry checkpoints, decreases cyclin E-CDK2 interactions and delays cell cycle progression*. Mol Cancer, 2010. 9: p. 302.
- 577. Taylor, J.M., S. Ghorbel, and C. Nicot, *Genome wide analysis of human genes transcriptionally and post-transcriptionally regulated by the HTLV-I protein p30.* BMC Genomics, 2009. **10**: p. 311.
- 578. Datta, A., et al., *The HTLV-I p30 interferes with TLR4 signaling and modulates the release of pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines from human macrophages.* J Biol Chem, 2006. **281**(33): p. 23414-24.
- 579. Lee, R. and R.A. Schwartz, *Human T-lymphotrophic virus type 1-associated infective dermatitis: a comprehensive review.* J Am Acad Dermatol, 2011. **64**(1): p. 152-60.
- 580. Morgan, O.S., et al., *HTLV-1 and polymyositis in Jamaica*. Lancet, 1989. **2**(8673): p. 1184-7.

- 581. Ohshima, K., *Pathological features of diseases associated with human T-cell leukemia virus type I.* Cancer Sci, 2007. **98**(6): p. 772-8.
- 582. Yamashiro, T., et al., *CT scans of the chest in carriers of human T-cell lymphotropic virus type 1: presence of interstitial pneumonia*. Acad Radiol, 2012. **19**(8): p. 952-7.
- 583. Honarbakhsh, S. and G.P. Taylor, *High prevalence of bronchiectasis is linked to HTLV-1-associated inflammatory disease.* BMC Infect Dis, 2015. **15**: p. 258.
- 584. Blankson, J.N. and R.F. Siliciano, *Elite suppression of HIV-1 replication*. Immunity, 2008. **29**(6): p. 845-7.
- 585. Oh, U. and S. Jacobson, *Treatment of HTLV-I-Associated Myelopathy / Tropical Spastic Paraparesis: Towards Rational Targeted Therapy*. Neurol Clin, 2008. **26**(3): p. 781-x.
- 586. LaGrenade, L., et al., Infective dermatitis of Jamaican children: a marker for HTLV-I infection. Lancet, 1990. **336**(8727): p. 1345-7.
- 587. Verdonck, K., et al., *HTLV-1 infection is frequent among out-patients with pulmonary tuberculosis in northern Lima, Peru.* Int J Tuberc Lung Dis, 2007. **11**(10): p. 1066-72.
- 588. Bangham, C.R., *CTL quality and the control of human retroviral infections*. Eur J Immunol, 2009. **39**(7): p. 1700-12.
- 589. Bangham, C.R.M., *Human T Cell Leukemia Virus Type 1: Persistence and Pathogenesis*. Annu Rev Immunol, 2017.
- 590. Bangham, C.R., L.B. Cook, and A. Melamed, *HTLV-1 clonality in adult T-cell leukaemia and non-malignant HTLV-1 infection*. Semin Cancer Biol, 2014. **26**: p. 89-98.
- 591. Satou, Y., et al., *The retrovirus HTLV-1 inserts an ectopic CTCF-binding site into the human genome.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2016. **113**(11): p. 3054-9.

- 592. Shimoyama, M., Diagnostic criteria and classification of clinical subtypes of adult T-cell leukaemia-lymphoma. A report from the Lymphoma Study Group (1984-87). Br J Haematol, 1991. 79(3): p. 428-37.
- 593. Huang, C.T., et al., *Adult T-cell leukaemia/lymphoma can mimic other lymphomas in a non-endemic area: dilemmas in diagnosis and treatment.* Intern Med J, 2014.
- 594. Wattel, E., et al., Clonal expansion of human T-cell leukemia virus type I-infected cells in asymptomatic and symptomatic carriers without malignancy. J Virol, 1995. **69**(5): p. 2863-8.
- 595. Bazarbachi, A., et al., *How I treat adult T-cell leukemia/lymphoma*. Blood, 2011. 118(7): p. 1736-45.
- 596. Katsuya, H., et al., *Treatment and survival among 1594 patients with ATL*. Blood, 2015.126(24): p. 2570-7.
- 597. Hishizawa, M., et al., *Transplantation of allogeneic hematopoietic stem cells for adult T-cell leukemia: a nationwide retrospective study.* Blood, 2010. **116**(8): p. 1369-76.
- 598. Choi, I., et al., Long-term outcomes after hematopoietic SCT for adult T-cell leukemia/lymphoma: results of prospective trials. Bone Marrow Transplant, 2011. 46(1): p. 116-8.
- 599. Phillips, E.H., et al., *Striving to cure adult T-cell leukaemia/lymphoma: a role for allogeneic stem cell transplant?* Bone Marrow Transplant, 2016. **51**(12): p. 1549-1555.
- 600. Bazarbachi, A., et al., *Meta-analysis on the use of zidovudine and interferon-alfa in adult T-cell leukemia/lymphoma showing improved survival in the leukemic subtypes.* J Clin Oncol, 2010. **28**(27): p. 4177-83.
- 601. Wu, S., et al., Arsenic induced complete remission in a refractory T-ALL patient with a distinct T-cell clonal evolution without molecular complete remission: A case report. Oncol Lett, 2016. 11(6): p. 4123-30.

- 602. Kchour, G., et al., *The combination of arsenic, interferon-alpha, and zidovudine restores* an "immunocompetent-like" cytokine expression profile in patients with adult *T-cell leukemia lymphoma*. Retrovirology, 2013. **10**: p. 91.
- 603. Aye, M.M., et al., *Histopathological analysis of four autopsy cases of HTLV-I-associated myelopathy/tropical spastic paraparesis: inflammatory changes occur simultaneously in the entire central nervous system.* Acta Neuropathol, 2000. **100**(3): p. 245-52.
- 604. Umehara, F., et al., *Immunocytochemical analysis of the cellular infiltrate in the spinal cord lesions in HTLV-I-associated myelopathy*. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol, 1993. 52(4): p. 424-30.
- 605. Izumo, S., Neuropathology of HTLV-1-associated myelopathy (HAM/TSP): The 50th Anniversary of Japanese Society of Neuropathology. Neuropathology, 2010. 30(5): p. 480-5.
- 606. Ando, H., et al., *Positive feedback loop via astrocytes causes chronic inflammation in virus-associated myelopathy*. Brain, 2013. **136**(Pt 9): p. 2876-87.
- 607. Curis, C., et al., Human T-Lymphotropic Virus Type 1-Induced Overexpression of Activated Leukocyte Cell Adhesion Molecule (ALCAM) Facilitates Trafficking of Infected Lymphocytes through the Blood-Brain Barrier. J Virol, 2016. **90**(16): p. 7303-12.
- 608. Matsuura, E., et al., Visualization of HTLV-1–Specific Cytotoxic T Lymphocytes in the Spinal Cords of Patients With HTLV-1–Associated Myelopathy/Tropical Spastic Paraparesis. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol, 2015. 74(1): p. 2-14.
- 609. Yamano, Y., et al., *Abnormally high levels of virus-infected IFN-gamma+ CCR4+ CD4+ CD25+ T cells in a retrovirus-associated neuroinflammatory disorder*. PLoS One, 2009.
  4(8): p. e6517.
- 610. Iwasaki, Y., et al., Infiltration of helper/inducer T lymphocytes heralds central nervous system damage in human T-cell leukemia virus infection. Am J Pathol, 1992. 140(5): p. 1003-8.

- 611. Daenke, S. and C.R. Bangham, *Do T cells cause HTLV-1-associated disease?: a taxing problem*. Clin Exp Immunol, 1994. **96**(2): p. 179-81.
- 612. Ijichi, S., et al., *An autoaggressive process against bystander tissues in HTLV-I-infected individuals: a possible pathomechanism of HAM/TSP.* Med Hypotheses, 1993. **41**(6): p. 542-7.
- 613. Olindo, S., et al., Natural history of human T-lymphotropic virus 1-associated myelopathy: a 14-year follow-up study. Arch Neurol, 2006. 63(11): p. 1560-6.
- 614. Orland, J.R., et al., *Prevalence and clinical features of HTLV neurologic disease in the HTLV Outcomes Study*. Neurology, 2003. **61**(11): p. 1588-94.
- 615. Romanelli, L.C., et al., *Incidence of human T cell lymphotropic virus type 1-associated myelopathy/tropical spastic paraparesis in a long-term prospective cohort study of initially asymptomatic individuals in Brazil.* AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses, 2013. **29**(9): p. 1199-202.
- 616. Bangham, C.R.M., et al., *HTLV-1-associated myelopathy/tropical spastic paraparesis*. Nature Reviews Disease Primers, 2015. **1**: p. 15012.
- 617. Lazear, H.M., et al., IRF-3, IRF-5, and IRF-7 coordinately regulate the type I IFN response in myeloid dendritic cells downstream of MAVS signaling. PLoS Pathog, 2013.
  9(1): p. e1003118.
- 618. Abe, T. and G.N. Barber, *Cytosolic-DNA-mediated, STING-dependent proinflammatory gene induction necessitates canonical NF-kappaB activation through TBK1.* J Virol, 2014. **88**(10): p. 5328-41.
- 619. Bergstroem, B., et al., *Identification of a novel in vivo virus-targeted phosphorylation site in interferon regulatory factor-3 (IRF3).* J Biol Chem, 2010. **285**(32): p. 24904-14.

- 620. Ahlers, L.R. and A.G. Goodman, *Nucleic acid sensing and innate immunity: signaling pathways controlling viral pathogenesis and autoimmunity*. Curr Clin Microbiol Rep, 2016. **3**(3): p. 132-141.
- 621. Liu, Y., D. Olagnier, and R. Lin, *Host and Viral Modulation of RIG-I-Mediated Antiviral Immunity*. Front Immunol, 2016. 7: p. 662.
- 622. Chan, Y.K. and M.U. Gack, *Viral evasion of intracellular DNA and RNA sensing*. Nat Rev Microbiol, 2016. **14**(6): p. 360-73.
- 623. Zust, R., et al., *Ribose 2'-O-methylation provides a molecular signature for the distinction of self and non-self mRNA dependent on the RNA sensor Mda5*. Nat Immunol, 2011. 12(2): p. 137-43.
- 624. Nazli, A., et al., *HIV-1 gp120 induces TLR2- and TLR4-mediated innate immune activation in human female genital epithelium.* J Immunol, 2013. **191**(8): p. 4246-58.
- 625. Henrick, B.M., X.D. Yao, and K.L. Rosenthal, *HIV-1 Structural Proteins Serve as PAMPs for TLR2 Heterodimers Significantly Increasing Infection and Innate Immune Activation.* Front Immunol, 2015. **6**: p. 426.
- 626. Reuven, E.M., et al., *The HIV-1 envelope transmembrane domain binds TLR2 through a distinct dimerization motif and inhibits TLR2-mediated responses*. PLoS Pathog, 2014. 10(8): p. e1004248.
- 627. Blasius, A.L. and B. Beutler, *Intracellular toll-like receptors*. Immunity, 2010. **32**(3): p. 305-15.
- 628. Pandey, S., T. Kawai, and S. Akira, *Microbial sensing by Toll-like receptors and intracellular nucleic acid sensors*. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol, 2014. 7(1): p. a016246.
- Zevini, A., D. Olagnier, and J. Hiscott, *Crosstalk between Cytoplasmic RIG-I and STING Sensing Pathways*. Trends Immunol, 2017. 38(3): p. 194-205.

- 630. Iwanaszko, M. and M. Kimmel, *NF-kappaB and IRF pathways: cross-regulation on target genes promoter level.* BMC Genomics, 2015. **16**: p. 307.
- 631. Decker, T., M. Muller, and S. Stockinger, *The yin and yang of type I interferon activity in bacterial infection*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2005. **5**(9): p. 675-87.
- 632. Ivashkiv, L.B. and L.T. Donlin, *Regulation of type I interferon responses*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2014. **14**(1): p. 36-49.
- 633. Ho, H.H. and L.B. Ivashkiv, Role of STAT3 in type I interferon responses. Negative regulation of STAT1-dependent inflammatory gene activation. J Biol Chem, 2006. 281(20): p. 14111-8.
- 634. Wang, W.B., D.E. Levy, and C.K. Lee, *STAT3 negatively regulates type I IFN-mediated antiviral response*. J Immunol, 2011. **187**(5): p. 2578-85.
- 635. Kuchipudi, S.V., *The Complex Role of STAT3 in Viral Infections*. J Immunol Res, 2015.2015: p. 272359.
- 636. Yoshimura, A., T. Naka, and M. Kubo, *SOCS proteins, cytokine signalling and immune regulation*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2007. 7(6): p. 454-65.
- 637. Fenner, J.E., et al., Suppressor of cytokine signaling 1 regulates the immune response to infection by a unique inhibition of type I interferon activity. Nat Immunol, 2006. 7(1): p. 33-9.
- 638. Qing, Y., et al., *Role of tyrosine 441 of interferon-gamma receptor subunit 1 in SOCS-1mediated attenuation of STAT1 activation.* J Biol Chem, 2005. **280**(3): p. 1849-53.
- 639. Piganis, R.A., et al., Suppressor of cytokine signaling (SOCS) 1 inhibits type I interferon (IFN) signaling via the interferon alpha receptor (IFNAR1)-associated tyrosine kinase Tyk2. J Biol Chem, 2011. 286(39): p. 33811-8.

- 640. Hayden, M.S. and S. Ghosh, *Signaling to NF-kappaB*. Genes Dev, 2004. **18**(18): p. 2195-224.
- 641. Hu, H. and S.C. Sun, *Ubiquitin signaling in immune responses*. Cell Res, 2016. **26**(4): p. 457-83.
- 642. Wan, F. and M.J. Lenardo, Specification of DNA Binding Activity of NF-κB Proteins.Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol, 2009. 1(4).
- 643. Israel, A., *The IKK complex, a central regulator of NF-kappaB activation*. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol, 2010. **2**(3): p. a000158.
- 644. Oeckinghaus, A., M.S. Hayden, and S. Ghosh, *Crosstalk in NF-kappaB signaling pathways*. Nat Immunol, 2011. **12**(8): p. 695-708.
- 645. Sun, S.C., *The noncanonical NF-κB pathway*. Immunol Rev, 2012. **246**(1): p. 125-40.

# **Chapter 2: SAMHD1 Host Restriction Factor: A Link with Innate Immune Sensing of Retrovirus Infection**

Alexandre Sze<sup>1</sup>, David Olagnier<sup>2</sup>, Rongtuan Lin<sup>1</sup>, Julien van Grevenynghe<sup>1,2\*</sup> and John Hiscott<sup>2\*</sup> <sup>1</sup>Lady Davis Institute-Jewish General Hospital, McGill University, Montreal, Canada H3T 1E2

<sup>2</sup>Vaccine and Gene Therapy Institute of Florida, Port St. Lucie, Fl. 34987, United States

1. Abstract

SAMHD1 [sterile alpha motif and histidine-aspartic domain (HD) containing protein 1] is the most recent addition to a unique group of host restriction factors that limit retroviral replication at distinct stages of the viral life cycle. SAMHD1 is a deoxynucleoside triphosphate triphosphohydrolase that degrades the intracellular pool of deoxynucleoside triphosphates available during early reverse transcription. SAMHD1 activity is blocked by the Vpx accessory function present in human immunodeficiency virus type 2 and SIVsm. Mutations in SAMHD1 are associated with the autoimmune disorder Aicardi-Goutières syndrome, thus emphasizing its role in regulation of the immune response. SAMHD1 antiretroviral activity is modulated by posttranslational modifications, cell-cycle-dependent functions and cytokine-mediated changes. Innate receptors that sense retroviral DNA intermediates are the focus of intense study, and recent studies have established a link among SAMHD1 restriction, innate sensing of DNA and protective immune responses. Cell-cycle-dependent regulation of SAMHD1 by phosphorylation and the increasingly broad range of viruses inhibited by SAMHD1 further emphasize the importance of these mechanisms of host restriction. This review highlights current knowledge regarding SAMHD1 regulation and its impact on innate immune signaling and retroviral restriction.



**Graphical Abstract** 

## Abbreviations:

MDM, monocyte-derived macrophage; pDC, plasmacytoid dendritic cell; RTI, reversetranscribed intermediate; AGS, Aicardi–Goutières syndrome; HIV-1, human immunodeficiency virus type 1; HTLV-1, human T cell leukemia virus type 1; CDK1, cyclin-dependent kinase 1; dsDNA, double-stranded DNA; ssDNA, single-stranded DNA

# Highlights

- SAMHD1 is a deoxynucleoside triphosphate triphosphohydrolase that degrades the dNTP pool required for reverse transcription.
- SAMHD1 activity is regulated by the Vpx accessory protein, post-translational modifications and cell-cycle-dependent functions.
- SAMHD1 restricts early retroviral reverse transcription, resulting in the formation of DNA replicative intermediates.
- Replicative intermediates are sensed by cGAS-STING, leading to induction of antiviral immunity and apoptosis.

#### 1. Introduction

Inhibition of retrovirus replication by different host restriction factors has emerged as an important component of antiviral innate immunity [1, 2]. The essential role of the interferon (IFN) signaling pathways in eliciting and modulating these restriction factors—triggered by pattern recognition receptor (PRR) signaling-remains an under-appreciated aspect of host protection against infection. To trigger IFN expression, host cells recognize infection through several families of pattern recognition receptor that sense evolutionarily conserved structures known as pathogen-associated molecular patterns, including Toll-like receptors (TLR), RIG-Ilike receptors (RLR), NOD-like receptors (NLR), as well as several recently identified cytoplasmic sensors of DNA virus infection [3-5]. Classically, viral nucleic acids are the predominant PAMPs detected by these receptors during infection. Recognition of cytosolic viral RNA by RLRs has been extensively studied [6], and recently, a number of DNA receptors have been identified, including AIM2, DNA-PK, IFI16 and cGAS [7-16]. The endoplasmic reticulum resident protein STING (stimulator of interferon genes) (also called MITA or MPYS) is central to intracellular signaling in response to cytosolic DNA [17, 18], and its role as an adaptor facilitating immune signaling in response to viral, bacterial and self DNA has been well described [19-21]. The newly described DNA sensor cGAS [22, 23] (cGAMP synthetase) produces cGAMP (cyclic guanosine monophosphate-adenosine monophosphate) following interaction with DNA and functions as a second messenger to activate a STING-dependent immune response via TBK1 and IRF3. Interestingly, cGAMP also acts in a paracrine manner to stimulate bystander cells through STING, revealing a novel mechanism that rapidly conducts antiviral immunity horizontally to adjacent cells in a manner independent of type I IFN [24].

The innate immune system employs intrinsic host restriction factors to limit replication at various steps of the retroviral life cycle. Particularly relevant for this review and for understanding the host response to infection are two human retroviruses human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) and human T cell leukemia virus type 1 (HTLV-1), both of which lead to serious human pathology. Physiological activities associated with APOBEC, TRIM, BST2 and SAMHD1 are listed in Table 1 and are reviewed elsewhere in this issue. There are several APOBEC-A3 (apolipoprotein B mRNA editing enzyme catalytic polypeptide-like 3) proteins that inhibit HIV-1 [25-29] and HTLV-1 [30, 31] infection. APOBEC activity

deaminates cytidine to uracil, resulting in G-to-A hypermutations during reverse transcription [32]. The HIV-1 accessory protein Vif and the HTLV-1 nuclear capsid interfere with APOBEC activity [33, 34]. The TRIM (tripartite motif) proteins interfere with viral replication by targeting different steps in the retroviral life cycle, such as uncoating and promoter activity [35]. The best-characterized member is TRIM5 $\alpha$ , which binds to the capsid of incoming retroviral particles and targets capsid for proteosomal degradation [2]. Tetherin (also known as BST2) is named for its anchoring role in retroviral restriction. Tetherin exerts its antiretroviral function by cross-linking new HIV-1 viral particles to the cell surface and prevents nascent particle release [36]. The HIV-1 accessory protein Vpu targets tetherin for degradation [37, 38]. Conversely, HTLV-1 has evolved cell-to-cell transmission strategies that co-opt BST2 [39]. In this review, we provide a comprehensive overview of the activity and regulation of SAMHD1 and summarize the emerging role of SAMHD1 in modulation of the innate immune sensing of retroviral infection (Table 1).

<b>Restriction Factor</b>	Function	Retroviral Countermeasure
APOBEC-A3	Deaminates cytidine to uracil, leading to G-to-A hypermutations	HIV-1: Vif HTLV: nuclear capsid
TRIM5α	Targets retroviral capsids for proteosomal degradation	Capsid proteins cannot be bound by human TRIM5α
Tetherin	Cross-links new HIV-1 particles to the cell surface, preventing release	HIV-1: Vpu HTLV-1: cell-to-cell transmission strategy
SAMHD1	Hydrolyzes host dNTP levels, required for reverse transcription	HIV-2: Vpx

Table 1. Functions associated with HIV-1 host restriction factors.

#### 2. SAMHD1 Structure and Function

The discovery that SAMHD1 [sterile alpha motif and histidine-aspartic domain (HD) containing protein 1] functions as a host restriction factor illustrates the importance of metabolic regulation as an additional mechanism to limit the replication of viral pathogens [40, 41]. SAMHD1 is a host deoxynucleoside triphosphate phosphohydrolase that cleaves deoxynucleoside triphosphates (dNTP) into their deoxynucleosides (dN) and inorganic triphosphates, thus depleting the cellular dNTP pool required for cellular DNA polymerase [42, 43]. SAMHD1 prevents efficient HIV-1 replication by degrading the dNTP pool and, in doing so, inhibits early steps of reverse transcription; blockade at this step prevents the synthesis of full-length double-strand DNA and disrupts later stages of the viral life cycle, including nuclear translocation and integration of proviral DNA [16, 44, 45]. This function has been recognized predominantly in non-cycling cell types including monocytes [46, 47], macrophages [16, 41, 44, 46], dendritic cells [40, 48, 49] and resting CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells [45, 50].

SAMHD1 is unusual as a phosphohydrolase in the sense that it does not generate monophosphates. SAMHD1 degrades deoxynucleoside triphosphates including those involved in DNA synthesis (dATP, dCTP, dTTP and dGTP), as well as dUTP, but is unable to hydrolyze nucleotide triphosphates (NTP) [42]. dNTP is used in the synthesis of host DNA, whereas NTP is a source of energy for the cell. SAMHD1 triphosphohydrolase activity was initially shown to be dependent on the presence of dGTP [42, 43], but it has since been demonstrated that a number of dGTP derivatives can similarly activate the enzyme: dGDP, ddGTP, GTP, GDP and GMP can all promote hydrolysis of dATP by SAMHD1 [51, 52]. Considering the physiological abundance of each molecule, it is likely that GTP is the main activator of SAMHD1 *in vivo*, given its higher intracellular concentration [53, 54]. SAMHD1 exists primarily as a dimer in solution [42], but it is unclear if oligomer formation is required for SAMHD1 activity; Yan *et al.* demonstrated that tetramerization was required for HIV-1 restriction [55], whereas other studies indicated that oligomerization was not required for activity [56, 57].

SAMHD1 contains two important domains (Fig. 1): the sterile alpha motif domain is involved in protein–protein interactions and contributes to SAMHD1 nucleic acid binding, although it is not absolutely required for its nuclease activity [58]; the HD domain of SAMHD1 contains the

enzymatic sites crucial for its triphosphohydrolase activity, RNA binding and nuclease activity. Overall, the expression of the HD domain alone is sufficient to restrict HIV-1 replication [57]. SAMHD1 is a predominantly nuclear protein, endowed with a nuclear localization signal located at its N-terminus (sequence: <sup>11</sup>KRPR<sup>14</sup>) [46, 56, 57, 59-61], but a fraction of SAMHD1 is also found in the cytoplasm [45]. SAMHD1 may also contain other nuclear localization signals since deletions of the N-terminal region did not lead to exclusive cytoplasmic expression of SAMHD1 [59], and mutations in locations other than the nuclear localization signal caused relocalization of SAMHD1 to the cytosol [62, 63]. Interestingly, mutated versions of SAMHD1 that localized to the cytoplasm were still capable of restricting HIV-1 infection [56, 57, 61] (Fig. 1).



Figure 1. Structure and anti-retroviral activity of SAMHD1.

(Top) Representative schematic of the important domains of SAMHD1, including enzymatic sites, nuclear localization signals and activation/phosphorylation site. (Bottom) Overview of SAMHD1 current anti-retroviral activity mediated by dNTP depletion.

SAMHD1 also contains a domain at the C-terminus capable of interaction with the HIV-2/SIVsm Vpx accessory protein [64]. Prior to the discovery of the antiretroviral function of SAMHD1, it was unclear how Vpx contributed to productive HIV-1 infection of non-permissive myeloid cells such as monocytes, macrophages and dendritic cells [46, 65-69]. It is now recognized that Vpx disrupts SAMHD1 function in non-dividing cells and promotes its proteasomal degradation (Fig. 2) [40, 41]. Conversely, HIV-2 or SIV that is Vpx deficient is unable to productively infect these cells [66-68, 70]. Physical interaction between SAMHD1 and Vpx in the nucleus or the cytoplasm is required to induce SAMHD1 degradation [56, 59]. Cytoplasmic SAMHD1 mutants cannot be degraded by Vpx that localizes in the nucleus [61, 71]. Similarly, mutant Vpx that does not localize to the nucleus cannot inhibit wild-type SAMHD1 [65, 72-74]. Vpx interacts with the cullin-4-based E3 ubiquitin ligase CRL4/DCAF1 and tethers SAMHD1 to the Cull4/CRL4/DCAF1 complex, leading to ubiquitination proteosomal degradation via the C-terminus of SAMHD1, although it is unclear if degradation occurs in the cytoplasm or the nucleus [56, 61, 65-67, 75, 76]. The N-terminus of SAMHD1 can also interact with Vpx proteins from divergent lentiviruses [77]. Neddylation inhibitors that reversibly interfere with proper CRL4/DCAF1 function prevent Vpx-mediated degradation of SAMHD1 [78]. Following SAMHD1 degradation by Vpx, there is a concomitant increase in intracellular dNTP levels [48, 79]. Additional work has also shown that Vpx can inhibit SAMHD1 activity prior to its degradation [80] (Fig. 2).



Figure 2. Abortive HIV-1 infection prevents activation of the innate immune response.

Infection of host cells with Vpx<sup>+</sup> virus results in the degradation of SAMHD1 and productive infection. Vpx interacts with the cullin-4-based E3 ubiquitin ligase CRL4/DCAF1 and tethers SAMHD1 to the Cull4/CRL4/DCAF1 complex, leading to ubiquitination proteosomal degradation via the C-terminus of SAMHD1. With SAMHD1 degradation, retroviral reverse transcription is completed and proviral DNA integrates into the host genome.

#### 3. Regulation of SAMHD1

SAMHD1 activity can be regulated by a number of factors, including phosphorylation state and the production of type 1 IFN. SAMHD1 restriction and its antiretroviral function, as well as low dNTP levels, are not solely correlated with its expression level; for example, SAMHD1 is expressed in cycling and non-cycling CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, but only in non-cycling cells is SAMHD1 restrictive to HIV-1 replication [45, 50]. SAMHD1 was initially discovered as the homologue of a mouse IFN-inducible gene termed interferon- $\gamma$ -inducible protein (Mg11). Human SAMHD1 protein expression does not appear to be up-regulated by IFN- $\alpha$  or IFN- $\gamma$  in human dendritic cells, macrophages or CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells [46, 48], although a transient increase in mRNA levels is observed [48]. Expression can be induced in certain cell lines, such as U87-MG [16], HEK 293T or HeLa cells [48]. One report indicated that IFN- $\alpha$  can increase SAMHD1 expression in primary monocytes [47], whereas another study did not demonstrate any increase [81]. A combination of IL-12 and IL-18 can lead to an increase in SAMHD1 expression in monocyte-derived macrophage (MDM), resulting in the generation of cells that are more resistant to HIV-1 infection [82]. Why certain cytokine combinations will increase SAMHD1 expression in some cell types is unknown, although changes in methylation status of the SAMHD1 promoter may be involved [83]. Interestingly, IFN- $\alpha$  or IFN- $\gamma$  treatment of PMA-matured THP-1 cells prevented Vpx from degrading SAMHD1 [46]. IFN-α-mediated protection of SAMHD1 also applies to primary plasmacytoid dendritic cell (pDC) and myeloid dendritic cell, both of which are highly resistant to HIV-1 infection [84]. Treating pDC with an anti-IFN antibody cocktail partially alleviated restriction and permitted SAMHD1 degradation [84].

SAMHD1 expression is significantly influenced by cell cycle status. Franzolin *et al.* demonstrated that the highest levels of SAMHD1 occurred during quiescence, while SAMHD1 expression was barely detectable in cycling cells [60]. The size of the dNTP pool was also affected by fluctuations in SAMHD1 abundance. SAMHD1 was essential to prevent accumulation of  $G_1$  cells and arrest of the cell cycle, indicating that SAMHD1 impacts the regulation of the cell cycle [60]. The myeloid cell line THP-1, which is routinely used as representative myeloid cell model, expresses SAMHD1 constitutively at high levels. THP-1 are permissive to HIV-1 infection but can be made resistant following PMA-mediated differentiation

into non-cycling macrophage-like cells [40, 57, 65, 81, 85]. In this context, PMA appears to stimulate SAMHD1 activity but does not influence its expression [81, 85] (Fig. 3).



Figure 3: Levels of SAMHD1 expression and activation status during the cell-cycle.

SAMHD1 expression is modulated by the cell cycle. SAMHD1 is highly expressed during quiescence ( $G_0$  phase), but minimally expressed during replication (S phase). Its activation status is dependent on phosphorylation by Cyclin A2 and CDK1; T592 phosphorylation indicates inactivation. Cyclin A2 is highly expressed during S phase, when high intracellular dNTP levels are found. IFN- $\alpha$  treatment leads to the de-phosphorylation of SAMHD1, mediated by the induction of p21<sup>Waf1/Cip1</sup> that decreases the levels of CDK1. The phosphatase that dephosphorylates SAMHD1 is currently unknown.

Three recent studies demonstrate that SAMHD1 antiretroviral activity is regulated by phosphorylation in a cell-cycle-dependent manner (Fig. 3) [81, 85, 86]. SAMHD1 is phosphorylated at threonine 592 (T592), by the cyclin-dependent kinase 1 (CDK1) and cyclin A2 *in vivo* [81] or by cyclin B *in vitro* [85]. T592 phosphorylation of SAMHD1 was detected in permissive cells such as activated CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and untreated THP-1 cells, while HIV-resistant cell types such as myeloid cells, PMA-treated THP-1 cells and resting T cells expressed predominantly non-phosphorylated SAMHD1. This observation implies an inverse correlation between T592 phosphorylation residue and the antiretroviral state [81, 85, 86]. A number of other phosphorylation sites have also been identified, although their association with cell cycle status and retroviral restriction has not been established [81, 85, 86].

Inactivation of SAMHD1 by cyclin A2 likely occurs during the S phase of the cell cycle, when cyclin A2 is highly expressed [87], and there is a requirement for dNTP during chromosomal DNA replication. Furthermore, differentiation of cells to an HIV-1-resistant phenotype is associated with a loss of CDK1 expression [88, 89]. Interestingly, Cribier *et al.* demonstrated a decrease in T592 phosphorylation in cells treated with IFN- $\alpha$ , thus implying a link between type 1 IFN signaling and SAMHD1 activation [81] that may involve p21<sup>Waf1/Cip1</sup>, a cell-cycle-regulated inhibitor of HIV-1 replication [90], and CDK1, a cell-cycle-regulated kinase activity that is induced by IFN- $\alpha$  [91, 92].

Regulation of SAMHD1 by CDK1-mediated phosphorylation at T592 is complicated by the observation that non-phosphorylated SAMHD1 (at the T592 residue) correlated with HIV-1 restriction, but not with modulation of its triphosphohydrolase activity [85, 86]. Indeed, while the current paradigm is that SAMHD1 restricts HIV-1 by hydrolyzing the dNTP pool [44, 48], White *et al.* and Welbourn *et al.* suggest that additional mechanisms are involved in SAMHD1-mediated restriction. Regardless of phosphorylation status, SAMHD1 could still hydrolyze dNTP *in vitro* and T592 phosphorylation had no effect on oligomerization, Vpx-mediated degradation, RNA binding or nuclear localization [85, 86]. It is likely that additional factors and mechanisms contribute to the modulation of SAMHD1 activity.

## 4. The Role of SAMHD1 in the Autoimmune Disorder Aicardi-Goutières Syndrome

Hereditary and loss-of-function studies have demonstrated that mutations in SAMHD1 dramatically impact host immunity; SAMHD1 was first associated with Aicardi–Goutières syndrome (AGS) [93], a rare autoimmune disorder characterized by chronic inflammation and high levels of IFN-α in the cerebrospinal fluid [94], reminiscent of chronic viral infection [95]. It is hypothesized that the improper metabolism of host nucleic acids triggers chronic stimulation of the innate immune response in autoimmune diseases such as systemic lupus erythematosus and AGS[95-97]. SAMHD1 likely prevents the generation of stimulatory host DNA by hydrolyzing the dNTP pool; mutations of SAMHD1 found in AGS patients are located in the enzymatically important HD domain, thus supporting this idea (Fig. 1) [93]. AGS cells that harbor a defective SAMHD1 are highly permissive to HIV-1 replication [47], further implicating the triphosphohydrolase activity of SAMHD1 in AGS. It was also recently reported that the absence of SAMHD1 led to the spontaneous expression and release of type 1 IFN [98]; hence, SAMHD1 is described as a negative regulator of IFN signaling in this context [93].

AGS is also associated with mutations in the exonuclease TREX1 and endonuclease RNase H2 [99, 100], both of which have DNA editing properties that are diminished during disease [95]. TREX1 functions to digest DNA—reverse-transcribed intermediates (RTIs)—produced by endogenous and exogenous retroviruses [101, 102]. Depletion of TREX1 leads to immune activation and IFN production through the endoplasmic reticulum resident DNA sensor STING [102], which is a central regulator of TBK1-IRF3 signaling cascades following stimulatory DNA accumulation [103]. STING regulation likely also plays a vital role in autoimmune disorders such as AGS.

Mutations in RNase H2 cause increased rNTP incorporation into DNA, spontaneous DNA breaks and the initiation of the DNA damage response [104]. Unlike SAMHD1 activity that inhibits retroviral replication, TREX1 and RNase H2 appear to be vital for HIV-1 replication [102, 105]. RNase H2 prevents rNTP incorporation into HIV-1 DNA and, therefore, prevents mutation [53, 106]. Overall, it is less clear how mutations in RNase H2 contribute to AGS.

## 5. SAMHD1 and Innate Immune Sensing of Retroviral Infection

One of the most exciting developments in viral immunology in the past 5 years has been the identification and characterization of the molecular basis of DNA sensing by the innate immune system. More than 10 cytosolic receptors of DNA have been identified in recent years, including the PYHIN family proteins AIM2 (absent in melanoma) and IFI16 (IFN-inducible protein 16) [107, 108]. Furthermore, during the past year, a new second messenger system has been discovered that senses, modifies and transmits signals to the innate immune response via the adapter protein STING, a key adaptor protein for most DNA-sensing pathways. Two studies from the Chen group demonstrated that stimulation of cells with cytosolic DNA induced synthesis of cyclic-di-GMP-AMP (cGAMP) from ATP and GTP by a cyclase enzyme called cGAMP synthetase (cGAS), leading to STING-dependent induction of IFN [7, 109]. This cGAMP isomer, termed 2'3'-cGAMP, which contains both 2'-5' and 3'-5' phosphodiester linkages, functions as a second messenger that binds and activates the endoplasmic reticulum protein STING [22]. Based on structural analysis of the C-terminal domain, STING exists as a dimer in an autoinhibited state; cyclic dinucleotide binding, or activation of STING by upstream DNA sensors, relieves autoinhibition and provides a scaffold that permits association with TBK1 and IRF3, leading to phosphorylation-dependent activation of IRF3 (Fig. 4). Thus, STING directs TBK1 to activate IRF3 in response to DNA sensing and activation of antiviral innate responses; it remains unclear whether STING recruitment of TBK1 also controls NF-KB activation in response to cytosolic DNA. Cyclic dinucleotides can also activate the NLRP3 inflammasome through a unique pathway independent of STING but dependent on the mobilization of potassium and calcium ions [110], thus broadening the spectrum of cGAS activity in triggering both antiviral and inflammatory innate immune responses.


Figure 4. HIV Infection activates the innate immune response through RTI production.

Inhibition of HIV-1 reverse transcription mediated by SAMHD1 leads to the production of RTIs. RTI may be degraded by TREX1 but can also be detected by the DNA sensors cGAS and IFI16 that activate STING and the type 1 IFN response. RTI detection also leads to inflammasome activation, possibly through AIM2 activation, leading to the release of active IL-1 $\beta$ . Furthermore, activation of TLR7 by genomic RNA in pDCs can activate the IFN response.

Two human PYHIN proteins, absent in melanoma (AIM2) and IFN- $\gamma$ -inducible (IFI16), have been characterized as DNA sensors that are essential for distinct DNA-activated innate responses. AIM2 localizes to the cytoplasm and binds DNA; AIM2 is essential for interleukin-1 $\beta$ production in response to double-stranded DNA (dsDNA) and functions by assembling an inflammasome complex with ASC and caspase 1 (Fig. 4). IFI16 has been shown to bind dsDNA and induce STING-dependent IFN- $\beta$  responses [11] (Fig. 4).

Three recent studies have identified the interaction of retroviral DNA intermediates with innate DNA sensors [111-113]. In one study, Chen and colleagues demonstrated that HIV-1 infection activated cGAMP synthase (cGAS) to produce cGAMP, which bound to and activated the adaptor protein STING to induce type I IFN[111]. Inhibitors of HIV reverse transcriptase, but not integrase, eliminated IFN induction by HIV-1, suggesting that reverse-transcribed HIV-1 DNA triggered the innate immune response. When cGAS was depleted, cytokine induction by HIV-1, murine leukemia virus and simian immunodeficiency virus was abrogated, thus identifying cGAS as an innate immune sensor of HIV-1 and other retroviruses. Interestingly, this second messenger cGAMP can also act *in trans* and be delivered to neighboring cells through gap junctions to stimulate innate immunity through STING, in a manner independent of type I IFN [24]. A second study from the Paludan group in Denmark introduced single-stranded DNAs (ssDNAs) derived from HIV-1 proviral DNA into primary human macrophages and demonstrated that HIV-1 DNA induced IFN expression, dependent on interferon-inducible protein 16 (IFI16) [112]. Immunostimulatory DNA directly bound to IFI16 and activated the STING-TBK1-IRF3/7 pathway. This response was stimulated by stem regions in the HIV-1 DNA structure, and IFI16 knockdown augmented lentiviral transduction, as well as HIV-1 replication. Again, these results pinpoint IFI16 and the STING adapter as sensors for HIV-1 reverse transcriptase intermediates in macrophages. In the third study, we approached these questions using a primary infection model with HTLV-1 and primary monocytes [113]. Unlike most retroviruses, cell-free HTLV-1 virions are poorly infectious and do not stably infect their primary CD4<sup>+</sup> T lymphocyte target. However, HTLV-1 efficiently infects cells of the myeloid lineage, leading to productive infection of myeloid and pDCs or abortive infection of primary monocytic cells. De novo HTLV-1 infection of monocytes rapidly induced a type 1 IFN response, as well as apoptosis, in a SAMHD1-dependent manner. Silencing of SAMHD1 by

RNA interference or the addition of exogenous dNTPs to the infected monocyte culture blocked apoptosis and the antiviral response. The reverse transcriptase inhibitor azidothymidine also inhibited apoptosis, suggesting a role for reverse transcription intermediates (RTI) in triggering the antiviral and apoptotic response. A 90-nucleotide RTI from the U5 region of HTLV-1, corresponding to strong-stop DNA, was introduced into monocytes and induced apoptosis; the RTI bound to the endoplasmic reticulum resident DNA sensor STING, which mediates activation of the host antiviral response via IRF3. Using siRNA knockdown and co-immunoprecipitation, we confirmed that STING-mediated apoptosis in HTLV-1-infected monocytes required the generation of pro-apoptotic complex between IRF3 and the Bcl-2 family member Bax. A similar result was obtained using an RTI corresponding to HIV-1 strong-stop DNA. Altogether, these studies provide a mechanistic link among SAMHD1 restriction of reverse transcription intermediates by IFI16-cGAS-STING and the initiation of IRF3-dependent antiviral and apoptotic responses.

In earlier studies, Doitsh et al. demonstrated that HIV-1 abortive infection of resting CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells initiated a pro-inflammatory response and led to apoptosis [114]. Cell death was mediated by RTI production that elicited the formation of an inflammasome complex and the induction of caspase-1- and caspase-3-mediated apoptosis [114]. In light of the abovementioned recent experiments, it is likely that the observations relating to host restriction and triggering apoptotic response were dependent on DNA sensing of RTI by DNA sensors, with a contribution from SAMHD1 activity [45, 50]. The induction of apoptosis via IRF3-Bax interaction was previously characterized during paramyxovirus infection as a host mechanism to prevent persistent infection [115]. This mechanism of retroviral DNA-induced apoptosis involving IRF3-Bax mitochondrial depolymerization appears to be distinct from the mechanism recently described by Nabel's group; in that study, proviral DNA in the nucleus was detected by the DNA-dependent protein kinase (DNA-PK) during integration, leading to apoptosis [9]. Additionally, while STING-IRF3 axis has also been implicated in mitochondria-dependent cell death in hepatocytes [116], it may not be required for inflammasome activation [110]. These emerging studies suggest that multiple, non-redundant DNA sensors and mechanisms may be activated concurrently in retrovirus-infected cells to mediate innate immune and cell death responses.

It has also been proposed that HIV-1 may take advantage of the SAMHD1-TREX1 dichotomy to hide the DNA evidence of its presence and avoid activation of the innate immune system [44]. HIV-1 infection of MDM remains undetected, unless TREX1 is silenced to allow RTI accumulation and subsequent immune activation [102]. Interestingly, TREX1-mediated degradation of cytosolic DNA was recently shown to be inhibited by oxidative stress, which modified the DNA and prevented its degradation [117]. It is currently unknown if this pathway is active during retroviral infection; nevertheless, oxidative modifications of pathogen DNA during reactive oxygen species generation may be an intrinsic mechanism that prevents TREX-mediated degradation of RTI, thus facilitating virus detection by the DNA immune sensors.

### 6. Missing Pieces in the SAMHD1 Puzzle

As a retroviral restriction factor, SAMHD1 limits virus infectivity and replication in certain cell types and inactivation of SAMHD1 may ultimately shape the development of the retroviral reservoir; however, it is unclear to what extent this occurs *in vivo*. For instance, SAMHD1 expression limits the synthesis of HIV-1 provirus in macrophages *in vitro* [16, 41, 44, 46], yet this cell type can serve as a viral reservoir *in vivo* [118, 119]. One *in vitro* study reported that the removal of SAMHD1 significantly reduced azidothymidine-mediated restriction of HIV-1 replication in MDM [52], suggesting that SAMHD1 may play a role in enhancing the effects of antiretroviral therapy during HIV-1 infection. A recent *in vivo* study reported that SAMHD1-deficient mice were not more susceptible to HIV-1 infection but were susceptible to a mutant virus that had a lower affinity for dNTP [120].

Why HIV-1 accessory proteins have not evolved a specific function to counter SAMHD1 activity similar to HIV-2 or SIV Vpx is not fully understood. *Vpx* appears to have evolved from a duplication of the *vpr* gene [121]. The ability to degrade SAMHD1 was initially a function of the Vpr protein, but the two accessory proteins began evolving different roles [122]. It has been suggested that the SIV ancestor of HIV-1 lost the *vpx* gene [123] and that HIV-1 maintains an evolutionary advantage by not replicating in myeloid cells and by reducing the impact of IFN production in certain cell types [49, 111]. HIV-2, in contrast to HIV-1, inherited the SAMHD1-degrading *vpx* gene but is much less pathogenic than HIV-1. More than 70% of HIV-2-positive individuals are long-term non-progressors [124]. HIV-2 also does not replicate well in myeloid

cells [125], likely due to the induction of the IFN response. It should be noted, however, that SIV harboring a defective form of *vpx* was much less pathogenic than wild-type SIV [126], possibly due to functions additional to SAMHD1 degradation, such as nuclear import of cDNA [121]. It was also established that Vpx-mediated induction of the IFN response in myeloid cells was not associated with control of HIV-2 disease progression [127]. That study concluded that Vpx and infection of monocytic cells during HIV-2 infection were not the factors determining pathogenesis.

SAMHD1 may have additional antiretroviral functions, in addition to its triphosphohydrolase activity (Fig. 5) [57, 85, 86]. SAMHD1 also has a metal-dependent 3'-to-5' exonuclease activity that degrades single-stranded RNA or ssDNA overhangs [58]. The exonuclease and triphosphohydrolase activities cannot be performed by SAMHD1 simultaneously, suggesting that both activities require the same active site [58]. SAMHD1 showed no exonuclease activity against circular ssDNA, blunt-ended dsDNA or double-stranded RNA/DNA hybrids. However, 3' and 5' RNA overhangs in double-stranded RNA/DNA hybrids were degraded, with 3' exonuclease activity occurring more rapidly than 5'. SAMHD1 could bind to HIV-1 sequences *in vitro*, and strong binding occurred when the target sequence formed secondary structures [58]. Consistent with this, another group also showed that SAMHD1 could interact with single-stranded RNA and ssDNA *in situ* [63]. It is possible that SAMHD1 attacks retroviruses at this additional level, but it is unclear how SAMHD1, as an exclusively nuclear protein, could interact with retroviral genomic RNA, although Berger *et al.* have indicated that SAMHD1 may be exported to the cytoplasm during the early phases of infection [47] (Fig. 5).



Figure 5: Additional Mechanism of SAMHD1 Mediated Restriction.

A) Current accepted mode of SAMHD1 restriction is dNTP depletion. Incoming viral genomes are unable to complete reverse transcription. B) Addition of exogenous dN can replenish the dNTP pool and counter SAMHD1 function, resulting in the completion of reverse transcription and productive infection. C) Additional mechanisms of SAMHD1 mediated restriction involves its exonuclease activity. SAMHD1 directly targets the RNA genome during slow reverse transcription.

### 7. Broad Range Activity of SAMHD1

SAMHD1 also contributes to the restriction of a number of different retroviruses [57, 85, 128]; feline immunodeficiency virus, bovine immunodeficiency virus, murine leukemia virus, equine infectious anemia virus and mason pfizer monkey virus could also be inhibited by SAMHD1 [57, 85, 128]. Gramberg *et al.* showed that two retroviruses, the prototype foamy virus (PFV) and HTLV-1, were unrestricted by SAMHD1 in MDM and monocyte-derived dendritic cell models. In contrast, our data generated with primary monocytes demonstrated the ability of SAMHD1 to restrict HTLV-1 infection and generate cytoplasmic RTI [113]. PFV reverse transcription occurs prior to entry of targets cells [129], which explains how it is unaffected by SAMHD1.

A recent paper by Hollenbaugh *et al.* has expanded SAMHD1-mediated restriction to nonretroviruses, such as vaccinia and herpes simplex virus type 1. The replication of both viruses could be enhanced in infected cells by Vpx expression, resulting in the degradation of SAMHD1 [130]. Interestingly, vaccinia virus encodes dNTP biosynthetic enzymatic activities such as thymidine kinase and ribonucleotide reductase to increase dNTP levels in infected cells [131, 132]. Mutant vaccinia that did not contain thymidine kinase was more sensitive to SAMHD1mediated restriction, and infected cells displayed lower dNTP levels than those infected with wild-type virus, indicating that SAMHD1 triphosphohydrolase activity mediated restriction [130]. Overall, these studies demonstrate that SAMHD1 host restriction extends beyond human retroviruses and includes the capacity to inhibit a broad range of viruses.

#### 8. Perspectives

This review highlights the convergence of two rapidly evolving areas of viral immunology— SAMHD1 host restriction factor inhibition of virus multiplication and innate immune sensing of viral DNA. With the recognition that early retroviral reverse transcriptase intermediates essentially strong-stop DNA—are recognized by emerging DNA sensors such as IFI16, cGAS and STING, many questions emerge. What are the precise associations between these signaling molecules leading to the antiviral response; how are antiviral responses linked to cell death programs in abortively infected cells; what role do other sensors play in a cell type or differentiation specific context. SAMHD1 has other non-triphosphohydrolase activities that potentially restrict retroviral infection, but their modes of action are not understood. SAMHD1 and TREX1 likely function in tandem in normal physiology, but molecular mechanisms that regulate SAMHD1 and TREX1 activity are unknown. It is not yet clear how SAMHD1-mediated host restriction and innate sensing of retroviral DNA intermediates impact proviral DNA generation and integration, or if this restriction ultimately affects the generation of a latent HIV-1 reservoir. A considerable amount of work remains to clarify the mechanistic details that link SAMHD1 host restriction of HIV-1 and other retroviruses with downstream innate signaling and apoptotic pathways. These and other important insights will assist in the development of new antiviral therapies to boost the immune response to viral and bacterial pathogens.

### Acknowledgements

This project was supported by research funds from VGTI Florida the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (#MOP-106686).

### References

[1] Neil S, Bieniasz P. Human immunodeficiency virus, restriction factors, and interferon. Journal of interferon & cytokine research : the official journal of the International Society for Interferon and Cytokine Research. 2009;29:569-80.

[2] Zheng YH, Jeang KT, Tokunaga K. Host restriction factors in retroviral infection: promises in virus-host interaction. Retrovirology. 2012;9:112.

[3] Kumar H, Kawai T, Akira S. Pathogen recognition by the innate immune system. International reviews of immunology. 2011;30:16-34.

[4] Blasius AL, Beutler B. Intracellular toll-like receptors. Immunity. 2010;32:305-15.

[5] Kawai T, Akira S. Regulation of innate immune signalling pathways by the tripartite motif (TRIM) family proteins. EMBO molecular medicine. 2011;3:513-27.

[6] Dixit E, Kagan JC. Intracellular pathogen detection by RIG-I-like receptors. Advances in immunology. 2013;117:99-125.

[7] Sun L, Wu J, Du F, Chen X, Chen ZJ. Cyclic GMP-AMP synthase is a cytosolic DNA sensor that activates the type I interferon pathway. Science (New York, NY). 2013;339:786-91.

[8] Ferguson BJ, Mansur DS, Peters NE, Ren H, Smith GL. DNA-PK is a DNA sensor for IRF-3-dependent innate immunity. eLife. 2012;1:e00047.

[9] Cooper A, Garcia M, Petrovas C, Yamamoto T, Koup RA, Nabel GJ. HIV-1 causes CD4 cell death through DNA-dependent protein kinase during viral integration. Nature. 2013;498:376-9.

[10] Horan KA, Hansen K, Jakobsen MR, Holm CK, Soby S, Unterholzner L, et al. Proteasomal degradation of herpes simplex virus capsids in macrophages releases DNA to the cytosol for recognition by DNA sensors. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950). 2013;190:2311-9.

[11] Unterholzner L, Keating SE, Baran M, Horan KA, Jensen SB, Sharma S, et al. IFI16 is an innate immune sensor for intracellular DNA. Nature immunology. 2010;11:997-1004.

[12] Hornung V, Ablasser A, Charrel-Dennis M, Bauernfeind F, Horvath G, Caffrey DR, et al. AIM2 recognizes cytosolic dsDNA and forms a caspase-1-activating inflammasome with ASC. Nature. 2009;458:514-8.

[13] Fernandes-Alnemri T, Yu JW, Datta P, Wu J, Alnemri ES. AIM2 activates the inflammasome and cell death in response to cytoplasmic DNA. Nature. 2009;458:509-13.

[14] Roberts TL, Idris A, Dunn JA, Kelly GM, Burnton CM, Hodgson S, et al. HIN-200 proteins regulate caspase activation in response to foreign cytoplasmic DNA. Science (New York, NY). 2009;323:1057-60.

[15] Burckstummer T, Baumann C, Bluml S, Dixit E, Durnberger G, Jahn H, et al. An orthogonal proteomic-genomic screen identifies AIM2 as a cytoplasmic DNA sensor for the inflammasome. Nature immunology. 2009;10:266-72.

[16] Goujon C, Schaller T, Galao RP, Amie SM, Kim B, Olivieri K, et al. Evidence for IFNalpha-induced, SAMHD1-independent inhibitors of early HIV-1 infection. Retrovirology. 2013;10:23.

[17] Burdette DL, Vance RE. STING and the innate immune response to nucleic acids in the cytosol. Nature immunology. 2013;14:19-26.

[18] Abe T, Harashima A, Xia T, Konno H, Konno K, Morales A, et al. STING Recognition of Cytoplasmic DNA Instigates Cellular Defense. Molecular cell. 2013;50:5-15.

[19] Ishikawa H, Barber GN. STING is an endoplasmic reticulum adaptor that facilitates innate immune signalling. Nature. 2008;455:674-8.

[20] Ishikawa H, Ma Z, Barber GN. STING regulates intracellular DNA-mediated, type I interferon-dependent innate immunity. Nature. 2009;461:788-92.

[21] Zhong B, Yang Y, Li S, Wang YY, Li Y, Diao F, et al. The adaptor protein MITA links virus-sensing receptors to IRF3 transcription factor activation. Immunity. 2008;29:538-50.

[22] Ablasser A, Goldeck M, Cavlar T, Deimling T, Witte G, Rohl I, et al. cGAS produces a 2'-5'-linked cyclic dinucleotide second messenger that activates STING. Nature. 2013;498:380-4.

[23] Civril F, Deimling T, de Oliveira Mann CC, Ablasser A, Moldt M, Witte G, et al. Structural mechanism of cytosolic DNA sensing by cGAS. Nature. 2013;498:332-7.

[24] Ablasser A, Schmid-Burgk JL, Hemmerling I, Horvath GL, Schmidt T, Latz E, et al. Cell intrinsic immunity spreads to bystander cells via the intercellular transfer of cGAMP. Nature. 2013.

[25] Sheehy AM, Gaddis NC, Choi JD, Malim MH. Isolation of a human gene that inhibits HIV-1 infection and is suppressed by the viral Vif protein. Nature. 2002;418:646-50.

[26] Wiegand HL, Doehle BP, Bogerd HP, Cullen BR. A second human antiretroviral factor, APOBEC3F, is suppressed by the HIV-1 and HIV-2 Vif proteins. The EMBO journal. 2004;23:2451-8.

[27] Bishop KN, Holmes RK, Sheehy AM, Davidson NO, Cho SJ, Malim MH. Cytidine deamination of retroviral DNA by diverse APOBEC proteins. Current biology : CB. 2004;14:1392-6.

[28] Dang Y, Siew LM, Wang X, Han Y, Lampen R, Zheng YH. Human cytidine deaminaseAPOBEC3H restricts HIV-1 replication. The Journal of biological chemistry. 2008;283:11606-14.

[29] OhAinle M, Kerns JA, Malik HS, Emerman M. Adaptive evolution and antiviral activity of the conserved mammalian cytidine deaminase APOBEC3H. Journal of virology. 2006;80:3853-62.

[30] Sasada A, Takaori-Kondo A, Shirakawa K, Kobayashi M, Abudu A, Hishizawa M, et al. APOBEC3G targets human T-cell leukemia virus type 1. Retrovirology. 2005;2:32.

[31] Ooms M, Krikoni A, Kress AK, Simon V, Munk C. APOBEC3A, APOBEC3B, and APOBEC3H haplotype 2 restrict human T-lymphotropic virus type 1. Journal of virology. 2012;86:6097-108.

[32] Mangeat B, Turelli P, Caron G, Friedli M, Perrin L, Trono D. Broad antiretroviral defence by human APOBEC3G through lethal editing of nascent reverse transcripts. Nature. 2003;424:99-103.

[33] Mariani R, Chen D, Schrofelbauer B, Navarro F, Konig R, Bollman B, et al. Speciesspecific exclusion of APOBEC3G from HIV-1 virions by Vif. Cell. 2003;114:21-31.

[34] Derse D, Hill SA, Princler G, Lloyd P, Heidecker G. Resistance of human T cell leukemia virus type 1 to APOBEC3G restriction is mediated by elements in nucleocapsid. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2007;104:2915-20.

[35] Fletcher AJ, Towers GJ. Inhibition of retroviral replication by members of the TRIM protein family. Current topics in microbiology and immunology. 2013;371:29-66.

[36] Perez-Caballero D, Zang T, Ebrahimi A, McNatt MW, Gregory DA, Johnson MC, et al. Tetherin inhibits HIV-1 release by directly tethering virions to cells. Cell. 2009;139:499-511.

[37] Neil SJ, Zang T, Bieniasz PD. Tetherin inhibits retrovirus release and is antagonized by HIV-1 Vpu. Nature. 2008;451:425-30.

[38] Van Damme N, Goff D, Katsura C, Jorgenson RL, Mitchell R, Johnson MC, et al. The interferon-induced protein BST-2 restricts HIV-1 release and is downregulated from the cell surface by the viral Vpu protein. Cell host & microbe. 2008;3:245-52.

[39] Pais-Correia AM, Sachse M, Guadagnini S, Robbiati V, Lasserre R, Gessain A, et al. Biofilm-like extracellular viral assemblies mediate HTLV-1 cell-to-cell transmission at virological synapses. Nature medicine. 2010;16:83-9. [40] Laguette N, Sobhian B, Casartelli N, Ringeard M, Chable-Bessia C, Segeral E, et al. SAMHD1 is the dendritic- and myeloid-cell-specific HIV-1 restriction factor counteracted by Vpx. Nature. 2011;474:654-7.

[41] Hrecka K, Hao C, Gierszewska M, Swanson SK, Kesik-Brodacka M, Srivastava S, et al. Vpx relieves inhibition of HIV-1 infection of macrophages mediated by the SAMHD1 protein. Nature. 2011;474:658-61.

[42] Goldstone DC, Ennis-Adeniran V, Hedden JJ, Groom HCT, Rice GI, Christodoulou E, et al. HIV-1 restriction factor SAMHD1 is a deoxynucleoside triphosphate triphosphohydrolase. Nature. 2011;480:379.

[43] Powell RD, Holland PJ, Hollis T, Perrino FW. Aicardi-Goutieres syndrome gene and HIV-1 restriction factor SAMHD1 is a dGTP-regulated deoxynucleotide triphosphohydrolase. The Journal of biological chemistry. 2011;286:43596-600.

[44] Lahouassa H, Daddacha W, Hofmann H, Ayinde D, Logue EC, Dragin L, et al. SAMHD1 restricts the replication of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 by depleting the intracellular pool of deoxynucleoside triphosphates. Nature immunology. 2012;13:223-8.

[45] Baldauf HM, Pan X, Erikson E, Schmidt S, Daddacha W, Burggraf M, et al. SAMHD1 restricts HIV-1 infection in resting CD4(+) T cells. Nature medicine. 2012;18:1682-7.

[46] Dragin L, Nguyen LA, Lahouassa H, Sourisce A, Kim B, Ramirez BC, et al. Interferon block to HIV-1 transduction in macrophages despite SAMHD1 degradation and high deoxynucleoside triphosphates supply. Retrovirology. 2013;10:30.

[47] Berger A, Sommer AF, Zwarg J, Hamdorf M, Welzel K, Esly N, et al. SAMHD1-deficient CD14+ cells from individuals with Aicardi-Goutieres syndrome are highly susceptible to HIV-1 infection. PLoS pathogens. 2011;7:e1002425.

[48] St Gelais C, de Silva S, Amie SM, Coleman CM, Hoy H, Hollenbaugh JA, et al. SAMHD1 restricts HIV-1 infection in dendritic cells (DCs) by dNTP depletion, but its expression in DCs

and primary CD4+ T-lymphocytes cannot be upregulated by interferons. Retrovirology. 2012;9:105.

[49] Puigdomènech I, Casartelli N, Porrot F, Schwartz O. SAMHD1 Restricts HIV-1 Cell-to-Cell Transmission and Limits Immune Detection in Monocyte-Derived Dendritic Cells. Journal of virology. 2013;87:2846-56.

[50] Descours B, Cribier A, Chable-Bessia C, Ayinde D, Rice G, Crow Y, et al. SAMHD1 restricts HIV-1 reverse transcription in quiescent CD4(+) T-cells. Retrovirology. 2012;9:87.

[51] Amie SM, Bambara RA, Kim B. GTP is the Primary Activator of the Anti-HIV Restriction Factor SAMHD1. The Journal of biological chemistry. 2013.

[52] Amie SM, Daly MB, Noble E, Schinazi RF, Bambara RA, Kim B. Anti-HIV Host Factor SAMHD1 Regulates Viral Sensitivity to Nucleoside Reverse Transcriptase Inhibitors via Modulation of Cellular Deoxyribonucleoside Triphosphate (dNTP) Levels. The Journal of biological chemistry. 2013;288:20683-91.

[53] Kennedy EM, Gavegnano C, Nguyen L, Slater R, Lucas A, Fromentin E, et al. Ribonucleoside triphosphates as substrate of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 reverse transcriptase in human macrophages. The Journal of biological chemistry. 2010;285:39380-91.

[54] Traut TW. Physiological concentrations of purines and pyrimidines. Molecular and cellular biochemistry. 1994;140:1-22.

[55] Yan J, Kaur S, DeLucia M, Hao C, Mehrens J, Wang C, et al. Tetramerization of SAMHD1 is required for biological activity and inhibition of HIV infection. The Journal of biological chemistry. 2013;288:10406-17.

[56] Brandariz-Nunez A, Valle-Casuso JC, White TE, Laguette N, Benkirane M, Brojatsch J, et al. Role of SAMHD1 nuclear localization in restriction of HIV-1 and SIVmac. Retrovirology. 2012;9:49.

[57] White TE, Brandariz-Nunez A, Valle-Casuso JC, Amie S, Nguyen L, Kim B, et al. Contribution of SAM and HD domains to retroviral restriction mediated by human SAMHD1. Virology. 2013;436:81-90.

[58] Beloglazova N, Flick R, Tchigvintsev A, Brown G, Popovic A, Nocek B, et al. Nuclease activity of the human SAMHD1 protein implicated in the Aicardi-Goutieres syndrome and HIV-1 restriction. The Journal of biological chemistry. 2013;288:8101-10.

[59] Guo H, Wei W, Wei Z, Liu X, Evans SL, Yang W, et al. Identification of Critical Regions in Human SAMHD1 Required for Nuclear Localization and Vpx-Mediated Degradation. PloS one. 2013;8:e66201.

[60] Franzolin E, Pontarin G, Rampazzo C, Miazzi C, Ferraro P, Palumbo E, et al. The deoxynucleotide triphosphohydrolase SAMHD1 is a major regulator of DNA precursor pools in mammalian cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2013.

[61] Hofmann H, Logue EC, Bloch N, Daddacha W, Polsky SB, Schultz ML, et al. The Vpx lentiviral accessory protein targets SAMHD1 for degradation in the nucleus. Journal of virology. 2012;86:12552-60.

[62] Goncalves A, Karayel E, Rice GI, Bennett KL, Crow YJ, Superti-Furga G, et al. SAMHD1 is a nucleic-acid binding protein that is mislocalized due to aicardi-goutieres syndrome-associated mutations. Human mutation. 2012;33:1116-22.

[63] Tungler V, Staroske W, Kind B, Dobrick M, Kretschmer S, Schmidt F, et al. Singlestranded nucleic acids promote SAMHD1 complex formation. Journal of molecular medicine (Berlin, Germany). 2013;91:759-70.

[64] Ahn J, Hao C, Yan J, DeLucia M, Mehrens J, Wang C, et al. HIV/simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV) accessory virulence factor Vpx loads the host cell restriction factor SAMHD1 onto the E3 ubiquitin ligase complex CRL4DCAF1. The Journal of biological chemistry. 2012;287:12550-8.

[65] Goujon C, Arfi V, Pertel T, Luban J, Lienard J, Rigal D, et al. Characterization of simian immunodeficiency virus SIVSM/human immunodeficiency virus type 2 Vpx function in human myeloid cells. Journal of virology. 2008;82:12335-45.

[66] Goujon C, Riviere L, Jarrosson-Wuilleme L, Bernaud J, Rigal D, Darlix JL, et al. SIVSM/HIV-2 Vpx proteins promote retroviral escape from a proteasome-dependent restriction pathway present in human dendritic cells. Retrovirology. 2007;4:2.

[67] Kaushik R, Zhu X, Stranska R, Wu Y, Stevenson M. A cellular restriction dictates the permissivity of nondividing monocytes/macrophages to lentivirus and gammaretrovirus infection. Cell host & microbe. 2009;6:68-80.

[68] Srivastava S, Swanson SK, Manel N, Florens L, Washburn MP, Skowronski J. Lentiviral Vpx accessory factor targets VprBP/DCAF1 substrate adaptor for cullin 4 E3 ubiquitin ligase to enable macrophage infection. PLoS pathogens. 2008;4:e1000059.

[69] Bergamaschi A, Ayinde D, David A, Le Rouzic E, Morel M, Collin G, et al. The human immunodeficiency virus type 2 Vpx protein usurps the CUL4A-DDB1 DCAF1 ubiquitin ligase to overcome a postentry block in macrophage infection. Journal of virology. 2009;83:4854-60.

[70] Fujita M, Otsuka M, Miyoshi M, Khamsri B, Nomaguchi M, Adachi A. Vpx is critical for reverse transcription of the human immunodeficiency virus type 2 genome in macrophages. Journal of virology. 2008;82:7752-6.

[71] Wei W, Guo H, Han X, Liu X, Zhou X, Zhang W, et al. A novel DCAF1-binding motif required for Vpx-mediated degradation of nuclear SAMHD1 and Vpr-induced G2 arrest. Cellular microbiology. 2012;14:1745-56.

[72] Belshan M, Mahnke LA, Ratner L. Conserved amino acids of the human immunodeficiency virus type 2 Vpx nuclear localization signal are critical for nuclear targeting of the viral preintegration complex in non-dividing cells. Virology. 2006;346:118-26.

[73] Mahalingam S, Van Tine B, Santiago ML, Gao F, Shaw GM, Hahn BH. Functional analysis of the simian immunodeficiency virus Vpx protein: identification of packaging determinants and a novel nuclear targeting domain. Journal of virology. 2001;75:362-74.

[74] Belshan M, Ratner L. Identification of the nuclear localization signal of human immunodeficiency virus type 2 Vpx. Virology. 2003;311:7-15.

[75] Laguette N, Rahm N, Sobhian B, Chable-Bessia C, Munch J, Snoeck J, et al. Evolutionary and functional analyses of the interaction between the myeloid restriction factor SAMHD1 and the lentiviral Vpx protein. Cell host & microbe. 2012;11:205-17.

[76] Sharova N, Wu Y, Zhu X, Stranska R, Kaushik R, Sharkey M, et al. Primate lentiviral Vpx commandeers DDB1 to counteract a macrophage restriction. PLoS pathogens. 2008;4:e1000057.

[77] Fregoso OI, Ahn J, Wang C, Mehrens J, Skowronski J, Emerman M. Evolutionary toggling of Vpx/Vpr specificity results in divergent recognition of the restriction factor SAMHD1. PLoS pathogens. 2013;9:e1003496.

[78] Hofmann H, Norton TD, Schultz ML, Polsky SB, Sunseri N, Landau NR. Inhibition of Cul4A neddylation causes a reversible block to SAMHD1-mediated restriction of HIV-1. Journal of virology. 2013.

[79] Kim B, Nguyen LA, Daddacha W, Hollenbaugh JA. Tight interplay among SAMHD1 protein level, cellular dNTP levels, and HIV-1 proviral DNA synthesis kinetics in human primary monocyte-derived macrophages. The Journal of biological chemistry. 2012;287:21570-4.

[80] DeLucia M, Mehrens J, Wu Y, Ahn J. HIV-2 and SIVmac accessory virulence factor Vpx down-regulates SAMHD1 enzyme catalysis prior to proteasome-dependent degradation. The Journal of biological chemistry. 2013;288:19116-26.

[81] Cribier A, Descours B, Valadao AL, Laguette N, Benkirane M. Phosphorylation of SAMHD1 by Cyclin A2/CDK1 Regulates Its Restriction Activity toward HIV-1. Cell reports. 2013.

[82] Pauls E, Jimenez E, Ruiz A, Permanyer M, Ballana E, Costa H, et al. Restriction of HIV-1 replication in primary macrophages by IL-12 and IL-18 through the upregulation of SAMHD1. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950). 2013;190:4736-41.

[83] de Silva S, Hoy H, Hake TS, Wong HK, Porcu P, Wu L. Promoter methylation regulates SAMHD1 gene expression in human CD4+ T cells. The Journal of biological chemistry. 2013;288:9284-92.

[84] Bloch N, O'Brien M, Norton TD, Polsky SB, Bhardwaj N, Landau NR. HIV-1 Infection of Plasmacytoid and Myeloid Dendritic Cells is Restricted by High Levels of SAMHD1 that Cannot be Counteracted by Vpx. AIDS research and human retroviruses. 2013.

[85] White TE, Brandariz-Nunez A, Valle-Casuso JC, Amie S, Nguyen LA, Kim B, et al. The retroviral restriction ability of SAMHD1, but not its deoxynucleotide triphosphohydrolase activity, is regulated by phosphorylation. Cell host & microbe. 2013;13:441-51.

[86] Welbourn S, Dutta SM, Semmes OJ, Strebel K. Restriction of virus infection but not catalytic dNTPase activity are regulated by phosphorylation of SAMHD1. Journal of virology. 2013.

[87] Koseoglu MM, Dong J, Marzluff WF. Coordinate regulation of histone mRNA metabolism and DNA replication: cyclin A/cdk1 is involved in inactivation of histone mRNA metabolism and DNA replication at the end of S phase. Cell cycle. 2010;9:3857-63.

[88] Hass R, Gunji H, Datta R, Kharbanda S, Hartmann A, Weichselbaum R, et al. Differentiation and retrodifferentiation of human myeloid leukemia cells is associated with reversible induction of cell cycle-regulatory genes. Cancer research. 1992;52:1445-50.

[89] Traore K, Trush MA, George M, Jr., Spannhake EW, Anderson W, Asseffa A. Signal transduction of phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate (PMA)-induced growth inhibition of human monocytic leukemia THP-1 cells is reactive oxygen dependent. Leukemia research. 2005;29:863-79.

[90] Bergamaschi A, David A, Le Rouzic E, Nisole S, Barre-Sinoussi F, Pancino G. The CDK inhibitor p21Cip1/WAF1 is induced by FcgammaR activation and restricts the replication of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 and related primate lentiviruses in human macrophages. Journal of virology. 2009;83:12253-65.

[91] Mandal M, Bandyopadhyay D, Goepfert TM, Kumar R. Interferon-induces expression of cyclin-dependent kinase-inhibitors p21WAF1 and p27Kip1 that prevent activation of cyclin-dependent kinase by CDK-activating kinase (CAK). Oncogene. 1998;16:217-25.

[92] Katayama T, Nakanishi K, Nishihara H, Kamiyama N, Nakagawa T, Kamiyama T, et al. Type I interferon prolongs cell cycle progression via p21WAF1/CIP1 induction in human colon cancer cells. International journal of oncology. 2007;31:613-20.

[93] Rice GI, Bond J, Asipu A, Brunette RL, Manfield IW, Carr IM, et al. Mutations involved in Aicardi-Goutieres syndrome implicate SAMHD1 as regulator of the innate immune response. Nature genetics. 2009;41:829-32.

[94] Lebon P, Badoual J, Ponsot G, Goutieres F, Hemeury-Cukier F, Aicardi J. Intrathecal synthesis of interferon-alpha in infants with progressive familial encephalopathy. Journal of the neurological sciences. 1988;84:201-8.

[95] Rigby RE, Leitch A, Jackson AP. Nucleic acid-mediated inflammatory diseases. BioEssays : news and reviews in molecular, cellular and developmental biology. 2008;30:833-42.

[96] Atianand MK, Fitzgerald KA. Molecular basis of DNA recognition in the immune system. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950). 2013;190:1911-8.

[97] Migliorini A, Anders HJ. A novel pathogenetic concept-antiviral immunity in lupus nephritis. Nature reviews Nephrology. 2012;8:183-9.

[98] Behrendt R, Schumann T, Gerbaulet A, Nguyen LA, Schubert N, Alexopoulou D, et al. Mouse SAMHD1 Has Antiretroviral Activity and Suppresses a Spontaneous Cell-Intrinsic Antiviral Response. Cell reports. 2013;4:689-96. [99] Crow YJ, Leitch A, Hayward BE, Garner A, Parmar R, Griffith E, et al. Mutations in genes encoding ribonuclease H2 subunits cause Aicardi-Goutieres syndrome and mimic congenital viral brain infection. Nature genetics. 2006;38:910-6.

[100] Crow YJ, Hayward BE, Parmar R, Robins P, Leitch A, Ali M, et al. Mutations in the gene encoding the 3'-5' DNA exonuclease TREX1 cause Aicardi-Goutieres syndrome at the AGS1 locus. Nature genetics. 2006;38:917-20.

[101] Stetson DB, Ko JS, Heidmann T, Medzhitov R. Trex1 prevents cell-intrinsic initiation of autoimmunity. Cell. 2008;134:587-98.

[102] Yan N, Regalado-Magdos AD, Stiggelbout B, Lee-Kirsch MA, Lieberman J. The cytosolic exonuclease TREX1 inhibits the innate immune response to human immunodeficiency virus type 1. Nature immunology. 2010;11:1005-13.

[103] Gall A, Treuting P, Elkon KB, Loo YM, Gale M, Jr., Barber GN, et al. Autoimmunity initiates in nonhematopoietic cells and progresses via lymphocytes in an interferon-dependent autoimmune disease. Immunity. 2012;36:120-31.

[104] Hiller B, Achleitner M, Glage S, Naumann R, Behrendt R, Roers A. Mammalian RNase H2 removes ribonucleotides from DNA to maintain genome integrity. The Journal of experimental medicine. 2012;209:1419-26.

[105] Genovesio A, Kwon YJ, Windisch MP, Kim NY, Choi SY, Kim HC, et al. Automated genome-wide visual profiling of cellular proteins involved in HIV infection. Journal of biomolecular screening. 2011;16:945-58.

[106] Kennedy EM, Amie SM, Bambara RA, Kim B. Frequent incorporation of ribonucleotides during HIV-1 reverse transcription and their attenuated repair in macrophages. The Journal of biological chemistry. 2012;287:14280-8.

[107] Paludan SR, Bowie AG. Immune sensing of DNA. Immunity. 2013;38:870-80.

[108] Xiao TS, Fitzgerald KA. The cGAS-STING pathway for DNA sensing. Molecular cell. 2013;51:135-9.

[109] Li XD, Wu J, Gao D, Wang H, Sun L, Chen ZJ. Pivotal roles of cGAS-cGAMP signaling in antiviral defense and immune adjuvant effects. Science (New York, NY). 2013;341:1390-4.

[110] Abdul-Sater AA, Tattoli I, Jin L, Grajkowski A, Levi A, Koller BH, et al. Cyclic-di-GMP and cyclic-di-AMP activate the NLRP3 inflammasome. EMBO reports. 2013;14:900-6.

[111] Gao D, Wu J, Wu YT, Du F, Aroh C, Yan N, et al. Cyclic GMP-AMP synthase is an innate immune sensor of HIV and other retroviruses. Science (New York, NY). 2013;341:903-6.

[112] Jakobsen MR, Bak RO, Andersen A, Berg RK, Jensen SB, Laustsen A, et al. IFI16 senses DNA forms of the lentiviral replication cycle and controls HIV-1 replication. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2013.

[113] Sze A, Belgnaoui S, Olagnier D, Lin R, Hiscott J, van Grevenynghe J. Host Restriction Factor SAMHD1 Limits Human T Cell Leukemia Virus Type 1 Infection of Monocytes via STING-Mediated Apoptosis. Cell host & microbe. 2013;14.

[114] Doitsh G, Cavrois M, Lassen KG, Zepeda O, Yang Z, Santiago ML, et al. Abortive HIV infection mediates CD4 T cell depletion and inflammation in human lymphoid tissue. Cell. 2010;143:789-801.

[115] Chattopadhyay S, Yamashita M, Zhang Y, Sen GC. The IRF-3/Bax-mediated apoptotic pathway, activated by viral cytoplasmic RNA and DNA, inhibits virus replication. Journal of virology. 2011;85:3708-16.

[116] Petrasek J, Iracheta-Vellve A, Csak T, Satishchandran A, Kodys K, Kurt-Jones EA, et al. STING-IRF3 pathway links endoplasmic reticulum stress with hepatocyte apoptosis in early alcoholic liver disease. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2013;110:16544-9.

[117] Gehrke N, Mertens C, Zillinger T, Wenzel J, Bald T, Zahn S, et al. Oxidative Damage of DNA Confers Resistance to Cytosolic Nuclease TREX1 Degradation and Potentiates STING-Dependent Immune Sensing. Immunity. 2013;39:482-95.

[118] Cobos-Jimenez V, Booiman T, Hamann J, Kootstra NA. Macrophages and HIV-1. Current opinion in HIV and AIDS. 2011;6:385-90.

[119] Ghiglione Y, Turk G. Nef performance in macrophages: the master orchestrator of viral persistence and spread. Current HIV research. 2011;9:505-13.

[120] Rehwinkel J, Maelfait J, Bridgeman A, Rigby R, Hayward B, Liberatore RA, et al.SAMHD1-dependent retroviral control and escape in mice. The EMBO journal. 2013;32:2454-62.

[121] Ayinde D, Maudet C, Transy C, Margottin-Goguet F. Limelight on two HIV/SIV accessory proteins in macrophage infection: is Vpx overshadowing Vpr? Retrovirology. 2010;7:35.

[122] Lim ES, Fregoso OI, McCoy CO, Matsen FA, Malik HS, Emerman M. The ability of primate lentiviruses to degrade the monocyte restriction factor SAMHD1 preceded the birth of the viral accessory protein Vpx. Cell host & microbe. 2012;11:194-204.

[123] Zhang C, de Silva S, Wang JH, Wu L. Co-evolution of primate SAMHD1 and lentivirus Vpx leads to the loss of the vpx gene in HIV-1 ancestor. PloS one. 2012;7:e37477.

[124] da Silva ZJ, Oliveira I, Andersen A, Dias F, Rodrigues A, Holmgren B, et al. Changes in prevalence and incidence of HIV-1, HIV-2 and dual infections in urban areas of Bissau, Guinea-Bissau: is HIV-2 disappearing? Aids. 2008;22:1195-202.

[125] Duvall MG, Lore K, Blaak H, Ambrozak DA, Adams WC, Santos K, et al. Dendritic cells are less susceptible to human immunodeficiency virus type 2 (HIV-2) infection than to HIV-1 infection. Journal of virology. 2007;81:13486-98.

[126] Belshan M, Kimata JT, Brown C, Cheng X, McCulley A, Larsen A, et al. Vpx is critical for SIVmne infection of pigtail macaques. Retrovirology. 2012;9:32.

[127] Yu H, Usmani SM, Borch A, Kramer J, Sturzel CM, Khalid M, et al. The efficiency of Vpx-mediated SAMHD1 antagonism does not correlate with the potency of viral control in HIV-2-infected individuals. Retrovirology. 2013;10:27.

[128] Gramberg T, Kahle T, Bloch N, Wittmann S, Mullers E, Daddacha W, et al. Restriction of diverse retroviruses by SAMHD1. Retrovirology. 2013;10:26.

[129] Yu SF, Sullivan MD, Linial ML. Evidence that the human foamy virus genome is DNA. Journal of virology. 1999;73:1565-72.

[130] Hollenbaugh JA, Gee P, Baker J, Daly MB, Amie SM, Tate J, et al. Host Factor SAMHD1 Restricts DNA Viruses in Non-Dividing Myeloid Cells. PLoS pathogens. 2013;9:e1003481.

[131] Hruby DE, Guarino LA. Novel codon utilization within the vaccinia virus thymidine kinase gene. Virus research. 1984;1:315-20.

[132] Gammon DB, Gowrishankar B, Duraffour S, Andrei G, Upton C, Evans DH. Vaccinia virus-encoded ribonucleotide reductase subunits are differentially required for replication and pathogenesis. PLoS pathogens. 2010;6:e1000984.

# **Rationale and Objectives**

One of the major obstacles in the development of effective anti-HTLV-1 therapies is the lack of basic understanding regarding the factors that determine viral associated pathology. The early events of HTLV-1 infection are significantly understudied and may be key in discerning pathological outcomes. Specifically, viral interactions with the immune system likely play a major role in disease progression and are the focus of the following chapters. We set out to study the early events of HTLV-1 infection in two important immunologically relevant peripheral blood mononuclear cell populations, monocytes and CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells.

Monocytes are one of the most common types of immune cell, and likely the first cells that interact with cell-free HTLV-1 once it enters the bloodstream. During studies with primary untouched human monocytes, we wished to investigate what the impact of *de novo* HTLV-1 infection was on survival and immune responses, and if SAMHD1 could restrict HTLV-1 like HIV-1. We had the following three specific aims:

- 1. Characterize in vitro HTLV-1 infection of human monocytes.
- 2. Investigate and analyze monocyte survival following HTLV-1 infection.
- 3. Identify underlying mechanism responsible for apoptosis within infected cells.

The normal function of CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells is vital for proper immunological responses. They are also the main target of HTLV-1 infection, and their deregulation is associated with HTLV-1 diseases. Our investigations in activated primary human CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells led us to investigate if HTLV-1 could repress FOXO3a signaling during the early stages of infection to influence viral persistence and spread. We had the following three specific aims for that study:

- Characterize *de novo* HTLV-1 productive infection of primary human CD4<sup>+</sup>T-cells in terms of cellular persistence.
- 2. Investigate and analyze Foxo3a activity following HTLV-1 infection.
- 3. Identify underlying mechanism responsible for enhanced persistence.

# **Chapter 3: Host Restriction Factor SAMHD1 Limits Human T Cell Leukemia Virus Type 1 Infection of Monocytes via Sting-Mediated Apoptosis**

Alexandre Sze<sup>1</sup>, S. Mehdi Belgnaoui<sup>1</sup>, David Olagnier<sup>2</sup>, Rongtuan Lin<sup>1</sup>, John Hiscott<sup>1,2\*</sup>,

and Julien van Grevenynghe<sup>1,2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Lady Davis Institute-Jewish General Hospital, McGill University, Montreal, Canada H3T 1E2

<sup>2</sup>Vaccine and Gene Therapy Institute of Florida, Port St. Lucie, Fl. 34987, United States

1. SUMMARY

Human T cell leukemia virus type 1 (HTLV-1) is the causative agent of adult T cell leukemia and HTLV-1-associated myelopathies. In addition to T cells, HTLV-1 infects cells of the myeloid lineage, which play critical roles in the host innate response to viral infection. Investigating the monocyte depletion observed during HTLV-1 infection, we discovered that primary human monocytes infected with HTLV-1 undergo abortive infection accompanied by apoptosis dependent on SAMHD1, a host restriction factor that hydrolyzes endogenous dNTPs to below the levels required for productive reverse transcription. Reverse transcription intermediates (RTI) produced in the presence of SAMHD1 induced IRF3-mediated antiviral and apoptotic responses. Viral RTIs complexed with the DNA sensor STING to trigger formation of an IRF3-Bax complex leading to apoptosis. This study provides a mechanistic explanation for abortive HTLV-1 infection of monocytes and reports a link between SAMHD1 restriction, HTLV-1 RTI sensing by STING, and initiation of IRF3-Bax driven apoptosis.

### HIGHLIGHTS

- HTLV-1 infection of primary monocytes is nonproductive and elicits an antiviral response
- Host restriction factor SAMHD1 aborts HTLV-1 reverse transcription
- HTLV-1 reverse transcription intermediates (RTI) form a complex with STING
- RTI sensing by STING generates an IRF3-Bax complex that triggers apoptosis to limit HTLV-1

### **Graphical Abstract**



Figure S6. Schematic of SAMHD1-mediated inhibition of HTLV-1 infection in monocytes.

HTLV-1 elicits a non-productive infection in primary monocytes that culminates in the activation of an IRF-3 mediated antiviral response and cellular apoptosis. SAMHD1 hydrolyzes the host dNTP pool, thus limiting the reverse transcription of vRNA in monocytes a), leading to the production of reverse transcription intermediates (RTI) (b). The viral RTI complex with the endoplasmic reticulum DNA sensor STING (c) and mediate activation of the type I IFN response through IRF3 (d). STING signaling also leads to the formation of a pro-apoptotic IRF3-Bax complex (e), leading to apoptosis via mitochondrial depolarization and caspase 1/3/9 activation (f).

### 2. INTRODUCTION

Infection with human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 (HTLV-1) affects approximately 20 million people worldwide (Cook et al., 2013), and is a major cause of mortality and morbidity in endemic areas such as southern Japan, the Caribbean basin, Central/South America, and Western Africa (Ragin et al., 2008). Although most of the infected individuals are asymptomatic carriers of the virus, they are also at risk for opportunistic infections (Verdonck et al., 2007). In addition, chronic infection with HTLV-1 can lead to a number of severe pathologies associated with poor prognosis, including the aggressive and fatal adult T-cell leukemia (ATL), progressive HTLV-1associated myelopathy/tropical spastic paraparesis (HAM/TSP), uveitis and infective dermatitis in children (Cook et al., 2013; Yamano and Sato, 2012). HTLV-1 has a preferential tropism for CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells in asymptomatic carriers and ATL patients, while both CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells constitute viral reservoirs in HAM/TSP patients (Cook et al., 2013). Unlike most retroviruses, cell-free HTLV-1 is poorly infectious and does not stably infect its primary CD4<sup>+</sup> T lymphocyte target. Rather, HTLV-1 utilizes various cell-to cell transmission strategies, including transfer of viral assemblies, formation of virological synapses, or formation of intracellular conduits (Igakura et al., 2003; Pais-Correia et al., 2010; Van Prooyen et al., 2010). HTLV-1 also infects cells of the myeloid lineage, which play critical roles in the host innate response to viral infection. For instance, previous studies have shown that cell-free HTLV-1 particles can productively infect DC, which then participate in viral transmission to and transformation of CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells (Jones et al., 2008). HTLV-1 infection of DC elicits early antiviral responses that are mediated by the production of type I interferon (IFN) (Colisson et al., 2010), although the number of peripheral DC as well as the IFN response are markedly reduced in chronically infected asymptomatic and ATL subjects (Hishizawa et al., 2004). Monocyte precursors that would normally replenish the DC population are unable to properly differentiate during chronic HTLV-1 infection and recent evidence indicates monocyte depletion in HTLV-1 infected patients (Makino et al., 2000; Nascimento et al., 2011). The molecular consequences of de novo HTLV-1 infection on host innate immunity in monocytic cells have yet to be elucidated.

Human myeloid and bystander CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells are refractory to HIV-1 infection, in part because the host restriction factor SAMHD1 prevents efficient viral DNA synthesis (Baldauf et al., 2012; Descours et al., 2012; Laguette and Benkirane, 2012; Laguette et al., 2011). SAMHD1 functions within non-dividing cells as a deoxynucleoside triphosphate triphosphohydrolase, which hydrolyzes the endogenous pool of deoxynucleoside triphosphates (dNTP) to levels below the threshold required for reverse transcription (Ayinde et al., 2012; Goldstone et al., 2011; Lahouassa et al., 2012). SAMHD1 was initially characterized in the context of the autoimmune disorder Aicardi-Goutières syndrome, and genetic mutations that render SAMHD1 non-functional result in uncontrolled inflammatory and type I IFN responses against self DNA (Rice et al., 2009). Primary cells from these patients are highly susceptible to HIV-1 infection (Baldauf et al., 2012; Berger et al., 2011; Descours et al., 2012). The Vpx accessory protein of HIV-2 and its counterparts in certain strains of SIV antagonize SAMHD-1 by inducing proteasome-dependent degradation (Ayinde et al., 2012; Laguette et al., 2012). HIV-1 restriction mediated by SAMHD-1 is overcome by silencing its expression with Vpx, or by the addition of exogenous dN (deoxynucleosides) (Baldauf et al., 2012; Descours et al., 2012; Laguette et al., 2012).

Recognition of evolutionarily conserved molecular structures shared by pathogens, known as pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMP), is critical for the initiation of innate immune responses (Kumar et al., 2011). Multiple surface and cytosolic pathogen recognition receptors (PRR) (Kawai and Akira, 2011) have now been identified that sense and respond to microbial infection. Toll-like receptors (TLR) detect distinct PAMP such as lipopolysaccharide (TLR4), single and double stranded RNA (TLR7/8 and TLR3, respectively) and CpG DNA (TLR9) (Blasius and Beutler, 2010; Kawai and Akira, 2011). The retinoic acid-inducible gene-I (RIG-I)like receptors (RLR) - which include RIG-I and MDA5 - represent another PRR family that recognizes cytosolic viral RNA (Blasius and Beutler, 2010; Kawai and Akira, 2011). PRR responsible for the detection of cytosolic DNA include DAI, cGAS and IFI16 - all of which trigger IFN production - as well as AIM2 that stimulates an inflammasome dependent-secretion of the pro-inflammatory IL-1ß cytokine (Barber, 2011; Sun et al., 2013). The endoplasmic reticulum resident adapter STING functions as a DNA sensor for bacterial cyclic GTP (Burdette and Vance, 2013) and mediates detection of viral DNA (Ishikawa and Barber, 2008; Ishikawa et al., 2009; Zhong et al., 2008). STING can also directly complex with single stranded (ss) and double stranded (ds) cytoplasmic viral DNA to initiate antiviral signalling (Abe et al., 2013).

In the present study, we characterized *de novo* infection of primary human monocytes by HTLV-1 and demonstrated that HTLV-1 infection induces SAMHD1-mediated apoptosis in monocytic cells. We further showed that production of HTLV-1 reverse transcription intermediates (RTI) in presence of SAMHD-1 complexed with the innate immune sensor STING and initiated IRF3-Bax directed apoptosis. These results elucidate for the first time the mechanism of HTLV-1 abortive infection of monocytes and link the reverse transcription restriction factor SAMHD1, the sensing of retroviral RTI by STING, and the initiation of IRF3-Bax-driven apoptosis.

### 3. RESULTS

i. Abortive infection of primary monocytes by HTLV-1 activates type I IFN response.

To characterize the impact of HTLV-1 infection on the activation of the host antiviral response in primary human monocytes, we first assessed the percentage of HTLV-1 infected monocytes at 3h post-infection (pi), using increasing concentrations of purified HTLV-1 (0-5 µg/mL). Virus binding to monocytes was dependent on the quantity of HTLV-1, as illustrated by surface staining with anti-Env (gp46) monoclonal antibodies (Figure 1A); for subsequent experiments, an HTLV-1 concentration of  $2\mu g/ml$  was used, since >90% of the cells displayed virus binding (Figure 1A) (91.7  $\pm$  4.8% gp46<sup>+</sup>cells; P > 0.05; n = 5). HTLV-1 particles were efficiently internalized by monocytes, as demonstrated by the detection of intracellular HTLV-1 viral RNA (vRNA) starting at 3h pi, with the viral load gradually decreasing over the 120h time course (Figure 1B). HTLV-1 internalization in monocytes was further demonstrated by intracellular staining (ICS) for the viral matrix protein p19 at 24h pi (Figure 1C, blue histograms) (86.7  $\pm$ 6.2% of p19<sup>+</sup> monocytes; P < 0.01 compared to uninfected cells; n = 5). Importantly, viral binding and internalization was eliminated by pre-treating HTLV-1 with anti-gp46 neutralizing mAb or pre-treating monocytes with 0.1% trypsin, as previously reported (Jones et al., 2005) (Figure 1C) (P < 0.01 compared to infected cells). The absence of intracellular Tax protein and virion release at 24 and 48h pi indicated that monocytes were not productively infected by HTLV-1 (Figure 1C and Figure S1 respectively). Monocyte-derived DC (MDDC) were productively infected with HTLV-1 ( $40.6 \pm 5.7\%$  Tax<sup>+</sup> cells at 24h pi) (data not shown).

Despite the non-productive infection by HTLV-1, monocytes generated a robust innate immune response, as illustrated by the induction of multiple parameters of the antiviral signaling pathway. An early increase in phosphorylated interferon regulatory factor 3 (P-IRF3) was detected at 3h pi (**Figure 1D**), while increased expression of STAT1, phosphorylated STAT1 (P-STAT1), interferon stimulated gene 56 (ISG56) and RIG-I were observed at 24 and 48h pi.





Figure 1. Early type I IFN response in monocytes following abortive HTLV-1 infection.

(A–C) Purified monocytes were infected with HTLV-1 for 3 hr and then cocultured with the autologous CD14<sup>neg</sup> PBMCs for 120 hr pi. (A) Virus binding to monocytes at 3 hpi in response

to various HTLV-1 concentrations, analyzed by flow cytometry with anti-gp46 Abs. P values were determined based on the comparison with cells infected with 5 µg/ml HTLV-1 (n = 5). (B) At 3–120 hpi, total RNA was extracted and analyzed for HTLV-1 viral load using primers located in the 5' UTR of HTLV-1 genome (Table S1). Equivalent vRNA amounts were normalized to  $\beta$ -actin mRNA and calculated as fold change from the level of uninfected monocytes (arbitrary set as 1). Jurkat and MT-2 cells were used as negative and positive control, respectively (n = 5). (C) At 3, 24, and 48 hpi, levels of HTLV-1 binding, viral internalization, and de novo production of viral proteins were assessed by gp46 surface staining, p19, and Tax ICS, respectively. Histograms are representative of raw data from five independent experiments. The mean relative expressions ± SD for all conditions are indicated. MT-2 and Jurkat cells were used as positive and negative controls for all staining, respectively. (D) p24 expression and type I IFN responses were examined by immunoblotting (n = 3). See also related Figure S1.

# Figure S1



Figure S1. Abortive infection of primary monocytes by HTLV-1.

No *de novo* HTLV-1 release was detected in the supernatants of HTLV-1 infected primary monocytes (n = 5). Supernatants were collected at 24 and 48h pi to assess the status of HTLV-1 virion release using a p19 ELISA. Standard curve with the minimum detectable p19 concentration are shown above. Jurkat and MT-2 cells are used as negative and positive control respectively. Und. = undetectable level. Figure S1 relates to Figure 1.

Table S
---------

🔲 Housekeeping ge	ene
HTLV-1 gene	

localisation	Orientation	Sequence
β- actin	forward	ACTGGGACGACATGGAGAAAA
	reverse	GCCACACGCAGCTC
erv-3	forward	CATGGGAAGCAAGGGAACTAATG
	reverse	CCCAGCGAGCAATACAGAATTT
alu	forward	GCCTCCCAAAGTGCTGGGATTACAG
5′utr	forward	TTCGTTTTCTGTTCTGCGCC
	reverse	GCTATAGAATGGGCTGTCGCT
gag	forward	CCCTCCAGTTACGATTTCCA
	reverse	GGCTTGGGTTTGGATGAGTA
env	forward	CATCCCGGTAAGCGCTAGTT
	reverse	AAAGTGGCGAGAAACTTACCC

Table S1. Primer sequences for HTLV-1 RNA and DNA detection and internal controls

### ii. HTLV-1-infected monocytes undergo apoptosis.

We next evaluated the level of apoptosis in HTLV-1-infected CD3<sup>-</sup>CD14<sup>+</sup> monocytes at 3-120h pi by Annexin-V staining. At 24h pi, infected monocytes displayed higher levels of apoptosis than uninfected cultures (Figure 2A)  $(22.9 \pm 3.5\% \text{ versus } 8.6 \pm 1.3\%, \text{ respectively; } P < 0.01; n =$ 5), and by 72h the percentage of HTLV-1 infected apoptotic cells increased to over 45%. Infection of monocytes with a low dose of HTLV-1 (0.1 µg/ml) also resulted in the induction of apoptosis in the p19<sup>+</sup>population (Figure S2A). Apoptosis was accompanied by the generation of cleaved caspase-3 ( $_{CL}$  caspase-3) in infected cells (Figure 2B and Figure S2B) (33.4 ± 12.3% and  $11.4 \pm 2\%$ , respectively for HTLV-1-infected and uninfected cells at 48h pi; P < 0.01; n = 5); infected cells also exhibited a loss of mitochondrial potential as shown by reduced  $DiOC_6(3)$ intensity when compared to uninfected cells (Figure 2C and Figure S2C) (P < 0.01; n = 5). The pan-caspase inhibitor ZVAD or the blocking  $\alpha$ -gp46 mAb prevented <sub>CL</sub> caspase-3-mediated apoptosis (Figure 2B) and mitochondrial depolarization (Figure 2C). Treatment with ZVAD however did not interfere with the internalization of HTLV-1, as detected by measuring intracellular p19 (Figure 2B, blue histograms) (P > 0.05; n = 5). A strong statistical correlation between (i) caspase-3 activation, (ii) mitochondrial depolarization and apoptosis was confirmed by the non-parametric Spearman test (Figure 2D) (r = 0.7845 and 0.9036, respectively for (i) and (*ii*); P < 0.0001; n = 25). Several mitochondrial pro- and anti- apoptotic molecules were also analyzed; increased Bax expression and caspase-9 cleavage were observed in infected monocytes (Figure 2E) (P < 0.05 and P < 0.01 respectively; n = 3), while expression of Bcl-2 family members - Bim, Noxa, Bcl-2, and Mcl-1 - were unchanged. In the above experiments, we did not observe death by necrosis or an effect of necrostatin-1 on infected monocytes (Figure S2D). Cleaved caspase-1 and bioactive IL-1 $\beta$  were detected after HTLV-1 infection, indicating activation of the inflammasome (Figure S2E). To investigate caspase-1-associated pyroptosis, HTLV-1-infected cells were treated with Ac-YVAD-cmk (YVAD; the selective inhibitor of caspase-1), and a minor, even significant, improvement of cell survival was observed (Figure **S2F)**.



Figure 2. HTLV-1-infected monocytes undergo mitochondrial-dependent apoptosis.

(A) The percentage of apoptosis on gated CD3<sup>-</sup>CD14<sup>+</sup>monocytes was assessed by Annexin-V staining at 3-120h pi. *P* values were determined by the comparison with uninfected cells (n = 5).
(B) Levels of Annexin-V, <sub>CL</sub>caspase-3 and p19 expression determined at 48h pi on monocytes, treated or not with ZVAD or with  $\alpha$ -gp46 mAb. Representative histograms from five independent experiments are shown above. (C) At 48h pi, the loss of mitochondrial membrane potential on monocytes in the presence or absence of ZVAD or  $\alpha$ -gp46 mAb was evaluated by flow cytometry using the fluorescent dye DiOC<sub>6</sub>(3). Results shown represent the percentage of CD3<sup>-</sup>CD14<sup>+</sup>DiOC<sub>6</sub>(3)<sup>low</sup>monocytes, as indicated above in the representative histograms (n = 5). (D) The correlations between the percentage of apoptotic monocytes and (*i*) <sub>CL</sub>caspase-3 expression, or (*ii*) mitochondrial depolarisation were calculated in infected monocytes during the course of the co-culture (n = 25; Spearman test). (E) Expression levels of p24, Bcl-2 family members and caspase 9 cleavage were assessed by immunoblotting at 3h pi (n = 3). See related Figure S2.



Figure S2. HTLV-1 infection induces apoptosis in infected monocytes.

(A) Monocytes were co-cultured for 48h in the presence of 2 or 0.1  $\mu$ g/mL (low dose) HTLV-1 (n =5). At 48h pi, cells were stained with CD14-APC H7, p19-APC and Annexin-V-V450.

Results represent the levels of apoptosis in  $p19_{neg}$  and  $p19^+CD14^+monocytes$ . >98% and 24.1 ± 6.1% of monocytes were p19<sup>+</sup> cells following infection with 2 and 0.1  $\mu$ g/ml HTLV-1, respectively. Representative flow cytometry histograms are also shown. (B, C) Increase of <sub>CL</sub> caspase-3 expression and mitochondria depolarization following HTLV-1 infection. The levels of <sub>CL</sub> caspase-3 expression (B) and mitochondria potential loss using  $DiOC_6(3)$  dye (C) were determined in CD14<sup>+</sup>monocytes at 3-72h pi using flow cytometry (n = 5). (D) Annexin-V/PI (propidium iodide) co-staining in infected CD14<sup>+</sup>monocytes treated or not with 20nM necrostatin-1 (Sigma) at 48h pi. Levels of necrosis were determined by the percentage of PI<sup>+</sup>Annexin-V<sub>neg</sub>cells (red square). Treatment with etoposide and EtOH were used as positive controls for apoptosis and necrosis, respectively (n = 5). Treatment with necrostatin-1 did not impact Annexin-V/PI co-staining in monocytes, except for cells treated with EtOH. Data are represented as mean +/- SD. (E) Expression of p24, IL-1 $\beta$ , caspase 1 and  $\beta$ -actin were determined by immunoblotting in monocytes at 3h pi unless otherwise indicated (n = 3). Identical results were found for β-actin and p24 at 30 minutes pi. (F) Levels of Annexin-V expression determined at 48h pi on monocytes, treated or not with 100µM Ac-YVAD-cmk (YVAD). Results are expressed as mean  $\pm$  SD for five independent experiments; included in blue is the % inhibition of apoptosis in the presence of YVAD treatment. YVAD activity was also confirmed in HTLV-1-infected monocytes at 3h pi, by its ability to prevent caspase-1activation of the pro-inflammatory IL-1 $\beta$  (n = 3). Data in all panels are represented as mean +/- SD. Figure S2 relates to Figure 2.

iii. A requirement for SAMHD1 in HTLV-1-driven apoptosis in infected monocytes.

The above observations, detailing abortive HTLV-1 infection of monocytes are reminiscent of the functional consequences of host restriction by SAMHD1 during HIV-1 infection (Baldauf et al., 2012; Descours et al., 2012; Doitsh et al., 2010; Laguette et al., 2011), prompting us to investigate whether SAMHD1 functioned similarly to restrict HTLV-1 infection. Small interfering RNA (siRNA) mediated silencing of SAMHD1 in primary monocytes resulted in a 72  $\pm$  11.8% reduction in protein expression (**Figure 3A**). SAMHD1 silencing did not alter HTLV-1 internalization in monocytes 48h pi (95.5  $\pm$  1% and 94.2  $\pm$  3.1% [% of p19<sup>+</sup>monocytes]; 10434.3  $\pm$  5455.7 and 11634  $\pm$  4381.6 [mean fluorescence intensity], respectively for control and SAMHD1-specific siRNA-transfected monocytes) (**Figure 3B**, **right histograms**). Following HTLV-1 infection, induced apoptosis was also reduced by ~70% in SAMHD1-silenced monocytes compared to control siRNA-treated monocytes (**Figure 3B**) (*P* < 0.01; n = 5). The correlation between inhibition of SAMHD1 expression and inhibition of HTLV-1-induced apoptosis in primary monocytes was significant (**Figure 3C**) (*r* = 1; *P* = 0.0167; n = 5, Spearman test).

The deoxynucleoside triphosphate triphosphohydrolase function of SAMHD1 has been shown to block reverse transcription of retroviral DNA by depleting the dNTP pool required for complete reverse transcription (Ayinde et al., 2012; Goldstone et al., 2011; Hollenbaugh et al., 2013; Kim et al., 2012; Lahouassa et al., 2012), an effect that is reversed by the addition of exogenous dN (Lahouassa et al., 2012). To explore the relationship between the triphosphohydrolase activity of SAMHD1 and induced apoptosis, primary monocytes were infected with HTLV-1 in the presence of increasing concentrations of exogenous dN (0-100nM). SAMHD1-mediated apoptosis was inhibited by the addition of exogenous dN in a dose-dependent manner (**Figure 3D**), with apoptosis reduced to control levels in monocytes treated with 100nM dN (> 80% inhibition of apoptosis). We did not observe *de novo* Tax expression following SAMHD1 knockdown or dN treatment in infected monocytes at 48h pi (n = 3; data not shown). These results demonstrate that nucleotide pool depletion, mediated by SAMHD1 function, correlates directly with HTLV-1-induced apoptosis.





Figure 3. SAMHD1 drives apoptosis in HTLV-1-infected monocytes.

(A-C) Monocytes were transfected with control or SAMHD1 siRNA for 3d, and then subsequently infected with HTLV-1 for 48h. (A) Efficiency of SAMHD1 silencing was determined at day 3 by immunoblotting. (n = 5). No changes were observed in the levels of total ERK<sub>2</sub> expression, confirming the specificity of SAMHD1 silencing. (B) Levels of apoptosis and intracellular p19 on transfected CD14<sup>+</sup>monocytes at 48h pi. Results represent the HTLV-1-induced apoptosis determined on transfected monocytes using the formula: % of apoptosis in

infected cells - % of apoptosis in uninfected cells. Data are expressed as mean  $\pm$  SD for five independent experiments, including the inhibition of apoptosis (%) when SAMHD1 was silenced (indicated in blue). The flow histograms shown on the right side are representative of raw data. (C) Correlation between the inhibition of SAMHD1 expression and HTLV-1-induced apoptosis determined on transfected monocytes (n = 5 [values from Figs. 3A, B]; Spearman test). (D) Levels of apoptosis determined on monocytes in the presence of increasing doses of exogenous dN at 48h pi. Percentage of apoptosis inhibition determined on infected cells in the presence of dN are also indicated in blue. Statistical analyses are based on the comparison to untouched monocytes, except for those indicated in bold, that are calculated when compared to HTLV-1-infected, non-dN-treated monocytes (n = 5).

## iv. HTLV-1-induced apoptosis correlates with the generation of cytosolic RTI.

Previous studies in the context of HIV-1 infection demonstrated that incomplete cytoplasmic DNA triggered a pro-apoptotic response in infected bystander CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells (Doitsh et al., 2010). To assess the presence of reverse transcription intermediates (RTI) in HTLV-1-infected monocytes, viral DNA were measured in total versus nuclear fractions by qPCR at 3-120h pi; HTLV-1 RTI were detected only in the total fraction (**Figure 4A** and **Figures S3A and S3B**), indicating that viral DNA synthesis was initiated in the cytosol, but was not fully reverse transcribed and did not reach the nucleus. As previously reported, the presence of nuclear retroviral DNA implies the completion of reverse transcription and the formation of the pre-integration complex (Nisole and Saib, 2004). Silencing SAMHD1 expression or treatment with exogenous dN led to the detection of HTLV-1 DNA in the nucleus, as well as integrated provirus, in infected monocytes (**Figure 4B** and **Figure S3C**).

Several primer pairs were designed to monitor sequential steps in HTLV-1 reverse transcription, including the initial generation of strong-stop DNA (5'utr), and DNA elongation (env or gag) (Figure 4C, upper schematic and Table S1) (Doitsh et al., 2010). Primary monocytes were treated with 5µM azidothymidine (AZT), a nucleoside analog reverse transcriptase inhibitor that prevents elongation of reverse transcribed DNA after initiation (Doitsh et al., 2010) and then infected with HTLV-1. AZT treatment had no inhibitory effect on the initiation of HTLV-1 reverse transcription (Figure 4C), as detected with the 5'utr primers (green), whereas DNA strand elongation was progressively inhibited, as detected using env (blue) and gag (orange) region specific probes (Figure 4C)  $(35.5 \pm 31.3\%)$  and  $65.5 \pm 22.7\%$  inhibition respectively; P <0.01; n = 5). Following HTLV-1 infection, apoptosis in monocytes treated with AZT was reduced by >40% compared to infected cells without AZT (Figure 4D) (41.8  $\pm$  12.3%; P < 0.05; n = 5). These results demonstrate that AZT blocked the generation of cytosolic RTI by interfering with HTLV-1 DNA elongation and suggested that cytosolic RTI generation was linked with virus-mediated apoptosis. These primers were also used in the context of SAMHD1 silencing, to investigate the production of early versus late stage RTI. SAMHD1 knockdown led to a significant decrease in the generation of total and early transcripts (green [5'utr];  $1.45 \pm 0.41$ fold decrease), concomitantly with an accumulation of late reverse transcription products (orange [gag];  $1.39 \pm 0.27$  fold increase) (Figure 4E).

To determine if HTLV-1 replicative intermediates directly mediated apoptosis, synthetic single (ss) or double stranded (ds) 90 nucleotide HTLV-1 DNA (vDNA) - conjugated with biotin - were introduced into primary monocytes. Monocytes harboring HTLV-1 ss or dsDNA<sub>90</sub> (vDNA<sup>+</sup>cells; green histograms) underwent apoptosis ( $59.2 \pm 3.5\%$  and  $48.9 \pm 6.9\%$  respectively), whereas vDNA-free monocytes from the same samples did not undergo apoptosis (purple histograms; ~30% apoptosis in cells electroporated only, or transfected with digested ssDNA<sub>90</sub> (data not shown) (**Figure 4E**). The transfection of monocytes with scrambled RTI (whose sequence was generated by randomizing the U5 sequence) did not result in the induction of apoptosis, confirming the specificity of HTLV-1 RTI to induce apoptosis (**Figure 4F**). Overall, these results provide evidence for the direct contribution of cytosolic RTI during HTLV-1-induced apoptosis.



Figure 4. Cytosolic RTI induces monocyte apoptosis following HTLV-1 infection.

(A) At 24h pi, DNA was extracted from total (TF) and nuclear (NF) fractions in monocytes. Viral loads were determined by qPCR using 5'utr primers and normalized to erv-3. Results

shown represent the relative fold change and statistical analyses, compared to uninfected monocytes (n = 5). Purity of NF was determined by immunoblotting using antibodies against nuclear (Thoc-1 and Histone<sub>H3</sub>) and cytosolic (COX-IV) proteins. (B) Monocytes were transfected with SAMHD1 siRNA, treated with exogenous 100nM dN, and then treated as in (A). Results represent relative fold change compared to uninfected cells treated with control siRNA (n = 5). (C) Fold change of vDNA determined in monocytes at 48h pi using several pairs of primers and relative to infected monocytes without AZT. (D) Levels of apoptosis on monocytes in the presence or absence of AZT at 48h pi. Inhibition of apoptosis mediated by AZT is indicated in blue. (E) Fold change of vDNA performed in monocytes expressing or not SAMHD1 at 24h pi using several primer pairs. (F) The addition of HTLV-1 RTI in monocytes initiates apoptosis. Purified monocytes were transfected with scrambled, with HTLV-1 ss or dsDNA<sub>90</sub>. At 48h post-transfection, cells were labeled with Annexin-V-V450, CD14-APC H7, and streptavidin-APC. Streptavidin-APC ICS allowed the distinction between monocytes that were vDNA<sup>neg</sup> (purple) or vDNA<sup>+</sup> cells (green) in the same sample. Elect. = electroporated only; scram. = scrambled ssDNA<sub>90</sub>. Values represent the percentages of normalized apoptosis indicated by the formula: % of apoptosis in RTI-transfected monocytes with siRNA - % of apoptosis in electroporated-only cells. Apoptosis mediated on primary monocytes by the electroporation methods averaged between ~15-19%. Flow histograms shown above are representative of raw data from five independent experiments. See related Figure S3.



Figure S3. Quantification of total versus nuclear integrated vDNA after SAMHD1 silencing.

Quantitation of HTLV-1 vDNA on (A) nuclear versus (B) total fractions from monocytes at 3-120h pi. Jurkat and MT-2 cells were included as a negative and positive controls respectively (n = 5). (C) Quantitation of integrated HTLV-1 provirus in monocytes in the presence of SAMHD1 silencing and dN treatment. Results are depicted as fold change in proviral HTLV-1 DNA in three independent experiments. Data in all panels are represented as mean +/- SD. Figure S3 relates to Figure 4.

#### v. HTLV-1 RTI signals via STING to induce apoptosis and the IFN response.

The endoplasmic reticulum resident transmembrane sensor STING (stimulator of interferon genes) is central to the generation of an innate immune response, through its capacity to directly bind viral and bacterial DNA (Abe et al., 2013; Burdette and Vance, 2013; Ishikawa and Barber, 2008; Ishikawa et al., 2009). Given the importance of STING in initiating cytoplasmic DNA signaling events, we next examined whether STING could recognize and complex with HTLV-1 RTI. Using streptavidin beads to pull-down biotinylated HTLV-1 DNA, we demonstrated that STING was precipitated from primary monocytes via interactions with ss or dsDNA<sub>90</sub> (**Figure 5A**). Furthermore, the formation of the complex between STING and HTLV-1 DNA was associated with the induction of type I IFN signalling and apoptosis, as illustrated by increased expression of RIG-I, ISG56 and Bax (**Figure 5A**) (P < 0.01; n = 3). Transfection of monocytes with scrambled RTI resulted in STING pull-down and the induction of ISGs. However, no increase in Bax expression was observed in these cells. No complex formation was observed between HTLV-1 RTI and the RNA sensor RIG-I (**Figure 5A**).

To determine whether cytosolic detection of HTLV-1 RTI by STING was involved in triggering apoptosis, STING-specific siRNA was introduced into primary monocytes, resulting in ~65% inhibition of STING expression (**Figure 5B**) (P < 0.01; n = 5). Knockdown of STING in primary monocytes resulted in a significant improvement in cell survival. In multiple experiments, a 55-60% inhibition of apoptosis was observed (**Figure 5C**) (P < 0.01 compared to control siRNA-treated cells; n = 5), whereas silencing of RIG-I had no effect on HTLV-1induced apoptosis (**Figure S4**). A positive correlation between the inhibition of STING expression and HTLV-1-induced apoptosis was established using the non-parametric Spearman test (**Figure 5D**) (r = 1; P = 0.0167; n = 5). Altogether, these results indicate that HTLV-1 RTI are generated in primary monocytes in a SAMHD1-dependent manner, and then complex with the DNA sensor STING to initiate apoptosis.



Figure 5. STING complex formation with HTLV-1 DNA induces apoptosis in monocytes.

(A) Monocytes were transfected with scrambled and HTLV-1 ss, or dsDNA<sub>90</sub> for 6h. As a negative control, 1 µg of HTLV-1 ssDNA was incubated with 1µl DNAse (Ambion; TX, USA)

for 1h at 37°C. STING and RIG-I pull-down was performed from monocyte lysates via interactions with biotinylated DNA (*Methods* section). Input lysates were also analyzed by immunoblot for expression of several proteins including STING, Bax,  $\beta$ -actin and ISG (n = 3). (B-D) STING regulates the premature death of infected monocytes (n = 5). Purified monocytes were transfected with STING siRNA for 3 days and (B) the efficiency of STING silencing was determined via immunoblotting. (C) Annexin-V staining determined on transfected CD14<sup>+</sup>monocytes at 48h pi. Values represent the % HTLV-1 induced apoptosis as determined by the formula: % apoptosis in infected cells - % apoptosis in uninfected cells. Inhibition of HTLV-1-mediated apoptosis following STING silencing is indicated in blue. Flow histograms shown on the right side are representative of raw data from five independent experiments. (D) Correlation between inhibition of STING expression and HTLV-1-mediated apoptosis on transfected monocytes (n = 5; Spearman test). See related Figure S4.





Figure S4. RIG-I silencing does not influence apoptosis in HTLV-1-infected monocytes.

(A, B) Monocytes were transfected for 3h with control or RIG-I-specific siRNA prior to HTLV-1 infection. Levels of apoptosis on transfected CD14<sup>+</sup>monocytes were then investigated at 48h pi using Annexin-V staining. (A) The efficiency of RIG-I silencing using siRNA was determined by immunoblotting. (B) Results represent the percentage of HTLV-1-induced apoptosis on transfected monocytes and are expressed as mean  $\pm$  SD for three independent experiments. Representative flow histograms are also shown above. Figure S4 relates to Figure 5.

## vi. HTLV-1 RTI triggers mitochondrial apoptosis through IRF3-Bax signalling.

HTLV-1 infection of monocytes stimulated IRF3 activation and induction of pro-apoptotic Bax (Figures 1D and 2E), suggesting that HTLV-1 may be triggering apoptosis via a mechanism involving the formation of a pro-apoptotic complex between IRF3 and Bax (Chattopadhyay et al., 2010; Chattopadhyay et al., 2011). To determine whether STING recognition of HTLV-1 RTI could trigger apoptosis through IRF3-Bax signalling, we measured Bax and ISG expression, as well as IRF3 phosphorylation in infected monocytes knocked down for STING expression. By immunoblot analysis, all parameters - Bax, P-IRF3, RIG-I and ISG56 expression - were respectively inhibited from  $95.1 \pm 8.5\%$ ,  $72.1 \pm 13.3\%$ ,  $66.2 \pm 48\%$  and  $64.5 \pm 29.3\%$  by STING knockdown (P < 0.01 compared to infected cells treated with control siRNA; n = 3) (Figure 6A), thus supporting a role for STING in regulating both the antiviral and apoptotic responses. Similarly, we observed a  $73 \pm 15.8\%$  inhibition of Bax expression in infected monocytes when STING was silenced using a flow cytometry approach (Figure S5). As with de novo HTLV-1 infection, the addition of cytosolic ss or dsDNA<sub>90</sub> led to increased Bax expression (Figure 6B, input blots) (P < 0.05; n = 3). Both HTLV-1 infection and the addition of biotinylated ss or dsDNA<sub>90</sub> resulted in the generation of a complex between IRF3 and Bax (Figure 6B), whereas no IRF3-Bax complex was observed in monocytes transfected with scrambled RTI. The formation of this pro-apoptotic complex required both SAMHD1 and STING expression, since RNAi-mediated silencing of either target not only decreased Bax expression, but also abrogated physical association between IRF3 and Bax (Figure 6C).

Next, a multi-parametric antibody cocktail was generated to measure the levels of Annexin-V, Bax and DiOC<sub>6</sub>(3) co-staining on gated CD14<sup>+</sup>monocytes. Infected monocytes expressing Bax (red subset) displayed higher levels of mitochondria depolarization and Annexin-V co-staining, compared to the green Bax<sup>neg</sup> cells (**Figure 6D**) (74.3  $\pm$  24.8% and 34.3  $\pm$  5.9% DiOC<sub>6</sub>(3)<sup>low</sup> Annexin-V<sup>+</sup> cells, respectively; *P* < 0.01; n = 5). Furthermore, siRNA-mediated silencing of Bax expression reduced the level of apoptosis by ~60%, thus confirming the involvement of Bax in HTLV-1 driven monocyte cell killing (**Figure 6E**).





Figure 6. STING activation leads to the formation of the IRF3-Bax complex.

(A) Monocytes were transfected with STING siRNA. Expression of several viral and host and proteins (p24, STING, Bax, ISG and p-IRF3) were then determined by immunoblotting at 3 and

48h pi. Representative blots of three independent experiments are shown. (B, C) Anti-Bax coimmunoprecipitations (co-IP) were performed at 6h pi (B) following in vitro infection or transfection with HTLV-1 DNA, (C) or in the context of (i) SAMHD1 and (ii) STING silencing. Inputs were also analyzed for the expression of several proteins. \* = cross-linked isotype IgG<sub>1</sub> antibody used during co-IP as a negative control; performed on monocytes transfected with ssDNA<sub>90</sub>. (D) At 24h pi, a multi-parametric antibody cocktail with  $DiOC_6(3)$  dye, Annexin-V-V450, anti-CD14-APC H7, and anti-Bax-APC antibodies was used on co-cultured monocytes (n = 5). Anti-Bax antibody was conjugated to Alexa647 dye using the Zenon<sup>R</sup> mouse  $IgG_1$  labeling kit. Isotype IgG<sub>1</sub> control was used to determine the positivity of Bax expression. Results shown represent flow cytometry gating strategy based on HTLV-1-infected monocytes transfected with control siRNA. Bax<sup>neg</sup> (green) versus Bax<sup>+</sup>monocytes (red) were analyzed for mitochondrial depolarisation and apoptosis. Percentages of DiOC<sub>6</sub>(3)<sup>low</sup>Annexin-V<sup>+</sup>cells were indicated for both subsets. Data are represented as mean +/- SD. (E) Monocytes were transfected with Bax siRNA for 3h prior to HTLV-1 infection. Levels of HTLV-1-induced apoptosis were then investigated at 48h pi. Results are expressed as mean  $\pm$  SD for three independent experiments, included in blue is the inhibition of apoptosis during Bax silencing. Bax knockdown was confirmed by immunoblotting 48h pi. Data are represented as mean +/- SD. See related Figure S5.





Figure S5. STING silencing decreases Bax expression in infected monocytes.

Monocytes were transfected with STING siRNA for 3 days and co-cultured in the presence of HTLV-1. At 24h pi, anti-Bax-APC antibodies were used to measure Bax expression using flow cytometry (n = 5). Results are expressed as the mean  $\pm$  SD of CD14<sup>+</sup>Bax<sup>+</sup>monocytes. Figure S5 relates to Figure 6.

vii. HIV-1 DNA recognition by STING induces a pro-apoptotic response.

Finally, we next examined whether STING-mediated recognition of RTI corresponding to strong-stop HIV-1 DNA also led to monocyte depletion through IRF3-Bax driven apoptosis. HIV-1 ssDNA<sub>90</sub> RTI was introduced into primary monocytes for 3h; IRF3 phosphorylation and Bax expression were increased ~7-10 fold with the HIV-1 RTI (**Figure 7A**) (P = 0.0053 and P = 0.0115 respectively, compared to RTI-free monocytes; n = 3). Importantly, using streptavidin beads to precipitate biotinylated HIV-1 ssDNA<sub>90</sub>, STING, but not RIG-I, was also readily pulled-down in association with HIV RTI (**Figure 7B**). As with HTLV-1, the addition of biotinylated HIV-1 ssDNA<sub>90</sub> resulted in the generation of a heterodimeric IRF3-Bax complex (**Figure 7C**). Furthermore, monocytes transfected 48h with HIV-1 RTI also displayed significantly higher levels of mitochondria-dependent apoptosis (**Figure 7D**). Overall, these data demonstrate that retroviral RTI recognition by STING induces mitochondria-dependent apoptosis via the formation of the pro-apoptotic IRF3-Bax heterodimer (**Figure S6**).



Figure 7. STING recognition of HIV-1 RTI leads to IRF3-Bax interaction and mitochondrial-dependent apoptosis.

(A) Expression levels of STING, IRF3, P-IRF3 and Bax were assessed by immunoblotting on monocytes transfected with HIV-1 ssDNA<sub>90</sub> for 3h. (B and C) STING pull-down (B) and anti-Bax co-IP (C) were performed on monocytes transfected with HIV-1 ssDNA<sub>90</sub> (n = 3). (D)

Monocytes treated with HIV-1 ssDNA<sub>90</sub> displayed higher levels of mitochondria-dependent apoptosis. At 48h post-transfection, levels of Annexin-V, mitochondria depolarisation (% of  $\text{DiOC}_6(3)^{\text{low}}$ cells) and co-staining were assessed on gated CD14<sup>+</sup>monocytes in the presence of HIV-1 RTI. Results show the percentages of HIV-1-induced apoptosis and Bax expression, determined by the formula; % of staining in HIV-1 RTI-transfected monocytes - % of staining in monocytes electroporated alone. Flow histograms shown on the right are representative of raw data from five independent experiments. See related Figure S6.

#### 4. DISCUSSION

In this study, we demonstrate that *de novo* HTLV-1 infection initiates an abortive infection of primary monocytes and triggers mitochondrial depolarization and caspase-3 dependent cell death. HTLV-1 infection also stimulated induction of a type I IFN response, mediated through IRF3 activation and triggering of Jak-STAT1 signaling. HTLV-1-induced apoptosis in monocytes was dependent on the triphosphohydrolase activity of SAMHD1, since silencing its expression, as well as the introduction of exogenous dN in HTLV-1-infected monocytes significantly reduced apoptosis. HTLV-1 reverse transcription intermediates (RTI) were detected exclusively in the cytoplasm of infected monocytes from 3-120h post-infection, and it was only after inhibition of SAMHD1 expression that HTLV-1 DNA was detected in the nucleus compartment. The continued presence of RTI in the cytoplasm was sensed by the ER resident DNA sensor STING. Because of the involvement of STING in activation of the type I IFN response, we examined the fate of IRF3 and detected the formation of an IRF3-Bax complex, which was responsible for the mitochondrial depolarization and apoptosis. These experiments provide a mechanistic explanation for abortive retroviral infection of monocytes and establish a link between SAMHD1 restriction, sensing of retroviral RTI by STING, and the initiation of IRF3-Bax induced apoptosis. The scope of these observations was further extended by the demonstration that HIV-1 RTI also complexed with STING and triggered apoptosis in the same manner (summarized in Figure S6).

The analogy between the current results and restriction of HIV-1 by SAMHD1 is striking, and a number of recent studies have detailed the capacity of SAMHD1 to limit HIV-1 replication in quiescent CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells and myeloid cells (Baldauf et al., 2012; Descours et al., 2012; Laguette and Benkirane, 2012; Laguette et al., 2011). Prior to the characterization of the role of SAMHD1, Doitsh *et al.* had demonstrated that abortive HIV-1 reverse transcription in resting tonsil CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells resulted in apoptotic cell death, triggered by the accumulation of incomplete HIV-1 reverse transcripts (Doitsh et al., 2010). It has since become clear that SAMHD1 is responsible for restricting HIV-1 reverse transcription through its dNTP triphosphohydrolase activity, which depletes the intracellular pool of dNTP (Ayinde et al., 2012; Goldstone et al., 2011; Lahouassa et al., 2012). The intracellular dNTP pool appears to be an important rate-limiting factor for retroviral reverse transcription, and SAMHD1 critically modulates this

process. SAMHD1 is highly active in monocytes that have low levels of intracellular dNTP (Kaushik et al., 2009; Triques and Stevenson, 2004). In the presence of SAMHD1, nuclear or integrated HTLV-1 DNA was never detected in infected monocytes, whereas SAMHD1 silencing or restoration of the dNTP pool resulted in the inhibition of virus-induced apoptosis, as well as the completion of vDNA synthesis and translocation into the nucleus. Similarly, reduction of cytoplasmic HTLV-1 RTI levels by administration of high doses of AZT also improved cell viability. To investigate directly a role for RTI in triggering apoptosis, a biotinylated 90 nucleotide single or double stranded RTI from the U5 region of HTLV-1 was introduced into monocytes and it triggered apoptosis in a manner similar to infection.

One of the outstanding questions raised by these cumulative studies is: how does SAMHD1mediated restriction of retroviral replication initiate apoptosis and impact the host innate response to retroviral infection? Our experiments provide evidence that the endoplasmic reticulum resident adapter STING triggers both processes through IRF3 activation. STING is known to regulate type I IFN immunity following recognition of pathogen DNA (Ishikawa et al., 2009) and its ability to directly interact with vDNA has been recently characterized (Abe et al., 2013). Although STING was readily pulled down in biotin-streptavidin complexes with RTI, we cannot formally exclude the involvement of other DNA sensors such as MRE11 (Kondo et al., 2013), DDX41 (Zhang et al., 2011), IFI16 (Unterholzner et al., 2010), or cGAS (Sun et al., 2013) in the recognition of retroviral RTI. The release of type 1 IFN and/or pro-inflammatory cytokines during HTLV-1 infection could also contribute to the induction of apoptosis in monocytes,

Complex formation between STING and HTLV-1 RTI initiated apoptosis through the formation of an IRF3-Bax complex, a novel apoptotic mechanism involved in the clearance of virus-infected cells via activation of effector caspase-3 (Chattopadhyay et al., 2013; Chattopadhyay et al., 2010); furthermore, IRF3-Bax complex formation was dependent on RIG-I signalling (Chattopadhyay et al., 2010). We did not observe a requirement for the RIG-I pathway during HTLV-1-induced apoptosis of primary monocytes; no interaction was observed between RTI and RIG-I, and silencing RIG-I had no effect on HTLV-1-induced apoptosis (**Figures S7A, B**). Following HTLV-1 infection of monocytes, we detected IRF3-Bax complex formation at 3h pi, prior the induction of RIG-I expression, and complex formation was abrogated in monocytes when STING expression was silenced, thus identifying STING signaling as an additional

pathway involved in IRF3-Bax induction. That IRF3 activation can promote both apoptotic and antiviral signalling was also demonstrated in earlier studies in which constitutively active forms of IRF3 and IRF7 were transduced into primary macrophages (Goubau et al., 2009). Transcriptional profiling and biological characterization of transduced human macrophages demonstrated that IRF3 initiated an antiviral response, but also rapidly induced cell death through the up-regulation of a subset of pro-apoptotic genes (Goubau et al., 2009).

We observed similar apoptotic mechanisms associated with STING binding and IRF3-Bax induction of apoptosis when HIV-1 RTI were introduced into monocytes, arguing in favour of the generality of the SAMHD1-STING initiation of apoptotic signaling in human retroviral infection (**Figure 7**). This observation, however, is not applicable in the context of HIV-2 which expresses Vpx; the physical interaction of SAMHD1 with Vpx recruits the Cul4-DDB1-DCAF1 complex to drive its proteasomal degradation (Descours et al., 2012; Laguette et al., 2011; Lahouassa et al., 2012). Furthermore, the exonuclease TREX1 suppresses recognition of HIV-1 replicative intermediates by STING as a viral evasion mechanism (Yan et al., 2010).

No correlation was observed between HTLV-1-induced apoptosis and expression levels of SAMHD1 (data not shown), consistent with Descours et al. who demonstrated that HIV-1 restriction was not only associated with SAMHD1 expression levels (Descours et al., 2012). In fact, monocyte-derived DC are efficiently and productively infected by HTLV-1 (Abe et al., 2013; Jones et al., 2008), despite SAMHD1 expression (Laguette et al., 2011). Moreover, in macrophages and cycling CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells, HTLV-1 infection was not blocked by SAMHD1 and led to Tax production (Gramberg et al., 2013), indicating that SAMHD1 function differs in other cell types. It is likely that regulation of SAMHD1 restriction depends on many retroviral and host parameters including post-translational modifications, cellular co-factors, or splice variations (Descours et al., 2012; Welbourn et al., 2012). In this regard, it was recently demonstrated that SAMHD1 activity is modulated by phosphorylation status. Cyclin A2/CDK1 phosphorylated SAMHD1 at Thr592 SAMHD1 in cycling cells, and phosphorylation at Thr592 correlated with loss of restriction (Cribier et al., 2013; White et al., 2013). Furthermore, type 1 IFN treatment reduced Thr592 phosphorylation, indicating a link between SAMHD1 phosphorylation, antiviral activity and innate immune signaling(Cribier et al., 2013). White et al. further demonstrated that T592 phosphomimetic SAMHD1 mutants did not restrict HIV-1 replication, despite dNTPase

activity, oligomer formation, and nuclear localization(White et al., 2013). These experiments identify phosphorylation of SAMHD1 at Thr592 by cyclin A2/CDK1 as an important regulatory mechanism and highlight the need for further studies to elucidate the mechanisms that regulate SAMHD1 activity and function.

The demonstration that cytoplasmic RTI contributes to the elimination of HTLV-1-infected monocytes may have important consequences for human retroviral infection and pathogenesis. For example, the clearance of infected monocytes may prevent transmission to CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, but would also deplete the precursor pool of myeloid dendritic cells that play a crucial role in controlling HTLV-1 infection (Rahman et al., 2011). Individuals suffering from ATL or HAM/TSP have been shown to possess a lower absolute number of DC than healthy individuals (Azakami et al., 2009; Hishizawa et al., 2004) and HTLV-1-infected monocytes also exhibit defective differentiation into DC (Makino et al., 2000; Nascimento et al., 2011). These factors may influence the development of HAM/TSP or ATL in HTLV-1 infected individuals, thus emphasizing the need to better understand the early host restriction of HTLV-1 infectivity by SAMHD1.

#### **EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURES**

## Products

RPMI-1640 media, FBS and antibiotics were provided by Wisent Technologies (CA, USA). All monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) and products used for flow cytometry were purchased from Biolegend (CA, USA), except for anti-cleaved caspase 3-PE mAbs, Annexin-V buffer 10X and Annexin-V-V450 obtained from Becton Dickinson (NJ, USA). Anti-p19 mAbs (clone TP-7) was purchased from ZeptoMetrix Corporation (NY, USA), whereas anti-gp46 mAbs (clone 67/5.5.13.1) was purchased from Abcam (MA, USA). Anti-Tax-FITC mAbs (clone LT4) was generously provided by Dr. Yuetsu Tanaka (Kitasato University, Kanagawa, Japan). All antibodies included in western blotting analyses came from Cell Signaling Biotechnology Inc. (MA, USA), except for anti-Bax mAbs (Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc.; TX, USA). Pan-caspase

inhibitor Z-VAD-FMK (ZVAD) was purchased from R and D Systems<sup>R</sup> (MN, USA). All cell lines were obtained from the  $\text{ATCC}^{\text{TM}}$  (VA, USA).

## **Purification of monocytes**

Leukaphereses from healthy donors were obtained from the Royal Victoria Hospital, Montreal (QC, Canada), with informed consent of the patients and in agreement with the Royal Victoria Hospital, the Jewish General Hospital, and McGill University Research Ethics Committee. PBMCs were isolated using Ficoll-Hypaque gradient (GE Healthcare BioScience Inc., Ontario, Canada). Monocytes were purified from PBMCs using the untouched monocyte isolation kit (EasySep® Human Monocyte Enrichment Kit without CD16 Depletion; StemCell Technologies, Vancouver, BC, Canada), allowing for more than 94% purification without any cell stimulation and apoptosis.

## HTLV-1 purification and in vitro infection

HTLV-1 viruses were purified from MT-2 supernatants. Cells were seeded overnight in complete RPMI ( $2.10^6$  cells/mL). Supernatants were collected and ultra-centrifuged for 2h at 30,000 g at 4°C. The viral pellet was re-suspended in complete RPMI, and HTLV-1 particles were quantified by gag p19 ELISA assays (ZeptoMetrix). 200,000 purified monocytes were incubated with 2µg HTLV-1 for 3h at 37°C in 0.5 mL RPMI with or without 100µM Z-VAD-FMK. To specifically block HTLV-1 infection, neutralizing anti-gp46 mAbs (at 10µg/mL; Abcam) were incubated 30 minutes at 4°C with HTLV-1 prior *in vitro* infection. At 3h pi, monocytes were washed twice in complete RPMI and then co-cultured with 8.10<sup>5</sup> autologous monocyte-depleted PBMCs (1 ml complete RPMI; [HTLV-1] = 2µg/mL).

# HTLV-1 DNA quantitation and nuclear extraction

2-4.10<sup>6</sup> monocytes, isolated using magnetic beads and infected or not with HTLV-1, were collected at several time points (3-120h pi), and washed with PBS. Cells were pelleted and stored at -80°C, prior to various DNA extraction protocols. *Whole cell DNA*: DNA was extracted from stored pellets using the DNeasy® Blood & Tissue kit (Cat. Number: 69504; Qiagen Inc.) using the manufacturer's instructions. *Nuclear DNA*: nuclear material was extracted from stored

pellets; cells were lysed in 10mM Tris (pH 7.9), 10mM KCl, 0.1mM EDTA, and 0.1mM EGTA, for 15 minutes. NP40 was then added and the lysates were centrifuged 3 minutes at 13,000 rpm to obtain a nuclear pellet that was used for subsequent DNA extraction (Qiagen). <u>ALU PCR</u>: integrated HTLV-1 DNA was amplified from purified nuclear DNA as previously described (Liszewski et al., 2009), with the following modifications. Cloned Pfu DNA polymerase (Cat. Number: B0093; Bio Basic) was used, and the primer sequences for Alu (forward) and gag (reverse) are listed in **Table S1**. HTLV-1 DNA load was determined on total or nuclear cell extract, or ALU PCR products, using the real-time SYBR green PCR method. The assay was analyzed using the AB 7500 real-time PCR system (Applied Biosystems, CA, USA) with PerfeCTa® SYBR® Green FastMix® (Cat. Number: 95074; Quanta Biosciences, MD, USA) using ~200ng of extracted DNA, or 0.1µl of amplified integrated DNA. The endogenous erv-3 gene was used to normalize the amount of DNA per reaction. The real-time PCR conditions were: 95°C for 10 minutes, and 45 cycles of 95°C for 15 seconds followed by 60°C for 1 minute.

## Measurement of viral genomic RNA

Following HTLV-1 infection,  $4x10^6$  isolated monocytes were incubated 6 minutes with 0.25% trypsin at 37°C to remove non-internalized HTLV-1 particles and washed twice in PBS. Cells were thereafter pelleted and stored at -80°C in RLT buffer in the presence of  $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol for further use. Total RNA was extracted using RNeasy kit (Qiagen Inc.) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The RNA integrity and purity was assessed with the Thermo Scientific NanoDrop 1000 (Thermo Scientific, DE, USA). Complementary DNA (cDNA) was then produced by reverse transcription using the Applied Biosystems High Capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription Kit (Qiagen Inc.). The subsequent real-time PCR parameters were described in the previous section, except for the fact that  $\beta$ -actin was used as the housekeeping gene.

## Flow cytometry

At several time pi, collected cells were incubated for 10 minutes at 4°C in PBS + 10% FBS to avoid any unspecific binding. *Measurement of viral infection:* Cells were then stained for 10 minutes at 4°C with anti-CD14-APC H7, anti-CD3-PE Cy7 in PBS. Cells were washed twice and

fixed at room temperature (RT) in BD FACS Lysing Buffer (Becton Dickinson) and incubated with anti-Tax-FITC and anti-p19-Alexa 647 mAbs for 20 minutes at RT in 0.25% saponin. Anti-p19 IgG<sub>1</sub> antibody was conjugated to Alexa647 dye using the Zenon<sup>R</sup> mouse IgG<sub>1</sub> labeling kit (number: Z25008; Life Technologies Inc., ON, USA) according to the manufacturer's protocol. After three final washes in PBS, we collected approximately 20,000 gated events on the BD Fortessa flow cytometer (Becton Dickinson) and analyzed the data using the DIVA software. *Apoptosis assay:* To assess apoptosis, cells were washed and labeled for 10 minutes at 4°C with anti-CD14-APC H7, anti-CD3-PE Cy7 and Annexin-V-V450 in calcium buffer 1X (Becton Dickinson). ICS of <sub>CL</sub>caspase-3 or Bax was the same as mentioned below for HTLV-1 antigens, except for the fact that all solutions were diluted in calcium buffer. *Mitochondria depolarisation:* This was evaluated through measurement of the loss of retention of the cationic fluorescent dye DiOC<sub>6</sub>(3) (used at 10nM), as previously described(Kalbacova et al., 2003). DiOC<sub>6</sub>(3)-related fluorescence was finally analyzed on CD3<sup>-</sup>CD14<sup>+</sup>monocytes by flow cytometry.

# Western blotting

Protein lysates (2-10  $\mu$ g) from monocytes were subjected to Western blot analysis as previously described (Oliere et al., 2010).

# Small interfering RNA assays

10<sup>7</sup> purified monocytes were electroporated in the presence of control or specific siRNA using Nucleofactor II technology according the manufacturer's protocol (Amaxa human monocyte nucleofactor kit). SAMHD1-, STING-, RIG-I- or Bax-specific siRNA as well as siRNA-A negative control were obtained from Santa Cruz Biotechnology (Cat. numb. sc-76442, sc-92042, sc-61480, sc-29212, and sc-37007 respectively; CA, USA). 300nM siRNA was transfected per condition in RPMI + 30% FBS overnight without antibiotics. Transfected monocytes were washed at 1500 rpm for 5 minutes to remove necrotic cells and cultured with autologous PBMC. For SAMHD1 and STING siRNA treatments, monocytes were washed and counted for further *in vitro* HTLV-1 infection 3 days post-transfection. RIG-I and Bax siRNA treated monocytes were similarly processed 3h post-transfection.

# Biotinylated retroviral DNA<sub>90</sub> assay

Retroviral DNA was produced by Integrated DNA technologies (IA, USA). HTLV-1 ssDNA<sub>90</sub> is the reverse complement of the 5'utr region (315-404 of complete HTLV-1 genome; NCBI) that is 90 bases long and conjugated with biotin on the 5' end. The sequence is: 5'-CTG TGT ACT AAA TTT CTC TCC TGG AGA GTG CTA TAG AAT GGG CTG TCG CTG GCT CCG AGC CAG CAG AGT TGC CGG TAC TTG GCC GTG GGC-3'. HTLV-1 biotinylated ssDNA-sense strand was annealed to the reverse complement to create dsDNA<sub>90</sub>. As a negative control, we used an scrambled RTI (generated by randomizing the U5 sequence; 5'-ATT CAG CTC ACG GCG TCG AGT GCT GGA TGG CTC CTT AGT CCT GCT AAG TCG AGG TGG CTA ATC CGG TAG TCG GTC GGA TGG AAT TCG-3'). HIV-1 ssDNA<sub>90</sub> is also the biotinylated reverse complement of the 5'utr region (97-186 of complete HIV-1 genome; NCBI). The sequence is: 5'-CGC CAC TGC TAG AGA TTT TCC ACA CTG ACT AAA AGG GTC TGA GGG ATC TCT AGT TAC CAG AGT CAC ACA ACA GAC GGG CAC ACA CTA CTT-3'. 10<sup>7</sup> monocytes were transfected with 10µg vDNA<sub>90</sub> for 24h in RPMI + 30% FBS in the absence of antibiotics. Monocytes were washed and then co-cultured in complete RPMI with CD14<sup>neg</sup>PBMCs.

## STING pull-down and Bax co-immunoprecipitation

Monocytes were infected with HTLV1 or transfected with biotinylated RTI for 6h (pull-down) or 3h (co-IP). Monocytes were lysed using CHAPS buffer with protease inhibitors as previously described (Samuel et al., 2010). 3µg protein was collected and referred to as the "input" fraction. *STING Pull-down:* ~200µg protein was incubated with 20µl streptavidin bead resin (Thermo Scientific) overnight at 4°C while rotating. Bead-protein complexes were washed 6 times in CHAPS buffer and then incubated 10 minutes at 100°C with 2X loading dye. Lysates were centrifuged 3 minutes at 13,000 rpm to remove the beads and subjected for western blotting analyses. *Anti-Bax co-IP:* Protein L-agarose beads (Santa Cruz Inc.; sc-2336) were washed with 0.2 mol/L triethanolamine pH 9.0. 30µg of anti-Bax mAbs was cross-linked to 300µL of L-agarose beads in the presence of dimethylpentylamine-Hcl for 1h at RT. After washes in triethanolamine, 2µg of cross-linked anti-Bax beads was incubated overnight with ~200µg protein in 1% CHAPS lysis buffer at 4°C overnight while rotating. Immunoprecipitates were collected, washed 5 times in CHAPS buffer and then incubated and subjected to western blotting analyses.

## Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using the non-parametric Mann-Whitney U test, assuming independent samples. However, differences among the treatment groups performed with n = 3 samples were analyzed by the parametric unpaired Student t test. P values of less than 0.05 were considered statistically significant. \*\*\*, P < 0.001; \*\*, P < 0.01 and \*, P < 0.05.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful to the healthy donors participating in this study, their physicians, and attending staff members from the Royal Victoria Hospital (Montreal) including Dr. JP Routy. This project was supported by research funds from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (#MOP-106686).

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

AS performed most of the experiments and helped write the paper; SMB and RL aided in the STING pull-down and anti-Bax co-immunoprecipitation experiments; DO edited text and Figures; JH and JvG conceived the study, designed experiments, supervised the experiments, and wrote the paper.

#### REFERENCES

Abe, T., Harashima, A., Xia, T., Konno, H., Konno, K., Morales, A., Ahn, J., Gutman, D., and Barber, G.N. (2013). STING Recognition of Cytoplasmic DNA Instigates Cellular Defense. Molecular cell *50*, 5-15.

Ayinde, D., Casartelli, N., and Schwartz, O. (2012). Restricting HIV the SAMHD1 way: through nucleotide starvation. Nature reviews Microbiology *10*, 675-680.

Azakami, K., Sato, T., Araya, N., Utsunomiya, A., Kubota, R., Suzuki, K., Hasegawa, D., Izumi, T., Fujita, H., Aratani, S., *et al.* (2009). Severe loss of invariant NKT cells exhibiting anti-HTLV-1 activity in patients with HTLV-1-associated disorders. Blood *114*, 3208-3215.

Baldauf, H.M., Pan, X., Erikson, E., Schmidt, S., Daddacha, W., Burggraf, M., Schenkova, K., Ambiel, I., Wabnitz, G., Gramberg, T., *et al.* (2012). SAMHD1 restricts HIV-1 infection in resting CD4(+) T cells. Nature medicine *18*, 1682-1687.

Barber, G.N. (2011). Innate immune DNA sensing pathways: STING, AIMII and the regulation of interferon production and inflammatory responses. Current opinion in immunology 23, 10-20.

Berger, A., Sommer, A.F., Zwarg, J., Hamdorf, M., Welzel, K., Esly, N., Panitz, S., Reuter, A., Ramos, I., Jatiani, A., *et al.* (2011). SAMHD1-deficient CD14+ cells from individuals with Aicardi-Goutieres syndrome are highly susceptible to HIV-1 infection. PLoS pathogens *7*, e1002425.

Blasius, A.L., and Beutler, B. (2010). Intracellular toll-like receptors. Immunity 32, 305-315.

Burdette, D.L., and Vance, R.E. (2013). STING and the innate immune response to nucleic acids in the cytosol. Nature immunology *14*, 19-26.

Chattopadhyay, S., Fensterl, V., Zhang, Y., Veleeparambil, M., Yamashita, M., and Sen, G.C. (2013). Role of interferon regulatory factor 3-mediated apoptosis in the establishment and maintenance of persistent infection by Sendai virus. Journal of virology *87*, 16-24.

Chattopadhyay, S., Marques, J.T., Yamashita, M., Peters, K.L., Smith, K., Desai, A., Williams, B.R., and Sen, G.C. (2010). Viral apoptosis is induced by IRF-3-mediated activation of Bax. The EMBO journal *29*, 1762-1773.

Chattopadhyay, S., Yamashita, M., Zhang, Y., and Sen, G.C. (2011). The IRF-3/Bax-mediated apoptotic pathway, activated by viral cytoplasmic RNA and DNA, inhibits virus replication. Journal of virology *85*, 3708-3716.

Colisson, R., Barblu, L., Gras, C., Raynaud, F., Hadj-Slimane, R., Pique, C., Hermine, O., Lepelletier, Y., and Herbeuval, J.P. (2010). Free HTLV-1 induces TLR7-dependent innate immune response and TRAIL relocalization in killer plasmacytoid dendritic cells. Blood *115*, 2177-2185.

Cook, L.B., Elemans, M., Rowan, A.G., and Asquith, B. (2013). HTLV-1: persistence and pathogenesis. Virology *435*, 131-140.

Cribier, A., Descours, B., Valadao, A.L., Laguette, N., and Benkirane, M. (2013). Phosphorylation of SAMHD1 by Cyclin A2/CDK1 Regulates Its Restriction Activity toward HIV-1. Cell reports.

Descours, B., Cribier, A., Chable-Bessia, C., Ayinde, D., Rice, G., Crow, Y., Yatim, A., Schwartz, O., Laguette, N., and Benkirane, M. (2012). SAMHD1 restricts HIV-1 reverse transcription in quiescent CD4(+) T-cells. Retrovirology *9*, 87.

Doitsh, G., Cavrois, M., Lassen, K.G., Zepeda, O., Yang, Z., Santiago, M.L., Hebbeler, A.M., and Greene, W.C. (2010). Abortive HIV infection mediates CD4 T cell depletion and inflammation in human lymphoid tissue. Cell *143*, 789-801.

Goldstone, D.C., Ennis-Adeniran, V., Hedden, J.J., Groom, H.C., Rice, G.I., Christodoulou, E., Walker, P.A., Kelly, G., Haire, L.F., Yap, M.W., *et al.* (2011). HIV-1 restriction factor SAMHD1 is a deoxynucleoside triphosphate triphosphohydrolase. Nature *480*, 379-382.

Goubau, D., Romieu-Mourez, R., Solis, M., Hernandez, E., Mesplede, T., Lin, R., Leaman, D., and Hiscott, J. (2009). Transcriptional re-programming of primary macrophages reveals distinct apoptotic and anti-tumoral functions of IRF-3 and IRF-7. European journal of immunology *39*, 527-540.

Gramberg, T., Kahle, T., Bloch, N., Wittmann, S., Mullers, E., Daddacha, W., Hofmann, H., Kim, B., Lindemann, D., and Landau, N.R. (2013). Restriction of diverse retroviruses by SAMHD1. Retrovirology *10*, 26.

Hishizawa, M., Imada, K., Kitawaki, T., Ueda, M., Kadowaki, N., and Uchiyama, T. (2004). Depletion and impaired interferon-alpha-producing capacity of blood plasmacytoid dendritic cells in human T-cell leukaemia virus type I-infected individuals. British journal of haematology *125*, 568-575.

Hollenbaugh, J.A., Gee, P., Baker, J., Daly, M.B., Amie, S.M., Tate, J., Kasai, N., Kanemura, Y., Kim, D.H., Ward, B.M., *et al.* (2013). Host Factor SAMHD1 Restricts DNA Viruses in Non-Dividing Myeloid Cells. PLoS pathogens *9*, e1003481.

Igakura, T., Stinchcombe, J.C., Goon, P.K., Taylor, G.P., Weber, J.N., Griffiths, G.M., Tanaka, Y., Osame, M., and Bangham, C.R. (2003). Spread of HTLV-I between lymphocytes by virusinduced polarization of the cytoskeleton. Science (New York, NY) *299*, 1713-1716.

Ishikawa, H., and Barber, G.N. (2008). STING is an endoplasmic reticulum adaptor that facilitates innate immune signalling. Nature *455*, 674-678.

Ishikawa, H., Ma, Z., and Barber, G.N. (2009). STING regulates intracellular DNA-mediated, type I interferon-dependent innate immunity. Nature *461*, 788-792.

Jones, K.S., Petrow-Sadowski, C., Bertolette, D.C., Huang, Y., and Ruscetti, F.W. (2005). Heparan sulfate proteoglycans mediate attachment and entry of human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 virions into CD4+ T cells. Journal of virology *79*, 12692-12702.

Jones, K.S., Petrow-Sadowski, C., Huang, Y.K., Bertolette, D.C., and Ruscetti, F.W. (2008). Cell-free HTLV-1 infects dendritic cells leading to transmission and transformation of CD4(+) T cells. Nature medicine *14*, 429-436.

Kalbacova, M., Vrbacky, M., Drahota, Z., and Melkova, Z. (2003). Comparison of the effect of mitochondrial inhibitors on mitochondrial membrane potential in two different cell lines using flow cytometry and spectrofluorometry. Cytometry Part A : the journal of the International Society for Analytical Cytology *52*, 110-116.

Kaushik, R., Zhu, X., Stranska, R., Wu, Y., and Stevenson, M. (2009). A cellular restriction dictates the permissivity of nondividing monocytes/macrophages to lentivirus and gammaretrovirus infection. Cell host & microbe *6*, 68-80.

Kawai, T., and Akira, S. (2011). Toll-like receptors and their crosstalk with other innate receptors in infection and immunity. Immunity *34*, 637-650.

Kim, B., Nguyen, L.A., Daddacha, W., and Hollenbaugh, J.A. (2012). Tight interplay among SAMHD1 protein level, cellular dNTP levels, and HIV-1 proviral DNA synthesis kinetics in human primary monocyte-derived macrophages. The Journal of biological chemistry *287*, 21570-21574.

Kondo, T., Kobayashi, J., Saitoh, T., Maruyama, K., Ishii, K.J., Barber, G.N., Komatsu, K., Akira, S., and Kawai, T. (2013). DNA damage sensor MRE11 recognizes cytosolic doublestranded DNA and induces type I interferon by regulating STING trafficking. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America *110*, 2969-2974.

Kumar, H., Kawai, T., and Akira, S. (2011). Pathogen recognition by the innate immune system. International reviews of immunology *30*, 16-34.

Laguette, N., and Benkirane, M. (2012). How SAMHD1 changes our view of viral restriction. Trends in immunology *33*, 26-33.

Laguette, N., Rahm, N., Sobhian, B., Chable-Bessia, C., Munch, J., Snoeck, J., Sauter, D., Switzer, W.M., Heneine, W., Kirchhoff, F., *et al.* (2012). Evolutionary and functional analyses of the interaction between the myeloid restriction factor SAMHD1 and the lentiviral Vpx protein. Cell host & microbe *11*, 205-217.

Laguette, N., Sobhian, B., Casartelli, N., Ringeard, M., Chable-Bessia, C., Segeral, E., Yatim, A., Emiliani, S., Schwartz, O., and Benkirane, M. (2011). SAMHD1 is the dendritic- and myeloid-cell-specific HIV-1 restriction factor counteracted by Vpx. Nature *474*, 654-657.

Lahouassa, H., Daddacha, W., Hofmann, H., Ayinde, D., Logue, E.C., Dragin, L., Bloch, N., Maudet, C., Bertrand, M., Gramberg, T., *et al.* (2012). SAMHD1 restricts the replication of

human immunodeficiency virus type 1 by depleting the intracellular pool of deoxynucleoside triphosphates. Nature immunology *13*, 223-228.

Liszewski, M.K., Yu, J.J., and O'Doherty, U. (2009). Detecting HIV-1 integration by repetitivesampling Alu-gag PCR. Methods *47*, 254-260.

Makino, M., Wakamatsu, S., Shimokubo, S., Arima, N., and Baba, M. (2000). Production of functionally deficient dendritic cells from HTLV-I-infected monocytes: implications for the dendritic cell defect in adult T cell leukemia. Virology *274*, 140-148.

Nascimento, C.R., Lima, M.A., de Andrada Serpa, M.J., Espindola, O., Leite, A.C., and Echevarria-Lima, J. (2011). Monocytes from HTLV-1-infected patients are unable to fully mature into dendritic cells. Blood *117*, 489-499.

Nisole, S., and Saib, A. (2004). Early steps of retrovirus replicative cycle. Retrovirology 1, 9.

Oliere, S., Hernandez, E., Lezin, A., Arguello, M., Douville, R., Nguyen, T.L., Olindo, S., Panelatti, G., Kazanji, M., Wilkinson, P., *et al.* (2010). HTLV-1 evades type I interferon antiviral signaling by inducing the suppressor of cytokine signaling 1 (SOCS1). PLoS pathogens *6*, e1001177.

Pais-Correia, A.M., Sachse, M., Guadagnini, S., Robbiati, V., Lasserre, R., Gessain, A., Gout,
O., Alcover, A., and Thoulouze, M.I. (2010). Biofilm-like extracellular viral assemblies mediate
HTLV-1 cell-to-cell transmission at virological synapses. Nature medicine *16*, 83-89.

Ragin, C., Edwards, R., Heron, D.E., Kuo, J., Wentzel, E., Gollin, S.M., and Taioli, E. (2008). Prevalence of cancer-associated viral infections in healthy afro-Caribbean populations: a review of the literature. Cancer investigation *26*, 936-947.

Rahman, S., Khan, Z.K., Wigdahl, B., Jennings, S.R., Tangy, F., and Jain, P. (2011). Murine FLT3 ligand-derived dendritic cell-mediated early immune responses are critical to controlling cell-free human T cell leukemia virus type 1 infection. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950) *186*, 390-402.
Rice, G.I., Bond, J., Asipu, A., Brunette, R.L., Manfield, I.W., Carr, I.M., Fuller, J.C., Jackson, R.M., Lamb, T., Briggs, T.A., *et al.* (2009). Mutations involved in Aicardi-Goutieres syndrome implicate SAMHD1 as regulator of the innate immune response. Nature genetics *41*, 829-832.

Samuel, S., Tumilasci, V.F., Oliere, S., Nguyen, T.L., Shamy, A., Bell, J., and Hiscott, J. (2010). VSV oncolysis in combination with the BCL-2 inhibitor obatoclax overcomes apoptosis resistance in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Molecular therapy : the journal of the American Society of Gene Therapy *18*, 2094-2103.

Sun, L., Wu, J., Du, F., Chen, X., and Chen, Z.J. (2013). Cyclic GMP-AMP synthase is a cytosolic DNA sensor that activates the type I interferon pathway. Science (New York, NY) *339*, 786-791.

Triques, K., and Stevenson, M. (2004). Characterization of restrictions to human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection of monocytes. Journal of virology *78*, 5523-5527.

Unterholzner, L., Keating, S.E., Baran, M., Horan, K.A., Jensen, S.B., Sharma, S., Sirois, C.M., Jin, T., Latz, E., Xiao, T.S., *et al.* (2010). IFI16 is an innate immune sensor for intracellular DNA. Nature immunology *11*, 997-1004.

Van Prooyen, N., Gold, H., Andresen, V., Schwartz, O., Jones, K., Ruscetti, F., Lockett, S., Gudla, P., Venzon, D., and Franchini, G. (2010). Human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 p8 protein increases cellular conduits and virus transmission. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America *107*, 20738-20743.

Verdonck, K., Gonzalez, E., Van Dooren, S., Vandamme, A.M., Vanham, G., and Gotuzzo, E. (2007). Human T-lymphotropic virus 1: recent knowledge about an ancient infection. The Lancet infectious diseases *7*, 266-281.

Welbourn, S., Miyagi, E., White, T.E., Diaz-Griffero, F., and Strebel, K. (2012). Identification and characterization of naturally occurring splice variants of SAMHD1. Retrovirology *9*, 86.

White, T.E., Brandariz-Nunez, A., Valle-Casuso, J.C., Amie, S., Nguyen, L.A., Kim, B., Tuzova, M., and Diaz-Griffero, F. (2013). The retroviral restriction ability of SAMHD1, but not its

deoxynucleotide triphosphohydrolase activity, is regulated by phosphorylation. Cell host & microbe 13, 441-451.

Yamano, Y., and Sato, T. (2012). Clinical pathophysiology of human T-lymphotropic virus-type 1-associated myelopathy/tropical spastic paraparesis. Frontiers in microbiology *3*, 389.

Yan, N., Regalado-Magdos, A.D., Stiggelbout, B., Lee-Kirsch, M.A., and Lieberman, J. (2010). The cytosolic exonuclease TREX1 inhibits the innate immune response to human immunodeficiency virus type 1. Nature immunology *11*, 1005-1013.

Zhang, Z., Yuan, B., Bao, M., Lu, N., Kim, T., and Liu, Y.J. (2011). The helicase DDX41 senses intracellular DNA mediated by the adaptor STING in dendritic cells. Nature immunology *12*, 959-965.

Zhong, B., Yang, Y., Li, S., Wang, Y.Y., Li, Y., Diao, F., Lei, C., He, X., Zhang, L., Tien, P., *et al.* (2008). The adaptor protein MITA links virus-sensing receptors to IRF3 transcription factor activation. Immunity *29*, 538-550.

# Chapter 4: HTLV-1 Tax-Mediated Inhibition of FOXO3a Activity is Critical for the Persistence of Terminally Differentiated CD4<sup>+</sup> T Cells

David Olagnier<sup>1,2,\*</sup>, Alexandre Sze<sup>1,\*</sup>, Samar Bel Hadj<sup>1</sup>, Cindy Chiang<sup>2</sup>, Courtney Steel<sup>2</sup>, Rongtuan Lin<sup>1</sup>, John Hiscott<sup>1,2,\*\*</sup>, and Julien van Grevenynghe<sup>1,2,\*\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Lady Davis Institute-Jewish General Hospital, McGill University, Montreal, Canada H3T 1E2

<sup>2</sup>VGTI-Florida, Port St. Lucie, Fl. 34987, United States

<sup>\*</sup>DO and AS equally contributed to this study

1. Abstract

The mechanisms involved in the persistence of activated CD4<sup>+</sup> T lymphocytes following primary human T leukemia/lymphoma virus type 1 (HTLV-1) infection remain unclear. Here, we demonstrate that the HTLV-1 Tax oncoprotein modulates phosphorylation and transcriptional activity of the FOXO3a transcription factor, *via* upstream activation of the AKT pathway. *De novo* HTLV-1 infection of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells or direct lentiviral-mediated introduction of Tax led to AKT activation and AKT-dependent inactivation of FOXO3a, *via* phosphorylation of residues Ser253 and Thr32. Inhibition of FOXO3a signalling led to the long-term survival of a population of highly activated, terminally differentiated CD4<sup>+</sup>Tax<sup>+</sup>CD27<sup>neg</sup>CCR7<sup>neg</sup> T cells that maintained the capacity to disseminate infectious HTLV-1. CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell persistence was reversed by chemical inhibition of AKT activity, lentiviral-mediated expression of a dominant-negative form of FOXO3a or by specific small interfering RNA (siRNA)-mediated silencing of FOXO3a. Overall this study provides new mechanistic insight into the strategies used by HTLV-1 to increase long-term maintenance of Tax<sup>+</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup> T lymphocytes during the early stages of HTLV-1 pathogenesis.

#### **Author summary**

HTLV-1 infection contributes to the development of Adult T cell Leukemia (ATL) or the neurological disorder HTLV-1-associated myelopathy/tropical spastic paraparesis (HAM/TSP). HTLV-1 principally targets CD4<sup>+</sup> T lymphocytes and causes profound changes in activation,

immune function and cell death. The molecular mechanisms involved in the persistence of infected CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells following primary HTLV-1 infection remain unclear. We demonstrate here that the Tax oncoprotein inactivates the FOXO3a transcription factor to facilitate the long-term survival of a population of highly activated and terminally differentiated T cells that maintain the capacity to spread infectious viral particles. Mechanistically, expression of Tax oncoprotein in primary human CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells resulted in the phosphorylation-dependent inactivation of FOXO3a, via the AKT kinase. Tax-mediated CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell persistence was also reversed by chemical inhibition of the AKT pathway, and reproduced by the expression of a dominant negative version of FOXO3a itself or by silencing its transcriptionally active form using specific siRNA. Overall this study provides new mechanistic insights used by Tax to potentiate the long-term maintenance of CD4<sup>+</sup> T lymphocytes following HTLV-1 infection and suggests that modulation of FOXO3a activity, using a range of inhibitors targeting the PI3K-AKT-FOXO3a pathway, may offer a valuable addition to current therapeutic approaches.

#### 2. Introduction

Infection with the human T cell leukemia virus type I (HTLV-1) affects more than 20 million people worldwide [1] and HTLV-1-associated diseases are a major cause of mortality and morbidity in endemic areas where infection rates range from 2 to 30%. Chronic infection with HTLV-1 can result in a number of severe pathologies, including the aggressive adult T cell leukemia (ATL) and the progressive neurological disorder termed myelopathy/tropical spastic paraparesis (HAM/TSP) [1]. The majority of HTLV-1-infected individuals remain asymptomatic carriers (AC) of the virus but a proportion of AC (1-5%) will develop ATL or HAM/TSP. CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells are the main targets for viral infection [1, 2], although HTLV-1 can also infect cells of the myeloid lineage including dendritic cells and monocytes [3, 4].

HTLV-1-associated diseases are characterized by profound deregulation of  $CD4^+T$  cells in terms of activation, immune function and apoptosis [5, 6], all of which are facilitated by the pleiotropic functions of the viral oncoprotein Tax [7-10]. In addition to controlling viral gene expression and replication, Tax contributes to malignant transformation of  $CD4^+T$  cells by modulating host signalling pathways including NF- $\kappa$ B, PI3K-AKT, and JAK-STAT [7-10].

The chronic nature of retrovirus infection has been linked to the activity of the Forkhead box (FOXO) transcription factor family, and particularly to FOXO3a, which can alter the activation, survival and proliferative capacity of  $CD4^+$  T-cells [10-15]. FOXO3a is constitutively expressed in most cell types including T lymphocytes, where it regulates apoptosis, tumorigenesis and inflammation [16-18], processes that are also deregulated in HTLV-1-associated diseases [5, 19, 20]. Specifically, FOXO3a stimulates expression of pro-apoptotic and anti-proliferative target genes such as *BIM*, *FASL* and *p130* [21]. The FOXO family is subject to numerous post-translational modifications [17] and FOXO phosphorylation can serve either an inhibitory or an activating role in FOXO functions; phosphorylation by JNK activates FOXO3a function[22] while phosphorylation of specific residues (Ser 253 and Thr32) by the serine/threonine kinase AKT inactivates FOXO3a [23].

Previous studies demonstrated that FOXO3a activity contributes to the progressive depletion of central memory CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in HIV-1-infected patients [15]. Modulation of FOXO3a activity

also occurs during *de novo* HIV-1 infection, where HIV Tat protein induces FOXO3a activity leading to HIV-specific apoptosis [24, 25].

In the present study, we demonstrate that expression of HTLV-1 Tax in primary human CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, either through productive HTLV-1 infection or through lentiviral-mediated transduction results in the phosphorylation-dependent inactivation of FOXO3a *via* the upstream kinase AKT. FOXO3a inhibition resulted in long-term survival of terminally differentiated, Tax<sup>+</sup>CD27<sup>neg</sup>CCR7<sup>neg</sup> CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells that were capable of disseminating infectious HTLV-1. These results provide insight into the mechanisms used by HTLV-1 to increase the long-term maintenance of Tax<sup>+</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup> T lymphocytes during the early stages of HTLV-1 pathogenesis.

#### 3. Results

i. Productive HTLV-1 infection is associated with phosphorylation of FOXO3a and persistence of infectious CD4<sup>+</sup> CD27<sup>+</sup> CCR7<sup>+</sup> T cells

Primary CD3/CD28 activated CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were infected by HTLV-1 in a dose dependent manner (**Figure 1A**) using an *in vitro* trans-infection system in which CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were cocultured with HTLV-1 shedding MT-2 cells [26]. Following multiple rounds of T cell receptor (TCR) triggering, HTLV-1 infected T cells [Tax<sup>+</sup> cells; blue] persisted for 21-28 days without a significant reduction in cell number, (P < 0.05) (**Figure 1B**); in contrast, T cells that were not infected [Tax<sup>neg</sup> cells; black] displayed a significant reduction in cell number by 14 days post-infection (pi) (P < 0.01). The half-life of gated Tax<sup>neg</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells was 18.1 days pi, whereas a half-life calculation could not be determined for Tax<sup>+</sup> T cells before 28 days.

Using a combination of CD3, CD45RA, CCR7 and CD27 surface markers, we evaluated the generation and maintenance of terminally differentiated (CD3<sup>+</sup>CD45RA<sup>+/-</sup>CCR7<sup>neg</sup>CD27<sup>neg</sup>) T cells during a 28-day cycle of HTLV-1 infection (**Figure 1C**) [27, 28]. Repeated TCR triggering reduced the proportion of viable terminally differentiated CD27<sup>neg</sup>CCR7<sup>neg</sup> effector cells among gated CD3<sup>+</sup>Tax<sup>neg</sup> T cells, whereas the Tax<sup>+</sup> T lymphocytes increased in cell number and maintained activation status (55.7 ± 4.6% and 36.2 ± 1.3% of CD3<sup>+</sup>CCR7<sup>neg</sup>CD27<sup>neg</sup>cells, respectively for Tax<sup>+</sup> and Tax<sup>neg</sup> T cell population at 28 days; P < 0.01) (**Figure 1D** and **Figure S1A**). In addition, terminally differentiated Tax<sup>+</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells produced infectious HTLV-1, even after four weeks in culture, based on their capacity to transmit virus to freshly isolated autologous CD4<sup>+</sup> T lymphocytes (**Figure 1E**). Overall these results demonstrate that HTLV-1 infection promotes the *in vitro* maintenance of terminally differentiated, virus-producing CD4+ T cells (CD3<sup>+</sup>CCR7<sup>neg</sup>CD27<sup>neg</sup>).

We hypothesized that the enhanced cellular survival observed in HTLV-1 infected CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells may be associated with the deregulation of FOXO3a signalling, given its important role in regulating cell proliferation and apoptosis in other retroviral infections [14, 15, 24, 29]. We first investigated at 2 days pi the activation status of AKT, one of the major upstream kinases responsible for FOXO3a phosphorylation [23] (**Figure 2A**). Based on phosphorylation at the Ser473 residue, we found that upstream kinase AKT was dramatically activated in Tax-

expressing cells [9] (P = 0.0317 and P < 0.001, respectively for PhosFlow and western blotting approaches) (**Figures 2B-D**). HTLV-1 infection led to an increase in FOXO3a phosphorylation at residue S253 (P < 0.01) and Thr32 (P < 0.001) at 2 days pi (**Figures 2C,D**), residues that inactive FOXO3a function [23]. Consistent with this observation, productively infected cells displayed reduced expression of FOXO3a downstream target genes p130 and Bim [15, 23]. The phosphorylation status of IKK $\alpha$ , another upstream kinase of FOXO3a, was however unchanged (**Figures 2C,D**). Overall these results demonstrate that productive HTLV-1 infection provides a survival and proliferative persistence advantage to infected CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, and is associated with AKT-mediated inactivation of FOXO3a transcriptional activity.



# Figure 1. Productive HTLV-1 infection is associated persistence of infectious CD4<sup>+</sup>CD27<sup>neg</sup>CCR7<sup>neg</sup> T cells.

Briefly, activated CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were productively infected with MT-2; for 2–28 days to assess their persistence and stepwise differentiation following multiple rounds of TCR stimulation. (A) Tax expression on activated Annexin-V<sup>neg</sup> CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in response to various concentrations of irradiated MT-2 after 48 h pi. We used a CD4/MT-2<sub>i</sub> ratio of 1:1 for subsequent experiments. Representative contour plots of five independent experiments were shown above (n=5). (B) Absolute numbers of total viable  $Tax^{neg}$  (black) and  $Tax^{+}$  (blue) CD3<sup>+</sup>T cells were determined by trypan blue exclusion. Results are expressed in  $\log_2$  scale. P values were determined based on the comparison with cells at 3 dpi. The underlined number represents the half-life of cultured Tax<sup>neg</sup> T cells. (C) Briefly, cells were collected at 7–28 days pi using long-term co-culture assay and then stained with 7-AAD and anti-CD3-PE, anti-CD45RA-ECD, anti-CD27-APC H7, anti-CCR7-PE Cy7 and anti-Tax-Alexa 647 Abs. Gating strategies to distinguish between three distinct T cell populations, based on their stepwise activation/differentiation status from low/early, intermediate to high/late (CCR7<sup>+</sup>CD27<sup>+</sup> [blue], single CCR7<sup>+</sup> or CD27<sup>+</sup> [orange], CCR7<sup>neg</sup>CD27<sup>neg</sup>cells [red], respectively). (D) Distribution of activated/differentiated 7-AAD<sup>neg</sup>CD3<sup>+</sup> T cells subsets based on CCR7 and CD27 staining at 7-28 days pi. Pie charts are representative of raw data from five independent experiments. (E) Transmission of HTLV-1 to fresh uninfected PE-stained T cells with 28 day-old HTLV-1-infected CD3<sup>+</sup> T cells from the same donor (n=3). Briefly, at 28 day pi infected  $CD4^+$  T cells were isolated using a CD3 positive selection kit (StemCell Technology, >97.6% purity). These cells were then co-cultured (ratio 1:1) for 5 days with activated autologous CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells that were stained 1 h prior to co-culture with anti-CD3-PE Ab. After 5 days, HTLV-1 transmission was measured on new CD3-PEstained targets using p19 intracellular staining. MT-2 cells were used as positive control.



*Figure S1. In vitro* assay of primary T cells (trans-infection with  $MT-2_i$  cells and transduction with  $LVP_{Tax}$ ).

(A) Activated CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were productively infected with MT-2<sub>i</sub> for 7–28 days to assess the proportion of HTLV-1 infected T cells during the time course of the co-culture. Results shown represent the percentages of Annexin-V<sup>neg</sup>Tax<sup>+</sup>CD3<sup>+</sup> T cells at each time points (n=3) (B) Comparison of Tax expression levels between productively infected (n=5) and Tax-tranduced (n=3) CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells at 48 hours. The percent of Tax<sup>+</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells (black) and the Tax expression levels on positive cells (red) are shown.



Figure 2. Tax<sup>+</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup>T cells display higher phospho-FOXO3a phenotype than the Tax<sup>neg</sup>subset.

(A) Schematic showing the inhibition of FOXO3a signalling pathway by phosphorylation mediated by upstream pro-survival kinases. (B–D) FOXO3a signaling profile on Tax<sup>+</sup> and Tax<sup>neg</sup> T cells subsets that are derived from the same culture (in the presence of MT-2i; at ratio 1:1). (B) PhosFlow analysis of phospho-AKT (Ser473) levels on Tax<sup>+</sup> and Tax<sup>neg</sup>CD3<sup>+</sup> T cells at 2 days pi. Representative histograms of pAKT status are also shown above (n=5). (C) At 2 days pi,

 $10\mu g$  of highly purified CD3<sup>+</sup>Tax<sup>neg</sup> and CD3<sup>+</sup>Tax<sup>+</sup>T cell subsets were subjected to immunoblotting to investigate the FOXO3a signalling pathway (n=3). (D) Densitometric quantification of the spots was performed in parallel using ImageJ software. Results shown represent the mean relative expression  $\pm$  SD of 3 independent experiments.

#### ii. Tax expression inhibits FOXO3a activity via activation of AKT

Among the proteins encoded by HTLV-1, the Tax oncoprotein exerts its essential role in viral transcription, as well as in T cell transformation[30-32]. To determine whether Tax expression alone was sufficient to drive FOXO3a inactivation, HTLV-1 Tax was introduced into activated CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells using lentiviral particle (LVP)-mediated transduction. Tax was detected using intracellular staining by flow cytometry (Figure 3A) and a concentration of 80 ng LVP/10<sup>6</sup> cells resulted in ~40% Tax<sup>+</sup> cells. LVP<sub>Tax</sub>-transduced CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells displayed higher expression levels of HTLV-1 Tax when compared to infected cells (Figure S1B; fold increase ~2.07; P=0.0091). A BioMark transcriptional high throughput qPCR analysis of LVP-transduced T cells demonstrated that Tax expression modulated mRNA levels of several Tax-modulated genes[8, 31], including an increase in IL-2 and a decrease in type I IFN-associated genes. Tax expression led to higher mRNA expression levels of CXCR4, SOCS1 and myc proto-oncogene, as previously shown [7, 33-35]. This analysis also demonstrated the activated/differentiated status of Taxtransduced CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, based on the increased expression of granzyme B, CD40L, CTLA-4, *IFN* $\gamma$  and *IL7R* mRNA (Figures 3B). Interestingly, Tax expression not only inhibited p130 and Bim expression (Figures 3B,C), but also down-regulated several other FOXO3a target genes; BCL6, p27, BIM, FASL, NOXA and PUMA were all downregulated at the mRNA levels at 24 and 48h post-transduction (Figures 3B,C). Tax transduction also induced AKT activation (P <0.001) [9], phosphorylation of FOXO3a (P < 0.05) and inhibition of p130 (P < 0.05) at the protein level, all of which were significantly reversed by the addition of an AKT inhibitor, AKT inhibitor IV (AKT<sub>i</sub>) (Figures 4A,B). Conversely, treatment of transduced CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells with 100 µg/mL IKK inhibitor II (Calbiochem) did not significantly alter the expression levels of phosphorylated FOXO3a (Figure S2A,B). Tax expression in CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells did not modulate FOXO3a stability, as we found no significant change in its expression in the presence or absence of Tax even after 6 days of transduction (Figures S3A,B). Nonetheless Tax transduction resulted in increased nuclear localization of inactive pFOXO3a forms (Ser253 and Thr32 residues) (Figures S3C,D) [13]. Overall this data demonstrate that Tax expression is sufficient to transcriptionally inactivate FOXO3a signaling, via upstream activation of AKT.



Figure 3 '	Tax expression	inhihits FOXO	3a activity <i>via</i> a	activation of AKT

Fas Ligand

PMA-induced protein 1

p53 upregulated modulator of apoptosis

Fasl

noxa

puma

Briefly, activated T cells were transduced by lentiviral particles (LVP) expressing or not Tax. (A) Tax expression at 48 h on transduced T cells in response to  $LVP_{Tax}$  concentrations (5–160 ng/10<sup>6</sup> cells; n=3). (B) At 24 and 48 h post-transduction, total RNA was extracted, and subjected to Biomark analyses. Heatmaps of genes significantly modulated following Tax expression. (C) Table showing fold changes and *P*-values for several modulated FOXO3a targets genes on Tax-transduced T cells (n=5; paired *t* test).

Apoptosis

0.70±0.21

0.54±0.20

0.86±0.23

0.0547 (ns)

0.0155 (\*)

0.1518 (ns)

0.32±0.06

0.25±0.11

0.63±0.29

0.0412 (\*)

0.0066 (\*\*)

0.0320 (\*)



# Figure 4. Tax-mediated FOXO3a inactivation is responsible for CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell persistence.

Briefly, activated T cells were transduced by lentiviral particles (LVP) expressing or not Tax for 2–28 days. (A) FOXO3a signaling on transduced T cells expressing or not Tax at 48 h determined by immunoblotting (n=3). (B) Densitometric quantification of specific bands was performed using ImageJ software. Results shown represent the mean relative expression  $\pm$  SD of 3 independent experiments. (C–E) Persistence and stepwise differentiation of activated CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells transduced with LVP expressing Tax in the presence or absence of AKT<sub>i</sub> (n=5). (C) Absolute numbers of total viable CD3<sup>+</sup> T cells were determined by trypan blue exclusion. Results are expressed in log<sub>2</sub> scale. *P* values were determined based on the comparison with LVP<sub>empty</sub>-transduced cells. The underlined numbers represent the half-life of cultured LVP<sub>empty</sub> (black) and LVP<sub>Tax</sub>+AKT<sub>i</sub> (green) conditions. (D) Differentiation status of transduced T cells subsets at 7–28 dpt. Pie charts are representative of raw data from five independent experiments. (E) Correlation between the absolute numbers of viable transduced T cells at 28 days and the levels of expression of FOXO3a-related proteins at 48 h are also shown (n=9; Spearman test).



Figure S2. Inhibition of IKK does not impact the phosphorylation of FOXO3a.

(A, B) Briefly, activated  $CD4^+$  T cells were transduced for 48 h with  $LVP_{Tax}$  in the presence or absence of IKK inhibitor II. (B) Representative blots at 48 h post-transduction are shown for pFOXO3a and pIKK expression profiles. (C) Densitometric quantification of three independent experiments was performed using ImageJ software (mean ± SD).



Figure S3. Tax expression does not alter the expression of total FOXO3a, but results in increased nuclear localization of inactive phosphorylated forms.

(A, B) Purified CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were transduced with LVP<sub>empty</sub> or LVP<sub>Tax</sub> for 2 to 6 days and collected at each time points. (A) Western blot analysis of total FOXO3a expression was performed on transduced cells until 6 days. (B) Densitometric quantification of specific bands was performed using ImageJ software (n=3). (C, D) After two days of transduction, CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were collected and subjected to nuclear extraction as previously performed [4]. (C) Western blots performed on purified nuclear fractions in the presence or absence of Tax expression. Purity of nuclear fractions was determined using antibodies against nuclear (Histone<sub>H3</sub>) and cytosolic (COX-IV) proteins. (D) Densitometric quantification of three independent experiments for the expression levels of pFOXO3a forms in the nuclear fractions (mean  $\pm$  SD).

### iii. Tax-mediated FOXO3a inactivation is responsible for CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell persistence

We further investigated whether Tax promoted the persistence of activated CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells through AKT induction and subsequent FOXO3a inactivation. Tax transduction alone [blue] was sufficient to maintain T cell survival for 28 days, and maintenance of the differentiated T cell population was mediated through AKT signaling, since the addition of the AKT<sub>i</sub> reduced T cell viability to basal levels (Figure 4C) (half-lives of transduced T cells with LVP<sub>empty</sub> [black] and LVP<sub>Tax</sub>+AKT<sub>i</sub> [green] were 20.5 and 25.7 days, respectively). Tax expression was also associated with the terminally differentiated phenotype, similar to that of HTLV-1 productively infected-T cells (Figure 4D). A majority of the Tax-transduced CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells belonged to the CD3<sup>+</sup>CCR7<sup>neg</sup>CD27<sup>neg</sup>subset at 28 days after Tax transduction (55.2±6.3% and 23.9±6.3% for LVP<sub>Tax</sub> and LVP<sub>empty</sub> infected T cells, respectively; P<0.01). In addition, a strong correlation was established between the number of viable primary CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells at 28 days post-transduction (Figure 4C) and the inhibition of FOXO3a signaling observed as early as 2 days pi (Figures **4A,B**), and measured by phosphorylation of AKT (P<0.0001), pFOXO3a-S253 (P=0.0031), pFOXO3a-Thr32 (P=0.0138), and expression of p130 (P=0.0138) (Figure 4E). Altogether, these results demonstrate that long-term survival of activated CD4<sup>+</sup> T lymphocytes is mediated by a Tax-dependent, AKT phosphorylation and inactivation FOXO3a transcriptional activity.

#### iv. Specific inhibition of FOXO3a activity mimics Tax expression

Based on the above results, we rationalized that the T cell persistence observed during HTLV-1 infection or Tax transduction could be reproduced by introduction of a dominant negative form of FOXO3a, termed FOXO3a Nt[15], that encompasses the N-terminal DNA binding domain of FOXO3a (aa1-304) but lacks the C-terminal transactivation domain. FOXO3a Nt acts as a competitive DNA binding inhibitor of transcriptionally active FOXO3a[15, 36] and interferes with FOXO3a activation of pro-apoptotic and anti-proliferative target genes. As shown in Figure 5A, lentiviral-mediated transduction of FOXO3a Nt prevented primary T cells from undergoing apoptosis (Figure 5A) and thus mimicked Tax function. Expression of FOXO3a Nt also inhibited endogenous FOXO3a activity, as determined by reduced expression of p130 and Bim (Figure 5B). FOXO3a Nt expression resulted in persistence of a highly activated, terminally differentiated CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell population, similar to that observed with Tax expression (Figures **5C,D**). In addition, we found an increased percentage of terminally differentiated CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in the presence of specific FOXO3a siRNA at 14 days of culture (Figures 5E,F and Figures S4). Finally, we sought to determine if Tax physically interacted with an inactivated FOXO3a; by coimmunoprecipitation from Tax-transduced primary T cells, we did not observe an interaction between Tax and FOXO3a, although the interaction between Tax and PI3K was detected (Figures S5) [9] It is possible that Tax-PI3K association stimulates AKT activity and thus indirectly contributes to phosphorylation of FOXO3a by AKT. Collectively, these results demonstrate that Tax expression enhanced T cell longevity and activation, through the inhibition of FOXO3a transcriptional activity, mediated by AKT phosphorylation at S253 and Thr32 residues.



Figure 5. Specific inhibition of FOXO3a activity mimics Tax expression.

(A–D) Purified CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were pre-activated for 3 days with anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 antibodies and then transduced or not with LVP a dominant-negative form of Foxo3a (Nt) for 2–

28 days. (A) Cells were transduced for 48 h with either LVP expressing FOXO3a Nt, or FOXO3a TM (dominant positive), or both. Histograms shown are representative of three independent experiments indicating Annexin-V staining. (B) Immunoblot analyses are performed at 2 days post-transduction to validate the expression of FOXO3a Nt form (c-myc tagged) and subsequent inhibition of endogenous p130 expression (n=3). (C) Absolute numbers of total viable  $CD3^+$  T cells were determined by trypan blue exclusion at 7–28 days. P values were determined based on the comparison with LVP<sub>empty</sub>-transduced cells. The underlined numbers represent the half-life of cultured  $LVP_{empty}$  condition (n=5). (D) Differentiation status of FOXO3a Nt-transduced T cell subsets at 7-28 days. Pie charts are representative of raw data from five independent experiments. (E, F) Purified CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were transfected with control or FOXO3a-specific siRNA and then cultured for two weeks in the presence of TCR triggering. (E) The efficiency of FOXO3a silencing was monitored by immunoblotting after 72 hours of transfection. Western blot analysis of FOXO3a and its targets (p130 and Bim) was performed on transfected cells. The expression of total ERK was also assessed to appreciate the specificity of protein silencing. (F) Differentiation status of FOXO3a siRNA-transfected T cell subsets at 14 days. (i) Pie charts are representative of raw data from three independent experiments. (ii) % of terminally differentiated CD45RA<sup>+/-</sup>CCR7<sup>neg</sup>CD27<sup>neg</sup>T cells in the presence or absence of FOXO3a silencing are also shown (mean  $\pm$  SD).



Figure S4. Silencing FOXO3a expression using small interfering RNA (siRNA) increased the number of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells (n=3).

(A, B) Purified CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were transfected with control or FOXO3a-specific siRNA and then cultured for two weeks in the presence of TCR triggering. (A) The efficiency of FOXO3a silencing was monitored by immunoblotting after 72 hours of transfection using Western Blotting. Results shown are the densitometric analysis of bands using ImageJ software. (B) At day 14 of culture, transfected CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were also collected to assess numbers of total viable

 $\text{CD4}^+$  T cells that were determined by trypan blue exclusion. *P* values were determined based on the comparison with LVP<sub>empty</sub>-transduced cells.



Figure S5. HTLV-1 Tax interacts with PI3K but not FOXO3a (n=4).

Primary  $CD4^+$  T cells were transduced for 48 h with  $LVP_{Tax}$ , then collected and lysed using CHAPS buffer to assess (A) anti-Tax co-immunoprecipitation (co-IP). Representative blots from two separate experiments are shown, including (B) the "input" fractions. We also included lysates that were immunoprecipitated with an isotype IgG1 (instead of anti-Tax antibody) as a negative control to help differentiate non-specific background signal from specific antibody signal.

#### 4. Discussion

HTLV-1 infection is associated with the expansion and leukemic transformation of  $CD4^+$  T lymphocytes, driven in large part by the chronic disruption of host signaling networks by the HTLV-1 Tax oncoprotein[8, 31, 37, 38]. In the present study, we demonstrate that HTLV-1 infection enhances the *in vitro* cellular persistence of activated CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, the expansion of terminally differentiated (CD3<sup>+</sup>CCR7<sup>neg</sup>CD27<sup>neg</sup>) cells and the functional inactivation of the FOXO3a pathway (illustrated by the increased localization of inactive FOXO3a in the nucleus and the inhibition of several targets such as Bim and p130). Mechanistically, both de novo HTLV-1 infection and Tax transduction stimulated AKT activation and downstream phosphorylation of FOXO3a at residues S253 and Thr32 (Figures 2 and 4A,B). Mechanistically, we did not observe an interaction between Tax and FOXO3a (Figure S5), although the interactions between Tax and PI3K was detected as previously reported [9]. It is possible that Tax-PI3K association stimulates AKT activity and thus indirectly contributes to phosphorylation of FOXO3a by AKT. Also, we cannot exclude the possibility that post-translational modifications other than phosphorylation (such as acetylation, methylation, ubiquitination) may impact FOXO3a activity[36, 39]. In addition, since mRNA and protein levels of Tax are generally barely detectable in ATL cells displaying constitutively active AKT [40, 41], it is possible that other Tax-independent mechanisms of FOXO3a inactivation may be used by HTLV-1. Nevertheless, Tax-transduced T cells displayed a global inhibition of FOXO3a activity, illustrated by reduced expression of many pro-apoptotic and anti-proliferative target genes such as BIM, FASL, NOXA, p27 and p130 at 24-48 h post-transduction (Figures 3B,C). Overall this study provides new mechanistic insights by which Tax potentiates the long-term maintenance of CD4<sup>+</sup> T lymphocytes following HTLV-1 infection.

FOXO3a activity is also targeted by another HTLV-1 accessory protein, HBZ, which was shown to inhibit FOXO3a by interfering with its localization and ability to bind DNA[13]. The mechanistically distinct, yet functionally redundant, inhibition of FOXO3a signaling may be explained by the distinct kinetics of expression of these two regulatory proteins. It has been reported that, in contrast to Tax, HBZ is transcribed at high levels in chronically infected patient samples [42], Conversely, even though Tax mRNA expression is relatively moderate, it is at its highest during the early stages of infection, specifically within the first week [43]. Additionally,

Tax controls FOXO4 activity through degradation by the proteasome during ATL development [11]. The inhibition of FOXO3a or FOXO4 activity by distinct HTLV-1 accessory mechanisms also highlights the importance of FOXO inactivation as a strategy to perpetuate HTLV-1 infected CD4<sup>+</sup> T lymphocytes and to contribute in the ATL development.

Using a BioMark<sup>TM</sup> high throughput qPCR analysis (**Table S1**), we demonstrated that Tax not only mediated CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell persistence through the inactivation of the FOXO3a pathway, but also down regulated type I IFN responses (**Figure S1A**), in part mediated by the negative regulator of the JAK-STAT-1 pathway SOCS1 [7, 34]. Taken together with our findings, these data indicate an involvement of Tax oncoprotein in targeting FOXO3a to concomitantly modulate the cell survival, as well as the type I IFN antiviral responses in CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and thus facilitate HTLV-1 infection.

The identification of a pivotal role for FOXO3a in *de novo* HTLV-1 infection of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in terms of cellular differentiation and persistence survival may have important consequences for retroviral pathogenesis. For instance, alterations in the microenvironment mediated by HIV infection significantly increase FOXO3a activity, with a major impact on T and B cell immunity and survival[14, 15, 44, 45]. Kino *et al.* reported that the HIV accessory protein Vpr inhibited the ability of insulin to induce FOXO3a phosphorylation via AKT, thus interfering with its exclusion from the nucleus [46]. The expression of HIV-1 regulatory molecule Tat in specific T cells and macrophages also induced FOXO3a-mediated apoptosis[24, 47]. FOXO3a activity also impacts the pathogenesis and the outcome of Abelson murine leukemia virus[29].

Several gene networks/pathways that were deregulated in Tax expressing CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were similarly disrupted in transcriptome analyses of PBMC from HTLV-1 infected individuals[34, 48, 49] (**Figure S5B**). For instance, transcriptional analysis of differentially regulated pathways demonstrated that cytokines IL15, IL17R, IL7R were down regulated, and chemokine CXCR4 was up regulated in ATL patients; in contrast TNFRSF17 was down regulated while granzyme B and IL-2 were up regulated, in HAM/TSP and AC individuals (**Figure S5B**). It is tempting to speculate that disruption of signalling mechanisms identified early after *de novo* HTLV-1 infection are also important in the development and maintenance of HTLV-1 associated pathologies and could be targeted for clinical treatment.

Due to poor prognosis of patients diagnosed with ATL, coupled with limited therapeutic options, novel immunological approaches including recombinant IL-7, IFN- $\alpha$ , and neutralizing anti-CD25 or anti-CXCR4 antibodies are currently being used to treat ATL and HAM/TSP patients [50-53]. The present study indicates that the PI3K-AKT-FOXO3a pathway may also represent a potential therapeutic target in ATL patients. Since AKT inhibitors are already in clinical development[54], they may offer a valuable addition to current therapeutic approaches.

SUPPLEMENTA	L TAB	LE 1				R	ggatttcgtgggattgtgat		
Gene	-	Sequence (5' to 3')	Probe	Accession	IL17F	F	ggcatcatcaatgaaaacca	39	NM_052872.3
ACTB	R	attggcaatgagcggttc	11	NM_001101.3		R	tggggtcccaagtgacag		+
AKT1	F	ggctgaagagatggaggtgt	3	NM_005163.2	IL17RE	F	cacactgtagagctgccttatgaa	29	NM_153480.1
	R	ggatcaccttgccgaaagt				R	tcctcttgcaggtaggatgc		
AKT3	F	ttgctttcagggctcttgat	22	NM_005465.4	IL18	F	caacaaactatttgtcgcagga	66	NM_00124321
10005005	R	cataatttcttttgcatcatctgg	50	NR 445000 5		R	caaagtaatctgattccaggttttc	+	111 0000510
APOBEC3F		agcctggagcagaaagtgaa	50	NM_145298.5	IL1RL2	F	tggagtgtccacagcatacat	24	NM_003854.2
APOBEC3G	F	gagegeatgeacaatgae	18	NM 021822.3	112	F	aaottttacatocccaanaan	65	NM 000586.3
	R	gccttcaaggaaaccgtgt				R	aagtgaaagtttttgctttgagcta		
ARHGAP1	F	ccagcatccacttgaaacct	10	NM_004308.2	IL21	F	aggaaaccaccttccacaaa	7	NM_021803.2
	R	tccatcacacgctgtagctc				R	gaatcacatgaagggcatgtt		
B2M	F	ttctggcctggaggctatc	42	NM_004048.2	IL23A	F	agetteatgeeteetaatg	30	NM_016584.2
BATE	F		85	NM 006309.3	II 23P	F	ctgggggtgggt	82	NM 144701.2
DATI	R	cttgatctccttgcgagagg	00	1414_000333.0	122013	R	caaagacgatcattcccaataaa	- 02	144701.2
BCL2	F	agtacctgaaccggcacct	75	NM_000633.2	IL2RA	F	acggaagacaaggtggac	54	NM_000417.2
	R	gccgtacagttccacaaagg				R	tgcctgaggcttctcttca		
BCL2L1	F	gctgagttaccggcatcc	55	NM_138578.1	IL2RB	F	acccctcgaagttcttttcc	25	NM_000878.2
DOLE	R	ttctgaagggagagaaaagagattc		NIM 001706 4		R	agggcgaagagagccact	57	NIN 000590.2
BULO		ecacactettacecetta	9	NM_001706.4	1L4	P	ctetaattaactteettees	- 5/	NM_000569.2
BIM	F	catcgcggtattggatc	70	NM 138621.4	IL4R	F	catctacctattatactata	9	NM 000418.2
	R	gctttgccatttggtcttttt				R	ggaatctgatcccaccattc		
CCR6	F	tggtgagctggagtcatcag	41	NM_031409.3	IL7	F	aatggtcagcatcgatcaatta	56	NM_000880.3
	R	cagcggtagcaggaaagtaga				R	aattcattattcaggcaattgctac		
CCR7	F	ggggaaaccaatgaaaagc	77	NM_001838.3	IL7R	F	ggagaaaagagtctaacctgcaa	12	NM_002185.2
CD4	E R	acctatcttgacacaggcata	50	NM 0006164	IDE3	R E	gatgtattaaatgtcaccacaaagtca	19	NM 001571.4
0.04	P	gligcalcaggaaglgaacci	50	NIVI_000010.4	IKF3	R	caggaagcacggcciac	10	NM_001571.4
CD40I	F	tcatgaaacgatacagagatga	2	NM 000074.2	IRE7	F	anctotocoocoagaag	72	NM 001572.3
00.02	R	cttcgtctcctctttgtttaacatt				R	ttggagtccagcatgtgtg		
CDKN1B	F	tttgacttgcatgaagagaagc	60	NM_004064.3	ISG56	F	gcctaatttacagcaaccatga	50	NM_001548.3
	R	agctgtctctgaaagggacatt				R	tcatcaatggataactcccatgt		
CTLA4	F	tcacagctgtttctttgagca	21	NM_005214.3	MAF	F	agcggcttccgagaaaac	55	NM_005360.4
	R	aggctgaaattgcttttcaca			10/0	R	gcgagtgggctcagttatg	-	
CXCL13	F	ctgaatggatacaaagaatgatgg	47	NM_006419.2	MYC	F	caccagcagcgactctga	34	NM_002467.4
CYCP3	F		70	NM 001504.1	P130	F	gatccagactctgacctitigc	25	NM 005611.3
OXON3	R	tccatagtcataggaggggg	10	1414_001304.1	1130	R	ggggaggactottcttacaaat	- 25	1414_000011.0
CXCR4	F	ggtggtctatgttggcgtct	18	NM 001008540.1	P21	F	ccgaggcactcagaggag	70	NM 000389.3
	R	actgacgttggcaaagatga				R	agetgetegetgtecaet		
CXCR5	F	gccatgaactacccgctaac	65	NM_001716.3	PDCD1	F	cggccaggatggttctta	7	NM_005018.2
	R	tctgtccagttcccagaaca				R	gtgaaggtggcgttgtcc		
DDB1	F	tgtcgatatgtgcgtggtg	80	NM_001923.3	PIK3CA	F	cacgagatcctctctctgaaatc	15	NM_006218.2
FASI	F	tagagetattcagetette	17	NM 000639.1	DIK3R5	F	gglagaatticgggggalagilaca		NM 00114263
FAGL	R	tatacatctaactaataaac	11/	14101_000039.1	FINANA	R	agetagatectgeagaagae	- 2	NW_00114203
FOX01	F	aagggtgacagcaacagctc	11	NM 002015.3	PIM1	F	atcaggggcgggggggggggggg	13	NM 002648.3
	R	ttccttcattctgcacacga				R	gggccaagcaccatctaat		
FOXO4	F	acgagtggatggtccgtact	18	NM_005938.3	PIM2	F	gtggccatcaaagtgattcc	26	NM_006875.3
	R	gtggcggatcgagttcttc				R	ttcgagtgggcatgtgact		
FOXP3	F	gagaagctgagtgccatgc	20	NM_001114377.1	PUMA	F	gacctcaacgcacagtacga	68	NM_00112724
CADD45	R	agcccttgtcggatgatg	40	NM 001021.2	DUMAAbata	R	gagattgtacaggaccctcca	- 20	NINA 00440704
GADD45		agecacetetetateateat	40	NM_001924.2	POWAdeta	P	caactocagatactacto		NM_00112724
GAPDH	F	agccacategetcagacac	60	NM 002046.3	SMAD3	F	atctacaagatcccaccag	79	NM 005902.3
	R	gcccaatacgaccaaatcc				R	agccctggttgaccgact		
GATA3	F	cgagcaacgcaatctgac	70	NM_002051.2	SOCS1	F	cccctggttgttgtagcag	50	NM_003745.1
	R	agtccctcctcgggtcac				R	gtaggaggtgcgagttcagg		
GRANZYME A	F	gattttcaggttgattgatgtgg	5	NM_006144.3	SOD2	F	aatcaggatccactgcaagg	3	NM_000636.2
	R	ggagttacttcatttcctccaataa	27	NM 004121.4	COST844	R	taagcgtgctcccacacat	14	NM 002000 1
STONAL TIME B	R	gggggacccagagatta888	3/	14101_004131.4	3001MI	R	cananaancccatnnacan	- 14	1111_003900.4
GRANZYME K	F	caaagaatgaggcctccaaa	47	NM_002104.2	STAT1	F	ttggcacctaacgtgctgt	68	NM_007315.3
	R	gagttttgcggctgtttga				R	agttcgtaccactgagacatcct		
HMOX-1	F	ggcagagggtgatagaagagg	15	NM_002133.2	STAT3	F	ctgcctagatcggctagaaaac	65	NM_139276.2
	R	agctcctgcaactcctcaaa				R	ccctttgtaggaaactttttgc	-	
ICOS	F	ggatgcatacttatttgttggctta	47	NM_012092.3	Tbet	F	gtccaacaatgtgacccaga	34	NM_013351.1
102	F	atateageatectotectee	5	NM 0021664	TGEb1	R	aaagatatgcgtgttggaagc	29	NM 000660 4
102	R	aaagaaatcatgaacaccoctta	1	14101_002.100.4		R	agattatactattatacana	20	1111_00000.4
ID3	F	catctccaacgacaaaaggag	59	NM_002167.4	TNFa	F	tccagacttccttgagacacq	36	NM_000594.2
	R	cttccggcaggagaggtt				R	cccggtctcccaaataaatac		
IFNb	F	ctttgctattttcagacaaagattca	20	NM_002176.2	TNFRSF10B	F	gtgtgtcagtgcgaagaagg	2	NM_003842.4
	R	gccaggaggttctcaacaat				R	gaccatccctctgggaca	-	101 000575 5
IFNg	F	ggcattttgaagaattggaaag	21	NM_000619.2	TNFRSF13B	F	tgcctgaaacactacccaataa	58	NM_006573.3
IKAROS	F	titiggatgctctggtcatctt	47	NM 006060 4	TNEDOE47	R	agcagtttaaagcaccaaa	85	NM 001102.2
INAROS	R	attaccettetaaata	+/	TVIVI_00000.4		R	agyacyagiiiaaaaacacagga	00	14/1001192.2
IL10	F	gataccttcagcagagtgaa	67	NM 000572.2	TRAIL	F	cctcagagagtagcagctcaca	6	NM 003810.3
	R	gcaacccaggtaacccttaaa	1			R	cagagccttttcattcttgga	+	
IL12A	F	cactcccaaaacctgctgag	50	NM_000882.3	·				·
	R	caatctcttcagaagtgcaagg							
IL12RB2	F	ggagcagagatcttcgttgg	50	NM_001559.2					
	R	cccctgttctcccttctgta	00	NNA 00000000					
11213			99	NM_002188.2	-				
IL15	F	caaacaacaattatcttctaataa	65	NM 037840.2	1				
	R	gacaatatgtacaaaactctocaaaaa	1		1				
II 17A	F	toggaagacctcattogtot	8	NM 002190.2	1				

# Table S1: List of primers used for the Biomark analyses.

This list includes sequences and appropriate gene nomenclature.



В

Α

	ACUTE (/I	CHR	ONIC (/hea	lthy)	Clinical treatments	
	24h Tax transduction 48h Tax transduction		AC HAM/TSP		ATL	clinical treatments
IL15		$\rightarrow$			↓	
IL17R	$\rightarrow$	$\downarrow$			↓	
IL7R	$\rightarrow$	$\downarrow$			↓	recombinant IL-7
CXCR4	1				1	anti-CXCR4 Abs
SOCS-1	1		1	1		recombinant type I IFN ± AZT
granzyme B		1	1	1		
TNFRSF17		$\rightarrow$	↓	$\downarrow$		
IL-2	1	1		↑		anti CD25 Abs + A7T
IL-2R	1	1				

# Figure S6. Transcriptome analysis of HTLV-1 Tax expressing CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells.

(A) Briefly, activated T cells transduced or not with  $LVP_{Tax}$  were collected at 24 and 48 h posttransduction and subjected to Biomark analysis (n=5). Heatmap analysis of genes (not shown in Fig. 3B) that were significantly modulated following Tax expression. (B) Table listing several genes that were dysregulated during both acute Tax transduction (blue) and in chronically infected individuals (red). List includes genes which are currently involved as therapeutics in ATL and HAM/TSP patients.

#### Materials and methods

#### Products

RPMI-1640 media, FBS and antibiotics were provided by Wisent Technologies (CA, USA). Unconjugated anti-Tax mAbs (clone LT4) was generously provided by Dr. Yuetsu Tanaka (Kitasato University, Kanagawa, Japan). MT-2 cell lines were obtained from the ATCC<sup>TM</sup> (VA, USA). All antibodies used for flow cytometry were purchased from BD Biosciences, except for the antibody to CD45RA-ECD, which was from Beckman Coulter. All primary antibodies used in Western Blots (anti-phospho forms of FOXO3a, anti-Bim, and anti-phospho-IKK Abs) were purchased from Cell Signaling Technology Inc., whereas anti-p130 and anti-actin were purchased from Sigma Aldrich; anti-FOXO3a from Abcam. 7-Aminoactinomycin D (7-AAD) came from Invitrogen.

### Purification and activation of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells

Leukaphereses from healthy donors were obtained from the Royal Victoria Hospital, Montreal (QC, Canada), with informed consent of the patients and in agreement with the Royal Victoria Hospital, the Jewish General Hospital, and McGill University Research Ethics Committee. PBMCs were isolated using Ficoll-Hypaque gradient and  $CD4^+$  T cells were then purified using the untouched CD4 isolation kit (EasySep® Human CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell Enrichment Kit; StemCell Technologies, Vancouver, BC, Canada), allowing for more than 94% purification without any cell stimulation and apoptosis. CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were then activated 72 hours in RPMI complete in the presence of 1 µg/mL anti-CD28 (BD Biosciences) in 6 well plates pre-coated 24 hours earlier with 0.5 µg/mL anti-CD3 (clone: OKT-3, BioLegend; 2.10<sup>6</sup> cells/well).

#### **HTLV-1 trans-infection**

Cell-cell transmission of HTLV-1 was performed essentially as previously described [26].  $20.10^{6}$  HTLV-1 produced cell line MT-2 were first irradiated at 15,000 rads and then mixed at various ratios (2:1 to 1:8) of irradiated MT-2 to activated CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. At several time points post-infection (pi), collected cells were treated with Cell Dissolution Solution non-enzymatic

according to the Sigma manufacturer's protocol and finally filtered (70 $\mu$ m), prior further analyses.

#### **Flow cytometry**

*Surface staining*: At day 2 pi, cells were first stained in calcium buffer with anti-CD3-PE Cy7 antibody (Ab) and Annexin-V-V450 in the presence or absence of anti-CD25-APC Cy7 or anti-HLA DR-Alexa700 Abs for 10 minutes at 4°C. *HTLV-1 Tax quantitation*: Cells were washed twice and fixed at room temperature (RT) in BD FACS Lysing Buffer (Becton Dickinson) and incubated with anti-Tax-FITC and anti-p19-Alexa647 mAbs for 20 minutes at RT in 0.25% saponin. Anti-p19 IgG<sub>1</sub> antibody was conjugated to Alexa647 dye using the Zenon<sup>R</sup> mouse IgG<sub>1</sub> labeling kit (number: Z25008; Life Technologies Inc., ON, USA) according to the manufacturer's protocol. *pAKT measurement*: AKT phosphorylation was measured with BD Bioscience PhosFlow using anti-pAKT (S473 residue) specific Ab as previously described [23].

#### Western blotting

Protein lysates (2-10  $\mu$ g) from highly purified CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell subsets were subjected to Western blot analysis as previously described [4]. Densitometric quantifications of protein of interest (normalized to  $\beta$ -actin whose expression level was used as loading control) were calculated using ImageJ software.

#### Generation of recombinant lentiviruses

The lentiviral vector pWPI (empty vector), packaging plasmid psPAX2 and envelope plasmid pMD2G were generously provided by VGTI-Florida, whereas pCLXSN-Tax vector was purchased from Addgene (ref: 44038; MA, USA). The FOXO3a N-terminal (Nt) fragment was cloned into pWPI, and as previously described [15], lentiviral particles were produced in 293T cells that harboured either pWPI or pCLXSN (empty controls), pWPI-FOXO3a Nt, or pCLXSN-Tax expression vector. Titers (ng/mL) of lentiviral constructs were assessed using HIV p24 ELISA (Zeptometrix Corporation, USA).

#### Long-term persistence assays

 $CD4^+$  T cells (4X10<sup>4</sup>) were co-cultured in the presence of irradiated MT-2 cells (ratio = 1:1) in complete RPMI. At 3 days pi, cells were washed to remove the maximum of dead MT-2<sub>i</sub> and cultured in the presence of 1µg/mL anti-gp46 Abs to avoid any *de novo* infection. On days 7, 14 and 21 pi, cells were re-stimulated by adding fresh anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 Ab in the presence of anti-gp46 Abs to avoid any *de novo* infection. The efficiency of neutralizing anti-gp46 Ab was confirmed by the absence of p19 staining on primary cells that were treated since the onset of coculture (*data not shown*). At days 3, 7, 14, 21 and 28 pi, viable cultured cells were counted by trypan blue exclusion and stained with 7-AAD, anti-CD3-PE, anti-CD45RA-ECD, anti-CD27-APC H7, anti-CCR7-PE Cy7 and anti-Tax-Alexa 647 Ab for flow cytometry analyses.

#### Fluidigm BioMark<sup>TM</sup> assays

Total RNA was isolated from cells using RNeasy Kit (Qiagen, Valencia, USA) as per manufacturer's instructions. RNA was reverse transcribed using the SuperScript® VILO cDNA synthesis kit according to manufacturer's instructions (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, USA). PCR primers using designed Roche's Universal Probe Library Assav Design Center were (www.universalprobelibrary.com) and ordered from the Integrated DNA Technology company (IDT, USA) (Supplementary Table 1). cDNA along with the entire pool of primers were preamplified for 14 cycles using TaqMan® PreAmp Master Mix as per manufacturer's protocol (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, USA). cDNA were exonuclease treated to get rid of excess primers using Exonuclease I (E. coli) (New England Biolabs, Ipswich, USA). cDNA samples were prepared with 2X FastStart TaqMan® Probe Master (Roche, Penzberg, Germany), GE sample loading buffer (Fluidigm, San Francisco, USA) and Taq Polymerase (Invitrogen, NY, USA). Assays were prepared with 2X assay loading reagent (Fluidigm, NY, USA), primers (IDT) and probes (Roche, Penzberg, Germany). Samples and assays were loaded in their appropriate inlets on a 48.48 BioMark chip. Chip was run on the Biomark<sup>™</sup> HD System (Fluidigm, San Francisco USA) and enabled quantitative measurement of up to 48 different mRNAs in 48 samples under identical reaction conditions. Raw Ct values were calculated after 40 cycles by the real time PCR analysis software (Fluidigm, San Francisco, USA) and software designated failed reactions were discarded from analysis. All data are presented as a relative quantification with efficiency correction based on the relative expression of target gene versus the mean of  $(gapdh+actin+\beta 2 microglobulin)$  as the invariant control. The N-fold differential

expression of mRNA gene samples was expressed as  $2^{\Delta\Delta Ct}$ . The heatmap was produced with the R package pheatmap (<u>http://CRAN.R-project.org/package=pheatmap</u>) and gene expression is shown as gene-wise standardized expression (Z score).

#### Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were performed as previously described [4]. \*\*\*, P < 0.001; \*\*, P < 0.01 and \*, P < 0.05.

#### **Author contributions**

DO and AS performed experiments and helped write the paper; SBH and ZH designed recombinant lentiviral constructs; CC and CS completed the Biomark<sup>TM</sup> analyses and generated heatmaps and ingenuity network; RL made corrections to the text and figures; JH and JvG conceived the study, designed experiments, supervised the experiments, and wrote the paper.

#### Acknowledgments

This project was funded by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (#MOP-106686). We are grateful to the healthy donors participating in this study, their physicians, and attending staff members from the Royal Victoria Hospital (Montreal) including Dr. JP Routy. We also thank ImmuneCarta (Montreal, Canada), and particularly V. Hebert, for providing us many antibodies used for flow cytometry.

#### References

 Cook LB, Elemans M, Rowan AG, Asquith B. HTLV-1: persistence and pathogenesis. Virology. 2013;435(1):131-40. Epub 2012/12/12. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2012.09.028. PubMed PMID: 23217623.
Verdonck K, Gonzalez E, Van Dooren S, Vandamme AM, Vanham G, Gotuzzo E. Human T-lymphotropic virus 1: recent knowledge about an ancient infection. The Lancet infectious diseases. 2007;7(4):266-81. Epub 2007/03/23. doi: 10.1016/s1473-3099(07)70081-6. PubMed PMID: 17376384.

3. Jones KS, Petrow-Sadowski C, Huang YK, Bertolette DC, Ruscetti FW. Cell-free HTLV-1 infects dendritic cells leading to transmission and transformation of CD4(+) T cells. Nature medicine. 2008;14(4):429-36. Epub 2008/04/01. doi: 10.1038/nm1745. PubMed PMID: 18376405.

4. Sze A, Belgnaoui S, Olagnier D, Lin R, Hiscott J, van Grevenynghe J. Host Restriction Factor SAMHD1 Limits Human T Cell Leukemia Virus Type 1 Infection of Monocytes via STING-Mediated Apoptosis. Cell host & microbe. 2013;14. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chom.2013.09.009.

5. Ratner L. Adult T cell leukemia lymphoma. Frontiers in bioscience : a journal and virtual library. 2004;9:2852-9. Epub 2004/09/09. PubMed PMID: 15353320; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC2652732.

6. Yasunaga J, Matsuoka M. Human T-cell leukemia virus type I induces adult T-cell leukemia: from clinical aspects to molecular mechanisms. Cancer control : journal of the Moffitt Cancer Center. 2007;14(2):133-40. Epub 2007/03/28. PubMed PMID: 17387298.

 Charoenthongtrakul S, Zhou Q, Shembade N, Harhaj NS, Harhaj EW. Human T cell leukemia virus type 1 Tax inhibits innate antiviral signaling via NF-kappaB-dependent induction of SOCS1. Journal of virology. 2011;85(14):6955-62. Epub 2011/05/20. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00007-11. PubMed PMID: 21593151; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3126571.

 Matsuoka M, Jeang KT. Human T-cell leukaemia virus type 1 (HTLV-1) infectivity and cellular transformation. Nature reviews Cancer. 2007;7(4):270-80. Epub 2007/03/27. doi: 10.1038/nrc2111. PubMed PMID: 17384582.

9. Peloponese JM, Jr., Jeang KT. Role for Akt/protein kinase B and activator protein-1 in cellular proliferation induced by the human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 tax oncoprotein. The Journal of biological chemistry. 2006;281(13):8927-38. Epub 2006/01/27. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M510598200. PubMed PMID: 16436385.

 Shembade N, Harhaj NS, Yamamoto M, Akira S, Harhaj EW. The human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 Tax oncoprotein requires the ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme Ubc13 for NFkappaB activation. Journal of virology. 2007;81(24):13735-42. Epub 2007/10/19. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01790-07. PubMed PMID: 17942533; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC2168884.

 Oteiza A, Mechti N. The human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 oncoprotein tax controls forkhead box O4 activity through degradation by the proteasome. Journal of virology.
 2011;85(13):6480-91. Epub 2011/04/29. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00036-11. PubMed PMID: 21525355; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3126527.

 Shembade N, Harhaj EW. Outfoxing FoxO transcription factors: HTLV-1 Tax oncoprotein inactivates FoxO4 via the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway. Future virology.
 2011;6(10):1165-8. Epub 2011/12/24. doi: 10.2217/fvl.11.94. PubMed PMID: 22194775; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3242375.

13. Tanaka-Nakanishi A, Yasunaga J, Takai K, Matsuoka M. HTLV-1 bZIP factor suppresses apoptosis by attenuating the function of FoxO3a and altering its localization. Cancer research. 2014;74(1):188-200. Epub 2013/11/02. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.can-13-0436. PubMed PMID: 24177179.

14. van Grevenynghe J, Cubas RA, DaFonseca S, Metcalf T, Tremblay CL, Trautmann L, et al. Foxo3a: an integrator of immune dysfunction during HIV infection. Cytokine & growth factor reviews. 2012;23(4-5):215-21. Epub 2012/07/04. doi: 10.1016/j.cytogfr.2012.05.008. PubMed PMID: 22748238; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3418405.

15. van Grevenynghe J, Procopio FA, He Z, Chomont N, Riou C, Zhang Y, et al. Transcription factor FOXO3a controls the persistence of memory CD4(+) T cells during HIV infection. Nature medicine. 2008;14(3):266-74. Epub 2008/03/04. doi: 10.1038/nm1728. PubMed PMID: 18311149.

16. Lee JC, Espeli M, Anderson CA, Linterman MA, Pocock JM, Williams NJ, et al. Human SNP links differential outcomes in inflammatory and infectious disease to a FOXO3-regulated pathway. Cell. 2013;155(1):57-69. Epub 2013/09/17. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2013.08.034. PubMed PMID: 24035192; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3790457.

17. Monsalve M, Olmos Y. The complex biology of FOXO. Current drug targets.2011;12(9):1322-50. Epub 2011/03/30. PubMed PMID: 21443460.

 Yang JY, Hung MC. Deciphering the role of forkhead transcription factors in cancer therapy. Current drug targets. 2011;12(9):1284-90. Epub 2011/03/30. PubMed PMID: 21443462; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3149891.

 Fuzii HT, da Silva Dias GA, de Barros RJ, Falcao LF, Quaresma JA.
 Immunopathogenesis of HTLV-1-assoaciated myelopathy/tropical spastic paraparesis (HAM/TSP). Life sciences. 2014;104(1-2):9-14. Epub 2014/04/08. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2014.03.025. PubMed PMID: 24704970.

 Romanelli MG, Diani E, Bergamo E, Casoli C, Ciminale V, Bex F, et al. Highlights on distinctive structural and functional properties of HTLV Tax proteins. Frontiers in microbiology.
 2013;4:271. Epub 2013/09/24. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2013.00271. PubMed PMID: 24058363; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3766827.

Huang H, Tindall DJ. Dynamic FoxO transcription factors. Journal of cell science.
 2007;120(Pt 15):2479-87. Epub 2007/07/25. doi: 10.1242/jcs.001222. PubMed PMID: 17646672.

22. van den Berg MC, van Gogh IJ, Smits AM, van Triest M, Dansen TB, Visscher M, et al. The small GTPase RALA controls c-Jun N-terminal kinase-mediated FOXO activation by regulation of a JIP1 scaffold complex. The Journal of biological chemistry. 2013;288(30):2172941. Epub 2013/06/19. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M113.463885. PubMed PMID: 23770673; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3724631.

 Riou C, Yassine-Diab B, Van grevenynghe J, Somogyi R, Greller LD, Gagnon D, et al. Convergence of TCR and cytokine signaling leads to FOXO3a phosphorylation and drives the survival of CD4+ central memory T cells. The Journal of experimental medicine.
 2007;204(1):79-91. Epub 2006/12/28. doi: 10.1084/jem.20061681. PubMed PMID: 17190839; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC2118424.

24. Dabrowska A, Kim N, Aldovini A. Tat-induced FOXO3a is a key mediator of apoptosis in HIV-1-infected human CD4+ T lymphocytes. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950).
2008;181(12):8460-77. Epub 2008/12/04. PubMed PMID: 19050264; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC2665797.

25. Kim N, Kukkonen S, Gupta S, Aldovini A. Association of Tat with promoters of PTEN and PP2A subunits is key to transcriptional activation of apoptotic pathways in HIV-infected CD4+ T cells. PLoS pathogens. 2010;6(9):e1001103. Epub 2010/09/24. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1001103. PubMed PMID: 20862322; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC2940756.

26. Jones KS, Petrow-Sadowski C, Bertolette DC, Huang Y, Ruscetti FW. Heparan sulfate proteoglycans mediate attachment and entry of human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 virions into CD4+ T cells. Journal of virology. 2005;79(20):12692-702. Epub 2005/09/29. doi: 10.1128/JVI.79.20.12692-12702.2005. PubMed PMID: 16188972; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC1235841.

 Fritsch RD, Shen X, Sims GP, Hathcock KS, Hodes RJ, Lipsky PE. Stepwise differentiation of CD4 memory T cells defined by expression of CCR7 and CD27. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950). 2005;175(10):6489-97. Epub 2005/11/08. PubMed PMID: 16272303.

28. Ma CS, Hodgkin PD, Tangye SG. Automatic generation of lymphocyte heterogeneity: Division-dependent changes in the expression of CD27, CCR7 and CD45 by activated human

naive CD4+ T cells are independently regulated. Immunology and cell biology. 2004;82(1):67-74. Epub 2004/02/27. doi: 10.1046/j.0818-9641.2003.01206.x. PubMed PMID: 14984597.

29. Wilson MK, McWhirter SM, Amin RH, Huang D, Schlissel MS. Abelson virus transformation prevents TRAIL expression by inhibiting FoxO3a and NF-kappaB. Molecules and cells. 2010;29(4):333-41. Epub 2010/03/10. doi: 10.1007/s10059-010-0029-8. PubMed PMID: 20213318; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC2862835.

 Bellon M, Baydoun HH, Yao Y, Nicot C. HTLV-I Tax-dependent and -independent events associated with immortalization of human primary T lymphocytes. Blood.
 2010;115(12):2441-8. Epub 2010/01/23. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-08-241117. PubMed PMID: 20093405; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC2845900.

Boxus M, Twizere JC, Legros S, Dewulf JF, Kettmann R, Willems L. The HTLV-1 Tax interactome. Retrovirology. 2008;5:76. Epub 2008/08/16. doi: 10.1186/1742-4690-5-76.
PubMed PMID: 18702816; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC2533353.

32. Saito K, Saito M, Taniura N, Okuwa T, Ohara Y. Activation of the PI3K-Akt pathway by human T cell leukemia virus type 1 (HTLV-1) oncoprotein Tax increases Bcl3 expression, which is associated with enhanced growth of HTLV-1-infected T cells. Virology. 2010;403(2):173-80. Epub 2010/05/18. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2010.04.018. PubMed PMID: 20471052.

33. Hiscott J, Nguyen TL, Arguello M, Nakhaei P, Paz S. Manipulation of the nuclear factorkappaB pathway and the innate immune response by viruses. Oncogene. 2006;25(51):6844-67. Epub 2006/10/31. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1209941. PubMed PMID: 17072332.

Oliere S, Hernandez E, Lezin A, Arguello M, Douville R, Nguyen TL, et al. HTLV-1 evades type I interferon antiviral signaling by inducing the suppressor of cytokine signaling 1 (SOCS1). PLoS pathogens. 2010;6(11):e1001177. Epub 2010/11/17. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1001177. PubMed PMID: 21079688; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC2973829.

 Twizere JC, Springael JY, Boxus M, Burny A, Dequiedt F, Dewulf JF, et al. Human Tcell leukemia virus type-1 Tax oncoprotein regulates G-protein signaling. Blood.
 2007;109(3):1051-60. Epub 2006/09/23. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-06-026781. PubMed PMID: 16990599; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC1785145.

36. Charvet C, Alberti I, Luciano F, Jacquel A, Bernard A, Auberger P, et al. Proteolytic regulation of Forkhead transcription factor FOXO3a by caspase-3-like proteases. Oncogene. 2003;22(29):4557-68. Epub 2003/07/26. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1206778. PubMed PMID: 12881712.

37. Kashanchi F, Brady JN. Transcriptional and post-transcriptional gene regulation of HTLV-1. Oncogene. 2005;24(39):5938-51. Epub 2005/09/13. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1208973.
PubMed PMID: 16155601.

38. Oliere S, Douville R, Sze A, Belgnaoui SM, Hiscott J. Modulation of innate immune responses during human T-cell leukemia virus (HTLV-1) pathogenesis. Cytokine & growth factor reviews. 2011;22(4):197-210. Epub 2011/09/20. doi: 10.1016/j.cytogfr.2011.08.002. PubMed PMID: 21924945.

39. Calnan DR, Brunet A. The FoxO code. Oncogene. 2008;27(16):2276-88. Epub 2008/04/09. doi: 10.1038/onc.2008.21. PubMed PMID: 18391970.

40. Hironaka N, Mochida K, Mori N, Maeda M, Yamamoto N, Yamaoka S. Tax-independent constitutive IkappaB kinase activation in adult T-cell leukemia cells. Neoplasia (New York, NY). 2004;6(3):266-78. Epub 2004/05/22. doi: 10.1593/neo.3388. PubMed PMID: 15153339; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC1502096.

41. Nakahata S, Ichikawa T, Maneesaay P, Saito Y, Nagai K, Tamura T, et al. Loss of NDRG2 expression activates PI3K-AKT signalling via PTEN phosphorylation in ATLL and other cancers. Nat Commun. 2014;5:3393. Epub 2014/02/27. doi: 10.1038/ncomms4393. PubMed PMID: 24569712; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3948061.

42. Saito M, Matsuzaki T, Satou Y, Yasunaga J, Saito K, Arimura K, et al. In vivo expression of the HBZ gene of HTLV-1 correlates with proviral load, inflammatory markers and disease severity in HTLV-1 associated myelopathy/tropical spastic paraparesis (HAM/TSP). Retrovirology. 2009;6:19. Epub 2009/02/21. doi: 10.1186/1742-4690-6-19. PubMed PMID: 19228429; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2653460.

Li M, Kesic M, Yin H, Yu L, Green PL. Kinetic analysis of human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 gene expression in cell culture and infected animals. Journal of virology.
2009;83(8):3788-97. Epub 2009/02/06. doi: 10.1128/jvi.02315-08. PubMed PMID: 19193802; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2663277.

44. van Grevenynghe J, Cubas RA, Noto A, DaFonseca S, He Z, Peretz Y, et al. Loss of memory B cells during chronic HIV infection is driven by Foxo3a- and TRAIL-mediated apoptosis. The Journal of clinical investigation. 2011;121(10):3877-88. Epub 2011/09/20. doi: 10.1172/JCI59211. PubMed PMID: 21926463; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3195482.

45. van Grevenynghe J, Halwani R, Chomont N, Ancuta P, Peretz Y, Tanel A, et al. Lymph node architecture collapse and consequent modulation of FOXO3a pathway on memory T- and B-cells during HIV infection. Seminars in immunology. 2008;20(3):196-203. Epub 2008/09/02. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2008.07.008. PubMed PMID: 18757210.

46. Kino T, De Martino MU, Charmandari E, Ichijo T, Outas T, Chrousos GP. HIV-1 accessory protein Vpr inhibits the effect of insulin on the Foxo subfamily of forkhead transcription factors by interfering with their binding to 14-3-3 proteins: potential clinical implications regarding the insulin resistance of HIV-1-infected patients. Diabetes. 2005;54(1):23-31. Epub 2004/12/24. PubMed PMID: 15616007.

47. Cui M, Huang Y, Zhao Y, Zheng J. Transcription factor FOXO3a mediates apoptosis in HIV-1-infected macrophages. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950). 2008;180(2):898-906. Epub 2008/01/08. PubMed PMID: 18178829; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC2276663.

48. Goncalves DU, Proietti FA, Barbosa-Stancioli EF, Martins ML, Ribas JG, Martins-Filho OA, et al. HTLV-1-associated myelopathy/tropical spastic paraparesis (HAM/TSP)

inflammatory network. Inflammation & allergy drug targets. 2008;7(2):98-107. Epub 2008/08/12. PubMed PMID: 18691139.

49. Tattermusch S, Skinner JA, Chaussabel D, Banchereau J, Berry MP, McNab FW, et al.
Systems biology approaches reveal a specific interferon-inducible signature in HTLV-1
associated myelopathy. PLoS pathogens. 2012;8(1):e1002480. Epub 2012/02/01. doi:
10.1371/journal.ppat.1002480. PubMed PMID: 22291590; PubMed Central PMCID:
PMC3266939.

50. Fukushima N, Nishiura Y, Nakamura T, Kohno S, Eguchi K. Blockade of IL-2 receptor suppresses HTLV-I and IFN-gamma expression in patients with HTLV-I-associated myelopathy/tropical spastic paraparesis. Intern Med. 2007;46(7):347-51. Epub 2007/04/06. PubMed PMID: 17409595.

51. Marcais A, Suarez F, Sibon D, Bazarbachi A, Hermine O. Clinical trials of adult T-cell leukaemia/lymphoma treatment. Leukemia research and treatment. 2012;2012:932175. Epub 2012/12/06. doi: 10.1155/2012/932175. PubMed PMID: 23213552; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3504218.

52. Marcais A, Suarez F, Sibon D, Frenzel L, Hermine O, Bazarbachi A. Therapeutic options for adult T-cell leukemia/lymphoma. Current oncology reports. 2013;15(5):457-64. Epub 2013/08/15. doi: 10.1007/s11912-013-0332-6. PubMed PMID: 23943384.

53. White Y, Yoshimitsu M, Kozako T, Matsushita K, Koriyama C, Uozumi K, et al. Effects of exogenous interleukin-7 on CD8(+) T-cell survival and function in human T-cell lymphotropic virus type 1 infection. Leukemia & lymphoma. 2013;54(10):2243-50. Epub 2013/02/07. doi: 10.3109/10428194.2013.772174. PubMed PMID: 23383601.

54. Pal SK, Reckamp K, Yu H, Figlin RA. Akt inhibitors in clinical development for the treatment of cancer. Expert opinion on investigational drugs. 2010;19(11):1355-66. Epub 2010/09/18. doi: 10.1517/13543784.2010.520701. PubMed PMID: 20846000; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3244346.

# **Chapter 5: Discussion**

The objectives of this thesis as described in the Rationale and Objectives section were met and published in two distinct primary research articles. HTLV-1 infection led to depletion and persistence in monocytes and CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells respectively. This data coincides with *in vivo* observations regarding the outcomes of cellular fates for these cells, and elucidates the early molecular events following *de novo* HTLV-1 infection. Considerable development has recently been made on the topic of SAMHD1 and retroviral infection of myeloid cells, and is the focus of the following discussion. The role of senescence and FOXO3a inactivation by Tax during HTLV-1 infection will also be discussed in a later subsection.

# 1. The Detection of Reverse Transcribed Intermediaries by STING

An important outstanding question raised in chapter 3 remains regarding which sensor was responsible for the detection of the RTI (reverse transcribed intermediaries) that induced apoptosis. While many DNA receptors have been identified such as TLR7, cGAS and IFI16, cGAS seems to have taken a prominent role in the detection of cytosolic DNA[1], and STING remains absolutely vital for downstream activation following DNA stimulation[2]. Many groups have identified cGAS as the sensor for HIV-1 DNA[3-6], and our own unpublished results suggest a similar conclusion in terms of HTLV-1. Interestingly, HIV-1 strong stop DNA, the first single stranded DNA product made during reverse transcription, was analyzed to discover what sequence motifs were important for IFN production[7]. Herzner *et al.* discovered that stem loop structures and guanosines were vital for the induction of IFN. The strong stop DNA of HTLV-1 contains several SL (stem loop) structures, and the synthetic RTI used in chapter 3 and contained a guanosine trimer overhang that is vital for IFN activation (unpublished results). Most relevant, was the data that this cGAS mediated response to HIV-1 infection in MDM (monocyte derived macrophages) was strongly correlated with the production of negative strand DNA, the same type of ligand likely detected during HTLV-1 infection in primary monocytes.

The apoptosis observed in our system was similar to the one described by several other groups studying abortive HIV-1 infection in primary human T-cells. One group demonstrated that once

CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells isolated from PBMC were infected with HIV-1, a significant portion of them died via apoptosis, and little productive infection was recorded. The cells could be rescued from apoptosis by viral entry inhibitors, but not other drugs affecting later steps of the viral lifecycle. Cell death could also be reduced via mitogenic stimulation[8], likely causing SAMHD1 inactivation and the cellular pool of dNTP to rise[9, 10].

A series of papers from the laboratory of Dr. Greene using primary tonsil CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells also demonstrated that abortive HIV-1 infection resulted in an inflammatory form of cell death called pyroptosis. Here too cellular activation increased survival, and the addition of various anti-retroviral agents strongly suggested that long incomplete cytoplasmic HIV-1 DNA was the cause of apoptosis[11]. Intriguingly, in their experiments they found that cell-free virus, at comparable concentrations to our own experiments, did not induce apoptosis, and cell-to-cell infection was required[11]. These results were expanded in a subsequent report, which demonstrated that a small number of cells were required to be productively infected and physically interact with uninfected cells in order to induce cell death. Increasing infectivity via spinoculation did not result in cell death when a single-round virus was used, but did when a multiple-round virus was used[12].

This data suggests some difference in the apoptotic stimuli between monocytes and CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells. While RTI alone are sufficient to induce apoptosis in monocytes, additional cell-to-cell signals are required for T-cell pyroptosis. However, the source of HTLV-1 virus in chapter 3 was concentrated supernatants of MT2 cells that produce viral biofilms. These supernatants were not filtered, suggesting that infection could have been mediated by viral biofilms instead of cell-free virions, which have significantly different infectious properties[13]. Consequently, unknown extracellular signals may be present in HTLV-1 biofilms that may play an important role in HTLV-1 induced apoptosis in monocytes. It is also possible that only cell-to-cell infection causes enough RTI to accumulate in the target cell to activate cell death pathways in CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells.

Additional follow-up reports identified IFI16 as the receptor responsible for the induction of pyroptosis, cGAS was undetectable in tonsil CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells and intriguingly, cell death was independent of STING despite its expression[14]. Pyroptosis was mediated by caspase-1 activation in non-productively infected cells, as caspase-3 and type-1 IFN inhibitors did not

improve cell viability[15]. Several studies have shown that caspase activation, including caspase-1[16, 17], can dampen the cGAS-STING signaling pathway[18, 19], suggesting the caspase-1 inhibitors may, in addition to preventing CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cell depletion, enhance immune detection of RTI in these abortively infected cells.

Many reports have begun to elucidate the DNA signaling pathway induced by various DNA receptors in different cell types. One group reported that IF116 and cGAS cooperated in human MDM to activate STING and IFN signaling in response to HIV-1 DNA[20]. A subsequent report confirmed the role of cGAS in IFN signaling following retroviral infection in activated CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells and MDDC, but did not investigate IF116[3]. Ku70 may also play a role in DNA detection through STING in MDM during HTLV-1 infection[21]. In human fibroblasts, IF116 activation induced antiviral cytokine production including IFN, but was somewhat distinct from cGAS-STING activation that could induce apoptosis[22]. Indeed several groups have now demonstrated that the c-GAS-STING-TBK1-IRF3-Bax pathway can be activated by numerous stimuli to induce apoptosis[23-25]. Overall this indicates a complex antiviral response that varies depending on the cell type and the profile of DNA receptors and downstream adaptor molecules[26].

Peripheral blood CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells were largely resistant to pyroptosis following infection, which was associated with decreased viral DNA production and IF116 expression. Tonsil CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells displayed higher levels of activation that while insufficient to allow productive infection, was capable of producing enough viral DNA to induce pyroptosis[27]. Although SAMHD1 has been identified as key factor responsible for abortive infection in blood CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells, its activity has never been associated with pyroptosis[28, 29]. As the activity of SAMHD1 is closely tied to the activation status of the cell[9, 10], it seems likely that SAMHD1 is an important player in the depletion of CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells observed during HIV-1 infection as the primary inducer of RTI accumulation.

Another mechanism of retroviral-mediated cell death was also identified, this time in activated CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells, that also relies on a DNA signaling pathway[30]. Here DNA damage induced by retroviral integration was detected by DNA-PK, and induced p53-mediated cell death. 2-LTR

circle formation and viral protein production did not induce apoptosis, while integrase inhibitors could prevent cell death.

#### 2. The Interactions between Innate Immune Signaling and SAMHD1

Several studies have characterized SAMHD1 as a negative regulator of the immune response. Supporting this are numerous pieces of data, such as non-functional SAMHD1 mutations leading to inflammatory conditions such as Aicardi-Goutèires syndrome[31]. As discussed in chapter 2, HIV-2 is significantly less pathogenic than HIV-1, and packages Vpx that can degrade SAMHD1 in order to productively infect myeloid cells. It has been proposed that productive infection of myeloid cells by HIV-2 would increase *in vivo* antigen presentation, and explain why an HIV-1 ancestor lost the *vpx* gene[32, 33].

However, one report showed that DC co-culture with other cells types such as T-cells stimulated the DC and reduced their restriction to HIV-1 infection via downregulation of SAMHD1[34]. These cells were then able to induce IFN production in response to HIV-1, and suggest that in *in vivo* conditions retroviral infection of myeloid cells is possible. It also indicates that the loss of the *vpx* gene may not be related to immune evasion in myeloid cells.

Many groups have demonstrated that the removal of SAMHD1 in myeloid cells such as MDDC and MDM, is required during HIV-1 infection to render the cells responsive to infection in a cGAS dependent manner that induces IFN production[5, 35, 36]. Intriguingly, the study by *Puigdomènech et al.* demonstrated that immune activation occurred due to a post-integration step, suggesting that the initial wave of RTI was undetectable. This is similar to what was reported in tonsil T-cells that required cell-to-cell infection[12]. In activated CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells and MDDC, cGAS was responsible for IFN production, but this was mediated by *de novo* viral protein synthesis after integration. A single-cycle virus could also not induce immune signaling, again suggesting the RTI production was undetectable in this model as well[3].

Indeed the sensitivity of primary human monocytes to RTI described in chapter 3 is likely the result of the repertoire of DNA receptors and adaptor molecules uniquely expressed in them. For instance, one report demonstrated that CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells express significantly higher levels of STING than MDM and responded differently to the same stimuli; apoptosis versus IFN production

respectively[26]. However, overexpression of STING in MDM resulted in similar induction of apoptosis. A comparison between various monocyte derived cells was performed by *Paijo et al.* and showed that MDDC and MDM express relatively low levels of STING[37]. Our own unpublished results suggest that monocytes express high levels of STING like CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells, suggesting that MDDC and MDM could be unresponsive to RTI due to relative low expression of STING and other unknown factors responsible for RTI detection.

This was exemplified in a recent report investigating the different consequences of HIV-1 infection in MDDC and mature-MDDC, which were produced with different cytokine cocktails[38]. Consistently, MDDC only responded to HIV-1 infection when treated with Vpx to degrade SAMHD1. Mature-MDDC however, demonstrated the opposite result and only initiated an immune response to HIV-1 when SAMHD1 was present. Viral entry was comparable in both cell types, but MDDC expressed less cGAS. Altogether mature-MDDC behaved much more similarly to monocytes than MDDC did during retroviral infection.

These observations may also be due to intrinsic differences between HTLV-1 and HIV-1. HIV-1 capsid interaction with cyclophilins may sequester viral nucleic acids in such a way that greatly attenuate viral DNA detection[4, 6]. It is currently thought that HTLV-1 possesses different mechanisms related to cyclophilin binding and uncoating.

### 3. The Involvement of SAMHD1 in Cancer and NRTI Drugs

Since the manuscript presented in chapter 2 was published in late 2013, there have been additional publications on SAMHD1 that have expanded our knowledge regarding its function. One of the most intriguing developments was the link between SAMHD1 and cancer[39]. SAMHD1 is often down regulated[40-42], or mutated in cancer[41, 43-46]. The mechanism seems to be related to changes in dNTP pool that impact DNA replication fidelity[46, 47]. SAMHD1 expression is linked to inhibition of cellular proliferation and apoptosis induction[40, 47, 48]. Furthermore, SAMHD1 activity is tightly tied to the cell cycles. SAMHD1 Interacts with cell cycle proteins, including CDK1 which phosphorylates and inactivates it[9, 47, 49]. Indeed,

Depletion of SAMHD1 can arrest the cell cycle as this leads to a deregulated dNTP pool, an important cell cycle checkpoint[50, 51].

SAMHD1 activity may also protect malignant cells from certain chemotherapies by degrading anti-proliferative nucleoside analogs[52, 53]. Similarly, SAMHD1 silencing causes HIV-1 to be significantly less sensitive to NRTI (Nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors), including AZT[54-56]. These common antiretroviral drugs are incorporated into reverse transcription DNA products, but terminate DNA elongation and thus restrict viral replication. Once inside the cell, they are phosphorylated and made active by cellular kinases. SAMHD1 increases the efficacy of NRTI by lowering the concentration of the competing dNTP. However, the exact mechanism is more complicated, as while SAMHD1 tends to have little effect on anti-retroviral NRTI and does not cleave them, it does influence the efficiency of their activation/phosphorylation by cellular enzymes[57].

The precise beneficial mechanism of AZT treatment during ATL is not known. Although a recent study demonstrated that it along with ABC (abacavir), another NRTI used during HIV-1 infection, induced significant cell death of ATL cells. This appears to be mediated by the incorporation of ABC into genomic DNA, where it induced severe DNA damage due to the weakened DNA repair machinery[58]. A subsequent study indicated that the HTLV-1 accessory protein HBZ suppresses the key machinery used to prevent ABC mediated cytotoxicity in healthy cells[59]. Since SAMHD1 seems to potentiate the anti-retroviral activity of ABC[54, 56], it may serve an important role in mediating the efficacy of NRTI treatments in ATL patients.

To my knowledge, no direct evidence exists of the capacity of HTLV-1 to modulate SAMHD1 function or expression, but several lines of indirect evidence supports this possibility. Firstly, HTLV-1 deregulates the cell cycle, which could have indirect alterations on SAMHD1. Secondly, the SAMHD1 promoter can also be inhibited by miR-30a, miR-181a, and miR-155[60]. miR-181a, and miR-155 seem to be deregulated during HTLV-1 infection[61, 62]. Overall further study is required to establish if HTLV-1 directly modulates SAMHD1.

#### 4. RNAse Functions of SAMHD1

While the general consensus of the scientific community appears to be that SAMHD1 prevents retroviral replication by depleting the intracellular dNTP pool required for reverse transcription, there exists some data that would suggest additional mechanisms of restriction. Phosphorylation of SAMHD1 controls its anti-HIV-1 properties, but not its ability to hydrolyze dNTP[49, 63, 64]. Furthermore, SAMHD1 seems to possess exonuclease activity that could mediate additional antiretroviral functions[65-67]. Dr. Ahn's group demonstrated that SAMHD1 restricted HIV-1 replication via ribonuclease activity that degraded the gRNA of incoming viral particles[68, 69].

However this data remains controversial, as many independent studies have shown no RNAse activity is associated with SAMHD1-mediated retroviral restriction[70-72]. It was proposed that residual contamination was the reason for the observed RNAse function of SAMHD1[73]. Furthermore, as a nuclear protein[74], it remains unclear how SAMHD1 would interact with gRNA in the cytoplasm. One of the key findings supporting the RNAse paradigm was repeated, whereby a dNTPase deficient mutant of SAMHD1 that could not bind to activating GTP (SAMHD1<sub>D137N</sub>) could still restrict HIV-1 replication, presumably through non-dNTPase functions[75]. However an independent group demonstrated that SAMHD1<sub>D137N</sub> could still hydrolyze dNTP, indicating that the previously observed retroviral restriction was in fact mediated by dNTPase function, and not through RNAse activity.

It is known that SAMHD1 D137 mutants have impaired dNTPase activity[76-78]. This site is part of the Allo-site 1 that binds to the activating GTP/dGTP. The interaction is mediated by the formation of 6 hydrogen bonds between the SAMHD1 amino acids at D137 (2 bonds), Q142 (1 bond), R145 (2 bonds), and V117 (1 bond) and GTP, while dGTP forms 5 bonds at the same residues except V117[79]. Another purine base like adenine would simply not be able to form most of these interactions and does not activate the dNTP triphosphate hydrolase activity of SAMHD1[80]. When mutated, most groups have demonstrated SAMHD1 inactivity via D137A mutations, whereby the aspartic acid was replaced with an alanine amino acid[76-78]. This likely

abolishes a significant portion of the overall binding capacity between GTP/dGTP and SAMHD1, as alanine cannot form any hydrogen bonds[80].

Curiously, Dr. Ahn's group that demonstrated the RNAse function of SAMHD1 developed and used a D137N mutant instead of the D137A. Replacing aspartic acid with asparagine, and in their hands it controversially retained no dNTPase function. However, the side chain of asparagine is the same length as aspartic acid, and it is similarly capable of forming two hydrogen bonds via its terminal oxygen and nitrogen, indicating that it may still bind to GTP. This analysis would suggest that despite a mutation in Allo-site 1, SAMHD1<sub>D137N</sub> could still hydrolyze dNTP.

Dr. Ahn responded to these criticisms by stating that different conditions are likely the reason they observe RNAse activity[81]. They have subsequently shown that SAMHD1 is a phosphorolytic ribonuclease instead of the presumed hydrolytic one[82].



Figure 1: Structures of various amino acids mutated at side 137 in SAMHD1.



Figure 2: Schematic representation of the Allo-site 1 of SAMHD1. Presented here is aspartic acid at residue 137 among other binding sites. Mutation at this residue to an asparagine could likely maintain both hydrogen bonds, indicated here as dashed lines. In blue; SAMHD1 protein, in orange; activating GTP. Highlighted in the orange box is the additional hydrogen bond formed between SAMHD1 and GTP, which will not occur during dGTP activation. Adapted from[78].

#### 5. Senescence Mediated Infection

It is known that HTLV-1 infection can lead to senescence in most cells via Tax-mediated NF- $\kappa$ B activation[83-85]. One of the main observations we recorded in chapter 4 was that the infected primary CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells persisted in the long term over the non-infected samples, but did not seem to proliferate, suggesting that most of these cells were senescent. The cells were capable of viral transmission however, and suggest that Tax-induced senescence is not quite a dead end for HTLV-1. Senescent cells have previously been reported to attract macrophages[86] and CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells[87], which could lead to their infection in *in vivo* settings[88]. The downregulation of FOXO3a helps to protect these infected senescent cells from cell death, promoting viral transmission for as long as possible. It is also likely that FOXO3a deregulation protects the infected cells from the powerful anti-Tax CTL response during the intermittent cycles of Tax expression. The subsequent burst of HBZ that downregulates Tax would then no longer necessitate the anti-FOXO3a mechanism for survival.

Surprisingly, we did not detect an upregulation in activated IKK during HTLV-1 infection between Tax positive and Tax negative cells. We did however record an overall increase in IKK phosphorylation in the infected samples compared to controls, although this data was not included in the publication as it was statistically weak. We determined that in our model, the PI3K/AKT pathway was primarily responsible for FOXO3a deactivation, while other studies have also involved NF- $\kappa$ B[89-91].

6. Concluding Remarks

The goal of this project was to discover the consequences of early HTLV-1 infection in primary human monocytes and CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells. Infection of inactivated monocytes was found to be non-productive and resulted in their depletion, a finding that has recently been confirmed in patient samples[92]. Cell-to-cell infection of activated CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells lead to sustained cellular survival in those that were productively infected, mediated by Tax activation of the PI3K/AKT pathway that inactivated the pro-apoptotic transcription factor FOXO3a. This may represent an important deregulated cellular pathway exploited during HTLV-1 infection. These HTLV-1 infected Tax

expressing cells likely form an apoptosis-resistant viral reservoir that spreads HTLV-1 infection in the host by possibly taking advantage of cellular senescence.

## References

- 1. Chen, Q., L. Sun, and Z.J. Chen, *Regulation and function of the cGAS–STING pathway of cytosolic DNA sensing*. Nature Immunology, 2016. **17**: p. 1142.
- Barber, G.N., STING-dependent cytosolic DNA sensing pathways. Trends Immunol, 2014. 35(2): p. 88-93.
- 3. Vermeire, J., et al., *HIV Triggers a cGAS-Dependent, Vpu- and Vpr-Regulated Type I Interferon Response in CD4(+) T Cells.* Cell Rep, 2016. **17**(2): p. 413-424.
- 4. Rasaiyaah, J., et al., *HIV-1 evades innate immune recognition through specific cofactor recruitment*. Nature, 2013. **503**(7476): p. 402-405.
- 5. Gao, D., et al., *Cyclic GMP-AMP synthase is an innate immune sensor of HIV and other retroviruses.* Science, 2013. **341**(6148): p. 903-6.
- Lahaye, X., et al., *The capsids of HIV-1 and HIV-2 determine immune detection of the viral cDNA by the innate sensor cGAS in dendritic cells*. Immunity, 2013. **39**(6): p. 1132-42.
- Herzner, A.M., et al., Sequence-specific activation of the DNA sensor cGAS by Y-form DNA structures as found in primary HIV-1 cDNA. Nat Immunol, 2015. 16(10): p. 1025-33.
- 8. Zhou, Y., et al., *Kinetics of Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 Decay following Entry into Resting CD4(+) T Cells.* J Virol, 2005. **79**(4): p. 2199-210.
- 9. Cribier, A., et al., *Phosphorylation of SAMHD1 by Cyclin A2/CDK1 Regulates Its Restriction Activity toward HIV-1*. Cell Rep, 2013.

- Mlcochova, P., et al., A G1-like state allows HIV-1 to bypass SAMHD1 restriction in macrophages. Embo j, 2017. 36(5): p. 604-16.
- 11. Doitsh, G., et al., *Abortive HIV infection mediates CD4 T cell depletion and inflammation in human lymphoid tissue.* Cell, 2010. **143**(5): p. 789-801.
- Galloway, N.L., et al., Cell-to-Cell Transmission of HIV-1 Is Required to Trigger Pyroptotic Death of Lymphoid-Tissue-Derived CD4 T Cells. Cell Rep, 2015. 12(10): p. 1555-1563.
- Alais, S., R. Mahieux, and H. Dutartre, Viral Source-Independent High Susceptibility of Dendritic Cells to Human T-Cell Leukemia Virus Type 1 Infection Compared to That of T Lymphocytes. J Virol, 2015. 89(20): p. 10580-90.
- Monroe, K.M., et al., *IFI16 DNA Sensor Is Required for Death of Lymphoid CD4 T-cells* Abortively Infected with HIV. Science, 2014. 343(6169): p. 428-32.
- Doitsh, G., et al., *Pyroptosis drives CD4 T-cell depletion in HIV-1 infection*. Nature, 2014. 505(7484): p. 509-14.
- 16. Corrales, L., et al., *Antagonism of the STING Pathway via Activation of the AIM2 Inflammasome by Intracellular DNA*. J Immunol, 2016. **196**(7): p. 3191-8.
- 17. Wang, Y., et al., Inflammasome Activation Triggers Caspase-1-Mediated Cleavage of cGAS to Regulate Responses to DNA Virus Infection. Immunity, 2017. **46**(3): p. 393-404.
- 18. White, M.J., et al., *Apoptotic caspases suppress mtDNA-induced STING-mediated type I IFN production*. Cell, 2014. **159**(7): p. 1549-62.
- 19. Rongvaux, A., et al., *Apoptotic caspases prevent the induction of type I interferons by mitochondrial DNA*. Cell, 2014. **159**(7): p. 1563-77.
- 20. Jakobsen, M.R., et al., *IFI16 senses DNA forms of the lentiviral replication cycle and controls HIV-1 replication.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2013.

- 21. Wang, J., et al., *Ku70 Senses HTLV-1 DNA and Modulates HTLV-1 Replication*. J Immunol, 2017. **199**(7): p. 2475-2482.
- 22. Diner, B.A., et al., Viral DNA Sensors IF116 and Cyclic GMP-AMP Synthase Possess Distinct Functions in Regulating Viral Gene Expression, Immune Defenses, and Apoptotic Responses during Herpesvirus Infection. mBio, 2016. 7(6).
- 23. Tang, C.H.A., et al., Agonist-mediated activation of STING induces apoptosis in malignant B cells. Cancer Res, 2016. **76**(8): p. 2137-52.
- Petrasek, J., et al., STING-IRF3 pathway links endoplasmic reticulum stress with hepatocyte apoptosis in early alcoholic liver disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2013. 110(41): p. 16544-9.
- 25. Cui, Y., et al., Mycobacterium bovis Induces Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress Mediated-Apoptosis by Activating IRF3 in a Murine Macrophage Cell Line. Front Cell Infect Microbiol, 2016. 6: p. 182.
- 26. Gulen, M.F., et al., *Signalling strength determines proapoptotic functions of STING*. Nat Commun, 2017. **8**.
- 27. Muñoz-Arias, I., et al., *Blood-Derived CD4 T Cells Naturally Resist Pyroptosis During Abortive HIV-1 Infection*. Cell Host Microbe, 2015. **18**(4): p. 463-70.
- Baldauf, H.M., et al., SAMHD1 restricts HIV-1 infection in resting CD4(+) T cells. Nat Med, 2012. 18(11): p. 1682-7.
- 29. Descours, B., et al., SAMHD1 restricts HIV-1 reverse transcription in quiescent CD4(+)
   *T-cells*. Retrovirology, 2012. 9: p. 87.
- 30. Cooper, A., et al., *HIV-1 causes CD4 cell death through DNA-dependent protein kinase during viral integration*. Nature, 2013. **498**(7454): p. 376-9.

- 31. Rice, G.I., et al., *Mutations involved in Aicardi-Goutieres syndrome implicate SAMHD1 as regulator of the innate immune response.* Nat Genet, 2009. **41**(7): p. 829-32.
- 32. Manel, N., et al., *A cryptic sensor for HIV-1 activates antiviral innate immunity in dendritic cells*. Nature, 2010. **467**(7312): p. 214-7.
- 33. Zhang, C., et al., *Co-evolution of primate SAMHD1 and lentivirus Vpx leads to the loss of the vpx gene in HIV-1 ancestor*. PLoS One, 2012. **7**(5): p. e37477.
- Su, B., et al., Dendritic Cell-Lymphocyte Cross Talk Downregulates Host Restriction Factor SAMHD1 and Stimulates HIV-1 Replication in Dendritic Cells. J Virol, 2014.
  88(9): p. 5109-21.
- Puigdomènech, I., et al., SAMHD1 Restricts HIV-1 Cell-to-Cell Transmission and Limits Immune Detection in Monocyte-Derived Dendritic Cells. J Virol, 2013. 87(5): p. 2846-56.
- 36. Maelfait, J., et al., *Restriction by SAMHD1 Limits cGAS/STING-Dependent Innate and Adaptive Immune Responses to HIV-1*. Cell Rep, 2016. **16**(6): p. 1492-501.
- 37. Paijo, J., et al., *cGAS Senses Human Cytomegalovirus and Induces Type I Interferon Responses in Human Monocyte-Derived Cells.* PLoS Pathog, 2016. **12**(4): p. e1005546.
- 38. Calonge, E., et al., *Different Expression of Interferon-Stimulated Genes in Response to HIV-1 Infection in Dendritic Cells Based on Their Maturation State.* J Virol, 2017. **91**(8).
- 39. Kohnken, R., K.M. Kodigepalli, and L. Wu, *Regulation of deoxynucleotide metabolism in cancer: novel mechanisms and therapeutic implications*. Mol Cancer, 2015. **14**.
- 40. Wang, J.L., et al., *SAMHD1 is down regulated in lung cancer by methylation and inhibits tumor cell proliferation*. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 2014. **455**(3-4): p. 229-33.
- 41. Clifford, R., et al., *SAMHD1 is mutated recurrently in chronic lymphocytic leukemia and is involved in response to DNA damage*. Blood, 2014. **123**(7): p. 1021-31.

- 42. Yang, C.A., et al., *DNA-Sensing and Nuclease Gene Expressions as Markers for Colorectal Cancer Progression*. Oncology, 2017. **92**(2): p. 115-124.
- 43. Guieze, R., et al., *Presence of multiple recurrent mutations confers poor trial outcome of relapsed/refractory CLL*. Blood, 2015. **126**(18): p. 2110-7.
- 44. Merati, M., et al., Aggressive CD8(+) epidermotropic cutaneous T-cell lymphoma associated with homozygous mutation in SAMHD1. JAAD Case Rep, 2015. 1(4): p. 227-9.
- Amin, N.A., et al., A Quantitative Analysis of Subclonal and Clonal Gene Mutations before and after Therapy in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. Clin Cancer Res, 2016.
   22(17): p. 4525-35.
- 46. Rentoft, M., et al., *Heterozygous colon cancer-associated mutations of SAMHD1 have functional significance.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2016. **113**(17): p. 4723-8.
- 47. Kretschmer, S., et al., *SAMHD1 prevents autoimmunity by maintaining genome stability*. Ann Rheum Dis, 2015. **74**(3): p. e17.
- 48. Kodigepalli, K.M., et al., Exogenous expression of SAMHD1 inhibits proliferation and induces apoptosis in cutaneous T-cell lymphoma-derived HuT78 cells. Cell Cycle, 2017. 16(2): p. 179-188.
- 49. White, T.E., et al., *The retroviral restriction ability of SAMHD1, but not its deoxynucleotide triphosphohydrolase activity, is regulated by phosphorylation.* Cell Host Microbe, 2013. **13**(4): p. 441-51.
- 50. Franzolin, E., et al., *The deoxynucleotide triphosphohydrolase SAMHD1 is a major regulator of DNA precursor pools in mammalian cells.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2013.
- 51. Lee, E.J., et al., *SAMHD1 acetylation enhances its deoxynucleotide triphosphohydrolase activity and promotes cancer cell proliferation*. Oncotarget, 2017. **8**(40): p. 68517-29.

- 52. Schneider, C., et al., *SAMHD1 is a biomarker for cytarabine response and a therapeutic target in acute myeloid leukemia.* Nat Med, 2017. **23**(2): p. 250-255.
- 53. Herold, N., et al., *Targeting SAMHD1 with the Vpx protein to improve cytarabine therapy for hematological malignancies.* Nat Med, 2017. **23**(2): p. 256-263.
- Amie, S.M., et al., Anti-HIV Host Factor SAMHD1 Regulates Viral Sensitivity to Nucleoside Reverse Transcriptase Inhibitors via Modulation of Cellular Deoxyribonucleoside Triphosphate (dNTP) Levels. J Biol Chem, 2013. 288(28): p. 20683-91.
- Ballana, E., et al., SAMHD1 specifically affects the antiviral potency of thymidine analog HIV reverse transcriptase inhibitors. Antimicrob Agents Chemother, 2014. 58(8): p. 4804-13.
- 56. Ordonez, P., et al., *SAMHD1 enhances nucleoside-analogue efficacy against HIV-1 in myeloid cells*. Sci Rep, 2017. 7.
- 57. Huber, A.D., et al., *SAMHD1 has differential impact on the efficacies of HIV nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors*. Antimicrob Agents Chemother, 2014. **58**(8): p. 4915-9.
- 58. Tada, K., et al., *Abacavir, an anti–HIV-1 drug, targets TDP1-deficient adult T cell leukemia.* Sci Adv, 2015. **1**(3).
- 59. Takiuchi, Y., et al., *HTLV-1 bZIP factor suppresses TDP1 expression through inhibition* of NRF-1 in adult T-cell leukemia. Scientific Reports, 2017. 7(1): p. 12849.
- 60. Riess, M., et al., Interferons Induce Expression of SAMHD1 in Monocytes through Down-regulation of miR-181a and miR-30a. J Biol Chem, 2017. **292**(1): p. 264-277.
- 61. Pichler, K., G. Schneider, and R. Grassmann, *MicroRNA miR-146a and further* oncogenesis-related cellular microRNAs are dysregulated in HTLV-1-transformed T lymphocytes. Retrovirology, 2008. **5**: p. 100.

- 62. Bellon, M., et al., *Deregulation of microRNA involved in hematopoiesis and the immune response in HTLV-I adult T-cell leukemia*. Blood, 2009. **113**(20): p. 4914-7.
- 63. Welbourn, S., et al., *Restriction of virus infection but not catalytic dNTPase activity are regulated by phosphorylation of SAMHD1*. J Virol, 2013.
- 64. Welbourn, S. and K. Strebel, *Low dNTP levels are necessary but may not be sufficient for lentiviral restriction by SAMHD1*. Virology, 2016. **488**: p. 271-7.
- 65. Goncalves, A., et al., SAMHD1 is a nucleic-acid binding protein that is mislocalized due to aicardi-goutieres syndrome-associated mutations. Hum Mutat, 2012. 33(7): p. 1116-22.
- Tungler, V., et al., Single-stranded nucleic acids promote SAMHD1 complex formation. J Mol Med (Berl), 2013. 91(6): p. 759-70.
- Beloglazova, N., et al., *Nuclease activity of the human SAMHD1 protein implicated in the Aicardi-Goutieres syndrome and HIV-1 restriction*. J Biol Chem, 2013. 288(12): p. 8101-10.
- Ryoo, J., et al., *The ribonuclease activity of SAMHD1 is required for HIV-1 restriction*. Nat Med, 2014. 20(8): p. 936-41.
- 69. Choi, J., et al., *SAMHD1 specifically restricts retroviruses through its RNase activity*. Retrovirology, 2015. **12**: p. 46.
- Bloch, N., et al., A Highly Active Isoform of Lentivirus Restriction Factor SAMHD1 in Mouse. J Biol Chem, 2017. 292(3): p. 1068-1080.
- 71. Wittmann, S., et al., *Phosphorylation of murine SAMHD1 regulates its antiretroviral activity*. Retrovirology, 2015. **12**: p. 103.

- Seamon, K.J., N.N. Bumpus, and J.T. Stivers, Single-Stranded Nucleic Acids Bind to the Tetramer Interface of SAMHD1 and Prevent Formation of the Catalytic Homotetramer. Biochemistry, 2016. 55(44): p. 6087-6099.
- 73. Seamon, K.J., et al., *SAMHD1 is a single-stranded nucleic acid binding protein with no active site-associated nuclease activity.* Nucleic Acids Res, 2015. **43**(13): p. 6486-99.
- 74. Brandariz-Nunez, A., et al., *Role of SAMHD1 nuclear localization in restriction of HIV-1 and SIVmac*. Retrovirology, 2012. **9**: p. 49.
- 75. Antonucci, J.M., et al., *SAMHD1-mediated HIV-1 restriction in cells does not involve ribonuclease activity*. Nat Med, 2016. **22**(10): p. 1072-1074.
- 76. Goldstone, D.C., et al., *HIV-1 restriction factor SAMHD1 is a deoxynucleoside triphosphate triphosphohydrolase*. Nature, 2011. **480**: p. 379.
- 77. Yan, J., et al., *Tetramerization of SAMHD1 is required for biological activity and inhibition of HIV infection.* J Biol Chem, 2013. **288**(15): p. 10406-17.
- Zhu, C., et al., Structural insight into dGTP-dependent activation of tetrameric SAMHD1 deoxynucleoside triphosphate triphosphohydrolase. Nature Communications, 2013. 4: p. 2722.
- 79. Ji, X., et al., *Structural basis of cellular dNTP regulation by SAMHD1*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2014. **111**(41): p. E4305-E4314.
- Koharudin, L.M., et al., *Structural basis of allosteric activation of sterile alpha motif and histidine-aspartate domain-containing protein 1 (SAMHD1) by nucleoside triphosphates.*J Biol Chem, 2014. 289(47): p. 32617-27.
- 81. Ryoo, J., et al., *Reply to SAMHD1-mediated HIV-1 restriction in cells does not involve ribonuclease activity.* Nat Med, 2016. **22**(10): p. 1074-1075.

- Ryoo, J., et al., SAMHD1, the Aicardi-Goutieres syndrome gene and retroviral restriction factor, is a phosphorolytic ribonuclease rather than a hydrolytic ribonuclease. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 2016. 477(4): p. 977-981.
- 83. Philip, S., et al., *Regulation of human T-lymphotropic virus type I latency and reactivation by HBZ and Rex.* PLoS Pathog, 2014. **10**(4): p. e1004040.
- 84. Kuo, Y.L. and C.Z. Giam, *Activation of the anaphase promoting complex by HTLV-1 tax leads to senescence*. Embo j, 2006. **25**(8): p. 1741-52.
- 85. Zhi, H., et al., *NF-kappaB hyper-activation by HTLV-1 tax induces cellular senescence, but can be alleviated by the viral anti-sense protein HBZ.* PLoS Pathog, 2011. **7**(4): p. e1002025.
- 86. Lujambio, A., et al., *Non-cell-autonomous tumor suppression by p53*. Cell, 2013. 153(2):
  p. 449-60.
- 87. Kang, T.W., et al., Senescence surveillance of pre-malignant hepatocytes limits liver cancer development. Nature, 2011. **479**(7374): p. 547-51.
- 88. Giam, C.Z. and O.J. Semmes, *HTLV-1 Infection and Adult T-Cell Leukemia/Lymphoma— A Tale of Two Proteins: Tax and HBZ*. Viruses, 2016. **8**(6).
- 89. Hu, M.C., et al., *IkappaB kinase promotes tumorigenesis through inhibition of forkhead FOXO3a*. Cell, 2004. **117**(2): p. 225-37.
- 90. Chapuis, N., et al., *IkappaB kinase overcomes PI3K/Akt and ERK/MAPK to control FOXO3a activity in acute myeloid leukemia*. Blood, 2010. **116**(20): p. 4240-50.
- Chiu, C.F., et al., NF-κB-driven suppression of FOXO3a contributes to EGFR mutationindependent gefitinib resistance. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2016. 113(18): p. E2526-35.

92. de Castro-Amarante, M.F., et al., *Human T Cell Leukemia Virus Type 1 Infection of the Three Monocyte Subsets Contributes to Viral Burden in Humans*. J Virol, 2015. **90**(5): p. 2195-207.